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Court File No.

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

BETWEEN:

FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC
Applicant

-and -

PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C.LTD.
Respondent

APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, RSO
1990, ¢ C43, AS AMENDED and SECTION 243 OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND
INSOLVENCY ACT, RSC 1985, ¢ B-3, AS AMENDED

NOTICE OF APPLICATION
TO THE RESPONDENTS:

A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED by the applicant. The
claim made by the applicant appears on the following page.

THIS APPLICATION will come on for a hearing on March 22, 2013, at 10:00

a.m. at 330 University Ave, Toronto, Ontario.

IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION, to receive notice of any step
in the application or to be served with any documents in the application, you or an
Ontario lawyer acting for you must forthwith prepare a notice of appearance in Form
38A prescribed by the Rules of Civil Procedure, serve it on the applicant's lawyer or,
where the applicant does not have a lawyer, serve it on the applicant, and file it, with
proof of service, in this court office, and you or your lawyer must appear at the hearing.

IF YOU WISH TO PRESENT AFFIDAVIT OR OTHER DOCUMENTARY
EVIDENCE TO THE COURT OR TO EXAMINE OR CROSS-EXAMINE
WITNESSES ON THE APPLICATION, you or your lawyer must, in addition to serving
your notice of appearance, serve a copy of the evidence on the applicant's lawyer or,
where the applicant does not have a lawyer, serve it on the applicant, and file it, with
proof of service, in the court office where the application is to be heard as soon as
possible, but at least four days before the hearing.

LEGAL_20576812.2



IF YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, JUDGMENT MAY BE
GIVEN IN YOUR ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU. IF
YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION BUT ARE UNABLE TO PAY

LEGAL FEES, LEGAL AID MAY BE AVAILABLE TO YOU BY CONTACTING A
LOCAL LEGAL AID OFFICE.

Date March , 2013 Issued by

Local registrar

Address of 330 University Avenue, 7 Floor
court office Toronto, ON MS5G 1R7

TO: Guy P. Martel
Stikeman Elliott LLP
1155 René-Lévesque Blvd. West, Suite 4000
Montréal, QC H3B 3V2

Counsel for the Respondent

LEGAL_20576812.2



APPLICATION

1. The applicant makes application for an Order substantially in the form attached
hereto as Schedule "A", inter alia:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Abridging, or if necessary, dispensing with service of this Notice of
Application and Application Record and stating that the Application is
properly returnable today, and that all parties entitled to service of the
Notice of Application have been duly served and that further service on

any other parties be dispensed with;

Appointing PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. ("PwC") as receiver, without
security, of all of the assets, undertakings and properties (collectively, the
"Property") of the respondent, PRACS Institute Canada B.C. Lid
(“PRACS Canada” or the “Debtor”) pursuant to section 243 of the
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, ¢. B-3, as amended (the
"BIA") and section 101 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.0. 1990, c.
C.43, as amended (the "CJA”™) (in such capacities, the “Receiver”); and

Such other relief as to this Honourable Court may seem just.

The grounds for the application are:

(a)

(b)

LEGAL_20576812.2

The Debtor is a wholly owned subsidiary of PRACS Institute Holdings,
LLC (the “Holding Company™), the holding company for the PRACS
Institute group of companies (the “PRACS Institute™):

By way of a credit agreement dated June 20, 2012, the Holding Company,
PRACS Canada and their direct and indirect subsidiaries entered into a
credit agreement, (as amended, restated, modified or supplemented, the
“Credit Agreement™) with the financial institutions party thereto as
lenders (the “Lenders™), and Freeport Financial LLC, as agent (in such

capacity, the “Agent”);



©

(d)

(€)

®

€4

(h)

®
(k)

@

(m)

LEGAL_20576812.2

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Lenders extended (i) a $20,000,000
Revolving Loan (which was partially drawn on the Closing Date, and has
since been fully drawn), (ii) a $15,300,000 US Term Loan A, (iii) a
$5,000,000 US Term Loan B, (iv) a $31,000,000 US Term Loan C, and
(v) a $4,000,000 Canadian Term Loan C;

The Canadian Term Loan C and the other obligations of PRACS Canada
under the Credit Agreement are secured by first priority liens and security
interests granted pursuant to a security agreement, dated as of June 20,
2012 (the “Security Agreement”), by and among the Agent and the
PRACS Institute entities other than PRACS Canada;

The Debtor has reached its maximum borrowing and the Lenders are not

willing to provide additional financing;

On March 22, 2013 the Debtor’s parent, PRACS Holdings, made a
voluntary Chapter 7 filing;

All of the Debtor’s employees have been terminated and the board of

directors has, or is about to, resign;

The appointment of a receiver is necessary to preserve what value
remaining on the Property and to facilitate a prompt sale of the Debtor’s

assets;

The Debtor has consented to tile appointment of a receiver;
Such appointment is in the interest of all stakeholders;
PwC has consented to act as receiver;

Those grounds as set out in the affidavit of Anthony Marino, sworn
March 22, 2013 (the "Marino Affidavit") and the exhibits thereto;

Section 243 of the BIA;



(n) Section 101 of the CJA;
(0) Rules 3.02, 16.08 and 41 of the Rules of Civil Procedure; and

(p) Such other grounds as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court

may permit.

2. The following documentary evidence will be used at the hearing of the

application:
(a) The Marino Affidavit;
(b)  The consent of PwC to act as receiver; and

{c) Such other material as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court

may permit.
March 22, 2013 MCMILLAN LLP
Brookfield Piace
181 Bay Street, Suite 4400
Toronto, ON, M5J 2T3

Brett Harrison 1.S#: 44336A
Tel: 416-865-7932
Fax: 416-865-7048

Lawyers for the Applicant

LEGAL_20576812.2
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Court File No.
ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

BETWEEN:

FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC
Applicant

-and -

PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.
Respondents

APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, RSO
1990, ¢ C43, AS AMENDED and SECTION 243 OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND
INSOLVENCY ACT, RSC 1985, ¢ B-3, AS AMENDED

AFFIDAVIT OF ANTHONY MARINO
(sworn March 22, 2013)

I, Anthony Marino, of the City of St. Francis, Wisconsin, MAKE OATH AND

SAY:

1. I am Associate General Counsel at Stark & Roth LLC, an affiliate of Freeport
Financial LLC, Agent for the Lenders (as defined below), and as such have knowledge
of the information to which I hereinafter depose. Where I do not have personal

knowledge I have stated the source of my information and believe it to be true.
A. OVERVIEW

2, The respondent, PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD. (the “PRACS Canada”) is
a wholly owned subsidiary of PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited

Hiability company (the “Holding Company”), the holding company for the PRACS



Institute group of companies (the “PRACS Institute”). An organizational chart for the

- PRACS Institute is attached as Exhibit “1.”

3. The PRACS Institute was provider of early phase clinical research services for
the development of drugs and medical services. It operated its business through entities

controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Holding Company.

4, The PRACS Institute operated clioical research facilities and bivoanalytical
laboratories in North Dakota, Florida, Missouri, Texas and Ontaric. PRACS Canada, a
British Columbia corporation registered to carry on business in Ontario, operated

PRACS Institute’s facilities in the Greater Toronto Area.

5. PRACS Institute formerly operated as the Cetero Group of companies. The
Cetero Group carried out an asset sale through a proceeding under Chapter 11 of the
Unites States Bankruptcy Code in 2012, which bankruptcy proceeding was recognized
by this court under the cross-border proceedings provisions of the Companies® Creditors
Arrangement Act.  PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. was appeointed as the Information

Officer in these cross-border recognition proceedings.

6. In 2012, the Lenders formed the corporate entities comprising the PRACS
Institute for the purpose of making a combination credit bid and cash bid for the assets
of the Cetero Group, which bid was accepted by the Cetero Group. The sale was
approved by the US bankruptcy court, and such approval was recognized by this court.
As part of the purchase price, the PRACS Institute assumed a portion of the Lenders’
prepetition debt, and the Lenders also provided incremental financing to help fund

operations of the PRACS Institute from and after the closing of the sale in June 2012.



7. The Applicant seeks the appointment of a receiver over the property of PRACS
Canada to preserve and protect the collateral of the Lenders and to facilitate an orderly

realization of its assets.
B. DEBT AND SECURITY

8. In connection with the purchase of substantially all assets of Cetero Group, the
Holding Company, PRACS Canada and their direct and indirect subsidiaries defined as
"‘Loan Parties” in the Credit Agreement (as defined below) entered into a credit
agreement, dated as of June 20, 2012 (the “Closing Date”) (as amended, restated,
modified or supplemented, the “Credit Agreement”) with the financial institutions party
thereto as lenders (the “Lenders™), and Freeport Financial LLC, as agent (in such
capacity, the “Agent”) and Lead Arranger. Capitalized terms used but not defined
herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Credit Agreement. A copy of the

Credit Agreement is attached as Exhibit “2”.

0. Pursnant to the Credit Agreement, on the Closing Date the Lenders extended @Ha
$20,000,000 Revolving Loan (which was partially drawn on the Closing Date, and has
since been fully drawn), (ii) a $15,300,000 US Term Loan A, (iii} a $5,000,000 US Term
Loan B, (iv) a $31,000,000 US Term Loan C, and (v) a $4,000,000 Canadian Term Loan

C (collectively, the “Closing Date Loans™).

10.  In November 2012, the PRACS Institute, having exhausted its Revolving Loan
availability, requested further loans from the Lenders to fund operations and requested
that the Lenders waive certain defaults under the Credit Agreement. The Agent, certain

Lenders, and the PRACS Institute amended the Credit Agreement pursuant to a limited



waiver and first amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2012,
pursuant to which certain Lenders waived specified defaults and extended a $3,000,000

superpriority loan (the “US Additional Term Loan™) to the PRACS Institute.

11. In further need of funds, the PRACS Iustitute requested additional loans from the
Lenders in February, 2013. The Agent, certain Lenders, and the PRACS Institute
entered into a second amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2013,
pursuant to which certain Lenders extended a $580,000 superpriority loan (the “US

LIFO Loan™).

12, In March, 2013, the PRACS Institute requested further funds from the Lenders
for amounts sufficient to pay payroll and obligations related thereto. On March 15,
2013, the PRACS Institute, the Lenders, and the Agent entered into a third amendment
to Credit Agreement, pursuan{ to which certain Lenders extended $3,380,000 of
superpriority loans (inclusive of closing fees added to the principal amount of such
loans) (the “Emergency Advances,” and together with the Closing Date Loans, the US
Additional Term Loan, and the US LIFO Loan, and all other obligations under the Credit
Agreement, the “First Lien Obligations”). The amount of the First Lien Obligations is

approximately $87,099,496 in the aggregate.

13.  The First Lien Obligations are guaranteed pursuant to a guaranty, dated as of
June 20, 2012, by the PRACS Institute entities other than PRACS Canada in favor of the
Agent. The First Lien Obligations are secured by first priority liens and security
interests in substantially all assets of the PRACS Institute entities other than PRACS

Canada granted pursuant to a security agreement, dated as of June 20, 2012 (the



“Security Agreement”), by and among the Agent and the PRACS Institute entities other
than PRACS Canada. The First Lien Obligations are also secured by mortgages
covering certain real property of the PRACS Institute in Fargo, North Dakota, San
Antonio, Texas, and St. Charles, Missouri. A copy of the Security Agreement is attached

as Exhibit “3”,

14. The Canadian Term Loan C and the other obligations of PRACS Canada under
the Credit Agreement (the “PRACS Canada Obligations™) are secured by first priority
liens and security interests granted pursuant to the Security Agreement by and among the
Agent and PRACS Canada. The PRACS Canada Obligations are approximately

$4,219,662 in the aggregate.

15.  The Security Agreement provides the Agent with the right to appoint a receiver
on default. The PRACS Institute’s Board of Director’s authorization of a Chapter 7
filing described below constitutes an event of default under the Security Agreement and

the security granted by PRACS Canada has become enforceable.

16.  Based on information provided by Michael Gries (“Gries”), the Chief
Restructuring Officer of the PRACS Institute, I understand that the realizable value of
the assets of PRACS Canada will be significantly less than the amount owing to the

Lenders.

17. Our counsel have conducted a search under the Personal Property Security Act
registry in Ontario and British Columbia and there are no registrations against the Debtor
other than those of the Lenders. A copy of the searches conducted on March 6, 2013 and

March 21, 2013 are attached as Exhibit “4”.



C. THE BUSINESS OF THE PRACS INSTITUTE

18.  As a provider of early phase clinical research services for the development of
drugs and medical services, the PRACS Iostitute provided testing services for

pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies.

19. I am advised by Gries that as of March 1, 2013, the PRACS Institute employed
approximately 1,035 people. Approximately 800 of its employees were located in the
US, and approximately 235 were in the Greater Toronto Area. PRACS Canada does not

have a defined benefit pension plan.

20.  PRACS Institute had three primary lines of business: (a) clinical pharmacology

services; (b) bioanalytical services, and (c) scientific affairs services.

(a) Clinical Pharmacology Services: PRACS Institute provided clinical
pharmacology services, operating five clinical pharmacology facilities

which are located in North Dakota, Florida, Missouri and in Ontario.

(b) Bioanalytical Services: PRACS Institute operated two bioanalytical

laboratories located in Ontario.

(c)  Scientific Affairs Services: PRACS Institute also offers various scientific

affairs services.



D. PRACS INSTITUTE’S CANADIAN OPERATIONS

21. The PRACS Institute’s Canadian operations were carried out by PRACS Canada,

which operated out of the Greater Toronto Area,

22.  Iam advised by Gries that PRACS Canada operated out of five premises:

(a)

®)

(©

(d)

()

4520 Dixie Road: PRACS Canada leases a clinic located at 4520 Dixic
Road, Mississauga, Ontario. This facility contains three independent
study units with approximately 75 beds in total;

4500 Dixie Road: PRACS Canada also leases a facility located at 4500

Dixie Road, Mississauga, Ontario;

4540 Dixie Road: PRACS Canada leases an administrative center located
at 4540 Dixie Road, Mississauga, Ontario;

1310 Fewster Road: The recruitingfcall center operated by PRACS
Canada is located at 1310 Fewster Road in Toronto, Ontario. This
facility hosts the local human resources department, as well as the offices

nsed for the recruitment of participants for clinical studies; and

1290 Ellesmere Road: This facility consists of a bioanalytical laboratory
located at 1290 Ellesmere Road, in Toronto, Ontario. This laboratory is
specialized in data management operations (collectively the “Ontario

Premises”).

23.  Iam advised by Gries that rent under the leases for the Ontario Premises is paid

on the first of the month in advance. The leases were in good standing as of February 28,

2013. No rent payments have been made for March. To the best of my knowledge no

action has been taken by the landlords against PRACS Canada.



E. EVENTS LEADING TO RECEIVERSHIP
24.  Ihave been advised by Gries that:

(a) PRACS Canada has no funds with which to operate its business and the
Lenders are not prepared to provide any additional funding;

(b) PRACS Canada has no alternative sources of financing and it has ceased

operations;
{c) the directors of PRACS Canada intend to resign on March 22, 2013; and

(@  all PRACS Canada’s employees have been terminated as of March 20,

2013.

25. I bave been advised by Gries, that PRACS Canada consents to the appointment

of the Receiver and PwC has consented to such appointment.

26. In my view, the appointment of a receiver provides a stable, transparent court
supervised process to attempt to maximize value for stakeholders, which may include
exploring going concern solutions with a purchaser that may be willing to restart some
or all of the operations of PRACS Canada, Given the lack of funding the Agent
anticipating an expedited process will be required. The Agent is concerned that any

delay in appointing a receiver will make this difficult.

27. I have been advised by Deborah Williams, a partner at Cox Smith, local U.S.
counsel for the Lenders, that PRACS Institute’s Board of Directors authorized a filing in
the US under Chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy Code and that this filing is to

occur on March 22, 2013.



28. I swear this affidavit in support of the application to appoint

PricewaterhouseCoopers as receiver of PRACS Canada and for no other purpose.

SWORN BEFORE ME at the City of
St. Francis, in the State of Wisconsinon

March 22, 2013,
Oledn CBeanch C%%A%’Ol

A Notary Pblic in and for the State of
Wisconsin
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This is Exhibit “1” referred to in the
Affidavit of Anthony Marino

Sworn before me, this anc\ day of

March, 2013.
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This is Exhibit “2” referred to in the

Affidavit of Anthony Marino

Sworn before me, this ?Zmi day of
March, 2013.
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Schedule 6.9
Business Description

PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC is a holding company for PRACS Institute
Management, L1.C and PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD.

PRACS Institute Management, LLC holds all employees and manages the affairs
of its subsidiaries.

PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD. holds all Canadian assets and is engaged in
the business of analyzing biological samples for bioequivalence and bioavailability and

the design, supervision and implementation of clinical trial studies for pharmaceutical
products in Canada.

PRACS Institute, LL.C is engaged in the business of analyzing biological samples
for bioequivalence and bioavailability and the design, supervision and implementation of
clinical trial studies for pharmaceutical products in the United States. PRACS Institute,
LLC holds all contracts, leases and permits related to operations of the Loan Parties in the
United States, other than leases and permits for the Miami and San Antonio locations.

PRACS Institute Miami, LL.C holds leases and permits for the Miami location.

PRACS Institute San Antonio, LLC holds leases and permits for the San Antonio
location.

CH\377775.4



CREDIT AGREEMENT
DATED AS OF JUNE 20, 2012
by and among

PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC
as US Borrower

and

PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.
as Canadian Berrower

and

THE OTHER PERSONS PARTY HERETO THAT
ARE DESIGNATED AS LOAN PARTIES

and

FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC
as Agent and Lead Arranger

and

THE OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS PARTY HERETO
as Lenders

CH\1359999.12
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CREDIT AGREEMENT

This CREDIT AGREEMENT is dated as of June 20, 2012 and entered into by and among
PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“US Borrower™), PRACS
INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD., a British Columbia corporation (“Canadian Borrower™) (US
Borrower and Canadian Borrower are sometimes collectively referred to herein as the “Borrowers” and
individually as a “Borrower™), the other persons designated as “Loan Parties”, the financial institutions
who are or hereafter become parties to this Agreement as Lenders, and FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (in its individual capacity, “Freeport™), as Agent.

WHEREAS, on March 26, 2012, Contract Rescarch Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“CRS”), PRACS Institute, Ltd., a North Dakota corporation (“Pre-Petition US Borrower™), and certain
subsidiaries of CRS (each a “Debtor” and collectively, the “Debtors”), commenced Chapter 11 Cases
administratively consolidated as Case No. 12-11004 (KG) (the “Cases™) under the Bankruptcy Code (as

defined below) with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the “Bankruptcy
Court™);

WHEREAS, CRS, as foreign representative of Allied Research Holdings, Inc., an Ontario
corporation (“Allied Research”), Allied Research International, Inc., an Ontario corporation, and BA
Research Co., a Nova Scotia unlimited liability company, and all other Debtors, commenced a recognition
proceeding (the “Canadian Recognition Proceeding”) under Part IV of the Companies’ Creditors

Arrangement Act (the “CCAA”) in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the
“Canadian Court™);

WHEREAS, in connection with the Cases, on May 17, 2012, the Bankruptcy Court entered an
order (the “Sale Order”) approving the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of the Debtors and
assumption of certain liabilities of the Debtors by the Borrowers or their Subsidiaries pursuant to
Sections, 105, 363 and 365 of the Bankruptcy Code and in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Acquisition Agreement (as defined below) (the “Acquisition™);

WHEREAS, in connection with the Canadian Recognition Proceeding, on May 25, 2012, the
Canadian Court entered an order (the “Recognition Order”) recognizing and approving the Sale Order;

WHEREAS, in connection with the Acquisition, the Borrowers have assumed certain obligations
and have issued certain notes; '

WHEREAS, US Borrower has requested that the Lenders provide a revolving credit facility to
US Borrower for the purpose of funding the payment of fees and expenses incurred in connection with the
Acquisition, providing working capital financing for US Borrower and its Subsidiaries and providing
funds for other general corporate purposes of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries;

WHEREAS, US Borrower desires to secure all of its Obligations (as hereinafter defined) under
the Loan Documents (as hereinafter defined) by granting to Agent, for the benefit of Agent and each of
the Lenders and L/C Issuers, a security interest in and lien upon substantially all of its personal and real
property;
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WHEREAS, the Canadian Borrower desires to secure all of its Obligations by granting to Agent,
for the benefit of Agent and each of the Canadian Term Lenders, a security interest in and lien upon
substantially all of its personal and real property;

WHEREAS, US Borrower desires to pledge to the Agent, for the benefit of itself and each of the
Lenders and L/C Issuers, (i) all of the Stock of its directly owned US Subsidiaries and 65% of the Stock
of its Canadian Subsidiaries to serve as collateral for its Obligations and (ii) all of the Stock of its
Subsidiaries to serve as collateral for the Obligations of the Canadian Borrower; and

WHEREAS, each Subsidiary (other than Canadian Borrower) is willing to guaranty all of the
Obligations of Borrowers and to grant to Agent, for the benefit of itself and each of the Lenders and L/C

Issuers, a security interest in and lien upon substantially all of its personal and real property to secure such
Obligations.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the agreements, provisions and
covenants herein contained, Borrowers, Loan Parties, Lenders and Agent agree as follows:

SECTION 1.
DEFINITIONS AND ASSUMPTION
1.1 Definitions. Capitalized terms used in the Loan Documents shall have the following respective
meanings:

- Acceptable Business Plan has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 5.16.

Acceptable Standby Letter of Credit means a standby letter of credit, issued by a bank or financial
institution reasonably acceptable to Agent in its sole discretion, in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to Agent in its sole discretion, in an amount equal to 105% of the aggregate outstanding
Letter of Credit Obligations to be available to Agent to reimburse payments of drafts drawn under
outstanding Letters of Credit and to pay any Fees and expenses related thereto.

Account Debtor means any Person who may become obligated to any Loan Party under, with

respect to, or on account of, an Account, Chatte]l Paper or General Intangibles (including a payment
intangible).

Accounting Changes means: (a) changes in accounting principles required by GAAP and
implemented by US Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries; and (b) changes in accounting principles
recommended by US Borrower’s certified public accountants and implemented by US Borrower;

Accounts means all “accounts,” as such term is defined in the Code, now owned or hereafter
acquired by any Loan Party.

Acquisition has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement.

Acquisition Agreement means that certain Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 25,
2012, by and among US Borrower, as U.S. Purchaser, Canadian Borrower, as Canadian Purchaser, CRS,
and those direct and indirect subsidiaries of CRS set forth on the signature pages thereto and on Schedule
A thereto (collectively with CRS, “Sellers”), as the same may be amended, supplemented, restated or
otherwise modified from time to time on or prior to the date hereof,
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Advances means any Revolving Credit Advance or Swing Line Advance, as the context may
require.

Affected Lender has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 10.19(a).

Affiliate means, with respect to any Person, (a) each Person that, directly or indirectly, owns or
controls, whether beneficially, or as a trustee, guardian or other fiduciary, 10% or more of the Stock
having ordinary voting power in the election of directors of such Person, (b) each Person that controls, is
controlled by or is under common control with such Person, and (c) each of such Person’s officers,
directors, joint venturers and partners. For the purposes of this definition, “control” of a Person shall
mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of its management
or policies, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; provided,
however, that the term “Affiliate” shall specifically exclude Agent and each Lender, and any purchaser of
the Subordinated Debt.

Agent means Freeport in its capacity as Agent for itself and Lenders, or its successor in such
capacity.

Agreement means this Credit Agreement (including all schedules, subschedules, annexes and
exhibits hereto), as the same may be amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise modified from time to
time.

Allied Research has the meaning ascribed to it in the preambie to this Agreement.

Applicable Margins means collectively the Applicable Revolver Unused Line Fee Margin, the
Applicable Revolver Index Margin, the Applicable Revolver LIBOR Margin, the Applicable Term Loan
A Index Margin, the Applicable Term Loan A LIBOR Margin, the Applicable Term Loan B Index
Margin, the Applicable Term Loan B LIBOR Margin, the Applicable Term Loan C Index Margin and the
Applicable Term Loan C LIBOR Margin. '

Applicable Multiple means, for each date of determination, the maximum permitted Leverage
Ratio, expressed as the quotient of such ratio, for the most recently specified test date set forth in
Section 7.1(e) as of such date of determination.

Applicable Revolver Index Margin means the per annum interest rate margin from time to time in
effect and payable in addition to the Index Rate applicable to the Revolving Loan, as determined by

reference to Section 2.2(a).

Applicable Revolver LIBOR Margin means the per annum interest rate from time to time in
effect and payable in addition to the LIBOR Rate applicable to the Revolving Loan, as determined by

reference to Section 2.2(a).

Applicable Revolver Unused Line Fee Margin means the per annum fee from time to time in
effect payable in respect of each Borrower’s non-use of committed funds pursuant to Section 2.3(b),
which fee is determined by reference to Section 2.2 (a).

Applicable Term Loan A Index Margin means the per annum interest rate from time to time in
effect and payable in addition to the Index Rate applicable to the US Term Loan A, as determined by

reference to Section 2.2(a). :
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. Applicable Term Loan A LIBOR Margin means the per annum interest rate from time to time in
effect and payable in addition to the LIBOR Rate applicable to the US Term Loan A, as determined by

reference to Section 2.2(a).

Applicable Term Loan B Index Margin means the per annum interest rate from time to time in
effect and payable in addition to the Index Rate applicable to the US Term Loan B, as determined by

reference to Section 2.2(a).

Applicable Term Loan B LIBOR Margin means the per annum interest rate from time to time in
effect and payable in addition to the LIBOR Rate applicable to the US Term Loan B, as determined by

reference to Section 2.2(a).

Applicable Term Loan C Index Margin means the per annum interest rate from time to time in
effect and payable in addition to the Index Rate applicable to the US Term Loan C and Canadian Term
Loan C, as determined by reference to Section 2.2(a). i

Applicable Term Loan C LIBOR Margin means the per annum interest rate from time to time in
effect and payable in addition to the LIBOR Rate applicable to the US Term Loan C and Canadian Term
Loan C, as determined by reference to Section 2.2(a).

Appropriate Category of Lenders means, as applicable, Requisite Lenders, Requisite US Lenders,
Requisite Canadian Term Lenders, Requisite Revolving Lenders, Requisite US Term Loan Lenders,
Requisite US Term Loan A Lenders, Requisite US Term Loan B Lenders, or Requisite US Term Loan C
Lenders.

Assays means the qualitative or quantitative analysis of a substance to determine its components.

Asset Disposition means the disposition, whether by sale, lease, transfer, loss, damage,
destruction, casualty, condemnation or otherwise, of any of the following; (a) any of the Stock or other
equity or ownership interest of any of US Borrower’s Subsidiaries or (b) any or all of the assets of US
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries other than sales and dispositions described in Section 6.7(a).

Assignment Agreement has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 9.1(a).

Average Daily Balance means, for any period, the average of the daily closing balances of the
Revolving Loan (including, without duplication, the Swing Line Loan, but excluding Letter of Credit
Obligations) for each day during the last 30 days of any applicable period.

Bankruptcy Code means the provisions of Title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101 et
seq. or other applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws.

Bankruptcy Court has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement.
Borrower has the meaning ascribed to it in the preambie to this Agreement.

Borrower Representative means US Borrower, in its capacity as Borrower Representative under
Section 2.10.

Borrowers has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement.
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Borrowing Availability means (A) as of any date of determination on or prior to June 30, 2013,
the Maximum Amount Jess the outstanding balance of the Revolving Loans and (B) as of any date of

determination on or after July 1, 2013, the lesser of (i) the Maximum Amount and (ii) the Borrowing
Base, in each case, less the outstanding balance of the Revolving Loans.

Borrowing Base means, as of any date of calculation, (i) the product of (a) EBITDA of US
Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the twelve months ending on the last day of the most recent month for
which financial statements are available hereunder muitiplied by (b) the Applicable Multiple, minus (ii)
total Funded Debt of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries (other than the outstanding principal balance of
the Revolving Loans).

Borrowing Base Certificate has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 7.2(d).

Business Day means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banks are
required or permitted to be closed in the States of Illinois or Wisconsin (and in reference to the Canadian
Term Loan C, in the Province of Ontario), and in reference to LIBOR Loans shall mean any such day that
is also a LIBOR Business Day.

Canadian Benefit Plans means all material employee benefit plans of any nature or kind
whatsoever that are maintained or contributed to by any Loan Party having employees in Canada, but
excluding the Canadian Pension Plans and any statutory benefit plans which any Loan Party having
employees in Canada is required to participate in or comply with, such as the Canadian Pension Plan and
plans administered pursvant to applicable health, tax, workplace safety insurance, prescription drug
insurance, parental leave insurance and employment insurance legislation.

Canadian Borrower has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement.
Canadian Court has the meaniﬁg ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement.
Canadian Indemnitees has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 10.1.

Canadian Loan Party means any Loan Party organized, incorporated, amalgamated, or continued
under the laws of Canada or any Province of Canada.

Canadian Obligations means all Obligations with respect to Canadian Subsidiaries which are
Loan Parties and all other Obligations owing by such Canadian Subsidiaries.

Canadian Pension Plans means each plan which is considered to be a pension plan for the
purposes of any applicable pension benefits standards statute and/or regulation in Canada established,
maintained or contributed to by any Loan Party for its employees or former employees.

Canadian PPSL means, collectively, Canadian provincial personal property security laws that are
applicable to Collateral or a Loan Party.

Canadian PPSL Collateral means all Collateral to the extent that the validity and effect of
perfection and nonperfection of a security interest therein is governed by Canadian PPSL.

Canadian - Recognition Proceeding has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this
Agreement.
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Canadian Subsidiary means any Subsidiary of US Borrower organized, incorporated,
amalgamated, or continued under the laws of Canada or any Province of Canada.

Canadian Term Lenders means those Lender holding a Canadian Term Loan C.
Canadian Term Loan C has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(b).

Canadian Term Loan C Amount means at any time (a) as to any Lender, the principal amount of
the Canadian Term Loan C held by such Lender at such time (with such amount on the Closing Date
being the amount set forth on Annex A opposite such Lender’s name (with respect to such Lender, such
Lender’s “Canadian Term Loan C Initial Amount™)) and (b) as to all Lenders, the aggregate principal
amount of the Canadian Term Loan C held by all Lenders at such time.

Canadian Term Loan C Initial Amgunt has the meaning ascribed to it in the definition of the term
“Canadian Term Loan C Amount”.

Canadian Term Note has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(b).
Capex Limit has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 7.1.

Capital Expenditures means (i) all expenditures during any measuring period for any fixed asset
or improvements or replacements, substitutions, or additions thereto that have a useful life of more than
one year and are required to be capitalized under GAAP, excluding Capital Expenditures to the extent
financed by third party lenders, plus (ii) deposits made during such measuring period for such Capital
Expenditures less (iii} such deposits during a prior measuring period and reflected in the amount
calculated in clause (i) above, less (iv) Net Proceeds of Asset Dispositions which US Borrower or its
Subsidiaries have reinvested under Section 2.5(c) that are reflected in the amount calculated in clause (i)
above, less (v) expenditures made in connection with the replacement, substitution or restoration of assets
to the extent financed (x) from insurance proceeds paid on account of the loss of or damage to the assets
being replaced or restored or (y) with awards of compensation arising from the taking by eminent domain
or condemnation of the assects being replaced.

Capital Lease means, with respect to any Person, any lease of any property (whether real,
personal or mixed) by such Person as lessee that, in accordance with GAAP, would be required to be
classified and accounted for as a capital lease on a balance sheet of such Person.

Capital Lease Obligation means, with respect to any Capital Lease of any Person, the amount of
the obligation of the lessee thereunder that, in accordance with GAAP, would appear on a balance sheet
of such lessee in respect of such Capital Lease.

Carry Over Amount has the meaning ascribed to it Section 7.1(a).
Cases has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement.

Cash Equivalents means: (i) marketable securities (A) issued or directly and unconditionally
guaranteed as to interest and principal by the United States or Canadian government or (B) issued by any
agency of the United States or Canadian government the obligations of which are backed by the full faith
and credit of the United States or of Canada, in each case maturing within one (1) year after acquisition
thereof; (ii) marketable direct obligations issued by any state of the United States or province or territory
of Canada, or any political subdivision of any such state, province or territory, or amy public
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instrumentality thereof, in each case maturing within one year after acquisition thereof and having, at the
time of acquisition, a rating of at least A-1 from S&P or at least P-1 from Moody’s; (iii) commercial
paper maturing no more than one year from the date of acquisition and, at the time of acquisition, having
a rating of at least A-1 from S&P or at least P-1 from Moody’s; (iv) certificates of deposit or bankers’
acceptances issued or accepted by any Lender or by any commercial bank organized under the laws of the
United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia or Canada that is at least (A) "adequately
capitalized” (as defined in the regulations of its primary Federal banking regulator) and (B) has Tier 1
capital (as defined in such regulations) of not less than $250,000,000, in each case maturing within one
year after issuance or acceptance thereof; and (v) shares of any money market mutual or similar funds that
(A) has substantially all of its assets invested continuously in the types of investments referred to in
clauses (i) through (iv) above, (B) has net assets of not less than $500,000,000 and (C) has the highest
rating obtainable from either S&P or Moody’s.

CCAA has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement.
Certificate of Exemption has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.9(c).

Change of Control means any event, transaction or occurrence as a result of which (a) US
Borrower ceases to own and control, directly or indirectly, all of the outstanding Stock and economic and
voting rights associated with all of the outstanding Stock of any Person that is on the Closing Date or that
becomes thereafter a Subsidiary of US Borrower or (b) any “Change of Control” (as such term, or any
similar term, is defined in any agreement governing Subordinated Debt) shall occur.

Charges means all federal, state, provincial, county, city, municipal, local, foreign or other
governmental premiums, taxes and other amounts (including premiums, taxes and other amounts owed to
the PBGC at the time due and payable), levies, assessments, charges, liens, claims or encumbrances upon
or relating to (a) the Collateral, (b) the Obligations, (c) the employees, payroll, income, gross receipts or
capital of any Loan Party, (d) any Loan Party’s ownership or use of any properties or other assets, or (e)
any other aspect of any Loan Party’s business.

Chattel Paper means any “chattel paper,” as such term is defined in the Code, including electronic
chattel paper, now owned or hereafter acquired by any Loan Party, wherever located.

Closing Checklist means the schedule, including all appendices, exhibits or schedules thereto,
listing certain documents and information to be delivered in connection with this Agreement, the other
Loan Documents and the transactions contemplated thereunder, substantially in the form attached hereto
as Annex B.

Closing Date means June 20, 2012.

Code means the Uniform Commercial Code as the same may, from time to time, be enacted and
in effect in the State of Tllinois; provided, that to the extent that the Code is used to define any term herein
or in any Loan Document and such term is defined differently in different Articles or Divisions of the
Code or in Canadian PPSL for the Province of Ontario, the definition of such term contained in Article or
Division 9 or Canadian PPSL (for the Province of Ontario with respect to Canadian PPSL Collateral)
shall govern; and provided further, that if Canadian PPSL (for the Province of Ontario) does not contain a
definition that is used in another Loan Document, the definition that is used in such other Loan Document
shall have the meaning given to it in the Code as though the reference to Canadian PPSL in the first
proviso of this definition does not exist; and provided further, that in the event that, by reason of
mandatory provisions of law, any or all of the attachment, perfection or priority of, or remedies with
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respect to, 'Agent"s or any Lender’s Lien on any Collateral is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code
as enacted and in effect in a jurisdiction other than the State of Illinois or by Canadian PPSL, the term
“Code” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted and in effect in such other jurisdiction or
the applicable Canadian PPSL solely for purposes of the provisions thereof relating to such attachment,
perfection, priority or remedies and for purposes of definitions related to such provisions.

Collateral means the property covered by the Security Agreement, the Mortgages and the other
Collateral Documents and any other property, real or personal, tangible or intangible, now existing or
hereafter acquired, that may at any time be or become subject to a security interest or Lien in favor of
Agent, on behalf of Agent and applicable Lenders, to secure the Obligations or any portion thereof.

Collateral Documents means the Security Agreement, the Pledge Agreements, the Guaranties, the
Mortgages, the Patent Security Agreements, the Trademark Security Agreements, the Copyright Security
Agreements, and all similar agreements entered into guaranteeing payment of, or granting a Lien upon
property as security for payment of, the Obligations or any portion thereof.

Commitment Termination Date means the earliest of (a)June 20, 2015, (b) the date of
termination of Lenders’ obligations to make Advances and to incur Letter of Credit Obligations or permit
existing Loans to remain outstanding pursuant to Section 8.3, and (c)the date of (i) payment or
prepayment in full by Borrowers of the Loans, (ii} the cancellation and return (or stand-by guarantee)} of
all Letters of Credit or the cash collaterahzatlon or, with the consent of Agent in each instance, the
backing with standby letters of credit acceptable to Agent, of all Letter of Credit Obligations pursuant to
and in the amount required by Section 2.5, and (iii) the permanent reduction of the Revolving Loan
Commitments to zero dollars ($0).

Communication means any notice, information or other communication required or permitted to
be given or made under this Agreement, but excluding any Loan Document requested by Agent to be
delivered solely in a signed writing, including without limitation, any Mortgage, Note, power of attorney,
or Patent, Trademark or Copyright Security Agreement.

Compliance and Excess Cash Flow Certificate has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 7.2(0).

Connection Income Taxes means taxes that are imposed on or measured by net income (however
denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profits Taxes, in each case, to the extent imposed with
respect to a Lender or the Agent as a result of a present or former connection between such Lender or
Agent and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such Lender or Agent
having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under,
received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced
this Agreement or any Loan Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Loan or Loan Document).

Consolidated Net Income means net income of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries during the
measuring period on a consolidated basis excluding: (i) the income (or deficit) of any Person accrued
prior to the date it became a Subsidiary of, or was merged or consolidated into or amalgamated with, US
Borrower or.any of US Borrower’s Subsidiaries, (ii) the income (or deficit) of any Person (other than a
Subsidiary) in which any Loan Party has an ownership interest, except to the extent any such income has
actually been received by US Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in the form of cash dividends or
distributions, (iii) the undistributed earnings of any Subsidiary of US Borrower to the extent that the
declaration or payment of dividends or similar distributions by such Subsidiary is not at the time
permitted by the terms of any contractual obligation or requirement of law applicable to such Subsidiary,
(iv) any restoration to income of any contingency reserve, except to the extent that provision for such
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reserve was made out of income accrued during such period, (v) any net gain attributable to the write-up
of any asset, (vi) any loss attributable to the write-down of any asset (other than Accounts and Inventory),
(vii) any net gain from the collection of the proceeds of life insurance policies, (viii) any net gain arising
from the acquisition of any securities, or the extinguishment of any Indebtedness, of US Borrower or any
of its Subsidiaries, (ix) any deferred credit representing the excess of equity in any Subsidiary of US
Borrower at the date of acquisition of such Subsidiary over the cost to US Borrower of the investment in
such Subsidiary.

Contingent Obligation means, as applied to any Person, any direct or indirect liability of that
Person: (i) with respect to Guaranteed Indebtedness and with respect to any Indebtedness, lease, dividend
or other obligation of another Person if the purpose or intent of the Person incurring such liability, or the
effect thereof, is to provide assurance to the obligee of such liability that such liability will be paid or
discharged, or that any agreements relating thereto will be complied with, or that the holders of such
liability will be protected (in whole or in part) against loss with respect thereto; (i) with respect to any
letter of credit issued for the account of that Person or as to which that Person is otherwise liable for
reimbursement of drawings; (iif) under any foreign exchange contract, currency swap agreement, interest
rate swap agreement or other similar agreement or arrangement designed to alter the risks of that Person
arising from fluctuations in currency values or interest rates, (iv) any agreement, contract or transaction
involving commodity options or future contracts, (v) to make take-or-pay or similar payments if required
regardless of nonperformance by any other party or parties to an agreement, or (vi) pursuant to any
agreement to purchase, repurchase or otherwise acquire any obligation or any property constituting
security therefor, to provide funds for the payment or discharge of such obligation or to maintain the
solvency, financial condition or any balance sheet item or level of income of another. The amount of any
Contingent Obligation shall be equal to the amount of the obligation so guaranteed or otherwise supported
or, if not a fixed and determined amount, the maximum amount so guaranteed.

Contract Research Organization means a Person that assumes or performs, as an independent
contractor of the sponsor of a clinical or preclinical investigation, one or more of the obligations of such
sponsor or one or more activities or services on behalf of such sponsor, including but not fimited to,
design of a protocol, selection of investigators, monitoring of investigations, evaluation of reports, and
preparation of materials to be submitted to the FDA or other Governmental Authority having equivalent
Jurisdiction in countries other than the United States,

Contractual Obligations means, as applied to any Person, any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust,
contract, undertaking, agreement or other instrument to which that Person is a party or by which it or any
of its properties is bound or to which it or any of its properties is subject including the Related
Transactions Documents.

Control Agreement means (i} with respect to Collateral other than Canadian PPSL Collateral, a
tri-party deposit account, securities account or commodities account control agreements by and among the
applicable Loan Party, Agent and the depository, securities intermediary or commodities intermediary,
and each in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent, and in any event providing to Agent
“control” of such deposit account, securities or commodities account, as applicable, within the meaning of
Articles 8 and 9 of the Code; and (ii) with respect to Canadian PPSL Collateral, any agreement in form
and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent entered into by (a) the applicable Loan Party, Agent, and
an issuer, securities intermediary, or futures intermediary, whereby the parties intend for Agent to obtain
control (within the meaning of Canadian PPSL} of Investment Property (within the meaning of Canadian
PPSL} or (b) the applicable Loan Party, Agent, and a bank where a deposit account is maintained,
pursuant to which, among other things, such bank waives (subject to exceptions reasonably acceptable to
Agent) its rights of setoff, combination, or recoupment or any other claim against such account and agrees
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from and after the receipt of a notice (an “Activation Notice”) from Agent {which Activation Notice may
not be given by Agent unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing) to take instructions
exclusively from Agent with respect to such account.

Copyright License means any and all rights now owned or hereafter acquired by any Loan Party
under any written agreement granting any right to such Loan Party to use any Copyright or Copyright
registration owned by a third party.

Copyright Security Agreements means the Copyright Securlty Agreements made in favor of
Agent, on behalf of Agent and applicable Lenders, by each applicable Loan Party.

Copyrights means all of the following now owned or hereafter adopted or acquired by any Loan
Party: (a) all copyrights and General Intangibles of like nature (whether registered or unregistered), all
registrations and recordings thereof, and all applications in connection therewith, including all
registrations, recordings and applications in the United States Copyright Office or in any similar office or
agency of the United States, any state or territory thereof, or any other country or any political subdivision
thereof; and (b) all reissues, extensions or renewals thereof.

Credit Bid Transactions means (i) the transfer by the Pre-Petition First Lien Agents to US
Borrower and Canadian Borrower of rights to receive, if certain credit bids are successful, all or
substantially all of the assets of Sellers, (ii) one or more credit bids by the Pre-Petition First Lien Agents
for all or substantially all of the assets of Sellers, (iii) the execution and delivery of the Acquisition
Agreement, and (iv) the payment of the purchase price for the Acquisition by the Pre-Petition First Lien
Agents and the transfer of the Credit Bid and Acquisition Consideration by the Borrowers to the Pre-
Petition First Lien Agents as consideration for such payment.

Credit Bid and Acquisition Consideration means certain Stock of US Borrower, the assumption of
the principal balance of the Roll-Up Obligations as of the Closing Date by US Borrower, the assumption
of obligations under the DIP Revolving Facility outstanding as of the Closing Date by US Borrower,
issuance of notes by a Borrower evidencing US Term Loan A, US Term Loan B, US Term Loan C and
Canadian Term Loan C and the execution and delivery of the Acquisition Agreement.

Credit Bid and Acquisition Documents means (i) the Acquisition Agreement, (ii) the Sale Support
Agreement, (iii) the Investors’ Agreement, (iv) the Operating Agreement, (v) Operations Support
Agreement and (vi) any other document, agreement or instrument evidencing or governing the Credit Bid
Transactions, the delivery or receipt of the Credit Bid and Acquisition Consideration or the Acquisition.

CRS has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement.
CSA has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 4.9(b)(i).

Current Assets means, with respect to any Person, all current assets of such Person as of any date

of determination calculated in accordance with GAAP, but excluding cash, cash equivalents and debts due
from Affiliates.

Current Liabilities means, with respect to any Person, all liabilities that should, in accordance
with GAAP, be classified as current liabilities, and in any event shall include all Indebtedness payable on
demand or within one year from any date of determination without any option on the part of the obligor to
extend or renew beyond such year, all accruals for federal or other taxes based on or measured by income
or capital and payable within such year, but excluding the current portion of long-term debt required to be

10
CH\1359999.12



paid within one year and the aggregate outstanding principal balances of the Revolving Loan and the
Swing Line Loan. '

Debtor and Debtors have the meahings ascribed to them in the preamble to this Agreement.

Default means any event that, with the passage of time or notice or both, would, unless cured or
waived, become an Event of Default.

Default Rate has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.2(d).

Defaulting Lender means any Lender that has (a) failed to fund any payments required to be made
by it under the Loan Documents within two (2) Business Days after any such payment is due (excluding
expense and similar reimbursements that are subject to good faith disputes), (b) given written notice (and
Agent has not received a revocation in writing), to Borrower Representative, Agent, any Lender, or the
L/C Issuer or has otherwise publicly announced (and Agent has not received notice of a public retraction)
that such Lender believes it will fail to fund payments or purchases of participations required to be funded
by it under the Loan Documents or one or more other syndicated credit facilities, (c) failed to fund, and
not cured, loans, participations, advances, or reimbursement obligations under one or more other
syndicated credit facilities, unless subject to a good faith dispute, or (d) any Non-Signing Lender.

Design License means rights under any written agreement now owned or hereafter acquired by
any Loan Party granting any right to use any Design.

Designs means all of the following now owned or hereafter acquired by any Loan Party: (a) all
industrial designs and intangibles of like nature (whether registered or unregistered), now owned or
existing or hereafter adopted or acquired, all registrations and recordings thereof, and all applications in
connection therewith, including all registrations, recordings and applications in the Canadian Industrial
Design Office or in any similar office or agency in any other country or any political subdivision thereof,
and (b) all reissues, extensions or renewals thereof,

Determined Minimum EBITDA Level means the minimum dollar amount of EBITDA permitted
under Section 7.1(b) for the 12-Fiscal Month period ending on December 31, 2012 and for the 12-Fiscal
Month period ending on March 31, 2013 to be determined by the Requisite Lenders in a written notice to
Borrower Representative and Lenders with a cushion of not more than 20% to the forecasted relevant
amounts for the relevant periods set forth in the Acceptable Business Plan.

DIP Credit Agreement means that certain Superpriority and Priming Debtor-in-Possession Credit
Facility, dated as of March 27, 2012, by and among the Debtors, Freeport as agent, and the other financial
institutions party thereto as lenders (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to
the date hereof).

DIP Lenders means, collectively, the “Lenders” under (and as defined) in the DIP Credit
Agreement.

DIP Revolving Facility means the revolving credit facility under the DIP Credit Agreement.

Disbursement Account has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(g)(i).

Disclosure Schedules means the Schedules prepared by Borrowers and denominated as Schedules
4.1(a) through 6.9 in the index to this Agreement, e
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Documents means any “document,” as such term is defined in the Code, including electronic
documents, now owned or hereafter acquired by any Loan Party, wherever located.

Dollars or $ means lawful currency of the United States of America.

EBITDA means Consolidated Net Income:

Less:

Plus:
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(in each case to the extent included in the calculation of Consolidated Net Income, but
without duplication):

(i) income and franchise tax credits,
(ii) interest income,
(iif) gain from extraordinary items or non-recurring gains,

(iv) any gain arising from the sale, exchange or other disposition of assets outside of the
ordinary course of business, other than Accounts and Inventory,

(v) any other non-cash gains, and

(vi) non-recurring gains,

(in each case to the extent deducted in or excluded from the calculation of Consolidated
Net Income, but without duplication):

(i) expenses for recruiting of directors and senior executives reasonably acceptable to
Agent,

(i) transaction costs related to acquisitions after the Closing Date reasonably acceptable
to Agent,

(iii) any provision for income and franchise taxes,
(iv) Interest Expense,
(v) depreciation and amortization,

(vi} amortized debt discount (but in the case of amortization and expenses of Related

. Transactions, only to the extent included in the Pro Forma),

(vii) any deduction as the result of any grant to employees of US Botrower or any of its
Subsidiaries of any Stock,

(viii) loss from extraordinary items,
(ix) any loss arising from the sale, exchange or other dispositidn of assets outside of the

ordinary course of business, other than Accounts and Inventory, but including
amortization of intangibles (including but not limited to goodwill),
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(x) any other non-cash losses (other than non-cash losses relating to write-offs, write-
downs or reserves with respect to Accounts and Inventory),

(xi) expenses of the Related Transactions, provided that such expenses were included in
the Pro Forma or disclosed in any notes thereto plus up to $250,000 of such expenses not
reflected in the Pro Forma,

(xii) proceeds of business interruption insurance policies, and

(xiii) business optimization expenses and other restructuring charges or reserves (which,
for the avoidance of doubt, may include, without limitation, the effect of optimization
programs, facility closure, facility consolidations, retention, severance, systems
establishment costs, systems conversion and integration costs, contract termination cOsts,
future lease commitments and excess pension charges) and any other non-cash amounts

to the extent approved in writing by the Agent and the Requisite Lenders in their sole
discretion.

Environmental Laws means all applicable federal, state, provincial, local and foreign laws,
statutes, ordinances, codes, rules, standards, orders-in-council and regulations, now or hereafter in effect,
and any legally binding applicable judicial or administrative interpretation thereof, including any
applicable judicial or administrative order, consent decree, order or judgment, imposing liability or
standards of conduct for or relating to the regulation and protection of human health, safety and the
environment (including ambient air, surface water, groundwater, wetlands, land surface or subsurface
strata) or human health or safety with respect to exposure to Hazardous Materials. Environmental Laws
include the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (42
U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.) (“CERCLA”™); the Hazardous Materials Transportation Authorization Act of 1994
(49 U.S.C. §§ 5101 et seq.); the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act (7US.C. §§ 136 et
seq.); the Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq.); the Toxic Substance Control Act (15
U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq.); the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.); the Federal Water Pollution
Control Act (33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.); the Occupational Safety and Health Act (29 U.S.C. §§ 651 et
seq.); and the Safe Drinking Water Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 300() et seq.), and any and all regulations
promulgated thereunder, and all analogous state, provincial, local and foreign counterparts or equivalents
(including, without limitation, the Canadian Environmental Protection Act 1999 (Canada),
Transportation of Dangerous Goods Act, 1992 (Canada), and the Hozardous Products Act (Canada), and
any and all regulations promulgated thereunder) and any transfer of ownership notification or approval
statutes.

Environmental Liabilities means, with respect to any Person, all liabilities, obligations,
responsibilities, response, remedial and removal costs, investigation and feasibility study costs, capital
costs, operation and maintenance costs, losses, damages, punitive damages, property damages, natural
resource damages, consequential damages, treble damages, costs and expenses (including all reasonable
fees, disbursements and expenses of counsel, experts and consultants), fines, penalties, sanctions and
interest incurred as a result of or related to any claim, suit, action, investigation, proceeding or demand by
any Person, whether based in contract, tort, implied or express warranty, strict Hability, criminal or civil
statute or common law, including any arising under or related to any Environmental Laws, Environmental
Permits, or in connection with any Release or threatened Release or presence of a Hazardous Material
whether on, at, in, under, from or about or in the vicinity of any real or personal property.

Environmental Permits means all permits, licenses, authorizations, certificates, approvals or
registrations required by any Governmental Authority under any Environmental Laws.
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Equipment means all “equipment,” as such term is defined in the Code, now owned or hereafter
acquired by any Loan Party, wherever located.

ERISA means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to
time, and any regulations promulgated thereunder.

ERISA Affiliate means, with respect to any Loan Party, any trade or business (whether or not
incorporated) that, together with such Loan Party, are treated as a single employer within the meaning of
Sections 414(b}, {c), (m) or (o) of the IRC.

ERISA Event means, with respect to any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate, (a) any event
described in Section 4043(c) of ERISA with respect to a Title IV Plan; (b) the withdrawal of any Loan
Party or ERISA Affiliate from a Title IV Plan subject to Section 4063 of ERISA during a plan year in
which it was a substantial employer, as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ERISA; (c) the complete or
partial withdrawal of any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate from any Multiemployer Plan; (d) the filing
of a notice of intent to terminate a Title IV Plan or the treatment of a plan amendment as a termination
under Section 4041 of ERISA; (e)the institution of proceedings to terminate a Title IV Plan or
Multiemployer Plan by the PBGC; (f) the failure by any Loan Party or ERISA Affiliate to make when due
required contributions to a Multiemployer Plan or Title IV Plan unless such failure is cured within 30
days; (g)any other event or condition that might reasonably be expected to constitute grounds under
Section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Title IV
Plan or Multiemployer Plan or for the imposition of liability under Section 4069 or 4212(c) of ERISA;
(h) the termination of a Multiemployer Plan under Section 4041A of ERISA or the reorganization or
insolvency of a Multiemployer Plan under Section 4241 or 4245 of ERISA; (i) the loss of a Qualified
Plan’s qualification or tax exempt status; or (j) the termination of a Plan described in Section 4064 of
ERISA.

ESOP means a Plan that is intended to satisfy the requirements of Section 4975(e)(7) of the IRC.

Event of Default has the meaning ascribed to it in Section §.1.

Excess Cash Flow has the meaning ascribed to it in Schedule 2 to Annex E.

Excluded Taxes has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.9(a).

Fair Labor Standards Act means the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §201 et seq.

- FATCA means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the IRC, as of the date of this Agreement (or any
amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to
comply with) and any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof.

FDA has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 4.23.
FDA Letter Matters means those matters that are set forth in that certain letter, dated July 26,

2011, issued by FDA to Holdings and in the subsequent letters, directives rulings and orders issued by
FDA related to the subject matter thereof.

Federal Funds Rate means, for any day, a floating rate equal to the weighted average of the rates
on overnight federal funds transactions among members of the Federal Reserve System, as determined by
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Agent in its sole discretion, which determination shall be final, binding and conclusive (absent manifest
error).

Federal Reserve Board means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

Fee Letter has the meaning ascribed to in Section 2.3(a).

Fees means any and all fees payable to Agent or any Lender pursuant to this Agreement or any of
the other Loan Documents.

FFDCA has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 4.9(b)(i).

Field Review has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 5.3.
Final Order has the meaning ascribed to it in the DIP Credit Agreement.

Financial Statements means the consolidated income statements, statements of cash flows and
balance sheets of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries delivered in accordance with Sections 7.2(a) and (b).

Fiscal Month means any of the monthly accounting periods of US Borrower of each Fiscal Year.

Fiscal Quarter means any of the quarterly accounting periods of US Borrower, ending on March
31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year.

Fiscal Year means any of the annual accounting periods of US Borrower ending on December 31
of each year.

Fixed Charges means for any measuring period:
(i) Interest Expense, plus

(ii) scheduled payments of principal of Indebtedness (which for the avoidance of doubt
shall not include prepayments).

Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio means for any measuring period the ratio of (x) EBITDA minus (i)
Capital Expenditures, minus (ii) any income and franchise taxes paid in cash, to (y) Fixed Charges.

Fixtures means all “fixtures” as such term is defined in the Code, now owned or hereaﬁer
acquired by any Loan Party.

Foreign Lender has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.9(c).

Foreign Subsidiary means any direct or indirect Subsidiary of US Borrower that is not a “United
States person” within the meaning of Section 7701(2)(30) of the IRC.

Freeport has the meaning ascribed to it in the Preamble.
Freeport Loan means Freeport Loan Fund LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

Funded Debt means, with respect to any Person, without duplication, all Indebtedness for
borrowed money evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures, or similar evidences of Indebtedness and that by
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its terms matures more than one year from, or is directly or indirectly renewable or extendible at such
Person’s option under a revolving credit or similar agreement obligating the lender or lenders to extend
credit over a period of more than one year from the date of creation thereof, and specifically including
Capital Lease Obligations, current maturities of long-term debt, revolving credit and short-term debt
extendible beyond one year at the option of the debtor, and also including, without limitation, in the case
of US Borrower, the US Obligations (including unreimbursed Letter of Credit Obligations), in the case of
Canadian Borrower, the Canadian Obligations, and, without duplication, Guaranteed Indebtedness
consisting of guaranties of Funded Debt of other Persons, less cash on deposit subject to a Control
Agreement,

Funding Date has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 3.2.

GAAP means generally accepfed accounting principles in the United States or Canada (with
respect to any Canadian Loan Party), as the case may be, consistently applied.

General Intangibles means “general intangibles,” as such term is defined in the Code, now owned
or hereafter acquired by any Loan Party. o

Goods means any “goods,” as such term is defined in the Code, now owned or hereafter acquired
by any Loan Party, wherever located, including embedded software to the extent included in “goods™ as
defined in the Code, manufactured homes, standing timber that is cut and removed for sale and unborn
young of animals,

Governmental Authority means any nation or government, any state, province, territory or other
political subdivision thereof, and any agency, department or other entity exercising executive, legislative,
judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government. Government Authority
shall include any agency, branch or other governmental body charged with the responsibility and/or
vested with the authority to administer and/or enforce any Health Care Laws.

Guaranteed Indebtedness means, as to any Person, any obligation of such Person guaranteeing,
providing comfort for or otherwise supporting any Indebtedness, lease, dividend, or other obligation
(“primary obligation”) of any other Person (the “primary obligor”) in any manner, including any
obligation or arrangement of such Person to (a) purchase or repurchase any such primary obligation,
(b) advance or supply funds (i) for the purchase or payment of any such primary obligation or (ii) to
maintain working capital or equity capital of the primary obligor or otherwise to maintain the net worth or
solvency or any balance sheet condition of the primary obligor, (c) purchase property, securities or
services primarily for the purpose of assuring the owner of any such primary obligation of the ability of
the primary obligor to make payment of such primary obligation, (d) protect the beneficiary of such
arrangement from loss (other than product warranties given in the ordinary course of business) or
(e) indemnify the owner of such primary obligation against loss in respect thereof. The amount of any
Guaranteed Indebtedness at any time shall be deemed to be an amount equal to the lesser at such time of
(x) the stated or determinable amount of the primary obligation in respect of which such Guaranteed
Indebtedness is incurred and (y) the maximum amount for which such Person may be liable pursuant to
the terms of the instrument embodying such Guaranteed Indebtedness, or, if not stated or determinable,
the maximum reasonably anticipated liability (assuming full performance) in respect thercof.

Guaranties means, collectively, cach guaranty executed by any Guarantor in favor of Agent and
applicable Lenders in respect of the Obligations or the Canadian Obligations, as applicable.

Guarantor Payment has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 11.7.
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Guarantors means each Subsidiary of US Borrower (other than Canadian Borrower) and each
other Person, if any, that executes a guaranty or other similar agreement in favor of Agent, for the benefit
of Agent and applicable Lenders, in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and
the other Loan Documents.

Hazardous Material means any substance, material or waste that is regulated by, or forms the
basis of liability now or hereafter under, any Environmental Laws, including any material or substance
that is (a) defined as a “solid waste,” “hazardous waste,” “hazardous material,” “hazardous substance,”
“dangerous goods,” “extremely hazardous waste,” “restricted hazardous waste,” “pollutant,”
“contaminant,” “hazardous constituent,” “special waste,” “toxic substance” or other similar term or
phrase under any Environmental Laws, or (b) petroleum or any fraction or by-product thereof, asbestos,
polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB’s), or any radioactive substance.

Health Care Laws has the meaning given such term in Section 4.9 hereof.

Indebtedness means, with respect to any Person, without duplication (i) all obligations of such
Person for borrowed money, (ii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or
other similar instruments, (iii) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of
property or services (other than as set forth in clause (viii) below), except trade accounts payable arising
and paid on a timely basis and in the ordinary course of business, (iv) all Capital Leases of such Person,
(v) all non-contingent obligations of such Person to reimburse any bank or other Person in respect of
amounts paid under a letter of credit, banker’s acceptance or similar instrument, (vi) all equity securities
of such Person subject to repurchase or redemption otherwise than at the sole option of such Person, (vii)
all obligations secured by a Lien on any asset of such Person, whether or not such obligation is otherwise
an obligation of such Person, (viii) “earnouts” and similar payment obligations of such Person to the
extent such payments are finally determined and earned, (ix) all Indebtedness of others guaranteed by
such Person, (x) hedging obligations to the extent required to be on the balance sheet of such Person, and

(xi} the principal balance under any synthetic lease, off balance sheet loan or similar off balance sheet
financial product.

Indemnitees has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 10.1.

Index Rate means, for any day, a floating rate equal to the highest of (i) 3.00%, (ii) the rate
publicly quoted from time to time by The Wall Street Journal, (iii) the Federal Funds Rate plus 50 basis
points per annum and (iv) the LIBOR Rate for a LIBOR Period of three months that appears on Reuters
Screen LIBORO1 Page as of 11:00 a.m. (London time), on the second full LIBOR Business Day next
preceding such day, plus 100 basis points per annum.

Index Rate L.oan means a Loan or portion thereof bearing interest by reference to the Index Rate.

Insolvency Law means any of the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada)
and the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada), each as now and hereafter in effect, any
successors to such statutes and any other applicable insolvency or other similar law of any Jjurisdiction
including, without limitation, any law (including any corporate law) of any jurisdiction permitting a
debtor to obtain a stay or a compromise of the claims of its creditors against it.

Instruments means all “instruments,” as such term is defined in the Code, now owned or hereafter
acquired by any Loan Party, wherever located, and, in any event, including all certificated securities, all
certificates of deposit, and all promissory notes and other evidences of indebtedness, other than
instruments that constitute, or are a part of 2 group of writings that constitute, Chattel Paper.
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Intellectual Property means any and all Licenses, Patents, Copyrights, Trademarks, Designs and
the goodwill associated with such Trademarks, including any trade secrets owned by any Loan Party in
such Loan Party’s proprietary methods related to Assays.

Intercompany Debt has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 10.21.

Intercompany Notes means a promissory note contemplated by Section 6.1(c).

Interest Expense means for any measuring period interest expense (whether cash or non-cash)
determined in accordance with GAAP and deducted in the caiculation of Consolidated Net Income,
inchuding capitalized interest expense, less the sum of (i} amortization of capitalized fees and expenses
with respect to Related Transactions for such period, (ii) amortization of any original issue discount
attributable to Funded Debt or warrants for such period, and (iii) interest paid in-kind during such period.

Interest Payment Date means (a) as to any Index Rate Loan, the first Business Day of each month
to occur while such Loan is outstanding and (b) as to any LIBOR Loan, the last day of the applicable
LIBOR Period; provided, that in the case of any LIBOR Period greater than three months in duration,
interest shall be payable at three month intervals and on the last day of such LIBOR Period; and provided
further that, in addition to the foregoing, each of (x) the date upon which all of the Revolving Loan
Commitments have been terminated and the Loans have been paid in full and (y) the Commitment
Termination Date shall be deemed to be an “Interest Payment Date” with respect to any interest that has
then accrued under this Agreement.

Interest Rate Agreement means any interest rate swap agreement, interest rate cap agreement,
interest rate collar agreement or similar agreement or arrangement designed to protect either Borrower
against fluctuations in interest rates entered into between any Borrower and any Lender.

Inventory means any “inventory,” as such term is defined in the Code, now owned or hereafter
acquired by any Loan Party, wherever located.

Investment means (i) any direct or indirect purchase or other acquisition by US Borrower or any
of its Subsidiaties of any Stock, or other ownership interest in, any other Person, and (ii) any direct or
indirect loan, advance or capital contribution by US Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to any other
Person excluding Accounts and deposits arising in the ordinary course of business and any extension of
trade credit in the ordinary course of business.

Investment Property means all “investment property,” as such term is defined in the Code, now
owned or hereafter acquired by any Loan Party, wherever located.

Investors’ Agreement means the Investors’ Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, among,
inter alia, US Borrower, the Investors (as defined therein) and any other holders of equity securities of
US Borrower, as the same may be amended supplemented, restated or otherwise modified from time to
time.

IRC means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and all regulations promulgated
thereunder.

‘& means the United States Internal Revenue Service.
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ITA means the Income Tax Act (Canada) and any regulations promulgated thereunder, as the
same may, from time to time, be in effect.

knowledge means, whenever any provision in any Loan Document refers to the knoWledge (or an
analogous phrase) of any Loan Party, that one or more officers of such Loan Party has actual knowledge
or awareness of a particular fact or circumstance.

L/C Issuer means Freeport or a Subsidiary thereof or a bank or other legally authorized Person
selected by or acceptable to Agent in its sole discretion and reasonably acceptable to US Borrower, in
such Person’s capacity as an issuer of Letters of Credit hereunder.

L/C Sublimit has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(H)(i).

Lenders means Freeport, the other Lenders named on the signature pages of this Agreement (and,
if any such Person shall decide to assign all or any portion of the Obligations, such term shall include any
assignee of such Person); provided, that for the purposes of (i) the definitions of “Interest Rate
Agreement” and “Obligations”, (ii) Sections 9.2(a), (b), (c), (d) and (f) of this Agreement and (iii) the
granting and perfection of Liens pursuant to one or more Loan Documents (including references in the
Loan Documents to Liens being held by Agent for the benefit of Lenders), each Qualified Counterparty
(and each L/C Issuer with respect to the preceding clauses (ii) and (iii)) shall be deemed to be a US
Lender or a Canadian Term Lender as the context requires (it being agreed that no such Qualified
Counterparty or L/C Issuer (except as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement) shall have the
right to vote on or consent to any matter requiring a vote or consent of one or more Lenders).

Letters of Credit means documentary or standby letters of credit issued for the account of US
Borrower by L/C Issuers, and bankers’ acceptances issued by US Borrower, for which Agent and US
Lenders have incurred Letter of Credit Obligations.

Letter of Credit Fee has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3(c).

Letter of Credit Obligations means all outstanding obligations incurred by Agent and US Lenders
at the request of Borrower Representative, whether direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, due or not
due, in connection with the issuance of Letters of Credit by L/C Issuers or the purchase of a participation
as set forth in Section 2.1(f) with respect to any Letter of Credit. The amount of such Letter of Credit
Obligations shall equal the maximum amount that may be payable by Agent and US Lenders thereupon or
pursuant thereto.

Leverage Ratio means for any measuring period the ratio of (x)(i) Funded Debt (including Letter
of Credit Obligations, but otherwise excluding the Revolving Loan balance) as of the last day of such
measuring period plus (ii) the Average Daily Balance to (y) EBITDA.

LIBOR Breakage Costs means an amount equal to the amount of any losses, expenses, liabilities
(including, without limitation, any loss (including interest paid) and lost opportunity cost (consisting of
the present value of the difference between the LIBOR Rate in effect for the Interest Period and any lower
LLIBOR Rate in effect at the time of prepayment for the remainder of that Interest Period) in connection
with the re-employment of such funds) that any Lender sustains as a result of (i) any default by either
Borrower in making any borrowing of, conversion into or continvation of any LIBOR Loan following
Borrower Representative’s delivery to Agent of any LIBOR Loan request in respect thereof or (ii) any
payment of a LIBOR Loan on any day that is not the last day of the LIBOR Period applicable thereto
(regardless of the source of such prepayment and whether voluntary, by acceleration or otherwise). For
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purposes of calculating amounts payable to a Lender under Section 2.3(d), each Lender shall be deemed
to have actually funded its relevant LIBOR Loan through the purchase of a deposit bearing interest at the
LIBOR Rate in an amount equal to the amount of that LIBOR Loan and having a maturity and repricing
characteristics comparable to the relevant LIBOR Period; provided, however, that each Lender may fund
each of its LIBOR Loans in any manner it sees fit, and the foregoing assumption shall be utilized only for
the calculation of amounts payable under Section 2.3(d).

LIBOR Business Day means a Business Day on which banks in the City of London are generally
open for interbank or foreign exchange transactions.

LIBOR Loans means a Loan or any portion thereof bearing interest by reference to the LIBOR
Rate.

LIBOR Period means, with respect to any LIBOR Loan, each period commencing on a LIBOR
Business Day selected by Borrower Representative pursuant to this Agreement and ending one, two,
three, six or twelve months thereafter, as selected by Borrower Representative’s irrevocable notice to
Agent as set forth in Section 2.2(e); provided, that the foregoing provision relating to LIBOR Periods is
subject to the following:

(a) if any LIBOR Period would otherwise end on a day that is not a LIBOR Business
Day, such LIBOR Period shall be extended to the next succeeding LIBOR Business Day unless
the result of such extension would be to carry such LIBOR Period into another calendar month in
which event such LIBOR Pericd shall end on the immediately preceding LIBOR Business Day;

(b) any LIBOR Period that would otherwise extend beyond the date set forth in
clause (a) of the definition of “Commitment Termination Date” shall end two (2) LIBOR
Business Days prior to such date;

{c) any LIBOR Period that begins on the last LIBOR Business Day of a calendar
month (or on a day for which there is no numericaily corresponding day in the calendar month at
the end of such LIBOR Period) shall end on the last LIBOR Business Day of a calendar month;

-and

(d) Borrower Representative shall select LIBOR Periods so that there shall be no
more than 10 separate LIBOR Loans in existence at any one time.

LIBOR Rate means for each LIBOR Period, a rate of interest determined by Agent equal
to the greater of (a) 2.00% and (b):

6y the offered rate for deposits in United States Dollars for the applicable LIBOR
Period that appears on Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page as of 11:00 a.m. (London time), on the
second full LIBOR Business Day next preceding the first day of such LIBOR Period (unless such
date is not a Business Day, in which event the next succeeding Business Day will be used);
divided by

(i) a number equal to 1.0 minus the aggregate (but without duplication) of the rates
(expressed as a decimal fraction) of reserve requirements in effect on the day that is two 2)
- LIBOR Business Days prior to the beginning of such LIBOR Period (including basic,
supplemental, marginal and emergency reserves under any regulations of the Federal Reserve
Board or other Governmental Authority having jurisdiction with respect thereto, as now and from
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time to time in effect) for Ei]rocurrency funding (currently referred to as “Eurocurrency
Liabilities” in Regulation D of the Federal Reserve Board that are required to be maintained by a
member bank of the Federal Reserve System.

If such interest rates shall cease to be available from Reuters, the LIBOR Rate shall be
determined from such financial reporting service or other information as shall be available to Agent,

License means any Copyright License, Patent License, Trademark License, Design License or
other license of rights or interests now held or hereafter acquired by any Loan Party.

Lien means any mortgage or deed of trust, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, deposit
arrangement, lien, charge, claim, security interest, easement or encumbrance, or preference, priority or
other. security agreement or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever (including any
lease or title retention agreement, any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as
any of the foregoing, and the filing of, or agreement to give, any financing statement perfecting a security
interest under the Code or comparable law of any jurisdiction), -

Liquidity means, at any time, the sum of (a) Borrowing Availability at such time, plus (b) the
aggregate amount of unrestricted cash on hand of the Loan Parties at such time.,

Litigation has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 7.2(k).

Loan Account has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.7.

Loan Documents means this Agreement, the Notes, the Collateral Documents, the Fee Letter,
Interest Rate Agreements, the subordination provisions applicable to any Subordinated Debt and
intercreditor provisions applicable to any Indebtedness that is pari passu in right of payment to the
Obligations and all other agreements, instruments, documents and certificates identified in the Closing
Checklist executed and delivered to, or in favor of, Agent or any Lenders and including all other pledges,
powers of attorney, consents, assignments, contracts, notices, and all other written matter whether
heretofore, now or hereafter executed by or on behalf of any Loan Party, or any employee of any Loan
Party, and delivered to Agent or any Lender in connection with this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated thereby. Any reference in this Agreement or any other Loan Document to a Loan
Document shall include all appendices, exhibits or schedules thereto, and all amendments, restatements,
supplements or other modifications thereto, and shall refer to this Agreement or such Loan Document as
the same may be in effect at any and all times such reference becomes operative.

Loan Parties means US Borrower, Canadian Borrower, each other Subsidiary of US Borrower
and any other Person (i) which executes this Agreement as a “Loan Party,” (ii) which executes a
Guaranty, (jii) which grants a Lien on all or substantially all of its assets to secure payment of any of the
Obligations and (iv) all of the Stock of which is pledged to Agent for the benefit of Agent and applicable
Lenders.

Loans means the Revolving Loans, the Swing Line Loan and the Term Loans.

Material Adverse Effect means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, assets, results of
operations or financial or other condition of the Loan Parties considered as a whole, (b) Borrowers’
ability to pay any of the Loans or any of the other Obligations in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement, (c) the Collateral or Agent’s Liens, on behalf of Agent and applicable Lenders, on the
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Collateral or the priority of such Liens, or (d) Agent’s or any Lender’s rights and remedies under this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

Maxnnum Amount means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to the aggregate
Revolvmg Loan Commitment of all Lenders as of that date.

Maximum Lawful Rate has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.2(f).

Moody’s means Moody’s Investors Services, Inc.

Mortgaged Leases means the leases for any leased facilities that are subject to a Mortgage.

Mortgages means each of the mortgages, deeds of trust, collateral assignments of leases or other
real estate security documents delivered by any Loan Party to Agent on behalf of Agent and applicable
Lenders with respect to owned or leased Real Estate; including a leasehold mortgage with respect to US
Borrower’s building in Fargo, North Dakota.

Multiemployer Plan means a “multiemployer plan™ as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA,
and to which any Loan Party or ERISA Affiliate is making or is obligated to make contributions on behalf
of participants who are or were employed by any of them or withdrawal liability payments.

Net Proceeds means cash proceeds received by US Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries from any
Asset Disposition (including insurance proceeds (other than proceeds of any business interruption
insurance policy), awards of condemnation, and payments under notes or other debt securities received in
connection with any Asset Disposition), net of (a) the costs of such Asset Disposition (including taxes
attributable to such sale, lease or transfer) and any commissions and other customary transaction fees,
costs and expenses, other than any costs payable to any Affiliate of a Loan Party (b) amounts applied to
repayment of Indebtedness (other than the Obligations) secured by a Lien permitted under this Agreement
on the asset or property disposed, and (c) any amounts required to be held in escrow until such time as
such amounts are released from escrow whereupon such amounts shall be considered Net Proceeds.

Non-Consenting T ender has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 10.19(c).

Non-Excluded Taxes has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.9(a).

Non-Signing Lender means any Lender that has failed to execute and deliver any applicable Loan
Document, any applicable Credit Bid and Acquisition Document or any other definitive documentation
effectuating the transactions contemplated by the Sale Support Agreement.

Notes means, collectively, the Revolving Notes, the Swing Line Note and the Term Notes.

‘Notice of Conversion/Continuation has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.2(e).

Notice of Revolving Credit Advance has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(c).

Obligations means all loans, advances, debts, liabilities and obligations, for the performance of
covenants, tasks or duties or for payment of monetary amounts (whether or not such performance is then
required or contingent, or such amounts are liquidated or determinable), including obligations pursuant to
Interest Rate Agreements and Letter of Credit Obligations, owing by any Loan Party to Agent or any
Lender, and all covenants and duties regarding such amounts, of any kind or nature, present or future,
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whether or not evidenced by any note, agreement or other instrument, arising under this Agreement or any
of the other Loan Documents. This term includes all principal, interest (including all interest that accrues
after the commencement of any case or proceeding by or against any Loan Party in bankruptcy or
insolvency, whether or not allowed in such case or proceeding), Fees, charges, expenses, reasonable

attorneys’ fees and any other sum chargeable to any Loan Party under this Agreement or any of the other
Loan Documents.

Operating Agreement means the Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company
Agreement of PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC, effective as of the Closing Date, among, inter alia,

Freeport, as the same may be amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise modified from time to time.

Operations Support Agreement means that certain Operations Support Agreement, dated as of the
Closing Date, among US Borrower and Sellers, as the same may be amended, supplemented, restated or
otherwise modified from time to time.

Other Taxes has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.9(a).
Overadvance has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(c).

Patent License means rights under any written agreement now owned or hercafter acquired by

any Loan Party granting any right to such Loan Party with respect to any invention on which a Patent
owned by a third party is in existence.

Patent Security Agreements means the Patent Security Agreements made in favor of Agent, on
behalf of Agent and applicable Lenders, by each applicable Loan Party.

Patents means all of the following in which any Loan Party now holds or hereafter acquires any
interest: (a) all letters patent of the United States or any other country, all registrations and recordings
thereof, and all applications for letters patent of the United States or of any other country, including
registrations, recordings and applications in' the United States Patent and Trademark Office or in any
similar office or agency of the United States, any State or any other country, and (b} all reissues,
continuations, continuations-in-part or extensions thereof.

PBGC means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.
Pension Plan means & Plan described in Section 3(2) of ERISA.

Permitted Encumbrances means the following encumbrances: (a) Liens for taxes, assessments or
governmental charges or levies not yet due and payable and Liens for taxes, assessments or governmental
charges or levies being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings for which adequate
reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP, excluding federal income tax Liens, Liens in
favor of the PBGC under ERISA and Liens in the form of deemed trusts in favor of pension plan
administrators or regulators in respect of accrued and not yet due obligations of any Loan Party in respect
of Canadian Pension Plans; (b) Liens in respect of property or assets of US Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries imposed by law which were incurred in the ordinary course of business and which have not
arisen to secure Indebtedness for borrowed money, such as carriers’, materialmen’s, warehousemen’s and
mechanics® Liens, statutory and common law landlord’s Liens, and other similar Liens arising in the
ordinary course of business, and which either (1) do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value
of such property or assets or materially impair the use thereof in the operation of the business of US
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or (2) are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings,
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which proceedings have the effect of preventing the forfeiture or sale of the property or asset subject to
such Lien; (¢) Liens created by or pursuant to this Agreement, the Collateral Documents or the other Loan
Documents; (d) Liens in existence on the Closing Date which are listed, and the property subject thereto
described, on Schedule 6.2, without giving effect to any extensions or renewals thereof; (e) Liens arising
from judgments, decrees, awards or attachments in circumstances not constituting an Event of Default,
provided that the amount of cash and property (determined on a fair market value basis) deposited or
delivered to secure the respective judgment or decree or subject to attachment shall not exceed the limit
for a separate judgment in Section 8.1(h); (f)} Liens (other than any Lien imposed by ERISA) (1) incurred
or deposits made in the ordinary course of business in connection with general insurance maintained by
US Borrower and its Subsidiaries, (2) incurred or deposits made in the ordinary course of business of US
Borrower and its Subsidiaries in connection with workers® compensation, unemployment insurance and
other types of social security, the remittance or payment of which is not yet due and payable, (3) to secure
the performance by US Borrower and its Subsidiaries of tenders, statutory obligations not yet due and
payable (other than excise taxes), surety, stay, customs and appeal bonds, statutory bonds, bids, leases,
government contracts, trade contracts, performance and return of money bonds and- other similar
obligations (exclusive of obligations for the payment of borrowed money) to the extent incurred in the
ordinary course of business, (4) consisting of deposits to secure the performance by US Borrower and its
Subsidiarjes of leases of Real Property, to the extent incurred or made in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practices, and (5) other deposits made solely in the ordinary course of the Loan
Parties’ business; (g) licenses, sublicenses, leases or subleases granted to third Persons in the ordinary
course of business not interfering in any material respect with the business of US Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries; (h) easements, rights-of-way, restrictions, minor defects or irregularities in title,
encroachments and other similar charges or encumbrances, in each case not securing Indebtedness and
not interfering in any material respect with the ordinary conduct of the business of US Borrower or any of
its Subsidiaries; (i) Liens arising from precautionary Code or Canadian PPSL financing statements
regarding operating leases; (j) Liens created pursuant to or in connection with leases or Capital Leases
permitted pursuant to this Agreement, provided that (1) such Liens only serve to secure the payment of
rent or Indebtedness arising under such leases or Capital Leases and (2) the Liens encumbering the assets
leased or purported to be leased under such leases or Capital Leases do not encumber any other assets of
US Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (other than letters of credit, payment undertaking agreements,
guaranteed investment contracts, deposits of cash or Cash Equivalents and other credit support
arrangements, in each case having an aggregate value not exceeding the fair market value of the assets
leased or purported to be leased under such leases or Capital Leases (each of such values determined at
the time when the lease agreement relating to the relevant lease or Capital Lease is signed and delivered));
(k) (1) those liens, encumbrances, hypothecs and other matters affecting title to any Real Property and
found reasonably acceptable by the Agent or insured against by title insurance, (2) as to any particular
Real Property at any time, such easements, encroachments, covenants, rights of way, minor defects,
irregularities or encumbrances on title which would not reasonably be expected to materially impair such
Real Property for the purpose for which it is held by the mortgagor or grantor thereof, or the lien or
hypothec held by Agent, (3) zoning and other municipal ordinances which are not violated in any material
respect by the existing improvements and the present use made by the mortgagor or grantor thereof of the
premises, (4) general real estate taxes and assessments not yet delinquent, (5) any Lien that would be
disclosed on a true, correct and complete survey of the Real Property that does not materially affect the
use or enjoyment of the Real Property as it is currently being used, and (6) such other similar items as the
Agent may consent to (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld); (I) Liens arising pursuant to
purchase money mortgages or security interests securing Indebtedness representing the purchase price (or
financing of the purchase price within 90 days after the respective purchase) of fixed assets acquired after
the Closing Date, provided that (1) any such Liens attach only to the assets so purchased, upgrades
thereon and, if the asset so purchased is an upgrade, the original asset itself (and such other assets
financed by the same financing source), (2) the Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness incurred from the
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same financing source to purchase other assets and excluding Indebtedness representing obligations to
pay installation and delivery charges for the property so purchased) secured by any such Lien does not
exceed 100% of the lesser of the fair market value or the purchase price of the property being purchased
at the time of the incurrence of such Indebtedness and (3) the Indebtedness secured thereby is permitted to
be incurred pursuant to this Agreement; (m) Liens arising out of consignment, bailment or similar
arrangements entered into by US Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business;
(n) rights of setoff upon deposits of cash in favor of banks or other depository institutions as permitted by
any Control Agreement or, with respect to deposits of cash not subject to a Control Agreement, customary
rights of setoff in favor of such banks or depository institutions; and (o) Liens securing Indebtedness or
leases that refinance, refund, extend, renew and/or replace Indebtedness or leases secured by Liens
described in clauses (a) through (n) above, as long as such Indebtedness is permitted hereunder.

Person means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, joint venture, trust, unincorporated
organization, association, corporation, limited liability company, unlimited company, institution, public
benefit corporation, other entity or government (whether federal, provincial, state, county, city, municipal,
local, foreign, or otherwise, including any instrumentality, division, agency, body or department thereof).

Plan means, at any time, an “employee benefit plan,” as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, that
any Loan Party or ERISA Affiliate maintains, contributes to or has an obligation to contribute to on
behalf of participants who are or were employed by any Loan Party.

Pledge Agreements means, collectively, any pledge agreement entered into by and among any
Agent, on behalf of Agent and applicable Lenders, and each Loan Party that is a signatory thereto.

Post-Closing Matters Agreement means that certain Post-Closing Matters Agreement dated as of
the Closing Date among the Loan Parties, as may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time.

PRACS Management means PRACS Institute Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company.

PRACS Institute means PRACS Institute, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
PRACS Miami means PRACS Institute Miami, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

PRACS San Antonio means PRACS Institute San Antonio, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company. ‘

Pre-Petition First Lien Agents means the “US Agent” under (and as defined in) the Pre-Petition
First Lien Credit Agreement and the “Canadian Agent” under (and as defined in) the Pre-Petition First
Lien Credit Agreement.

Pre-Petition First Lien Credit Agreement means that certain Third Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement dated as of March 14, 2007, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time prior to March 27, 2012, among Pre-Petition US Borrower, Allied Research, the other loan
parties party thereto, the financial institutions party thereto as lenders, Freeport as agent to the US lenders
and Bank of Montreal as agent to the Canadian lenders.

Pre-Petition First Lien Lenders means, collectively, the “Lenders” under (and as defined in) the

Pre-Petition First Lien Credit Agreement.
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Pre-Petition US Borrower has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement.

Pro Forma means the unaudited estimated consolidated balance sheets of US Borrower and its
Subsidiaries prepared in accordance with GAAP as of the Closing Date after giving effect to the Related
Transactlons The Pro Forma is annexed hereto as Annex C.

Pro Rata Share means with respect to all matters relating to any Lender at any time {(a) with
respect to the Revolving Loan, the percentage obtained by dividing (i) the Revolving Loan Commitment
of that Lender at such time by (ii) the aggregate Revolving Loan Commitments of all Lenders at such
time, (b) with respect to any Term Loan, the percentage obtained by dividing (i) the applicable Term
Loan Amount of that Lender at such time by (ii) the aggregate applicable Term Loan Amounts of all
Lenders at such time, (d) with respect to all Loans, the percentage obtained by dividing (i) the sum of (A)
the Revolving Loan Commitment of that Lender at such time plus (B) the aggregate Term Loan Amounts
of that Lender at such time by (ii) the sum of (A) the aggregate Revolving Loan Commitments of all
Lenders at such time plus (B) the aggregate Term Loan Amounts of all Lenders at such time, and (e) with
respect to all Loans on and after the Commitment Termination Date, the percentage obtained by dividing
(i) the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Loans held by that Lender at such time, by (ii) the
outstanding principal balance of the Loans held by all Lenders at such time, as any such percentages may
be adjusted by assignments pursuant to Section 9.1.

Proceeding means a proceeding under any Insolvency Law, in which any Loan Party or any
Subsidiary thereof is a debtor.

Projections means US Borrower and its Subsidiaries’ forecasted: (a) consolidated balance sheet;
(b) consolidated and consolidating profit and loss statements; and (c) consolidated cash flow statement,
and otherwise consistent with the historical Financial Statements of US Borrower, together with
appropriate supporting details and a statement of underlying assumptions; provided, that the initial
projections shall be for US Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

Proposed Change has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 10.19(c).

Qualified Assignee means (a) any Lender, any Affiliate of any Lender and, with respect to any
Lender, any investment fund that invests in commercial loans and that is managed or advised by such
Lender, an Affiliate of such Lender or the same investment advisor as such Lender or by an Affiliate of
such investment advisor (including, without limitation, any Related Fund), and (b) any commercial bank,
savings and loan association or savings bank or any other entity which is an “accredited investor” (as
defined in Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933 or, with respect to any assignee of all or any
portion of the Canadian Term Loan C, as defined under National Instrument 45-106 (Prospectus and
Registration Exceptions), as amended, supplemented, replaced and otherwise modified from time to time)
which extends credit or buys loans as one of its businesses, including insurance companies, mutual funds,
lease financing companies and commercial finance companies, which has a rating of BBB or higher from
S&P or, with respect to any assignee of all or any portion of the Canadian Term Loan C, Dominion Bond
Rating Service Limited, and a rating of Baa2 or higher from Moody’s at the date that it becomes a Lender
and which, through its applicable lending office, is capable of lending to Borrower without the imposition
of any withholding or similar taxes or other additional amounts under Section 2.9; provided that no
Person that is a Defaulting Lender shall be a Qualified Assignee.

Qualified Counterparty means a Person which (i) is an Affiliate of a Lender and (ii) has entered
into an agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, pursuant to which such
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Person has, among other things, appointed Agent as its agent and agreed to be bound by certain
provisions of the Loan Documents.

Qualified Plan means a Pension Plan that is intended to be tax-qualified under Section 401(a) of
the IRC.

Real Estate has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 4.14.
Recognition Order has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement.

Refunded Swing Line Loan has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(c)(iii).

Regulatory Permits has the meaning ascribed to in Section 4.23.

Related Fund means (a) any fund, trust or similar entity that invests in commercial loans in the
ordinary course of business and is advised or managed by (i) a Lender, (ii) an affiliate of a Lender, (iii)
the same investment advisor that manages a Lender or (iv) an affiliate of an investment advisor that
manages a Lender, or (b) any finance company, insurance company or other financial institution which
temporarily warehouses loans for any Lender or any Person described in clause (a) of this definition.

Related Transactions means the initial borrowing under the Revolving Loan on the Closing Date,
the Acquisition, the Credit Bid Transactions, the delivery of the Credit Bid and Acquisition
Consideration, the payment of all Fees, costs and expenses associated with all of the foregoing and the
execution and delivery of all of the Related Transactions Documents.

Related Transactions Documents means the Loan Documents, the Credit Bid and Acquisition
Documents and all other agreements or instruments executed in connection with the Related Transactions.

Release means any release, threatened release, spill, emission, leaking, pumping, pouring,
emitting, emptying, escape, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, dumping, leaching or
migration of Hazardous Material in the indoor or outdoor environment, including the movement of
Hazardous Material through or in the air, soil, surface water, ground water or property.

Replacement L ender has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 10.19(a).

Request for Letter of Credit Issuance has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(f).

Requisite Canadian Term Lenders means Lenders holding more than 50% of the aggregate
outstanding principal amount of the Canadian Term Loan C. '

Requisite Lenders means Lenders holding (a) more than 50% of the sum of (i) the Revolving
Loan Commitments of all Lenders plus (ii) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term
Loans, or (b) if the Revolving Loan Commitments have been terminated, more than 50% of the aggregate
outstanding amount of the Loans.

Requisite Revolving Lenders means Lenders holding (a) more than 50% of the Revolving Loan
Commitments of all Lenders, or (b) if the Revolving Loan Commitments have been terminated, more than
50% of the aggregate outstanding amount of the Revolving Loan (with the Swing Line Loan being
atiributed to the Lender making such Loan).
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Requisite US Lenders means Lenders holding (a) more than the sum of (i) 50% of the Revolving
Loan Commitments of all Lenders plus (ii} the aggregate principal amount of the US Term Loans, or
(b) if the Revolving Loan Commitments have been terminated, more than 50% of the aggregate
outstanding amount of the US Loans.

Requisite US Term Loan A Lenders means Lenders holding more than 50% of the aggregate
outstanding principal amount of the US Term Loan A.

Requisite US Term Loan B Lenders means Lenders holding more than 50% of the aggregate
outstanding principal amount of the US Term Loan B. '

Requisite US Term Loan C Lenders means Lenders holding more than 50% of the aggregate
outstanding principal amount of US Term Loan C. ' '

Requisite US Term Loan Lenders means Lenders holding more than 50% of the aggregate
outstanding principal amount of the US Term Loans. '

Restricted Payment means, with respect to any Loan Party (a) the declaration or payment of any
dividend or the incurrence of any liability to make any other payment or distribution of cash or other
property or assets in respect of Stock (other than non-cash dividends or other non-cash distributions in the
form of additional stock issued by such Loan Party to the extent such issuance is not prohibited
hereunder); (b) any payment on account of the purchase, redemption, defeasance, sinking fund or other
retirement of such Loan Party’s Stock or any other payment or distribution made in respect thereof, either
directly or indirectly; (c) any payment made to redeem, purchase, repurchase or retire, or to obtain the
surrender of, any outstanding warrants, options or other rights to acquire Stock of such Loan Party now or
hercafter outstanding (other than cashless exercises of warrants, options or other similar rights not
resulting in the incurrence of Indebtedness); (d) any payment of a claim for the rescission of the purchase
or sale of, or for material damages arising from the purchase or sale of, any shares of such Loan Party’s
Stock or of a claim for reimbursement, indemnification or contribution arising out of or related to any
such claim for damages or rescission; and (e) any payment, loan, contribution, or other transfer of funds
or other property to any Stockholder of such Loan Party other than payment of compensation in the
ordinary course of business to Stockholders who are employees of such Loan Party.

Revolving Credit Advance has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(c).

Revolving Lenders means those Lenders having Revolving Loan Commitments (or if the
Revolving Loan Commitments have terminated, who hold Revolving Loans). '

Revolving Loan(s) means, at any time, the sum of (i) the aggregatc amount of Revolving Credit
Advances outstanding to US Borrower (including Swing Line Advances) plus (ii) the aggregate Letter of
Credit Obligations incurred on behalf of US Borrower. Unless the context otherwise requires, references
to the outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Loan shall include the outstanding balance of Letter
of Credit Obligations.

Revolving Loan Commitment means (a) as to any Lender, the commitment of such Lender to
make its Pro Rata Share of Revolving Credit Advances or incur its Pro Rata Share of Letter of Credit
Obligations (including, in the case of the Swing Line Lender, its commitment to make Swing Line
Advances as a portion of its Revelving Loan Commitment) as set forth on Annex A or in the most recent
Assignment Agreement, if any, executed by such Lender and (b)as to all Lenders, the aggregate
commitment of all Lenders to make the Revolving Credit Advances (including, in the case of the Swing
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Line Lender, Swing Line Advances) or incur Letter of Credit Obligations, which aggregate commitment
shall be TWENTY MILLION DOLLARS AND ZERO CENTS ($20,000,000.00) from and after the

Closing Date, as such amount may be adjusted, if at all, from time to time in accordance with this
Agreement.

Revolving Notes has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(c).

Roll-Up Obligations has the meaning ascribed to it in the Final Order.

Roll-Up Secured Parties has the meaning ascribed to it in the DIP Credit Agreement.

S&P means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of the McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.
Sale Order has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement.

Sale Support Agreement means the Sale Support Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2012, among,
inter alia, Pre-Petition US Borrower, Allied Research, and their respective subsidiaries and affiliates
signatory thereto, (ii) Freeport, as US agent, and Bank of Montreal, as Canadian agent, under the Pre-
Petition First Lien Credit Agreement, the “Consenting First Lien Lenders” (as defined therein), the
Second Lien Agent (as defined therein), and the “Consenting Second Lien Lenders” (as defined therein)

in various capacities thereunder, as the same is amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise modified
from time to time.

Security Agreement means, collectively, each security agreement entered into by and among any
Agent, on behalf of Agent and applicable Lenders, and each Loan Party that is a signatory thereto.

Senior Debt means as of any date of determination (i) Funded Debt, including Letter of Credit
Obligations, but otherwise excluding the Revolving Loan balance, plus (ii) the Average Daily Balance,
less (iii) Subordinated Debt.

Sellers has the meaning ascribed to it in the definition of the term “Acquisition Agreement”.

Software means all “software” as such term is defined in the Code, now owned or hereafter
acquired by any Loan Party, other than software embedded in any category of Goods, including all

computer programs and all supporting information provided in connection with a transaction related to
any program.

Solvent means (1) with respect to any Person on a particular date that is subject to the Insolvency
Laws of the United States, that on such date (a) the fair value of the property of such Person is greater
than the total amount of liabilities, including subordinated and contingent liabilities, of such Person;
(b) the present fair saleable value of the assets of such Person is not less than the amount that will be
required to pay the probable liability of such Person on its debts and liabilities, including subordinated
and contingent liabilities as they become absolute and matured; (c) such Person does not intend to, and
does not believe that it will, incur debts or liabilities beyond such Person’s ability to pay as such debts
and liabilities mature; and (d) such Person is not engaged in a business or transaction, and is not about to
engage in a business or transaction, for which such Person’s property would constitute an unreasonably
small capital; and (2) with respect to any Person on a particular date that is subject to Insolvency Law of
Canada, that on such date (a) the aggregate property of such Person is sufficient at a fair valuation or if
disposed of at a fairly conducted sale under legal process, to enable payment of all its obligations, due and
accruing due, (b) such Person has not ceased paying its current obligations in the ordinary course of
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business as they generally become due; and (c) such person is not for any reason unable to meet its
obligations as they generally come due. The amount of contingent liabilities (such as Litigation,
guaranties and pension plan liabilities) at any time shall be computed as the amount that, in light of all the
facts and circumstances existing at the time, represents the amount that would reasonably be expected to
become an actual or matured liability.

Statement has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 7.2(b).

Stock means all shares, options, warrants, general or limited partnership interests, membership
interests or other equivalents (regardless of how designated) of or in a corporation, partnership, limited
liability company or equivalent entity, whether voting or nonvoting, including common stock, preferred
stock or any other “equity security” (as such term is defined in Rule 3al1-1 of the General Rules and

Regulations promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934).

Stockholder means, with respect to any Person, each holder of Stock of such Person.

Subordinated Debt means the Indebtedness of any Loan Party subordinated to the Obligations as
to right and time of payment and as to any other rights and remedies thereunder and having such other
terms as are satisfactory to Agent. ‘ :

Subsidiary means, with respect to any Person, (a)any corporation of which 100% of the
outstanding Stock having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors of such
corporation (irrespective of whether, at the time, Stock of any other class or classes of such corporation
shall have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency) is at the time,
directly or indirectly, owned legally or beneficially by such Person or one or more Subsidiaries of such
Person, or with respect to which any such Person has the right to vote or designate the vote of 100% of
such Stock whether by proxy, agreement, operation of law or otherwise, and (b)any partnership or
limited liability company in which such Person and/or one or more Subsidiaries of such Person shall have
an interest (whether in the form of voting or participation in profits or capital contribution) of more 100%
or of which any such Person is a general partner or may exercise the powers of a general partner. Unless

the context otherwise requires, each reference to a Subsidiary shall be a reference to a Subsidiary of US
Borrower.

Swing Line Advance has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(c).

Swing Line Availability has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(c).

Swing Line Commitment means the commitment of the Swing Line Lender to make Swing Line
Advances as set forth on Annex A to this Agreement, which commitment constitutes a subfacility of the
Revolving Loan Commitment of the Swing Line Lender, which aggregate commitment shall be THREE
MILLION DOLLARS AND ZERO CENTS ($3,000,000.00) as of the Closing Date, as such amount may
be adjusted, if at all, in accordance with this Agreement. ,

sSwing Line Lender means Freeport Offshore Loan Fund LLC.

Swing Line Loan means at any time, the aggregate amount of Swing Line Advances outstanding
to US Borrower.

Swing Line Note has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(c).
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Tax Returns means all reports, returns, information returns, claims for refund, elections,
estimated Tax filings or payments, requests for extension, documents, statements, declarations and
certifications and other information required to be filed with respect to Taxes, including attachments
thereto and amendments thereof.

Taxes has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.9(a).

Termination Date means the date on which (a) the Loans have been repaid in full, (b) all other
Obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents have been completely discharged (other
than contingent indemnification obligations as to which no unsatisfied claim has been asserted), (c)all
Letter of Credit Obligations have been cash collateralized in the amount set forth in Section 2.5(h),
cancelled or, with the consent of Agent in each instance, backed by standby letters of credit acceptable to
Agent, (d) all Revolving Loan Commitments have been terminated and (e) Agent and Lenders have been
released by Loan Parties of all claims against Agent and Lenders.

Term Lenders means Canadian Term Lenders and US Term Lenders.

Term Loan Amount means the US Term Loan Amount and the Canadian Term Loan C Amount.

Term Loans means, collectively, the US Term Loans and Canadian Term Loan C.
Term Notes means the US Term Notes and the Canadian Term Notes.

Title IV Plan means a “pension plan” as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA (other than a
Multiemployer Plan), that is covered by Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the IRC, and that any L.oan
Party or ERISA Affiliate maintains, contributes to or has an obligation to contribute to on behalf of
participants who are or were employed by any of them.

Trademark Security Agreements means the Trademark Security Agreements made in favor of
Agent, on behalf of Agent and applicable Lenders, by each applicable Loan Party.

Trademark License means rights under any written agreement now owned or hereafter acquired
by any Loan Party granting any right to such Loan Party to use any Trademark owned by a third party.

Trademarks means all of the following now owned or hereafter adopted or acquired by any Loan
Party: (a)all trademarks, trade names, corporate names, business names, trade styles, service marks,
logos, internet domain names, other source or business identifiers, prints and labels on which any of the
foregoing have appeared or appear, designs and general intangibles of like nature (whether registered or
unregistered), all registrations and recordings thereof, and all applications in connection therewith,
including registrations, recordings and applications in the United States Patent and Trademark Office or
in any similar office or agency of the United States, any state or territory thereof, or any other country or
any political subdivision thereof; (b) all reissues, extensions or renewals thereof: and (c)all goodwill
associated with or symbolized by any of the foregoing.

United States and U.S. mean the United-States of America.
' US Borrower has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Agreement,

US Indemnitees has the meaning ascribed to in Section 10.1.
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US Lenders means (i) those Lenders having a Revolving Loan Commitment and/or holding a US
Term Loan; and (ii) Qualified Counterparties and L/C Issuers as provided in the definition of “Lenders.”

US Loan Parties means any Loan Party organized or incorpofated under the laws of a jurisdiction
in the United States.

US Loans means the Revolving Loans, the US Term Loan A, the US Term Loan B, the US Term
Loan C and the Swing Line Loan.

US Obligations means all US Loans, all Obligations with respect to US Loans and all other
Obligations owing by the US Borrower (other than the guaranty by US Loan Parties of any Canadian
Obligations) under the Loan Documents.

US Scheduled Installments has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(a).

US Settlement Date has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 9.5(a)(ii).

US Subsidiaries means any Subsidiary organized or incorporated under the laws of a jurisdiction
in the United States.

US Term Lenders means those Lenders holding a US Term Loan.

US Term Loan Amount means at any time the US Term Loan A Amount, the US Term Loan B
Amount and the US Term Loan C Amount at such time.

US Term Loan A has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(a).

US Term Loan A Amount means at any time (a) as to any Lender, the principal amount of the
US Term Loan A held by such Lender at such time (with such amount on the Closing Date being the
amount set forth on Annex A opposite such Lender’s name (with respect to such Lender, such Lender’s
“US Term Loan A Initial Amount”)) and (b) as to all Lenders, the aggregate principal amount of the
US Term Loan A held by all Lenders at such time.

US Term Loan A Initial Amount has the meaning ascribed to it in the definition of the term “US
Term Loan A Amount”,

US Term Loan A Lenders means those Lenders holding a US Term Loan A.

US Term Loan B has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(a).

US Term Loan B Amount means at any time (a) as to any Lender, the principal amount of the
US Term Loan B held by such Lender at such time (with such amount on the Closing Date being the
amount set forth on Annex A opposite such Lender’s name (with respect to such Lender, such Lender’s
“US Term Loan B Initjal Amount™)) and (b) as to all Lenders, the aggregate principal amount of the
US Term Loan B held by all Lenders at such time.

US Term Loan B Initial Amount has the meaning ascribed to it in the definition of the term “US
Term Loan B Amount”,

US Term Loan B Lenders means those Lenders holding a US Term Loan B.

32
CH\1359999.12



US Term Loan C has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(a).

US Term Loan C Amount means at any time (a) as to any Lender, the principal amount of the
US Term Loan C held by such Lender at such time (with such amount on the Closing Date being the
amount set forth on Annex A opposite such Lender’s name (with respect to such Lender, such Lender’s
“US Term Loan C Initial Amount)) and (b) as to all Lenders, the aggregate principal amount of the
US Term Loan C held by all Lenders at such time.

US Term Loan C Initial Amount has the meaning ascribed to it in the definition of the term “US
Term Loan C Amount”.

US Term Loan C Lenders means those Lenders holding a US Term Loan C.
US Term Loans means, collectively, US Term Loan A, US Term Loan B and US Term Loan C.
US Term Notes has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.1(a).

1.2 Rules of Construction. Rules of construction with respect to accounting terms used in this
Agreement or the other Loan Documents shall be as set forth or referred to in this Section 1.2. All other
undefined terms contained in any of the Loan Documents shall, unless the context indicates otherwise,
have the meanings provided for by the Code to the extent the same are used or defined therein. Unless
otherwise specified, references in this Agreement or any of the Appendices to a Section, subsection or
clause refer to such Section, subsection or clause as contained in this Agreement. The words “herein,”
“hereof” and “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole, including
all Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules, as the same may from time to time be amended, restated, modified
or supplemented, and not to any particular section, subsection or clause contained in this Agreement or
any such Annex, Exhibit or Schedule. '

Wherever from the context it appears appropriate, each term stated in either the singular or plural
shall include the singular and the plural, and pronouns stated in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender
shall include the masculine, feminine and neuter genders. The words “including”, “includes™ and
“include” shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation™; the word “or” is not
exclusive; references to Persons include their respective successors and assigns (to the extent and only to
the extent permitted by the Loan Documents) or, in the case of governmental Persons, Persons succeeding
to the relevant functions of such Persons; and all references to statutes and related regulations shall
include any amendments of the same and any successor statutes and regulations. Definitions of
agreements and instruments referenced in this Agreement shall mean and refer to such agreements and
instruments as amended, modified, supplemented, restated, substituted or replaced from time to time in
accordance with their respective terms and the terms of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.
For the purpose of any threshold or limit referred to herein by reference to an amount of Dollars, the
equivalent amount in Dollars of any other relevant currency shall be calculated on the basis of the
applicable currency exchange rate most recently published in The Wall Street Journal, or, where
applicable, an average for the applicable period.

SECTION 2.
AMOUNTS AND TERMS OF LOANS

2.1 Loans. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement ‘and in reliance upon the
representations and warranties of Borrowers and the other Loan Parties contained herein:
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(a) = US Term Loans.

(i) On the Closing Date, pursuant to the applicable Credit Bid and Acquisition
Documents and as a portion of the Credit Bid and Acquisition Consideration provided by US
Borrower, US Borrower hereby assumes the principal balance of the Roll-Up Obligations as of
the Closing Date, and the aggregate amount so assumed shall be considered the aggregate
principal amount of a loan hereunder equal to $15,300,000 (the “US Term Loan A”) (and the
amount held by each Lender on the Closing Date shall be such Lender’s US Term Loan A Initial
Amount). US Borrower shall repay the US Term Loan A through periodic payments on the dates
and in the amounts indicated below (the “US Scheduled Instaliments”):

US Term Loan A
Date US Scheduled Installment
April 1, 2013 $12,500
Juiy 1, 2013 $12,500
October 1, 2013 $12,500
January 1,2014 $12,500
April 1,2014 $12,500
July 1, 2014 $12,500
October 1, 2014 $12,500
January 1, 2015 $12,500
April 1, 2015 $12,500
June 2@, 2015 $15,187,500

The final installment shall in all events equal the entire remaining principal balance of US Term
Loan A.

(ii)  On the Closing Date, a $5,000,000 note constituted a portion of the Credit Bid
and Acquisition Consideration provided by US Borrower and (x) the obligations under such note
evidence a loan hereunder (the “US Term Loan B”) and shall hereafter be governed hereby and
(y) on the Closing Date, each Lender shall hold US Term Loan B in an amount equal to its US
Term Loan B Initial Amount (if any). The entire principal amount of the US Term Loan B shall
be due and payable in one principal installment on the Commitment Termination Date.

(iiiy  On the Closing Date, a $31,000,000 note constituted a portion of the Credit Bid
and Acquisition Consideration provided by US Borrower and (x) the obligations under such note
evidence a loan hereunder (the “US Term Loan C”) and shall hereafter be governed hereby and
(y) on the Closing Date, each Lender shall hold US Term Loan C in an amount equal to its US
Term Loan-C Initial Amount (if any). The entire principal amount of the US Term Loan C shall
be due and payable in one principal installment on the Commitment Termination Date.

Amounts borrowed under this Section 2.1(a) and repaid may not be reborrowed.

At the request of the applicable Lender, the US Term Loan A, US Term Loan B or US Term
Loan C, as applicable, shall be evidenced by promissory notes substantially in the form of Exhibit 2.1(a)
(as amended, modified, extended, substituted or replaced from time to time, each a “US Term Note” and,
collectively, the “US Term Notes™), and US Borrower shall execute and deliver an applicable US Term
Note to each such applicable US Term Lender. Each US Term Note shall represent the obligation of US
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Borrower to pay the amount of the applicable US Term Lender’s US Term Loan Amount, together with
interest thereon.

(b) Canadian Term Loan C.

On the Closing Date, a $4,000,000 note constituted a portion of the Credit Rid and
Acquisition Consideration provided by Canadian Borrower and (i) the obligations under such
note evidence a loan hereunder (the “Canadian Term Loan C™) and shall hereafter be governed
hereby and (ii}) on the Closing Date, each Lender shall hold the Canadian Term Loan C in an
amount equal to its Canadian Term Loan C Initial Amount (if any). The entire principal amount
of the Canadian Term Loan C shall be due and payable in one principal installment on the
Commitment Termination Date.

Amounts borrowed under this Section 2.1(b) and repaid may not be reborrowed.

At the request of any applicable Lender, the Canadian Term Loan C shall be evidenced by
promissory notes substantially in the form of Exhibit 2.1(b) (as amended, modified, extended, substituted
or replaced from time to time, each a “Canadian Term Note” and, collectively, the “Canadian Term
Notes™), and Canadian Borrower shall execute and deliver a Canadian Term Note to each such Canadian
Term Lender. Each Canadian Term Note shall represent the obligation of Canadian Borrower to pay the

amount of the applicable Canadian Term Lender’s Canadian Term Loan C Amount, together with interest
thereon. '

(c) Revolving I.oans.

) Each Revolving Lender agrees, severally and not jointly, to make available to US
Borrower from time to time until the Commitment Termination Date its Pro Rata Share of
advances (each a “Revolving Credit Advance”) requested by Borrower Representative hereunder.
The Pro Rata Share of the Revolving Loan of any Revolving Lender (including, without
duplication, Swing Line Loans) shall not at any time exceed its separate Revolving Loan
Commitment. Revolving Credit Advances may be repaid and rcborrowed; provided, that the
amount of any Revolving Credit Advance to be made at any time shall not exceed Borrowing
Availability. The Revolving Loans shall be repaid in full on the Commitment Termination Date.
If requested by a Revolving Lender, US Borrower shall execute and deliver to such Revolving
Lender a note to evidence the Revolving Loan Commitment of that Revolving Lender. Each such
note shall be in the maximum principal amount of the Revolving Loan Commitment of the
applicable Revolving Lender, dated the Closing Date and substantially in the form of Exhibit
2.1(c)(i} (as amended, modified, extended, substituted or replaced from time to time, each a
“Revolving Note” and, collectively, the “Revolving Notes”). Other than pursuant to
Section 2.1{c)(ii), if at any time the aggregate outstanding Revolving Loan exceeds the amount
permitted by clause (B)(ii) of the definition of Borrowing Availability (“Overadvance™), Lenders
shall not be obligated to make Revolving Credit Advances, no additional Letters of Credit shall
be issued and, except as provided in Section 2.1(c)(ii) below, the Revolving Loan must be repaid
immediately and Letters of Credit cash collateralized in an amount sufficient to eliminate such
Overadvance. All Overadvances shall constitute Index Rate Loans and at the written request of
Agent shall bear interest at the Index Rate plus the Applicable Revolver Index Margin and shall
bear interest at the Default Rate only if not repaid within three (3) Business Days. For funding
requests for Revolving Credit Advances to be funded as Index Rate Loans of $1,000,000 or less,
written notice must be. provided by noon (Chicago time) on the Business Day on which the
Revolving Credit Advance is to be made; for funding requests for Revolving Credit Advances to
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be funded as Index Rate Loans of more than $1,000,000, written notice must be provided by noon
(Chicago time) on the Business Day before which the Revolving Credit Advance is to be made.
All Revolving Credit Advances to be funded as LIBOR Loans require three (3) Business Days
prior written notice. Written notices for all funding requests shall be in the form attached as
Exhibit 2.1(c)(ii) (“Notice of Revolving Credit Advance™).

(ii) If Borrower Representative requests that Revolving Lenders make, or permit to
remain outstanding an Overadvance, Agent may, in its sole discretion, elect to make, or permit to
remain outstanding, such Overadvances; provided, however, that Agent may not cause Revolving
Lenders to make, or permit to remain outstanding, {a) a Revolvmg Loan balance in excess of the
Maximum Amount, (b} an Overadvance in an aggregate amount in excess of $2,000,000 or (c) an
Overadvance for more than five (5) days without the consent of the Requisite Revolvmg Lenders.
If an Overadvance is made, or permitted to remain outstanding, pursuant to the preceding
sentence, then all Revolving Lenders shall be bound to make, or permit to remain outstanding
such Overadvance based upon their Pro Rata Shares of the Revolving Loan Commitment in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement. If an Overadvance remains outstanding for more
than ninety (90) days during any one hundred eighty (180) day period, the Revolving Loans must
be repaid immediately in an amount sufficient to eliminate all of such Overadvances.
Furthermore, Requisite Revolving Lenders may prospectively revoke Agent’s ability to make or
permit Overadvances by written notice to Agent. Any Overadvance may be made as a Swing
Line Advance.

(iii)  On the Closing Date, pursuant to the applicable Credit Bid Documentation and as
a portion of the Credit Bid Consideration provided by US Borrower, US Borrower hereby
assumes the obligations under the DIP Revolving Facility outstanding as of the Closing Date in
an aggregate amount of $11,420,970.67, which shall be considered an aggregate principal amount

of Revolving Loans outstanding on the Closing Date held by Revolving Lender in an amount of
its Pro Rata Share thereof.

(d) Swing Line Facility.

(i) Agent shall notify the Swing Line Lender upon Agent’s receipt of any Notice of
Revolving Credit Advance. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Swing Line Lender
may, in its discretion, make available from time to time until the Commitment Termination Date
advances (each, a “Swing Line Advance”) in accordance with any such notice. The provisions of
this Section 2.1(d) shall not relieve Revolving Lenders of their obligations to make Revolving
Credit Advances under Section 2.1(c); provided that if the Swing Line Lender makes a Swing
Line Advance pursuant to any such notice, such Swing Line Advance shail be in lieu of any
Revolving Credit Advance that otherwise may be made by Revolving Lenders pursuant to such
notice. Except as provided in Section 2.1(c)(ii) above, the aggregate amount of Swing Line
Advances outstanding shall not exceed at any time the lesser of (A) the Swing Line Commitment
and (B) Borrowing Availability (“Swing Line Availability™). Until the Commitment Termination
Date, US Borrower may from time to time borrow, repay and reborrow under this Section 2.1(d).
Each Swing Line Advance shall be made pursuant to a Notice of Revolving Credit Advance
delivered by Borrower Represeritative to Agent in accordance with Section 2.1(c). Unless the
Swing Line Lender has received at least one (1) Business Day’s prior written notice from
Requisite Revolving Lenders instructing it not to make a Swing Line Advance, the Swing Line
Lender shall, notwithstanding the failure of any condition precedent set forth in Section 3.2, be
entitled to fund that Swing Line Advance, and to have each Revolving Lender make Revolving
Credit Advances in accordance with Section 2.1(d)(iii) or purchase participating interests in
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accordance with Section 2.1(d)(iv). Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or
the other Loan Documents, the Swing Line Loan shall constitute an Index Rate Loan. Unless
refunded as a Revolving Loan as provided in Section 2.1(d)(iii) below, US Borrower shall repay
the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Swing Line Loan upon demand therefor by
Agent. The entire unpaid balance of the Swing Line Loan and all other noncontingent Obligations
shall be immediately due and payable in full in immediately available funds on the Commitment
Termination Date if not sooner paid in full.

(ii) US Borrower shall execute and deliver to the Swing Line Lender a promissory
note to evidence the Swing Line Commitment. Such note shall be in the principal amount of the
Swing Line Commitment of the Swing Line Lender, dated the Closing Date and substantially in
the form of Exhibit 2.1(d) (as amended, modified, extended, substituted or replaced from time to
time, the “Swing Line Note™). The Swing Line Note shall represent the obligation of US
Borrower to pay the amount of the Swing Line Commitment or, if less, the aggregate unpaid
principal amount of all Swing Line Advances made to US Borrower together with interest thereon
as prescribed in Section 2.2.

(i)  The Swing Line Lender, at any time and from time to time in its sole and
absolute discretion but no less frequently than once each week shall on behalf of US Borrower
(and US Borrower hereby irrevocably authorizes the Swing Line Lender to so act on its behalf)
request each Revolving Lender (including the Swing Line Lender) to make a Revolving Credit
Advance to US Borrower (which shall be an Index Rate Loan) in an amount equal to that
Revolving Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the principal amount of the Swing Line Loan (the
“Refunded Swing Line Loan”) outstanding on the date such notice is given. Unless any of the
events described in Sections 8.1(f) and 8.1(g) has occurred and is continuing (in which event the
procedures of Section 2.1(d)(iv) shall apply) and regardless of whether the conditions precedent
set forth in this Agreement to the making of a Revolving Credit Advance are then satisfied, each
Revolving Lender shall disburse directly to Agent, its Pro Rata Share of a Revolving Credit
Advance on behalf of the Swing Line Lender, prior to 2:00 p-m. (Chicago time), in immediately
available funds on the Business Day next succeeding the date that notice is given. The proceeds
of those Revolving Credit Advances shall be immediately paid to the Swing Line Lender and
applied to repay the Refunded Swing Line Loan.

(iv)  If, prior to refunding a Swing Line Loan with a Revolving Credit Advance
pursuant to Section 2.1(d)(iii), one of the events described in Sections 8.1(f) or 8.1(g) has
occurred and is continuing, then, subject to the provisions of Section 2.1(d)v) below, each
Revolving Lender shall, on the date such Revolving Credit Advance was to have been made for
the benefit of US Borrower, purchase from the Swing Line Lender an undivided participation
interest in the Swing Line Loan in an amount equal to its Pro Rata Share (determined with respect
to Revolving Loans) of such Swing Linre Loan. Upon request, each Revolving Lender shall
promptly transfer to the Swing Line Lender, in immediately available funds, the amount of its
participation interest.

W) Each Revolving Lender’s obligation to make Revolving Credit Advances in
accordance with Section 2.1(d)(iii) and to purchase participation interests in accordance with
Section 2.1(d)(iv) shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any
circumstance, including (A) any setoff, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right that such
Revolving Lender may have against the Swing Line Lender, US Borrower or any other Person for
any reason whatsoever; (B) the occurrence or continuance of any Default or Event of Default;
(C) any inability of US Borrower to satisfy the conditions precedent to borrowing set forth in this
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Agreement at any time or (D) any other circumstance, happening or event whatsoever, whether or
not similar to any of the foregoing. The Swing Line Lender shall be entitled to recover, on
demand, from each Revolving Lender the amounts required pursuant to Sections 2.1.(d)(iii) or
2.1(d)(iv), as the case may be. If any Revolving Lender does not make available such amounts to
Agent or the Swing Line Lender, as applicable, the Swing Line Lender shall be entitled to
recover, on demand, such amount on demand from such Revolving Lender, together with interest
thereon for each day from the date of non-payment until such amount is paid in full at the Federal
Funds Rate for the first two Business Days and at the Index Rate thereafter.

(e) [reserved].

® Letters of Credit, The Revolving Loan Commitment may, in addition to advances under
the Revolving Loan, be utilized (subject to the limitations imposed by Section 2.1(c)), upon the request of
Borrower Representative on behalf of the US Borrower, for the issuance of Letters of Credit.
Immediately upon the issuance by an L/C Issuer of a Letter of Credit, and without further action on the
part of Agent or any of the Lenders, each Revolving Lender shall be deemed to have purchased from such
L/C Issuer a participation in such Letter of Credit (or in its obligation under a risk participation agreement
with respect thereto) equal to such Revolving Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the aggregate amount available
to be drawn under such Leiter of Credit.

@) Maximum Amount. The aggregate amount of Letter of Credit Obligations with
respect to all Letters of Credit outstanding or unreimbursed at any time shall not exceed
$1,000,000 (“L/C Sublimit”).

(ii) Reimbursement. US Borrower shall be irrevocably and unconditionally
obligated forthwith without presentment demand, protest or other formalities of any kind, to
reimburse any L/C Issuer on demand in immediately available funds for any amounts paid by
such L/C Issuer with respect to a Letter of Credit, including all reimbursement payments, Fees,
charges and reasonable costs and expenses paid by such L/C Issuer, without duplication of fees
otherwise paid by US Borrower. US Borrower hereby authorizes and directs Agent, at Agent’s
option (which option Agent shall exercise if directed to by the Requisite Revolving Lenders), to
debit US Borrower’s account (by increasing the outstanding principal balance of the Revolving
Credit Advances or Swing Line Advances made to US Borrower) in the amount of any payment
made by an L/C Issuer with respect to any Letter of Credit, and a notice of Revolving Credit
Advance requesting an Index Rate Loan in such amount shall be deemed to have been timely
given on such date. All amounts paid by an L/C Issuer with respect to any Letter of Credit that
are not immediately repaid by US Borrower with the proceeds of a Revolving Credit Advance,
Swing Line Advance or otherwise shall bear interest payable on demand at the interest rate
applicable to Revolving Credit Advances which are Index Rate Loans plus, at the election of
Agent or Requisite Revolving Lenders, an additional two percent (2.00%) per annum. Each
Revolving Lender agrees to fund its Pro Rata Share of any Revolving Loan made pursuant to this
Section 2.1(f)(ii). In the event Agent elects not to debit US Borrower’s account and US Borrower
fails to reimburse the L/C Issuer in full on the date of any payment in respect of a Letter of
Credit, Agent shall promptly notify each Revolving Lender of the amount of such unreimbursed
payment and the accrued interest thereon and cach Revolving Lender, on the next Business Day
prior to 2:00 p.m. (Chicago time), shall deliver to Agent an amount equal to its Pro Rata Share
thereof in same day funds. Each Revolving Lender hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees
to pay to the L/C Issuer upon demand by the L/C Issuer such Revolving Lender’s Pro Rata Share
of each payment made by the L/C Issuer in respect of a Letter of Credit and not reimbursed
within one (1) Business Day by US Borrower or satisfied through a debit of US Borrower’s
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account. Each Revolving Lender acknowledges and agrees that its obligations pursuant to this
subsection in respect of Letters of Credit are absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected
by any circumstance whatsoever, including setoff, counterclaim, the occurrence and continuance
of a Default or an Event of Default or any failure by US Borrower to satisfy any of the conditions
set forth in Section 3.2. If any Revolving Lender fails to make available to the L/C Issuer the
amount of such Revolving Lender’s Pro Rata Share of any payments made by the L/C Issuer in
respect of a Letter of Credit as provided in this Section 2.1(f)(ii), the L/C Issuer shall be entitled
to recover such amount on demand from such Revolving Lender together with interest at the
Index Rate.

(iii) - Request for Letters of Credit. Borrower Representative shall give Agent at least
‘three (3) Business Days prior written notice specifying the date a Letter of Credit is requested to
be issued, the amount and the name and address of the beneficiary and a description of the
transactions proposed to be supported thereby, and the expiry date (or extended expiry date) of
the Letter of Credit. Each request by Borrower Representative for the issuance of a Letter of
Credit shall be in the form of Exhibit 2.1(f) (a “Request for a Letter of Credit Issuance™). If
Agent informs Borrower Representative that the L/C Issuer cannot issue the requested Letter of
Credit directly, Borrower Representative may request that L/C Issuer arrange for the issuance of
the requested Letter of Credit under a risk participation agreement with another financial
institution reasonably acceptable to Agent, L/C Issuer and Borrower Representative. The
issuance of any Letter of Credit under this Agreement shall be subject to satisfaction of the
conditions set forth in Section 3.2 and the conditions that the Letter of Credit (i) supports a
transaction benefiting US Borrower or its wholly-owned Subsidiaries and (ii) is in a form, is for
an amount and contains such terms and conditions as are reasonably satisfactory to the L/C Issuer
and, in the case of standby letters of credit, Agent. The initial notice requesting the issuance of
Letter of Credit shall be accompanied by the form of the Letter of Credit and an application and
reimbursement agreement for a Letter of Credit, if any, then required by the L/C Issuer completed
in a manner reasonably satisfactory to such L/C Issuer. If any provision of any application or
reimbursement agreement is inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement, then the provisions of
this Agreement, to the extent of such inconsistency, shall control.

(iv)  Expiration Dates of Letters of Credit. The expiration date of each Letter of
Credit shali be on a date which is not later than the earlier of (a) one year from its date of issuance
or (b) the seventh (7™) day prior to the date set forth in clause (a) of the definition of the term
Commitment Termination Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Letter of Credit may provide
for automatic extensions of its expiration date for one (1) or more successive one (1) year periods
provided that upon not less than 30 days written notice to Borrower Representative, the L/C
Issuer has the right to terminate such Letter of Credit on each such annual expiration date and no
renewal term may extend the term of the Letter of Credit to a date that is later than the
seventh (7th) day prior to the date set forth in clause (a) of the definition of the term Commitment
Termination Date. The L/C Issuer may elect not to renew any such Letter of Credit and, upon
direction by Agent or Requisite Revolving Lenders, shall not renew any such Letter of Credit at
any time during the continuance of an Event of Default, provided that, in the case of a direction
by Agent or Requisite Revolving Lenders, the L/C Issuer receives such directions prior to the date
notice of non-renewal is required to be given by the L/C Issuer and the I./C Issuer has had a
reasonable period of time to act on such notice.

) Obligations Absolute. The obligation of US Borrower to reimburse the L/C
Issuer, Agent and Lenders for payments made in respect of Letters of Credit issued by the L/C
Issuer shail be unconditional and irrevocable and shall be paid under all circumstances strictly in
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accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including the following circumstances: (a) any lack
of validity or enforceability of any Letter of Credit; (b) any amendment or waiver of or any
consent or departure from all or any of the provisions of any Letter of Credit or any Loan
Document; (c) the existence of any claim, set-off, defense or other right which US Borrower, any
of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person may at any time have against any beneficiary
of any Letter of Credit, Agent, any L/C Issuer, any Lender or any other Person, whether in
connection with this Agreement, any other Loan Document’ or any other related or unrelated
agreements or transactions; (d) any draft or other document presented under any Letter of Credit
proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any statement therein
being untrue or inaccurate in any respect; (e) payment under any Letter of Credit against
presentation of a draft or other document that does not substantially comply with the terms of
such Letter of Credit; or (f) any other act or omission to act or delay of any kind of any L/C
Issuer, Agent, any Lender or any other Person or any other event or circumstance whatsoever that
might, but for the provisions of this Section 2.1(d)(v), constitute a legal or equitable discharge of
US Borrower’s obligations hereunder. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is
expressly understood and agreed by US Borrower that the absolute and unconditional obligation
of US Borrower to Agent and Lenders hereunder to reimburse payments made under a Letter of
Credit will not be excused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the L/C Issuer.
However, the foregoing shall not be construed to excuse an L/C Issuer from liability to US
Borrower and from claims which US Borrower may assert against the L/C Issuer subject to the
terms of the reimbursement agreement with the L/C Issuer. '

(vi)  Obligations of L/C Issuers. Each L/C Issuer (other than Freeport and Freeport
Loan) hereby agrees that it will not issue a Letter of Credit hereunder until it has provided Agent
with written notice specifying the amount and intended issuance date of such Letter of Credit and
Agent has returned a written acknowledgment of such notice to L/C Issuer (such notices and
acknowledgments to be given promptly). Each L/C Issuer (other than Freeport and Freeport
Loan) further agrees to provide to Agent: (a)a copy of each Letter of Credit issued by such L/C
Issuer promptly after its issuance; (b)a weekly report summarizing available amounts under
Letters of Credit issued by such L/C Issuer, the dates and amounts of any draws under such
Letters of Credit, the effective date of any increase or decrease in the face amount of any Letters
of Credit during such week and the amount of any unreimbursed draws under such Letters of
Credit; and (c) such additional information reasonably requested by Agent from time to time with
respect to the Letters of Credit issued by such L/C Issuer.

(vii)  Defauiting Lenders. Notwithstanding anything else to the contrary herein, if any
Revolving Lender is a Defaulting Lender, no L/C Issuer shall be obligated to issue, extend, renew
or amend any Letter of Credit unless (w) the Defaulting Lender has been replaced in accordance
with Section 9.1 or 10.19, (x) the Letter of Credit Obligations of such Defaulting Lender have
been cash collateralized, (y) the Revolving I.oan Commitments of the other Lenders have been
increased by an amount sufficient to satisfy Agent that all future Letter of Credit Obligations will
be covered by all Revolving Lenders that are not Defaulting Lenders, or (z) the Letter of Credit
Obligations of such Defaulting Lender have been reallocated to other Revolving Lenders in a
manner consistent with Section 9.6(b).
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(g) Funding Authorization. The proceeds of all US Loans made pursuant to this Agreement
subsequent to the Closing Date are to be funded by Agent by wire transfer to the account designated by
Borrower Representative in the relevant Notice of Revolving Credit Advance (the “Disbursement
Account™).

22 Interest and Applicable Margins.

(a) The applicable Borrower shall pay interest to Agent, for the ratable benefit of the
Canadian Term Lenders and US Lenders, as applicable, with respect to the various Loans made by each
Lender (or in the case of the Swing Line Advance, for benefit of the Swing Line Lender, in arrears on
each applicable Interest Payment Date, at the following rates: (i) with respect to the Revolving Credit
Advances which are designated as Index Rate Loans (and for all other Obligations not otherwise set forth
below), the Index Rate plus the Applicable Revolver Index Margin per annum or, .with respect to
Revolving Credit Advances which are designated as LIBOR Loans, at the election of Borrower
Representative, the applicable LIBOR Rate plus the Applicable Revolver LIBOR Margin per annum,; (ii)
with respect to such portion of the US Term Loan A designated as an Index Rate Loan, the Index Rate
plus the Applicable Term Loan A Index Margin per annum or, with respect to such portion of the US
Term Loan A designated as a LIBOR Loan, the applicable LIBOR Rate plus the Applicable Term Loan A
LIBOR Margin per annum; (iii) with respect to such portion of the US Term Loan B designated as an
Index Rate Loan, the Index Rate plus the Applicable Term Loan B Index Margin per annum or, with
respect to such portion of the US Term Loan B designated as a LIBOR Loan, the applicable LIBOR Rate
plus the Applicable Term Loan B LIBOR Margin per annum; (iv) with respect to such portion of the US
Term Loan C or Canadian Term Loan C designated as an Index Rate Loan, the Index Rate plus the
Applicable Term Loan C Index Margin per annum or, with respect to such portion of the US Term Loan
C or Canadian Term Loan C designated as a LIBOR Loan, the applicable LIBOR Rate plus the
Applicable Term Loan C LIBOR Margin per annum; and (v) with respect to the Swing Line Loan, the
Index Rate plus the Applicable Revolver Index Margin per annum.

The Applicable Margins are as follows:

Applicable Revolver Index Margin 5.00%
Applicable Revolver LIBOR Margin 6.00%
Applicable Term Loan A Index Margin 5.00%
- Applicable Term Loan A LIBOR Margin 6.00%
Applicable Term Loan B Index Margin 5.00%
Applicable Term Loan B LIBOR Margin 6.00%
Applicable Term 1.oan C Index Margin 5.00%
Applicable Term Loan C LIBOR Margin 6.00%
Applicable Revolver Unused Line Fee Margin 0.50%

(b) If any payment on any Loan becomes due and payable on a day other than a Business
Day, the maturity thereof will be extended to the next succeeding Business Day (except as set forth in the
definition of LIBOR Period) and, with respect to payments of principal, interest thereon shall be payable
at the then applicable rate during such extension.

©) All computations of Fees calculated on a per annum basis and interest shall be made by
Agent on the basis of a 360-day year, in each case for the actual number of days occurring in the period
for which such Fees and interest are payable. The Index Rate is a floating rate determined for each day.
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Each determination by Agent of an interest rate and Fees hereunder shall be presumptive evidence of the
correctness of such rates and Fees, absent manifest error.

(d) So long as an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under Section 8.1(a), (f) or
{g) and without notice of any kind, or so long as any other Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing and at the election of Agent or the Requisite Lenders confirmed by writien notice from Agent
or the Requisite Lenders to Borrower Representative, the interest rates applicable to the Loans and the
Letter of Credit Fee shall, subject to the Interest Act (Canada), be increased by two percentage points
{2%) per annum above the rates of interest or the rate of such Fee otherwise applicable hereunder
(“Default Rate™), and the outstanding principal balance of the Loans shall bear interest at the Default Rate
applicable to such Obligations. Interest and Letter of Credit Fees at the Default Rate shall accrue from
the initial date of such Event of Default until that Event of Default is cured or waived and shall be payable
upon demand, but in any event, shall be payable on the next regularly scheduled payment date set forth
herein for such Obligation.

(e) Borrower Representative, on behalf of US Borrower (or Canadian Borrower with respect
to the Canadian Term Loan C), shall have the option to (i) request that any Revolving Credit Advance
(other than the Swing Line Loan) be made as a LIBOR Loan, (ii) convert at any time all or any part of
outstanding US Loans (other than the Swing Line Loan) or Canadian Term Loan C from Index Rate
Loans to LIBOR Loans, (iii) convert any LIBOR Loan to an Index Rate Loan in Dollars, subject to
payment of the LIBOR Breakage Costs in accordance with Section 2.3(d) if such conversion is made
prior to the expiration of the LIBOR Period applicable thereto, or (iv) continue all or any portion of any
US Loan (other than the Swing Line Loan) or Canadian Term Loan C as a LIBOR Loan upon the
expiration of the applicable LIBOR Period and the succeeding LIBOR Period of that continued Loan shall
commence on the first day after the last day of the LIBOR Period of the US Loan or Canadian Term Loan
C to be continued. Any US Loan, Canadian Term Loan C or group of Loans having the same proposed
LIBOR Period to be made or continued as, or converted into, a LIBOR Loan must be in a minimum
amount of $1,000,000 and integral multiples of $100,000 in excess of such amount, Any such election
must be made by noon (Chicago time) on the 3rd Business Day prior to (1) the date of any proposed
Revolving Credit Advance which is to bear interest at the LIBOR Rate, (2) the end of each LIBOR Period
with respect to any LIBOR Loans to be continued as such, or (3) the date on which Borrower
Representative, on behalf of the US Borrower (or Canadian Borrower with respect to the Canadian Term
Loan C), wishes to convert any Index Rate Loan in Dollars to a LIBOR Loan for a LIBOR Period
designated by Borrower Representative in such election. If no election is received with respect to a
LIBOR Lean by noon (Chicago time) on the 3rd Business Day prior to the end of the LIBOR Period with
respect thereto, that LIBOR Loan shall be converted to an Index Rate Loan at the end of its LIBOR
Period. Borrower Representative, on behalf of the US Borrower (or Canadian Borrower with respect to
the Canadian Term Loan C), must make such election by notice to Agent in writing, by fax or overnight
courier (or by telephone, to be promptly confirmed in writing). In the case of any conversion or
continuation, such election must be made pursuant to a written notice (a “Notice of
Conversion/Continuation™) in the form of Exhibit 2.2(¢). No US Loan or Canadian Term Loan C shall be
made, converted into or continued as a LIBOR Loan, if an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing and Agent or the Appropriate Category of Lenders have determined not to make or continue
any Loan as a LIBOR Loan as a result thereof.

63} Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2.2, if a court of
competent jurisdiction determines in a final order that the rate of interest payable hercunder exceeds the
highest rate of interest permissible under law (the “Maximum Lawful Rate”), then so long as the
Maximum Lawful Rate would be so exceeded, the rate of interest payable hereunder shall be equal to the
Maximum Lawful Rate (with such reduction to be effected, in the case of payments subject to the
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application of section 347 of the Criminal Code (Canada) and to the extent necessary, as follows: (i) first,
by reducing the amount or rate of interest required to be paid to any affected Lender under this Section
2.2, and (ii) thereafter, by reducing any fees, commissions, premiums and other amounts required to be
paid to such Lender which would constitute “interest” for purposes of Section 347 of the Criminal Code
(Canada)); provided, however, that if at any time thereafter the rate of interest payable hereunder is less
than the Maximum Lawful Rate, each Borrower shall continue to pay interest hereunder at the Maximum
Lawful Rate until such time as the total interest received by Agent, on behalf of applicable Lenders, is
equal to the total interest that would have been received had the interest rate payable hereunder been (but
for the operation of this paragraph) the interest rate payable since the Closing Date as otherwise provided
in this Agreement. Thereafter, interest hereunder shall be paid at the rate(s) of interest and in the manner
provided in Sections 2.2(a) through (e), unless and until the rate of interest again exceeds the Maximum
Lawful Rate, and at that time this paragraph shall again apply. In no event shall the total interest received
by any Lender pursuant to the terms hereof exceed the amount that such Lender could lawfully have
received had the interest due hereunder been calculated for the full term hereof at the Maximum Lawful
Rate. If the Maximum Lawful Rate is calculated pursuant to this paragraph, such interest shall be
calculated at a daily rate equal to the Maximum Lawful Rate divided by the number of days in the year in
which such caleulation is made. If, notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 2.2(D), a court of
competent jurisdiction shall determine by a final, non-appealable order that a Lender has received interest
hereunder in excess of the Maximum Lawful Rate, Agent shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law,
promptly apply such excess as specified in Section 2.5(g) and thereafter shall refund any excess to the
applicable Borrower or as such court of competent jurisdiction may otherwise order.

(g) For purposes of disclosure pursuant to the Interest Act (Canada), the annual rates of
interest or fees to which the rates of interest or fees provided herein and in the other Loan Documents
(and stated herein or therein, as applicable, to be computed on the basis of a 360 day year or any other
period of time less than a calendar year) are equivalent are the rates so determined multiplied by the

actual number of days in the applicable calendar year and divided by 360 or such other period of time,
respectively,

23 Fees.

(a) Fee Letter. US Borrower shall pay to Freeport, individually, the Fees specified in that
certain fee letter of even date herewith among US Borrower and Freeport (the “Fee Letter™), at the times
specified for payment therein.

(b) Unused Line Fees. As additional compensation for the Revolving Lenders, US Borrower
shall pay to Agent, for the ratable benefit of such Lenders, in arrears, on the first Business Day of each
calendar quarter prior to the Commitment Termination Date and on the Commitment Termination Date, a
fee for US Borrower’s non-use of available funds in an amount equal to the Applicable Revolver Unused
Line Fee Margin per annum multiplied by the difference between (x) the Maximum Amount (as it may be
reduced from time to time) and (y)the average for the period of the daily closing balances of the
Revolving Loans (including, without duplication, Swing Line Loans) outstanding during the period for
which such Fee is due.

(c) Letter of Credit Fee. US Borrower agrees to pay to Agent for the benefit of Revolving
Lenders, as compensation to such Revolving Lenders for Letter of Credit Obligations incurred hereunder,
(i) without duplication of costs and expenses otherwise payable to Agent or US Lenders hereunder, all
reasonable costs and expenses, without duplication of fees otherwise paid by US Borrower, incurred by
Agent or any US Lender on account of such Letter of Credit Obligations, and (ii) for each quarter during
which any Letter of Credit Obligation shall remain outstanding, a fee (the “Letter of Credit Fee™) in an
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amount equal to the product of the average daily undrawn face amount of all Letters of Credit issued,
guaranteed or supported by risk participation agreements multiplied by a per annum rate equal to the
Applicable Revolver LIBOR Margin from time to time in effect. Such fee shall be paid to Agent for the
benefit of the Revolving Lenders in arrears, on the first Business Day of each calendar quarter, upon
termination or expiration of the applicable Letter of Credit, and on the Commitment Termination Date. In
addition, US Borrower shall pay to any L/C Issuer, on demand, reasonable and customary fees, without
duplication of fees otherwise payable hereunder (including all per annum fees), charges and expenses of
such L/C Issuer in respect of the issuance, negotiation, acceptance, amendment, transfer and payment of
such Letter of Credit or otherwise payable pursuant to the application and related documentation under
which such Letter of Credit is issued.

(d) LIBOR Breakage Costs. Upon (i) any default by either Borrower in making any
borrowing of, conversion into or continuation of, any LIBOR Loan following Borrower Representative’s
delivery to Agent of any LIBOR Loan request in respect thereof or (ii) any payment of a LIBOR Loan on
any day that is not the last day of the LIBOR Period applicable thereto (regardless of the source of such
prepayment and whether voluntary, by acceleration or otherwise), such Borrower shall pay Agent, for the
benefit of all Lenders that funded or were prepared to fund any such LIBOR Loan, LIBOR Breakage
Costs, if applicable.

{e) Expenses and Attorneys’ Fees. Each Borrower agrees to pay all reasonable, out-of-
pocket fees, charges, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred by
Agent (and by Freeport in all its other capacities under the Related Transactions Documents and the pre-
and post-petition documents referred to in the Sale Support Agreement) in connection with any matters
contemplated by or arising out of the Loan Documents, in connection with the examination, review, due
diligence investigation, documentation, negotiation, closing and syndication of the transactions
contemplated herein and in connection with the continued administration of the Loan Documents
including any amendments, modifications, consents and waivers. Each Borrower agrees to promptly pay
all reasonable, out-of-pocket fees, charges, costs and expenses (including reasonable fees, charges, costs
and expenses of attorneys, auditors, appraisers, consultants and advisors) incurred by Agent in connection
with any amendment, waiver, consent with respect to the Loan Documents, Event of Default, work-out or
action to enforce any Loan Document or to collect any payments due from such Borrower or any other
Loan Party. In addition, in connection with any work-out or action to enforce any Loan Document or to
collect any payments due from either Borrower or any other Loan Party, each Borrower agrees to
promptly pay all reasonable, out-of-pocket fees, charges, costs and expenses, including, without
limitation, reasonable attomeys fees, incurred by Lenders. All fees, charges, costs and expenses for
which each Borrower is responsible under this Section 2.3(e) shall be deemed part of the Obligations
when incurred, payable in accordance with the penultimate and final sentence of Section 2 4 and secured
by the Collateral.

2.4 Paymcnts. All payments by each Borrower of the Obligations shall be without deduction,
defense, setoff or counterclaim (except as provided in Section 2.9} and shall be made in same day funds
and delivered to Agent, for the benefit of Agent and applicable Lenders, as applicable, by wire transfer to
the account of Agent identified on Annex D or such other place as Agent may from time to time designate
in writing,

Each Borrower shall receive credit on the day of receipt for funds received by Agent by 1:00 p.m.
(Chicago time). In the absence of timely receipt, such funds shall be deemed to have been paid on the
next Business Day. Whenever any payment to be made hereunder shall be stated to be due on a day that
is not a Business Day, the payment may be made on the next succeeding Business Day and such
extension of time shall be included in the computation of the amount of interest and Fees due hereunder.
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All Loans made hereunder shall be made, and all Obligations hereunder shall be paid, in Dollars to the
Agent. If Agent receives any payment from or on behalf of any Loan Party in a currency other than the
currency in which an Obligation payable is denominated, Agent may convert the payment (including the
monetary proceeds of realization upon any Collateral and any funds then held in a cash collateral account)
into the currency of the relevant Obligation at the exchange rate that Agent would be prepared to sell the
currency received in Chicago, Illinois on the Business Day immediately preceding the date of actual
payment. The Obligations shall be satisfied only to the extent of the amount actually received by Agent
upon such conversion.

US Borrower hereby authorizes Revolving Lenders to make Revolving Credit Advances or Swing
Line Advances for the payment of US Scheduled Installments, interest, Fees and expenses, Letter of
Credit reimbursement obligations and any amounts required to be deposited with respect to outstanding
Letter of Credit Obligations pursuant to Sections 2.5(h} or 8.3; provided, that so long as no Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing, expense reimbursements pursuant to Section 2.3(e) shall be
payable 10 days after notice thereof to Borrower Representative (and otherwise such expense
reimbursements shall be payable upon demand); provided, further, that Revolving Lenders shall have no
duty to make such Revolving Credit Advances. :

2.5 Prepayments.

(a) YVoluntary Prepayments of Loans. At any time, each Borrower may prepay its Loans, in
whole or in part, without premium or penalty subject to the payment of LIBOR Breakage Costs, if
applicable; provided, however, that (i) no prepayments of the US Term Loan C or the Canadian Term
Loan C may be made pursuant to this Section unless and until the US Term Loan A and the US Term
Loan B shall have been prepaid in full and (ii) no prepayments of the US Term Loan B may be made
pursuant to this Section unless and until the US Term Loan A shall have been prepaid in full.
Prepayments of Term Loans shall be applied in accordance with Section 2.5(g).

)] Prepayments from Excess Cash Flow. Within ten (10) days after the date on which
audited Financial Statements for each Fiscal Year are required to be delivered pursuant to Section 7.2(b),
commencing with the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2013, US Borrower shall prepay its Loans in an
amount equal to seventy-five percent (75%) of the Excess Cash Flow attributable to US Borrower or US
Subsidiaries for such Fiscal Year and Canadian Borrower shall prepay its Loans in an amount equal to
seventy-five percent (75%) of the Excess Cash Flow attributable to Canadian Borrower or Canadian
Subsidiaries for such Fiscal Year. The calculation shall be based on the audited Financial Statements for
US Borrower and its Subsidiaries and the portion attributable to US Borrower or US Subsidiaries, on the
one hand, and Canadian Borrower and Canadian Subsidiaries, on the other, shall be as reasonably agreed
to between Borrower Representative and Agent. Any prepayments from Excess Cash Flow paid pursuant
to this Section 2.5(b) shall be applied in accordance with Section 2.5(g).

(c) Prepayments from Asset Dispositions.

(i) Immediately upon receipt of any Net Proceeds (other than Net Proceeds of Asset
Dispositions permitted by Section 6.7(f)) in excess of $500,000 in the aggregate during any Fiscal
Year, US Borrower shall prepay the Loans in an amount equal to such Net Proceeds attributable
to US Borrower or US Subsidiaries, and Canadian Borrower shall prepay its Loans in an amount
equal to such Net Proceeds attributable to Canadian Borrower or Canadian Subsidiaries, in each
case unless US Borrower or its Subsidiaries intend to reinvest all Net Proceeds of any such Asset
Disposition, within one hundred eighty (180) days, in fixed assets. If Borrowers or their
Subsidiaries do not intend to so reinvest such Net Proceeds or if the period set forth in the
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immediately preceding sentence expires without US Borrower or their Subsidiaries having

reinvested the Net Proceeds of any such Asset Disposition, US Borrower shall prepay the Loans

in an amount equal to the applicable Net Proceeds in accordance with Section 2.5(g}(i) and

Canadian Borrower shall prepay its Loans in an amount equal to the applicable Net Proceeds in
. accordance with Section 2.5(g)(ii).

. (ii) Immediately upon receipt of any Net Proceeds of Asset Dispositions permitted
by Section 6.7(f), US Borrower shall prepay the Loans in an amount equal to such Net Proceeds
attributable to US Borrower or US Subsidiaries, and Canadian Borrower shall prepay its Loans in
an amount equal to such Net Proceeds attributable to Canadian Borrower or Canadian
Subsidiaries. US Borrower shall prepay the Loans in an amount equal to the applicable Net
Proceeds in accordance with Section 2.5(g)(iii) and Canadian Borrower shall prepay its Loans in
an amount equal to the applicable Net Proceeds in accordance with Section 2.5(g)(ii).

(d) | Prepayments from Issuance of Securities. Immediately upon the receipt by either
Borrower, or any of their Subsidiaries of the proceeds of the issuance of Stock, US Borrower shall prepay

the Loans in an amount equal to such proceeds attributable to US Borrower or US Subsidiaries, and
Canadian Borrower shall prepay its Loans in an amount equal to such proceeds attributable to Canadian
Borrower or Canadian Subsidiaries, in each case net of underwriting discounts and commissions and
other reasonable out-of-pocket costs associated therewith. The payments shall be applied in accordance
with Section 2.5(g)(i) with respect to such prepayments made by US Borrower, and in accordance with
Section 2.5(ii) with respect to such prepayments made by Canadian Borrower, Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the following proceeds of stock issuance shall be excluded from any mandatory prepayment:
(i) proceeds of issuances of Stock by either Borrower on or prior to the Closing Date, (ii) proceeds of
issuances of Stock of US Borrower to employees of US Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) proceeds
of issuances of Stock by any Subsidiary of a Loan Party to a Loan Party which constitutes an Investment
permitted hereunder; and (iv) up to $1,000,000 in the aggregate in proceeds of issuances of Stock by US
Borrower to the stockholders of US Borrower so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing at the time of any such issuance.

(e) Remaining Funds after the Wind-Down Period. To the extent Agent receives any funds
pursuant to the last sentence of Section 7.1(b) of the DIP Credit Agreement upon the conclusion of the

Wind-Down Period (as defined in the DIP Credit Agreement), Agent shall apply such funds to the
prepayment of the Loans in accordance with Section 2.5(g)(iii).

(D Receivables Collections. To the extent Agent receives any collections in respect of
accounts receivable pursuant to Paragraph 35 of the Sale Order, Agent shall apply such funds to the
prepayment of thé Loans in accordance with Section 2.5(g)(iii).

(3] Application of Proceeds,

(i) Subject to Section 8.5, with respect to any (A) excess interest described in the
last sentence of Section 2.2(f), and (B) prepayments made by US Borrower pursuant to
Sections 2.5(b), 2.5(c)(i) and 2.5(d) (in each case in the required amount to be prepaid by US
Borrower) and any payments of the US Term Loan A, US Term Loan B or US Term Loan C
pursuant to Section 2.5(a), such excess interest and prepayments shail be applied as follows: first,
in payment of the US Term Loan A pro rata against all remaining US Scheduled Installments
thereof until the US Term Loan A shall have been prepaid in full; second, in payment of the US
Term Loan B until the US Term Loan B shall have been prepaid in full; third, in payment of the
US Term Loan C until the US Term Loan C shall have been prepaid in full; fourth, to reduce the
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outstanding principal balance of the Swing Line Loan outstanding to US Borrower until the same
has been repaid in full; fifth, to the Revolving Credit Advances outstanding to US Borrower until
the same has been repaid in full but not as a permanent reduction of the Revolving Loan
Commitment; and sixth, upon payment in full of all US Loans (including the cash
collateralization of outstanding Letters of Credit), to the Canadian Term Loan C in accordance

with Section 2.5(g)(ii) below.

(i) With respect to any prepayments made by Canadian Borrower pursuant to
Sections 2.5(b), 2.5(c) and 2.5(d) (in each case in the required amount to be prepaid by Canadian
Borrower) and any payments of Canadian Term Loan C pursuant to Section 2.5(a), such

prepayments shall be applied in payment of the Canadian Term Loan C until the Canadian Term
Loan C shall have been prepaid in full.

(i)  Subject to Section 8.5, with respect to any (A) any prepayments to be made
pursuant to Sections 2.5(e) and 2.5(f) and (B) prepayments by US Borrower pursuant to Section
2.5(¢)(ii), such prepayments shall be applied as follows: first, to reduce the outstanding principal
balance of the Swing Line Loan outstanding to US Borrower until the same has been repaid in
full; second, in repayment of the Revolving Credit Advances outstanding to US Borrower until
the same has been repaid in full but not as a permanent reduction of the Revolving Loan
Commitment; third, in payment of the US Term Loan A pro rata against all remaining US
Scheduled Installments thereof until the US Term Loan A shall have been prepaid in full; Jourth,
in payment of the US Term Loan B until the US Term Loan B shall have been prepaid in full;
fifth, in payment of the US Term Loan C until the US Term Loan C shall have been prepaid in
full and sixth, upon payment in full of all US Loans (including the cash collateralization of

outstanding Letters of Credit), to the Canadian Term Loan C in accordance with Section 2.5(g)(i1)
above.

In each case of the clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above, considering each type of Loan being prepaid separately,
any such prepayment shall be applied first to Index Rate Loans of the type required to be prepaid before
application to LIBOR Loans of the type required to be prepaid, in each case in a manner which minimizes
any resulting LIBOR Breakage Costs.

(h) Letter of Credit Obligations. In the event any Letters of Credit are outstanding at the
time that the Revolving Loan Commitment is terminated, US Borrower shall deposit with Agent for the
benefit of all Revolving Lenders cash in an amount equal to 105% of the face amount of such Letters of
Credit or an Acceptable Standby Letter of Credit to be available to Agent to reimburse payments of drafts
drawn under such Letters of Credit and pay any Fees and expenses related thereto.

2.6 Maturity. All of the Obligations shall become due and payable as otherwise set forth herein, but
in any event all of the remaining Obligations shall become due and payable upon the Commitment
Termination Date or pursuant to Section 8.3. Until the Termination Date, Agent shall be entitled to retain
the Liens on the Collateral granted under the Collateral Documents and the ability to exercise all rights
and remedies available to them under the Loan Documents and applicable laws. Notwithstanding
anything contained in this Agreemert to the contrary, upon any termination of the Revolving Loan
Commitment, all of the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations as to which no
claim has been asserted) shall be due and payable.

2.7 Loan Accounts. Agent shall maintain a separate loan account (each, a “Loan Account”) on its
books. Agent shall record the name and federal employer identification number of each Revolving
Lender, all Revolving Credit Advances, Fees, interest, payments and all other debits and credits as
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provided in this Agreement with respect to the Obligations. All entries in each Loan Account shall be
made in accordance with Agent’s customary accounting practices as in effect from time to time. The
balance in each Loan Account, as recorded on Agent’s most recent printout or other written statement,
shall, absent manifest error, be presumptive evidence of the amounts due and owing to Agent and Lenders
by Borrowers; provided that any failure to so record or any error in so recording shall not limit or
otherwise affect (other than to the extent of such error) Borrowers’ duty to pay the Obligations. Agent
shall render to Borrower Representative a monthly accounting of transactions with respect to the Loans
setting forth the balance of the applicable Loan Account for the immediately preceding month. Unless
Borrower Representative notifies Agent in writing of any objection to any such accounting (specifically
describing the basis for such objection), within forty-five (45) days after the date thereof, each and every
such accounting shall, absent manifest error, be deemed presumptive evidence of all matters reflected
therein. Only those items expressly objected to in such notice shall be deemed to be disputed by
Borrowers, as the case may be. Notwithstanding any provision herein contained to the contrary, any
Lender may elect (which election may be revoked) to dispense with the issuance of Notes to that Lender
and may rely on the applicable Loan Account as evidence of the amount of Obligations from time to time
owing to it. ' '

2.8 Yield Protection.

(a) Capital Adequacy and Other Adjustments. In the event that any Lender shall have
determined that the adoption after the date hercof of any law, treaty, governmental (or quasi-
governmental) rule, regulation, guideline or order regarding capital adequacy, reserve requirements or
similar requirements or compliance by any Lender or any corporation controlling such Lender with any
request or directive regarding capital adequacy, reserve requirements or similar requirements (whether or
not having the force of law and whether or not failure to comply therewith would be unlawful) from any
cenfral bank or governmental agency or body having jurisdiction does or shall have the effect of
increasing the amount of capital, reserves or other funds required to be maintained by such Lender or any
corporation controlling such Lender and thereby reducing the rate of return on such Lender’s or such
corporation’s capital as a consequence of its obligations hereunder, then (i) if such Lender is a US Lender,
the US Borrower or (ii) if such Lender is a Canadian Term Lender, the Canadian Borrower, shall in either
case, from time to time within fifteen (15) days after notice and demand from such Lender (together with
the certificate referred to in the next sentence and with a copy to Agent) pay to Agent, for the account of
such Lender, additional amounts sufficient to compensate such Lender for such reduction; provided that if
the respective Lender has unreasonably delayed or withheld such notice and demand, the respective
Lender shall not be entitled to receive additional payments pursuant to this Section 2.8(a) for periods
occurring prior to the 180" day before the receipt of such notice and demand (provided that this limitation
shall not apply to reductions arising out of the retroactive application of any law, treaty, rule, regulation,
guideline or order which arises during such 180 day period); and provided further, that such Lender shall
not be entitled to any such additional amounts, unless such Lender is imposing similar types of
assessments on other similarly situated borrowers. A certificate as to the amount of such cost and
showing the basis of the computation of such cost submitted by such Lender to Borrower Representative
and Agent shall, save for manifest error, be presumptive evidence of the matters set forth therein. Each
Lender agrees that, as promptly as practicable after it becomes aware of any circumstances referred to
above which would result in any such cost or reduction, the affected Lender shall, to the extent not
inconsistent with such Lender’s internal policies of general application, use reasonable commercial efforts
to minimize the redirect rate of return, costs and expenses incurred by it and payable to it by Borrowers
pursuant to this Section 2.8(a).

(b) Increased LIBOR Funding Costs: Illegality. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, if the introduction of or any change in any law, rule, regulation, treaty or directive (or
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any change in the interpretation thereof) after the date hereof shall make it unlawful, or any central bank
or other Governmental Authority shall assert that it is unlawful, for any Lender to agree to make or to
continue to fund or maintain any LIBOR Loan, then, unless that Lender is dble to make or to continue to
fund or to maintain such LIBOR Loan at another branch or office of that Lender without, in that Lender’s
opinion, adversely affecting it or its Loans or the income obtained therefrom, on notice thereof and
demand therefor by such Lender to Borrower Representative through Agent, (i) the obligation of such
Lender to make or to continue to fund or maintain LIBOR Loans shall terminate and (ti) applicable
Borrower shall, at the end of each respective LIBOR Period, in the case of any outstanding portion of the
Canadian Term Loan C of such Lender designated as a LIBOR Loan convert such portion of the
Canadian Term Loan C into an Index Rate Loan, and in any other case repay each outstanding LIBOR
Loan of such Lender or convert such LIBOR Loans into Index Rate Loans; provided that if the continued
existence of any such LIBOR Loan through the end of its respective LIBOR Period is illegal, then the
applicable Borrower shall in the case of any outstanding portion of the Canadian Term Loan C designated
as a LIBOR Loan, within five (5) Business Days after the delivery of such notice or demand, on behalf of
such Lender convert such LIBOR Loan into an Index Rate Loan, and in any other case forthwith prepay
in full each such outstanding LIBOR Loan owing by applicable Borrower to such Lender, together with
interest accrued thereon, unless applicable Borrower, on behalf of Lender, within five (5) Business Days
after the delivery of such notice and demand, converts all LIBOR Loans into Index Rate Loans. If, after
the date hereof, the introduction of, change in or interpretation of any law, rule, regulation, treaty or
directive would impose or increase reserve requirements (other than as taken into account in the definition
of LIBOR) or otherwise increase the cost to any such Lender of making or maintaining a LIBOR Loan,
then applicable Borrower shall from time to time within fifteen (15) days after notice and demand from
Agent to Borrower Representative (together with the certificate referred to in the next sentence) pay to
Agent, for the account of all such affected Lenders, additional amounts sufficient to compensate such
Lenders for such increased cost; provided that applicable Borrower shall not be liable to pay for any such
amounts incurred or accrued more than one hundred cighty (180) days prior to the date on which notice of
the event giving rise to the obligation to make such payment is given to applicable Borrower (provided
that this limitation shall not apply to increased costs arising out of the retroactive application of any law,
treaty, rule, regulation or directive (or any change in interpretation thereof) which arises during such 180
day period), and provided further, that such Lender shall not be entitled to any such additional amounts
unless such Lender is imposing similar types of assessments on other similarly situated borrowers. A
certificate as to the amount of such cost and showing the basis of the computation of such cost submitted
by Agent on behalf of all such affected Lenders to applicable Borrower shall, save for manifest error, be
presumptive evidence of the matters set forth therein. Each Lender agrees that, as promptly as is
practicable after it becomes aware of any circumstances referred to above which would result in any such
increased cost, the affected Lender shall, to the extent not inconsistent with such Lender’s internal
policies of general application, use reasonable commercial efforts to minimize costs and expenses
incurred by it and payable to it by applicable Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.8(b).

2.9 Taxes.

(a) No Deductions: Other Taxes. Except as required by applicable law, any and all payments
or reimbursements made hereunder or under any other Loan Documents shall be made free and clear of
and without deduction for any and all Charges, present or future, taxes, levies, imposts, deductions or
withholdings, and all liabilities with respect thereto (including any interest, additions to tax or penalties
applicable thereto) of any nature whatsoever imposed by any Governmental Authority (“Taxes™). If any
Borrower shall be required by law to deduct any Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder
or under any other Loan Document to any Lender or Agent, then (i) such Borrower shall withhold and
timely pay over to the relevant Governmental Authority all such required deductions in accordance with
applicable law, and (ii) except with respect to (a) such Taxes to the extent imposed on or measured by
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Agent’s or a Lender’s net income, capital or gross receipts {and franchise taxes, branch profits taxes,
taxes on doing business or, in each case, other taxes imposed in licu thereof) as a result of a connection
between Agent or such Lender and the jurisdiction of the Governmental Authority imposing such Tax or
any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein (other than any such connection that would
not have arisen but for Agent or such Lender having executed, delivered, registered, or received or
perfected a security interest, performed its obligations or received a payment under, or enforced, this
Agreement or any other Loan Document), (b) any United States federal withholding tax that is imposed
on amounts payable to a Foreign Lender at the time such Foreign Lender becomes a party to this
Agreement or is attributable to such Foreign Lender’s failure (other than as a result of a change in law,
rule, regulation or treaty or in the administration, interpretation or application thereof by any
Governmental Authority) to comply with Section 2.9(c), except to the extent that such Foreign Lender’s
assignor (if any) was entitled, at the time of assignment, to receive additional amounts from the
Borrowers with respect to such withholding tax pursuant to this Section 2.9(a), and (c) any Tax imposed
under FATCA (collectively, “Excluded Taxes,” and all such non-Excluded Taxes being referred to herein
as “Non-Excluded Taxes™), the sum payable hereunder shall be increased as may be necessary so that,
after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable pursuant
to this Section 2.9), such Lender or Agent receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received
had no such deductions been made. For greater certainty, notwithstanding anything to the contrary
herein, Non-Excluded Taxes shall include any Taxes imposed under paragraph 212(1)(b) or subsection
212(2) of the ITA (or any successor or replacement provisions thereto). If any amounts are payable in
respect of Non-Excluded Taxes or Other Taxes pursuant to the preceding sentence, Borrowers agree to
reimburse each Lender or Agent upon the written request of such Lender or Agent and reasonable
documentation of such amounts (which documentation shall, absent manifest error, be presumptive
evidence of such amount due) for any net additional Non-Excluded Taxes as such Lender or Agent shall
determine are payable in respect of such amounts so paid to or on behalf of such Lender or Agent
pursuant to the preceding sentence and in respect of any amounts paid to or on behalf of such Lender or
Agent pursuant to this sentence. In addition, Borrowers agree to timely pay to the relevant Governmental
Authority in accordance with applicable law any present or future stamp, court or documentary, intangible
or recording taxes or any other excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies which arise from any
payment made hereunder or under any other Loan Document or from the execution, delivery,

enforcement or registration of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document
(“Other Taxes™).

)] Changes in Tax Laws. In the event that, after the date hereof (or in the case of a
Qualified Assignee, the date of the relevant assignment or sale of a participation), (1) any changes in any
existing law, regulation, treaty or directive or in the administration, interpretation or application thereof,
(2) any new law, regulation, treaty or directive enacted or any administration, interpretation or application
thereof, or (3) compliance with any request, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of
law) from any Governmental Authority: '

() does or shall subject Agent or any Lender to any tax of any kind whatsoever with
respect to this Agreement, or any other Loan Documents or any Loans made or Letters of Credit
issued hereunder, or change the basis of taxation of payments to Agent or such Lender in respect
thereof (except for the imposition of, or any change in the rate of, (A) any Excluded Tax
described in clauses (b) or (c) of the definition of “Excluded Taxes”, (B) any Connection Income
Taxes and (C) without duplication of any increased amounts payable in respect of Non-Excluded
Taxes and Other Taxes pursuant to Section 2.9(a)); or

(ii) does or shall impose on Agent or any Lender any other condition, cost or expense
in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or participations herein; and the result of
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any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to Agent or any such Lender of making or continuing
any Loan or issuing or maintaining any Letter of Credit hereunder, as the case may be, or to
reduce any amount receivable hereunder or under any other Loan Document,

then, in any such case, Borrowers shall promptly pay to Agent or such Lender, upon its demand with
reasonable documentation thereof, any additional amounts necessary to compensate Agent or such
Lender, on an after-tax basis, for such additional cost or reduced amount receivable, as reasonably
determined by Agent or such Lender; provided that Agent or such Lender shall not be entitled to any such
amounts to the extent that the event giving rise to such additional cost or reduced amount receivable
occurred more than six (6) months prior to the date such notice and demand is given to the Borrower
Representative; provided, however, that if the event giving rise to such additional cost or reduced amount
receivable has a retroactive effect, then such 6-month period shall be extended to include the period of
such retroactive effect. If Agent or such Lender becomes aware that it is entitled to claim any additional
amounts pursuant to this Section 2.9(b), it shall promptly notify Borrower Representative of the event by
reason of which Agent or such Lender has become so entitled. A certificate as to any additional amounts
payable pursuant to the foregoing sentence submitted by Agent or such Lender to Borrower
Representative (with a copy to Agent if applicable) shall be presumptive evidence of the amount due.
Borrowers shall pay Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, the amount shown as due on any such
certificate within ten (10) days after the receipt thereof.

{c) Status of Lenders.

(i) A Canadian Term Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of
withholding tax under the law of the jurisdiction in which Canadian Borrower is located, or any
treaty to which such jurisdiction is a party, with respect to payments under this Agreement shall
deliver to Borrower Representative (with a copy to Agent), as reasonably requested by Borrower
Representative, such properly completed and executed documentation as will permit such
payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate; provided, that such Canadian
Term Lender is legally entitled to complete, execute and deliver such documentation.

(ii) Prior to becoming a US Lender under this Agreement and within fifteen (19)
days after a reasonable written request of Borrower Representative or Agent from time to time
thereafter, each such Person or Lender that is in each case (x) a “United States person” (as such
term is defined in IRC Section 7701(a)(30)) for U.S. federal income tax purposes shall deliver to
the Borrower Representative and the Agent, executed originals of IRS Form W-9 certifying that
such Lender is exempt from U.S. federal backup withholding tax, or (y) a Person other than a
“United States person” (a “Foreign Lender”) shall provide to Borrower and Agent, if it is legally
entitled to, a properly completed and executed (A) IRS Form W-8BEN, (B) Form W-8ECL, (C) to
the extent such Person is not the beneficial owner of payments made hereunder or under a
relevant Loan Document, Form W-8IMY, accompanied by the applicable form and other
certification documents from the beneficial owners, (D) in the case of a beneficial owner claiming
the benefits of the exemption for portfolio interest, a certificate to the effect that such Person is
not a “bank” within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, a “10 percent sharehoider”
of the Borrower within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(B) of the Code, or a “controlled foreign
corporation” described in Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code, or (E) other applicable form,
certificate or document prescribed by the IRS, certifying as to such Foreign Lender’s entitlement
to an exemption from, or reduction in, United States withholding tax with respect to payments to
be made to such Foreign Lender under this Agreement and under the Notes (a “Certificate of

Exemption™).
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(i)  If a payment made to a Lender under any Loan Document would be subject to
U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the
applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or
1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably
requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by
applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)3}C)(i) of the Code). and such
additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as
may be necessary for the Borrower and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations
under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender’s obligations
under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for
purposes of this clause (D), “FATCA” shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the
date of this Agreement.

(iv)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2.9(c), the completion,
execution and submission of such documentation shall not be required if in the Lender’s
reasonable judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any
material unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially prejudice the legal or commercial
position of such Lender. Each Lender agrees that prior to the time any form or certification it
previously delivered would expire or become obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update
(and deliver to Borrower Representative with a copy to Agent) such form or certification or
promptly notify the Borrower Representative and the Agent in writing of its legal inability to do
50.

(d) Indemnification.

(i) Subject to such Lender’s or Agent’s compliance with the provisions of this
Section 2.9, if a Borrower fails to pay any Non-Excluded or Other Taxes when due to the
appropriate Governmental Authority, such Borrower shall indemnify each Lender and Agent for
the full amount of Non-Excluded Taxes and Other Taxes (including any Non-Excluded Taxes and
Other Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this Section 2.9) paid by such
Lender or Agent, as the case may be, and any liability (including penalties, interest and expenses
including reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto,
whether or not such Non-Excluded Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally asserted by the
relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payments or liabilities
submitted by such Lender or Agent to Borrower Representative (with a copy to Agent if
applicable) shall be presumptive evidence of the amount due. Borrowers shall pay Agent or such
Lender, as the case may be, the amount shown as due on any such certificate within ten (10) days
after the receipt thereof.

(ii) Each Lender shall severally indemnify Agent, within 10 days after demand
therefor, for (i) any Non-Excluded Taxes or Other Taxes attributable to such Lender (but only to
the extent that Borrowers have not already indemnified the Agent for such Non-Excluded Taxes
or Other Taxes and without limiting the obligation of Borrowers to do so), (ii) any Taxes
attributable to such Lender’s failure to comply with the provisions of Section 9.1(b) relating to
the maintenance of a Participant Register and (iii) any Excluded Taxes attributable to such
Lender, in each case, that are payable or paid by the. Agent in connection with any Loan
Document, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not
such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority.
A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any Lender by the Agent
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shall absent manifest error be presumptive evidence of such amount. Each Lender hereby
authorizes the Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender
under any Loan Document or otherwise payable by the Agent to the Lender from any other
source against any amount due to the Agent under this paragraph (d).

(e) Evidence of Payments. As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by the
Borrowers to a Governmental Authority, the Borrower Representative shall deliver to Agent the original
or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy

of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the
Agent.

() Refunds. If an Agent or a Lender determines, in its reasonable discretion, that it has
received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified by a Borrower or with respect to
which a Borrower has paid additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.9, it shall pay over such refund
to such Borrower (but only to the extent of payments made, or additional amounts paid, by such Borrower
under this Section 2.9 with respect to Taxes giving rise to such a refund), net of all reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses of Agent or such Lender and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant
Governmental Authority with respect to such a refund); provided, that such Borrower, upon the request of
Agent or such Lender, agrees to repay the amount paid over to such Borrower (plus any penalties, interest
or other charges, imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority, other than such penalties, interest or
other charges imposed as a result of the willful misconduct or gross negligence of the Agent hereunder) to
Agent or such Lender in the event Agent or such Lender is required to repay such refund to such
Government Authority. Except as expressly provided for in this Section 2.9, this Section shalf not be
construed to require the Agent or any Lender to make available its tax returns (or any other information
relating to its taxes which it deems confidential) to a Borrower or any other Person.

2.10  Borrower Representative. Each Borrower hereby designates US Borrower as its representative
and agent on its behalf for the purposes of receiving service of copies of any summons and compiaints
and any other process that may be served on it or any of its agents in any action or proceeding in Illinois
(and agrees that service of process to US Borrower or any of its agents or representatives shall constitute
effective service of process on each Borrower), issuing Notices of Revolving Credit Advances, Request
for Letter of Credit Issuance and Notices of Conversion/Continuation, giving instructions with respect to
the disbursement of the proceeds of the Loans, selecting interest rate options, requesting Letters of Credit,
giving and recciving all other notices and consents hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents
and taking all other actions (including in respect of compliance with covenants) on behalf of each
Borrower under the Loan Documents. Borrower Representative hereby accepts such appointment. Agent
and each Lender may regard any notice or other communication pursuant to any Loan Document from
Borrower Representative as a notice or communication from the applicable Borrower, To the extent that
there is any conflict or inconsistency between any notice or other communication received by Agent from
either Borrower and the Borrower Representative, Agent shall be entitled to rely on directions given by
the Borrower Representative. Each warranty, covenant, agreement and undertaking made on its behalf by
Borrower Representative shall be deemed for all purposes to have been made by the applicable Borrower
and shall be binding upon and enforceable against such Borrower to the same extent as it if the same had
been made directly by such Borrower.

SECTION 3.
CONDITIONS TO LOANS

The obligations of Lenders and L/C Issuers to make Loans and to issue or cause to be issued
Letters of Credit are subject to satisfaction of all of the applicable conditions set forth below.
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3.1 Conditions to Initial Loans. The obligations of Lenders and L/C Issuers to make the initial Loans
and to issue or cause to be issued Letters of Credit on the Closing Date are, in addition to the conditions
precedent specified in Section 3.2, subject to:

(a) 'Agent shall have received and be satisfied with a pro forma balance sheet of
US Borrower and its Subsidiaries at the Closing Date after giving effect to the Acquisition and the other
Related Transactions contemplated hereby;

(b) Agent shall have received evidence reasonably satisfactory to Agent that, immediately
after giving effect to the initial Loans, no Indebtedness shall remain outstanding under the DIP Revolving
Facility, and neither US Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries shall have any Indebtedness or preferred
equity other than (a) the Loans and extensions of credit hereunder and (b) such other Indebtedness
reasonably. acceptable to Agent, and no default shall exist under any material indebtedness of US
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries. Agent shall have received reasonably satisfactory evidence of the
discharge of all liens other than Liens permitted to remain outstanding hereunder;

(©) Borrowers shall have complied with all of their obligations under, and the terms of, the
Fee Letter. All costs, fees, expenses (including, without limitation, legal fees and expenses and the fees
and expenses of appraisers, consultants and other advisors) and other compensation payable pursuant to
the Loan Documents shall have been paid to the extent due;

(d) the Related Transactions shall have been consummated in accordance with the respective
terms of the Related Transactions Documents, except as may have been consented to in writing by Agent;

(e) the Sale Order shall have been entered on a final, non-appealable basis and shall not be
subject to any stay, review or appeal (and the time to appeal such order or seek rehearing or any other
type of review shall have expired), which order shall (i) contain a finding that Borrowers are good faith
purchasers entitled to the protections and benefits of Section 363(m) of the Bankruptcy Code, (ii) be in
full force and effect and (jii) be in form and substance satisfactory to Agent; and

® Borrowers shali deliver all documents listed on, take all actions set forth on and satisfy ali
other conditions precedent listed in the Closing Checklist attached hereto as Annex B, all in form and
substance, or in a manner, reasonably satisfactory to Agent and Lenders.

32 Conditions to All Loans. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, no Lender or L/C Issuer
shall be obligated to fund any Advance or incur any Letter of Credit Obligation, if, as of the date thereof
(the “Funding Date™): -

(a) any representation or warranty by any Loan Party contained herein or in any other Loan
Document is untrue or incorrect in any material respect (without duplication of any materiality qualifier
contained therein) as of such date, except to the extent that such representation or warranty expressly
relates to an earlier date and; in the case of Revolving Credit Advances or Letter of Credit Obligations,
Agent or Requisite Revolving Lenders have determined not to make such Advance or incur such Letter of
Credit Obligations;

(b) any Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result after
giving effect to any Advance (or the incurrence of any Letter of Credit Obligation) and, in the case of
Revolving Credit Advances or Letter of Credit Obligations, Agent or Requisite Revolving Lenders have
determined not to make such Advance or incur such Letter of Credit Obligations;
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(c) after giving effect to any Advance (or the incurrence of any Letter of Credit Obligations),
Borrowing Availability would be less than zero (except as provided in Section 2.1(¢)(ii )); or

(d) Agent has not received in the case of a Revolving Credit Advance, a Notice of Revolving
Credit Advance, or, in the case of a Letter of Credit issuance, a Request for Letter of Credit Issuance.

The request and acceptance by US Borrower or Canadian Borrower of the proceeds of any
Advance, the incurrence of any Letter of Credit Obligations or the conversion or continuation of any Loan
into, or as, a LIBOR Loan, shall be deemed to constitute, as of the date thereof, (i) a representation and
warranty by such Borrower that the conditions in this Section 3.2 have been satisfied and (iiya
reaffirmation by such Borrower of the granting and continuance of Agent’s Liens, on behalf of Agent and
applicable Lenders, pursuant to the Collateral Documents.

SECTION 4.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

To induce Agent and Lenders to enter into the Loan Documents, to make Loans and to issue or
cause to be issued Letters of Credit, each Borrower and the other Loan Parties executing this Agreement,
Jointly and severally, represent, warrant and covenant (except in the case of each Canadian Subsidiary
which is a Loan Party, which severally, and not jointly, represents, warrants and covenants as to all Loan
Parties) to Agent and each Lender that the following statements are and, after giving effect to the Related
Transactions will (with respect to Sections 4.1 through 4.9) remain true, correct and complete until the
Termination Date with respect to all Loan Parties.

4.1 Organization, Powers. Capitalization and Good Standing,

(a) Organization and Powers. Each of the Loan Parties and each of their Subsidiaries is duly
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization and
qualified to do business in all states and provinces where such qualification is required except where
failure to be so qualified or be in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect. The jurisdiction of organization, chief exccutive office, registered office and all
Jurisdictions in which each Loan Party and any issuer of Stock constituting Canadian PPSL Collateral is
qualified to do business as of the Closing Date are set forth on Schedule 4.1(a). Each of the Loan Parties
and each of their Subsidiaries has all requisite organizational power and authority to own and operate its
properties, to carry on its business as now conducted and proposed to be conducted, to enter into each
Loan Document and Related Transactions Document to which it is a party and to incur the Obligations,
grant liens and security interests in the Collateral and carry out the Related Transactions.

(b) Capitalization. As of the Closing Date: (i) the authorized Stock of each of the Loan
Parties and each of their Subsidiaries is as set forth on Schedule 4.1(b); (ii) all issued and outstanding
Stock of each of the Loan Parties and each of their Subsidiaries is duly authorized and validly issued,
fully paid, nonassessable (as applicable), with respect to the Loan Parties other than US Borrower, free
and clear of all Liens other than those in favor of Agent for the benefit of Agent and applicable Lenders,
and with respect to US Borrower such Stock was issued in compliance with all applicable state, federal
and foreign laws concerning the issuance of securities; (iii) the identity of the holders of the Stock of each
of the Loan Parties and the percentage of their fully-diluted ownership of the Stock of each of the Loan
Parties is set forth on Schedule 4.1(b); and (iv) no Stock of any Loan Party or any of their Subsidiaries,
other than those described above, is issued and outstanding. Except as provided in Schedule 4.1(b), as of
the Closing Date, there are no preemptive or other outstanding rights, options, warrants, conversion rights
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or similar agreements or understandings for the purchase or acquisition from any Loan Party or any of
their Subsidiaries of any Stock of any such entity.

(¢)  Binding Obligation. This Agreement is, and the other Loan Documents and Related
Transactions Documents when executed and delivered will be, the legally valid and binding obligations of
the Loan Parties party thereto, each enforceable against each such Loan Party, as applicable, in
accordance with their respective terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting, creditors’ rights generally and the effects of general
principles of equity.

4.2 Disclosure. No representation or warranty of any Loan Party contained in this Agreement, the
Financial Statements referred to in Section 4.5, the other Related Transactions (other than Projections, as
to which the only representation and warranty made is as set forth in Section 4.5 hereof), the other Loan
Documents or any other document, certificate or written statement furnished to Agent or any Lender by or
on behalf of any such Person for use in connection with the Loan Documents or the Related Transactions
Documents contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted, omits or will omit to state a
material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained herein or therein not misleading in any
material respect in light of the circumstances in which the same were made.

43 °  No Material Adverse Effect. Since the Closing Date, there have been no events or changes in
facts or circumstances affecting any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries which individually or in the
aggregate have had or would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

4.4 No Conflict. The consummation of the Related Transactions does not and will not violate or
contravene any laws, rules, regulations or orders of any Governmental Authority or violate, contravene,
result in a breach of, or constitute a default (with due notice or lapse of time or both) under any
Contractual Obligation or organizational documents of any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries, except if
such violations, contraventions, breaches or defaults have not had and would not reasonably be expected
to have, either individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.

4.5 Financial Statements and Projections. All Financial Statements concerning Borrowers and their
respective Subsidiaries which have been or will hereafter be furnished to Agent pursuant to this
Agreement have been or will be prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied (except as
disclosed therein) and do or will present fairly in all material respects the financial condition of the
entities covered thereby as at the dates thereof and the results of their operations for the periods then
ended, subject to, in the case of unaudited financial statements, the absence of footnotes and normal
year-end adjustments,

The Projections delivered on or prior to the Closing Date were prepared on the basis of the
assumptions stated therein and such assumptions were believed by the Loan Parties to be reasonable at the
time prepared. It is understood by all parties hereto that uncertainty is iriherent in any forecasts or
projections and that no assurance can be given that the results set forth in the Projections will actually be

obtained.
4.6 Solvency.' The Loan Parties taken as a whole are Solvent.
4.7 Use of Proceeds: Margin Regulations.

(a) No part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used for “buying” or “carrying” “margin
stock” within the respective meanings of such terms under Regulations T or U of the Board of Governors
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of the Federal Reserve System as now and from time to time hereafter in effect or for any other purpose
that violates the provisions of the regulations of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
If requested by Agent, cach Loan Party will furnish to Agent and each Lender a statement to -the

foregoing effect in conformity with the requirements of FR Form G-3 or FR Form 0-1, as applicable,
referred to in Regulation U.

(b) On the Closing Date, US Borrower shall assume the obligations under the DIP Revolving
Facility outstanding as of the Closing Date which shall be considered an aggregate principal amount of
Revolving Loans outstanding on the Closing Date and may utilize the proceeds of Revolving Loans to
pay costs and expenses of the Related Transactions. Thereafter US Borrower shall utilize the proceeds of
Revolving Loans for working capital and general corporate purposes.

(©) On the Closing Date, US Borrower shall assume the Roll-Up Obligations outstanding on
the Closing Date, which shall become US Term Loan A .

(d) Obligations under notes issued by the Borrowers as a portion of the Credit Bid and

Acquisition Consideration evidence on the Closing Date the US Term Loan B, the US Term Loan C and
the Canadian Term Loan C.

(e) Schedule 4.7 contains a description of each Borrowers® sources and uses of funds as of
the Closing Date, including Loans and Letter of Credit Obligations to be made or incurred on that date,

and a funds flow memorandum detailing how funds from each source are to be transferred for particular
uses.

(f) None of US Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is subject to regulation as an “investment
company” as defined in, or subject to regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940.

4.8 Brokers. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.8, no broker or finder acting on behalf of any Loan
Party or Affiliate thereof brought about the obtaining, making or closing of the Loans or the Related
Transactions, and no Loan Party or Affiliate thereof has any obligation to any Person in respect of any
finder’s or brokerage fees in connection therewith.

4.9 Compliance with Laws. (a) Each Loan Party represents and warrants that, except for the FDA
Letter Matters, it (i) is in compliance and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance with the requirements
of all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority (including, without
limitation, Executive Order No. 13224 on Terrorist Financing, effective September 24, 2001, and the
Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct
Terrorism Act of 2001, Public Law 107-56, the Canadian Personal Information Protection and Electronic
Documents Act (Canada), the Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004 (Ontario) and other
personal health information privacy laws) and the obligations, covenants and conditions contained in all
Contractual Obligations other than those laws, rules, regulations, orders and provisions of such
Contractual Obligations the noncompliance with which would not be reasonably expected to have, either
individually or'in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) maintains and each of its Subsidiaries
maintains all licenses, qualifications and permits referred to above other than any failure to maintain
which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Without limiting the generality of clause (a) above and except for the FDA Letter
Matters: '
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(i) Each Loan Party is, and at all times has been, in material compliance with all applicable
Health Care Laws. For purposes of this Agreement, “Health Care Laws” means (i) the U.S. Federal Food,
Drug and Cosmetic Act and implementing regulations (“FFDCA”) and the U.S. Controlled Substances
Act and regulations promulgated thereunder (“CSA”), the Canadian Food and Drugs Act (“CFDA”™), and
the Canadian Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (“CDSA”) and implementing regulations, (ii) all U.S.
federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including, but not limited to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute (42
U.S.C. §1320a-7b(b)), the Stark Law (42 U.S.C. §1395nn), the civil False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. §3729
et seq.), TRICARE (10 U.S.C. Section 1071 et seq.), Sections 1320a-7 and 1320a-7a of Title 42 of the
U.S. Code and the regulations promulgated pursuant to such statutes, the Canada Health Act, R.S. 1985,
¢.C-6, (iii) U.S. and Canada state and federal, and provincial legislation and regulations regulating the
professional conduct of health care professionals and the operations and licensing of laboratory and
specimen collection centres; (iv) the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (42
U.8.C. 1320d et seq.), the regulations promulgated thereunder and comparable state data privacy and
security laws, together with provincial health insurance legislation in Canada, as well as federal or
provincial legislation, as may be applicable, with respect to the collection, use or disclosure of personal
health information, including, without limitation, the Canadian Personal Information Protection and
Electronic Documents Act (Canada) and the Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004 (Ontario);
(v) Medicare (Title XVIII of the Social Security Act) and the regulations promulgated thereunder; (vi)
Medicaid (Title XIX of the Social Security Act) and the regulations promulgated thereunder; (vii) quality,
safety and accreditation standards and requirements of all applicable state, federal or provincial laws or
regulatory bodies; (viii) licensure laws and regulations; and (ix) any and all other applicable health care
laws, regulations, manual provisions, policies and administrative guidance, each of (i) through (ix) as may
be amended from time to time and, with respect to any Loan Party or Subsidiary, to the extent applicable
to such Loan Party or Subsidiary. ' '

(ii) None of the Loan Parties, or, to their knowledge, their respective officers, directors,
employees, agents and contractors, has been or is currently excluded from participation in government
health care programs.

(i)  None of the Loan Parties, or, to their knowledge, their respective officers, directors,
employees, agents and contractors, is currently subject to any action, suit, investigation, audit, inquiry, or
proceeding at law or in equity by or before any Governmental Authority now pending or, to the
knowledge of any Loan Party, threatened against or affecting any Loan Party or any business, property or
rights of any Loan Party, or its officers, directors, employees, agents or contractors.

(iv)  None of the Loan Parties (1) is a party to a corporate integrity agreement, (2) has any
outstanding obligations pursuant to a settlement agreement, plan of correction, or other remedial measure
entered into with any Governmental Authority, or (3) has been served with or received any search
warrant, subpoena, civil investigative demand or any letter, notice, or communication possibly indicating
violation of, or non-compliance with applicable law from any Governmental Agency related to its
business operations.

(v) Each Loan Party has (A) all licenses, consents, certificates (including any required
Controlled Substance Registration Certificates issued by the U.S. Department. of Justice, Drug
Enforcement Administration Registration), permits, authorizations, approvals, registrations and
qualifications from, and has made all declarations and filings with, all applicable Governmental
Authorities (each, an “Authorization”) necessary to engage in the business conducted by it, except for
such Authorizations with respect to which the failure to obtain would not have a Material Adverse Effect
and (B) not received notice and has no knowledge that any Governmental Authority is considering
limiting, suspending, adversely amending or revoking any such Authorization. All such Authorizations
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are valid and in full force and effect and each Loan Party and its Subsidiaries is in compliance with the
terms and conditions of all such Authorizations and with the rules and regulations of the regulatory
authorities having jurisdiction with respect to such Authorizations, except where failure to be in such

compliance or for an Authorization to be valid and in full force and effect would not have a Material
Adverse Effect,

(vi)  None of the Loan Parties receives payments from any Third Party Payor Program. For
purposes of this Agreement, “Third Party Payor Program” means any state, provincial or federal
government health care program, including, without limitation, Medicare, Medicaid, and TRICARE,
managed care plans, private insurance, or any other public or private third party payor program.

(vii)  Each Loan Party has received and maintains accreditation in good standing and without
limitation or impairment by all applicable accrediting organizations, to the extent required by law
(including any foreign law or equivalent regulation), except where the failure to have or maintain such
accreditation would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

4.10  Intellectual Property. As of the Closing Date, each of the Loan Parties and its Subsidiaries owns,
is licensed to use or otherwise has the right to use, all material Intellectual Property used in or necessary
for the conduct of its business as currently conducted that is material to the financial condition, business
or operations of such Loan Party and its Subsidiaries and all such Intellectual Property that is federally
registered in any country as of the Closing Date is identified on Schedule 4.10. As of the Closing Date,
except as disclosed in Schedule 4.10, to each Loan Party’s knowledge, the use of such Intellectual
Property by the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries and the conduct of their businesses does not and has
not been alleged by any Person to infringe on the rights of any Person.

4.11  Investigations. Audits, Etc, As of the Closing Date, except as set forth on Schedule 4.1 1, no Loan
Party or any of their respective Subsidiaries is the subject of an audit by the IRS or the Canada Revenue
Agency or, to each Loan Party’s knowledge, any review by the IRS or the Canada Revenue Agency or
any governmental investigation concerning the violation or possible violation of any law.

412 Employee Matters. As of the Closing Date, except as set forth on Schedule 4.12, (a) no Loan
Party or Subsidiary of a Loan Party nor any of their respective employees is subject to any collective
bargaining agreement, (b) no petition or application for certification or union election is pending with
respect to the employees of any Loan Party or any of their Subsidiaries and no union or collective
bargaining unit has sought such certification or recognition with respect to the employees of any Loan
Party or any of their Subsidiaries, (c) there are no strikes, slowdowns, work stoppages or controversies
pending or, to the best knowledge of any Loan Party after due inquiry, threatened between any Loan Party
or any of their Subsidiaries and its respective employees, other than employee grievances arising in the
ordinary course of business which would not reasonably be expected to have, either individually or in the
aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect and (d) hours worked by and payment made to employees of each
Loan Party and each of their Subsidiaries comply in all material respects with the Fair Labor Standards
Act and each other federal, state, provincial, local or foreign law applicable to such matters. Except as set
forth on Schedule 4.12, neither US Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is party to an employment
contract.

4.13  Litigation; Adverse Facts. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.13, there are no judgments
outstanding against any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries or affecting any property of any Loan Party
or any of its Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date, nor is there any Litigation pending, or to the best
knowledge of any Loan Party threatened, against any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries, in each case
which would reasonably be expected to result in any Material Adverse Effect.
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4.14  Ownership of Property: Liens. As of the Closing Date, the real estate (together with any future
acquired real estate, “Real Estate™) listed in Schedule 4.14 constitutes all of the real property owned,
leased or subleased by any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries. As of the Closing Date, each of the
Loan Parties and each of its Subsidiaries owns good and marketable (and, in the case of Real Estate
located outside the province of Quebec, fee simple) title to ail of its owned Real Estate, and valid
leaschold interests in all of its leased Real Estate, all as described on Schedule 4.14, and copies of all such
leases and material amendments thereto have been delivered to Agent. Schedule 4.14 further describes
any Real Estate with respect to which any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries is a lessor, sublessor or
assignor as of the Closing Date. As of the Closing Date, each of the Loan Parties and each of its
Subsidiaries also has good and marketable title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all of its personal
property and assets subject to applicable Permitted Encumbrances. As of the Closing Date, none of the
properties and assets of any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries are subject to any Liens other than
Permitted Encumbrances, and there are no facts, circumstances or conditions known to Borrowers that are
reasonably likely to result in any Liens (including Liens arising under Environmental Laws) other than
Permitted Encumbrances against the properties or assets of any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries. As
of the Closing Date, Schedule 4.14 also describes any purchase options, rights of first refusal or other
similar contractual rights pertaining to any Loan Party’s interest in any Real Estate. Except as set forth on
Schedule 4.14, as of the Closing Date, all material permits required to have been issued or appropriate to
enable the Real Estate to be lawfully occupied and used for all of the purposes for which it is currently
occupied and used have been lawfully issued and are in full force and effect.

4.15  Environmental Matters. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.15, as of the Closing Date: (i) the Loan
Parties and their Subsidiaries are and have been in compliance with all Environmental Laws, except for
such noncompliance that would not reasonably be expected to result in Environmental Liabilities of the
Loan Parties or their Subsidiaries in excess of $250,000 in the aggregate; (ii) the Loan Parties and their
Subsidiaries have obtained, and are in compliance with, all material Environmental Permits required by
Environmental Laws for the operations of their respective businesses as presently conducted or as
proposed to be conducted; (iii) no Loan Party and no Subsidiary of a Loan Party is involved in operations
or knows of any facts, circumstances or conditions, iricluding any Releases of Hazardous Materials, that
are likely to result in any Environmental Liabilities of such Loan Party or Subsidiary which would
reasonably be expected to be in excess of $250,000 in the aggregate, and no Loan Party or Subsidiary of a
Loan Party has permitted any current or former tenant or occupant of the Real Estate to engage in any
such operations; (iv)there is no Litigation arising under or related to any Environmental Laws,
Environmental Permits or Hazardous Material that seeks damages, penalties, fines, costs or expenses in
excess of $250,000 in the aggregate or injunctive relief against, or that alleges criminal misconduct by
any Loan Party or any Subsidiary of a Loan Party; and (v) no notice has been received by any Loan Party
or any Subsidiary of a Loan Party identifying any of them as a “potentially responsible party” or
requesting information under CERCLA or analogous state statutes, and to the knowledge of the Loan
Partics, there are no facts, circumstances or conditions that would be reasonably likely to result in any of
the Loan Parties or their Subsidiaries being identified as a “potentlally responsnble party” under CERCLA
or analogous federal, state or provincial statutes.

4,16  ERISA; Canadian Pension Plans, Canadian Benefit Plans.

(a) Except with respect to Multiemployer Plans, each Qualified Plan received a favorable
determination or opinion letter from the IRS or is within the applicable remedial amendment period.
Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, each Plan is in
compliance with the applicable provisions of ERISA and the IRC. Except as would not reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, neither any Loan Party nor ERISA Affiliate has failed to
make any contribution or pay any amount due as required by either Section 412 of the IRC or Section 302
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of ERISA or the terms of any such TitleIV Plan. No Loan Party has engaged in a “prohibited
transaction,” as defined in Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the IRC, in connection with any
Plan, that would subject any Loan Party to a material tax on prohibited transactions imposed by Section

502(i) of ERISA or Section 4975 of the IRC in an amount that would reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

(b) As of the Closing Date, except as set forth in Schedule 4.16: (i) no ERISA Event or
event described in Section 4062(e) of ERISA with respect to any Title IV Plan has occurred or is
reasonably expected to occur; (ii) except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect, no Loan Party or ERISA Affiliate has incurred or reasonably expects to incur any liability as a
result of a complete or partial withdrawal from a Multiemployer Plan; and (iii) except as would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, within the last five years no Title IV Plan of
any Loan Party or ERISA Affiliate has been terminated, whether or not in a “standard termination” as that
term is used in Section 404(b)(1) of ERISA.

{c) As of the Closing Date, the Canadian Pension Plans are duly registered under the ITA
and all other applicable laws which require registration and no event has occurred which is reasonably
likely to cause the loss of such registered status. As of the Closing Date, all obligations of each Loan
Party (including fiduciary, funding, investment and administration obligations) required to be performed
in connection with the Canadian Pension Plans and the Canadian Benefit Plans and the funding
agreements thercfor have been performed in a timely fashion, except where the failure to do so would not
have a Material Adverse Effect. As of the Closing Date, there have been no improper withdrawals or
applications of the assets of the Canadian Pension Plans or the Canadian Benefit Plans. As of the Closing
Date, there are no outstanding disputes concerning the assets of the Canadian Pension Plans or the
Canadian Benefit Plans, which disputes would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
As of the Closing Date, each of the Canadian Pension Plans is funded to the extent required by applicable
Canadian federal or provincial pension laws and regulations on both a solvency basis and an ongoing
basis (using actuarial methods and assumptions which are consistent with the valuations last filed with the
applicable Governmental Authorities and which are consistent with generally accepted actuarial
principles). As of the Closing Date, no promises of benefit improvements under the Canadian Pension
Plans or the Canadian Benefit Plans have been made and there are no taxes, penalties or interest owing in
respect of any Canadian Pension Plan, except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect. Schedule 4.16 lists all Canadian Benefit Plans (other than, for greater certainty, universal
plans created by, and to which any Loan Party is obligated to contribute, by statute) and Canadian
Pension Plans adopted by any Loan Party.

4.17  Deposit and Disbursement Accounts. Schedule 4.17 lists all banks and other financial institutions
at which any Loan Party maintains deposit or other accounts as of the Closing Date, including any
Disbursement Accounts, and such Schedule correctly identifies the name and address of each depository,
the name in which the account is held, a description of the purpose of the account, and the complete
account number therefor.

4.18  Agreements and Other Documents. As of the Closing Date, each Loan Party has provided to
Agent or its counsel, on behalf of Lenders, accurate and complete copies (or summaries) of all of the
following agreements or documents to which it is subject and each of which is listed in Schedule 4.18:
supply agreements and purchase agreements not terminable by such Loan Party within sixty (60} days
following written notice issued by such Loan Party and involving transactions in excess of $200,000 per
annum (other than customer contracts or purchase orders entered into in the ordinary course of business),
leases of Equipment having a remaining term of one year or longer and requiring aggregate rental and
other payments in excess of $200,000 per annum (other than purchase orders entered into in the ordinary
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course of business); licenses and permits held by the Loan Parties, the absence of which would reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and instruments and documents evidencing any
Indebtedness or Guaranteed Indebtedness exceeding $200,000 of such Loan Party and any Lien granted
by such Loan Party with respect thereto.

4.19  Insurance. Each Loan Party currently maintains in good operating condition (normal wear and
tear excepted) all of its material properties and maintains all insurance described in Schedule 4.19.
Schedule 4.19 lists all insurance policies of any nature maintained, as of the Closing Date, for current
occurrences by each Loan Party, as well as a summary of the key business terms of each such policy such
as deductibles, coverage limits and term of policy.

4.20 . Taxes and Tax Returns.

(a) Except where the failure to file Tax Returns or to pay Taxes which would not reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, as of the Closing Date, (i) all Tax Returns required to be
filed by the Loan Parties have been timely and properly filed taking into account extensions and (ii) all
taxes that are due (other than taxes being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for
which adequate reserves or liabilities have been provided for in accordance with GAAP) have been paid.
No Governmental Authority has asserted any claim for taxes, or to any Loan Party’s knowledge, has
threatened to assert any claim for taxes that would, if not paid by a Loan Party, have a Material Adverse
Effect. All taxes required by law to be withheld or collected and remitted (including, without limitation,
income tax, unemployment insurance and workmen’s compensation premiums) with respect to the Loan
Parties have been withheld or collected and paid to the appropriate Governmental Authoritics (or are
properly being held for such payment), except for amounts the nonpayment of which would not be
reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) None of the Loan Parties has been notified that either the IRS, the Canada Revenue
Agency or any other Governmental Authority, has raised or intends to raise, any adjustments with respect

to Taxes of the Loan Parties, which adjustments would be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse
Effect.

421  Acquisition Agreement. As of the Closing Date, Borrowers have delivered to Agent a complete
and correct copy of the Acquisition Agreement (including all schedules, exhibits, amendments,
supplements, modifications, assignments and all other documents delivered pursuant thereto or in
connection therewith). No Loan Party, and to the knowledge of any Loan Party, no other Person party
thereto is in material default in the performance or compliance with any provisions thereof. The
Acquisition Agreement complies with, and the Acquisition has been consummated in accordance with, in
all material respects, all applicable laws. To each Borrower’s knowledge, all covenants and conditions to
be performed by the parties to the Acquisition Agreement (including all schedules, exhibits, supplements,
modifications, assignments and all other documents delivered pursuant thereto or in connection therewith)
have been performed or satisfied in all material respects. The Acquisition Agreement is in full force and
effect as of the Closing Date and has not been terminated, rescinded or withdrawn. Al material approvals
by Governmental Authorities having jurisdiction over any Loan Party and other Persons referenced
therein, with respect to the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement, have been obtained,
and no such approvals impose any conditions to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by
the Acquisition Agreement or to the conduct by any Loan Party of its business thereafter.

422  [Reserved].
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423 FDA Compliance.

(a) Except for the FDA Letter Matters, each of the Loan Parties and its Subsidiaries and to
their knowledge all entities and individuals acting on their behalf possess and are in compliance with all
material certificates, licenses, approvals, exemptions, notices, registrations, waivers, consents,
authorizations ‘and permits issued by, and have made all declarations and filings with, the appropriate
federal, state, provincial, local or foreign regulatory authorities reasonably necessary to conduct its
business, including without limitation all those that may be required by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (the “FDA”), the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration, the Canadian Department of
Health (“Health Canada™) or any other federal, state, provincial, local or foreign agencies or bodies
engaged in the regulation of pharmaceuticals, medical devices, biologics, cosmetics or bichazardous
materials (“Regulatory Permits™). Except for the FDA Letter Matters, each of the Loan Parties and its
Subsidiaries and to their knowledge all entities and individuals acting on their behalf are and at all times
have been in all material respects in compliance with all Health Care Laws, as defined in Section
4.9(b)(1), federal, state, local, provincial, or foreign statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, orders,
decrees, policies, directives and guidances applicable to the ownership, testing, development,
manufacture, packaging, processing, recordkeeping, reporting, use, distribution, marketing, labeling,
promotion, sale, offer for sale, storage, import, export or disposal of any product or product candidate,
including, without limitation, the FFDCA and implementing regulations, the CSA and implementing
regulations, the CFDA and implementing regulations and the CDSA and implementing regulations
(“Regulatory Laws™).

(b) Except for the FDA Letter Matters or as provided on Schedule 4.23, all analyses, studies,
tests and preclinical and clinical trials conducted by or on behalf of each of the Loan Parties and their
Subsidiaries are being and were, if completed, terminated, or haited, conducted in compliance with
experimental protocols, procedures and controls pursuant to accepted professional scientific standards and
applicable local, state, provincial and federal laws, rules, regulations, policies, directives and guidances,
including, but not limited to, the FFDCA and its implementing regulations at 21 C.F.R. Parts 11, 50, 54,
56, 58,312 and 314, 812 and 814, the CFDA and its implementing regulations at Division 5 and Division
8 of Part C of the Food and Drug Regulations, the CSA and its implementing regulations and the CDSA
and its implementing regulations. Except for the FDA Letter Matters, each of the Loan Parties and their
Subsidiaries and to their knowledge all entities and individuals acting on their behalf have not received
any material order, warning letter, untitled letter, Form 483, inspection report, clinical hold order, or any
other formal or informal notice from any Governmental Authority or clinical trial sponsor that has not
been closed by the issuing authority and remains outstanding any Governmental Authority is considering
any claim, notice, charge, complaint, investigation, enforcement action, proceeding, seizure, injunction,
prosecution, civil fine, suspension, hearing or other action {each an “Enforcement Action”), nor do they
have any knowledge of any reasonable basis for such Enforcement Action: (A) to limit, revoke, suspend,
or materially modify any Regulatory Permit; (B) to terminate, suspend or materially modify any study,
test or clinical or preclinical trial currently being conducted by, or on behalf of, the Loan Parties and its
Subsidiaries; (C) alleging or asserting material noncompliance with any applicable laws (D) initiating or
threatening to initiate any regulatory action relating to the truthfulness of data generated by any of the
Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries, or (E) requesting that any of the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries
redo any work previously submitted in connection with any approval, exemption, notice, license, filing,
registration, or other submission.
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SECTIONS,
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

Each Loan Party executing this Agreement jointly and severally agrees as to all Loan Parties
{except in the case of each Canadian Subsidiary which is a Loan Party, which severally, and not jointly,
agrees as to all Loan Parties) that from and after the date hereof and until the Termination Date:

5.1 Compliance With Laws and Contractual Obligations. Each Loan Party will (a) comply with and

shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to comply with (i) the requirements of all applicable material laws,
rules, regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority (including, without limitation, laws, rules,
regulations and orders relating to taxes, employer and employee contributions, securities, employee
retirement and welfare benefits, environmental protection matters and employee health and safety) as now
in effect and which may be imposed in the future in all jurisdictions in which any Loan Party or any of its
Subsidiaries is now doing business or may hereafter be doing business and (ii) the obligations, covenants
and conditions contained in ali Contractual Obligations of such Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries other
than the noncompliance with which would not be reasonably expected to have, either individually or in
the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, and (b) maintain or obtain and shall cause each of its
Subsidiaries to maintain or obtain all licenses, qualifications and permits now held or hereafter required to
be held by such Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries, for which the loss, suspension, revocation or failure
to obtain or renew, would reasonably be expected to have, either individually or in the aggregate, a
Material Adverse Effect. This Section 5.1 shall not preclude any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries from
contesting any taxes or other payments, if they arc being diligently contested in good faith in a manner
which stays enforcement thereof and if appropriate expense provisions have been recorded in conformity
with GAAP, and no Lien (other than a Permitted Encumbrance) in respect thereof has arisen or been
created.

52 Insurance. Each Loan Party will maintain or cause to be maintained, with insurers reasonabily
acceptable to Agent, public liability and property damage insurance with respect to its business and
properties and the business and properties of its Subsidiaries against loss or damage of the kinds
customarily carried or maintained by corporations of established reputation engaged in substantially
similar businesses and in amounts reasonably acceptable to Agent and will deliver evidence thereof to
Agent. Agent confirms that the insurance in effect on the Closing Date is reasonably acceptable to it.
The Loan Parties shall maintain business interruption insurance providing coverage for a period of at least
six (6) months and in an amount not less than $20,000,000 in the aggregate. Each Loan Party shall,
pursuant to endorsements and/or assignments in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent, (i)
cause Agent to be named as lender’s loss payee in the case of casualty insurance, and assignee in the case
of all business interruption insurance and key man life insurance policies, in each case for the benefit of
Agent and applicable Lenders and (ii) cause Agent and each applicable Lender to be named as additional
insureds in the case of all liability insurance. So long as no Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, proceeds of business interruption insurance will be released to the Loan Parties. In the event
any Loan Party fails to provide Agent with evidence of the insurance coverage required by this
Agreement, Agent may purchase insurance at such Loan Party’s expense to protect Agent’s interests in
the Collateral. This insurance may, but need not, protect such Loan Party’s interests. The coverage
purchased by Agent may not pay any claim made by such Loan Party or any claim that is made against
such Loan Party in connection with the Collateral. If Agent purchases insurance for the Collateral, such
Loan Party will be responsible for the costs of that insurance (which may exceed the cost of insurance that
such Loan Party could obtain on its own), including interest and other Charges imposed by Agent in
connection with the placement of the insurance, until the effective date of the cancellation or expiration of
the insurance. The costs of the insurance may be added to the Obligations.
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53 Inspection; Lender Meeting. Upon five (5) Business Days’ prior written notice to the Loan
Parties and the Lenders, each Loan Party shall permit any authorized representatives of Agent to visit,
audit and inspect any of the properties of such Loan Party and its Subsidiaries, including its and their
financial and accounting records, and to make copies and take extracts therefrom, and to discuss its and
their affairs, finances and business with its respective Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
and certified public accountants, at such reasonable times during normal business hours and as often as
may be reasonably requested (collectively a “Field Review™); provided, that, upon the occurrence and
continuance of an Event of Default, Agent shail not be required to provide any notice to the Loan Parties
prior to the performance of a Field Review; provided further, that, so long as no Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing, Agent shall be limited to two (2) Field Reviews during any calendar year.
Representatives of each Lender will be permitted to accompany representatives of Agent during each
Field Review at such Lender’s expense. In addition to the foregoing, each Loan Party will participate (by
telephone or otherwise) and will cause its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to
participate (by telephone or otherwise) in a meeting with Agent and Lenders at least twice during each
year, which meeting shall be held at such time and such place as may be reasonably requested by Agent,

5.4 Organizational Existence. Except as otherwise permitted by Section 6.6, each Loan Party will
and will cause its material Subsidiaries to at all times preserve and keep in full force and effect its
organizational existence and all rights and franchises material to its business.

55 Environmental Matters. Each Loan Party shall and shall cause each Person within its control to:
(a) conduct its operations and keep and maintain its Real Estate in compliance with all Environmental
Laws and Environmental Permits other than noncompliance that would not reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect; (b) notify Agent promptly after such Loan Party or any Person within its
control becomes aware of any violation of Environmental Laws or Environmental Permits or any Release
on, at, in, under, above, to, from or about any Real Estate that is reasonably likely to result in
Environmental Liabilities to a Loan Party or its Subsidiaries in excess of $500,000; and (c) promptly
forward to Agent a copy of any order, notice of actual or alleged violation or liability, request for
information or any communication or report received by such Loan Party or any Person within its controi
in connection with any such violation or Release or any other matter relating to any Environmental Laws
or Environmental Permits that would reasonably be expected to result in Environmental Liabilities in
excess of $500,000. '

5.6 Landlords’ Agreements, Mortgagee Agreements, Bailee Letters and Real Estate Purchases. Each
Loan Party shall use reasonable efforts to obtain a landlord’s agreement, mortgagee agreement or bailee
letter, as applicable, from the lessor of each leased property, mortgagee of owned property or bailee with
respect to any warehouse, processor or converter facility or other location where Collateral with a book
value greater than $200,000 is stored or located, which agreement or letter shall contain a waiver or
subordination of all Liens or claims that the landlord, mortgagee or bailee may assert against the
Collateral at that location, and shall otherwise be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to Agent.
Each Loan Party shall and shall cause its Subsidiaries to timely and fully pay and perform their
obligations under all leases and other agreements with respect to each leased location or public warehouse
where any Collateral is or may be located (other than leased locations where Collateral in an aggregate
amount for all such locations does not to exceed $200,000 in the aggregate).

57 Further Assurances.

(a) Each Loan Party shall, from time to time, execute such guaranties, financing statements,
documents, security agreements, Control Agreements, and reports and take such other actions and enter
into such other agreements as Agent at any time may reasonably request to evidence, perfect or maintain
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the perfection or priority of the guaranties and security for repayment of the Obligations contemplated by
the Loan Documents.

(b) In the event any Loan Party acquires (or acquired) an ownership interest (or fee simple
interest in the case of real property located outside the Province of Quebec) in real property or leasehold
interest in real property which has environmental exposure chambers after the Closing Date, such Loan
Party shall (or with respect to leasehold interests, use its commercially reasonable efforts to) deliver to
Agent a fully executed mortgage, deed of trust, debenture or other security device of similar purpose and
effect over such real property in form and substance satisfactory to Agent together with such title
insurance policies, surveys, appraisals, evidence of insurance, legal opinions, environmental assessments
and other documents and certificates as shall be reasonably requ1red by Agent.

() Each Loan Party shall (i) cause each Person, upon its becoming a Subsidiary of such
Loan Party (provided that this shall not be construed to constitute consent by any of the Lenders to any
transaction not expressly permitted by the terms of this Agreement), promptly to execute or join this
Agreement as a Loan Party, to gearanty the Obligations and to cause each such Subsidiary to grant to
Agent, for the benefit of Agent and applicable Lenders, a security interest in the real, personal and mixed
property of such Subsidiary to secure the Obligations and (ii) pledge, or cause to be pledged, to Agent, for
the benefit of Agent and applicable Lenders, all of the Stock of such Subsidiary to secure the Obligations.
To the extent that the requirement in the immediately preceding sentence as applied to any Foreign
Subsidiaries would result in material adverse tax liabilities under Section 956 of the IRC for US Borrower
or the other US Loan Parties, (i} such Foreign Subsidiary (if a Canadian Subsidiary) shall guaranty only
the Canadian Obligations and grant security only for its own Obligations, and (ii) the relevant Loan Party
shall only be required to pledge, or cause to be pledged, to Agent, for the benefit of Agent and applicable
Lenders, 65% of the outstanding voting Stock and 100% of the outstanding nonvoting Stock of only the
related first tier Foreign Subsidiary. The documentation for such guaranty, security and pledge shall be
substantially similar to the Loan Documents executed concurrently herewith with such modifications as
are reasonably requested by Agent.

5.8 Payment of Taxes. Each Loan Party shall timely pay and discharge (or cause to be paid and
discharged) all material taxes, assessments and governmental and other charges or levies imposed upon it
or upon its income or profits, or upon property belonging to it; provided that, to the extent permitted by
applicable law, such Loan Party shall not be required to pay any such tax, assessment, charge or levy that
is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which the affected Loan Party shall
have set aside on its books adequate reserves with respect thereto in conformance with GAAP and no
Lien (other than a Permitted Encumbrance) in respect thereof has arisen or been created.

59 Cash Management Systems. US Borrower shall, and shall cause each other US Loan Party to,
enter into Control Agreements with respect to each deposit account maintained by any US Loan Party,
and use commercially reasonable efforts to cause each Canadian Loan Party to enter into Control
Agreements with respect to each deposit account maintained by a Canadian Loan Party (other than any
petty cash accounts with an aggregate balance not to exceed $100,000 and payroll account so long as such
payroll account is a zero balance account and is used solely for payroll purposes) as of or after the
Closing Date. Each such deposit account control agreement shall be in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to Agent.

5.10  Interest Rate Protection. Upon the request of Agent (which may be made by Agent at any time
the offered rate for deposits in United States Dollars for any LIBOR Period that appears on Reuters
Screen LIBOR01 Page as of 11:00 a.m. (L.ondon time) exceeds 2.00% per annum), Borrowers shall,
within 60 days of such request, enter into, and thereafter maintain, Interest Rate Agreements that result in
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at least 50% of the aggregate principal amount of the Borrowers® consolidated long-term Indebtedness
(other than the Revolving Loan Commitments) being effectively subject to a fixed or maximum interest
rate, which agreements shall contain such terms as are reasonably satisfactory to Agent.

5.11  Intentionally Omitted.

5.12  Compliance with Health Care Laws: Third Party Payor Program.

(a) Without limiting or qualifying any other provision of this Agreement, each Loan Party
will comply in all material respects, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to comply in all material
respects, with all applicable Health Care Laws relating to the operation of such Person’s business.

(b) Each Loan Party will maintain and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to maintain (i) all
material Authorizations which are necessary to engage in its business, and (ii) all records required to be
maintained by any Governmental Authority or otherwise under the Health Care Laws, except where the
failure to so maintain such records could not reasonably be expected to cause a Material Adverse Effect.

(c) No Loan Party receives payments from or enters into any contract to receive payments
from any Third Party Payor Program.

5.13  FDA and Health Canada Compliance. Each Loan Party shall and shall cause its Subsidiaries and
all employees and entities acting on their behalf to (a) maintain all materia} Regulatory Permits in
material compliance with all Health Care and Regulatory Laws and shall conduct all studies, tests and
preclinical and clinical trials in compliance with all applicable protocols, procedures and controls
pursuant to professional and scientific standards and Health Care and Regulatory Laws; (b) notify Agent
promptly after such Loan Party or its Subsidiaries becomes aware of any violation of Health Care and
Regulatory Laws, Regulatory Permits, or study protocols, procedures or controls which could reasonably
be expected to cause a Material Adverse Effect (including, without limitation, providing copies to Agent
of all FDA Form 483s, Health Canada inspection reports where a potential material non-compliance or
risk has been identified, warning letters and untitled letters received by such Loan Party or any of its
Subsidiaries); and (c) promptly forward to Agent a copy of any formal or informal notice or other
information from a Governmenta] Authority or clinical trial sponsor that any Governmental Authority is
considering an Enforcement Action to limit, revoke, suspend or modify any Regulatory Permit or to
terminate, suspend, or materially modify any study, test, or clinical or pre-clinical trials currently being
conducted by, or on behalf of the Loan Parties and its Subsidiaries (including, without limitation,
providing copies to Agent of all FDA Form 483 inspection reports where a potential material non-
compliance or risk has been identified, and FDA warning letters and untitled letters received by such
Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries). Lenders agree that the Loan Parties may redact from any formal or
informal communication received or sent relating to a clinical trial sponsor which must be kept
confidential under a confidentiality agreement between any Loan Party and such clinical trial sponsor.

5.14  Canadian Pension Plans. For each existing Canadian Pension Plan, each Loan Party shall ensure
that such plan retains its registered status under and is administered in a timely manner in accordance with
the applicable pension plan text, funding agreement, the ITA and all other applicable laws, except where
the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. For each plan
hereafter adopted by any Loan Party which would constitute a Canadian Pension Plan were it in existence
on the Closing Date (for purposes of this Section 5.14, also a “Canadian Pension Plan™) which is required
to be registered under the ITA or any other applicable laws, that Loan Party shall use its best efforts to
seek and receive confirmation in writing from the applicable Governmental Authorities to the effect that
such plan is unconditionally registered under the ITA and such other applicable laws. For each existing
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and hereafter adopted Canadian Pension Plan and each existing Canadian Benefit Plan and plan hereafter
adopted by any Loan Party which would constitute a Canadian Benefit Plan were it in existence on the
Closing Date (for purposes of this Section 5.14, also a “Canadian Benefit Plan”), each Loan Party shall
perform in a timely manner all obligations (including fiduciary, funding, investment and administration
obligations) required to be performed in connection with such plan and the funding media therefor, except
where the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Each
Loan Party shall deliver to Agent: (i) with respect to each Canadian Pension Plan, if requested by Agent,
promptly after the filing thereof by any Loan Party with any applicable Governmental Authority, copies
of each annual and other return, report or valuation, and promptly after its preparation and transmittal to
the funding agent, copies of the annual summary of contributions; (ii} promptly after receipt thereof, a
copy of any direction, order, notice, ruling or opinion that any Loan Party may receive from any
applicable Governmental Authority with respect to any Canadian Pension Plan; and (iii) notification
within 30 days of (A) any increases having a cost to such Loan Party in excess of $250,000, per annum, in
the benefits of any Canadian Pension Plan or Canadian Benefit Plan, or (B) the establishment of any new
Canadian Pension Plan or Canadian Benefit Plan, along with details thereof including cost information or
(C) the commencement of contributions to any Canadian Pension Plan or Canadian Benefit Plan to which
any Loan Party was not previously contributing, along with information reflecting the amount of such
contributions. ‘

5.15  Invention Agreements, Loan Parties shall maintain all existing invention agreements to which
one or more Loan Parties are a party on the Closing Date and use commercially reasonably efforts to
obtain invention agreements from all employees hired on or after the Closing Date who work for the Loan
Partics in'a bioanalytical scientific capacity. :

5.16  Business Plan. On or prior to August 6, 2012, Borrowers shall deliver to Agent and Lenders
Borrowers’ business plan which shall include a financial forecast on a monthly basis for the first twelve
months after the Closing Date and on a quarterly basis thereafter through December 31, 2015 prepared by
US Borrower’s management. If any Lender provides any comments or questions to the Borrower
Representative on the proposed business plan on or prior to August 13, 2012, Borrowers shall deliver a
revised business plan to Agent and Lenders on or prior to August 20, 2012 with such changes as arc
reasonably satisfactory to Agent and Requisite Lenders (such business plan as so revised, the “Acceptable
Business Plan™).

SECTION 6.
NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Each Loan Party executing this Agreement jointly and severally agrees as to all Loan Parties
(except in the case of each Canadian Subsidiary which is a Loan Party, which severally, and not jointly,
agrees as to all Loan Parties) that from and after the date hereof until the Termination Date:

6.1 Indebtedness. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their Subsidiaries directly
or indirectly to create, incur, assume, or otherwise become or remain directly or indirectly liable with
respect to any Indebtedness (other than pursuant to 2 Contingent Obligation permitted under Section 6.4)
except:

(a) Indebtedness described on Schedule 6.1;

(b) - the Obligations;
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(c) intercompany Indebtedness arising from loans made by (i) any Loan Party to any US
Loan Party, (ii) any Canadian Loan Party to any other Canadian Loan Party, or (iii) any US Loan Party to
any Canadian Loan Party in an amount not to exceed $5,000,000 in the aggregate at any time outstanding;
provided, however, that any Indebtedness incurred under this clause (c) shall be evidenced by the
Intercompany Note dated as of the Closing Date (as may be amended at the request of Agent to reflect the
addition of additional Loan Parties in accordance with this Agreement) which shall be pledged and
delivered to the Agent pursuant to the terms thereof;,

(d) [reserved];

(e) Indebtedness not to exceed $5,000,000 (less the aggregate amount of all Indebtedness
permitted pursuant to Section 6.1(f) hereof that refinanced Indebtedness previously permitted pursuant to
this Section 6.1(e)) in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding secured by purchase money
Liens or incurred with respect to Capital Leases and purchase money Indebtedness for the purchase of
fixed assets;

) refinancings of Indebtedness permitted under clauses (a), (d) and (e) that do not
accelerate the scheduled dates for payment thereof, increase the principal amounts thereof, materially

increase any interest rate or fees applicable thereto, add additional obligors therefor, or enhance the
collateral therefor or the priority thereof;

(g) Indebtedness under (i) interest rate agreements (including Interesi Rate Agreements)
entered into to protect US Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof against fluctuations in interest rates in
respect of Indebtedness otherwise permitted under this Agreement or (ii) other hedging agreements
providing protection against fluctuations in currency values or commodity prices in connection with US
Borrower’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ operations, so long as the purpose of any such agreement is a bona
fide hedging activity (and is not for speculative purposes); and

(h) Contingent Obligations permitted by Section 6.4

6.2 Liens and Related Matters.

(a) No Liens. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their Subsidiaries to
directly or indirectly create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on or with respect to any property
or asset of such Loan Party or any such Subsidiary, whether now owned or hereafier acquired, or any
income or profits therefrom, except Permitted Encumbrances (including, without limitation, those Liens
constituting Permitted Encumbrances existing on the date hereof and renewals and extensions thereof, as
set forth on Schedule 6.2).

(b) No Negative Pledges. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their
Subsidiaries to directly or indirectly enter into or assume any agreement (other than the Loan Documents)
prohibiting the creation or assumption of any Lien upon its properties or assets, whether now owned or
hereafter acquired and other than agreements containing (i) provisions restricting subletting or assignment
under any lease governing a leasehold interest or lease of personal property; (ii) restrictions with respect
to a Subsidiary imposed pursnant to any agreement which has been entered into for the sale of disposition
of all or substantially all of the equity interests or assets of such Subsidiary, so long as such sale or
disposition of all or substantially all of the equity interests or assets of such Subsidiary is permitted under
this Agreement; and (iii) restrictions on assignments or sublicensing of licensed Intellectual Property.
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(c) No Restrictions on Subsidiary Distributions to Borrowers. Except as provided herein, the

Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their Subsidiaries to directly or indirectly create or
otherwise cause or suffer to exist or become effective any consensual encumbrance or restriction of any
kind on the ability of any such Subsidiary to: (1) pay dividends or make any other distribution on any of
such Subsidiary’s Stock owned by either Borrower or any other Subsidiary; (2) pay any Indebtedness
owed to either Borrower or any other Subsidiary; (3) make loans or advances to either Borrower or any
other Subsidiary; or (4) transfer any of its property or assets to either Borrower or any other Subsidiary.

6.3 Investments. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their Subsidiarics to
directly or indirectly make or own any Investment in any Person except:

(a)  US Borrower and its Subsidiaries may make and own Investments in Cash Equivalents
subject to Control Agreements in favor of Agent; provided that such Cash Equivalents are not subject to
setoff rights;

(b) intercompany loans to other Loan Parties to the extent permitted under Section 6.1;

(c) US Borrower and its Subsidiaries may make loans and advances to employees or other
Persons (other than the Loan Parties) in the ordinary course of business not to exceed $500,000 in the
aggregate at any time outstanding; ‘

- (d) (i) Loan Parties (other than US Borrower) and their Subsidiaries may make capital
contributions to their wholly-owned Subsidiaries that are Loan Parties and (if) US Borrower may make

capital contributions to its wholly-owned Subsidiaries that are Loan Parties (other than Canadian Loan
Parties); :

(e) non-cash consideration received in accordance with Section 6.7;

® Investments existing on the Closing Date, as set forth on Schedule 6.3 and any rencwals,
amendments and replacements thereof that do not increase the amount thereof:

(g) cach Loan Party may hold investments comprised of notes payable, or stock or other
securities issued by financially troubled Account Debtors (excluding Affiliates) to such Loan Party
pursuant to agreements with respect to settlement of such Account Debtor’s Accounts with such Loan
Party negotiated in the ordinary course of business;

(h) [reserved];
(i) Interest Rate Agreements and other hedging agreements subject to Section 6.1;

() . US Borrower and its Subsidiaries may make advances in the form of a prepayment of
expenses, so long as such expenses were incurred in the ordinary course of business and are being paid in
accordance with customary trade terms of US Borrower or such Subsidiary; not to exceed $500,000 in the

aggregate to the extent that such funds have not been received from a customer pursuant to the applicable
clinical services contract.

6.4  Contingent Obligations. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their
Subsidiaries to directly or indirectly create or become or be liable with respect to any Contingent
Obligation except:
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(a) Letter of Credit Obligations;

(b) those arising under Interest Rate Agreements or other hedging agreements entered into in
compliance with Section 6.1;

(c) those resulting from endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary
course of business;

(d) those existing on the Closing Date and described in Schedule 6.4;

(©) those arising under indemnity agreements to title insurers to cause such title insurers to
issue to Agent mortgagee title insurance policies;

63} those arising with respect to customary indemnification obligations incurred in
connection with Asset Dispositions permitted hereunder;

(g) those incurred in the ordinary course of business with respect to surety and appeal bonds,
performance and return-of-money bonds and other similar obligations not exceeding at any time
outstanding $500,000 in aggregate liability;

(h) those incurred with respect to Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.1; provided that (i)
any such Contingent Obligation is subordinated to the Obligations to the same extent as the Indebtedness
to which it relates is subordinated to the Obligations and (ii) no Loan Party may incur Contingent
Obligations in respect of Indebtedness incurred by any Person that is not a Loan Party under this clause

(h);
(i) [reserved];
() [reserved];

k) any other Contingent Obligation not expressly permitted by clauses (a) through (h)
above, so long as any such other Contingent Obligations, in the aggregate at any time outstanding, do not
exceed $2,000,000 and no Loan Party may incur Contingent Obligations in respect of Indebtedness
incurred by any Person that is not a Loan Party under this clause (k); and

¢)] those incurred with respect to the Guaranty and Suretyship Agreement dated as of the
Closing Date, made by US Borrower in favor of Gate (MO) QRS 16-95, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(‘G! !RS”).

6.5 Restricted Payments. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their Subsidiaries
to directly or indirectly declare, order, pay, make or set apart any sum for any Restricted Payment, except
that:

(a) [reserved];

{b) [reserved];

©) direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiaries of US Borrower may make Restricted
Payments to the entity which is the direct owner of the equity of such wholly-owned Subsidiary;
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(d) US Borrower may repurchase Stock of US Borrower owned by employees of US
Borrower and its Subsidiaries whose employment with US Borrower and its Subsidiaries has been
terminated, provided that such Restricted Payments shall not exceed $1,000,000 in any Fiscal Year or
$3,000,000 during the term of this Agreement (calculated from the Closing Date) in the aggregate and
provided that no Event of Default exists at the time of such Restricted Payment or would occur as a result
thereof:

(e} [reserved];
) [reserved];
(h)  [reserved];
@  [reserved];
() [reserved];
(k) [reserved]; and

() US Borrower may repurchase Stock of US Borrower owned by employees of US
Borrower and its Subsidiaries, provided that such Restricted Payments shall not exceed $50,000 in any
Fiscal Year in the aggregate.

6.6 Restriction on Fundamental Changes. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit
their Subsidiaries to directly or indirectly: (a)amend, modify or waive any term or provision of its
organizational documents in a manner adverse to the Agent or Lenders, including its articles of
incorporation, articles or memorandum of association, unaminous shareholder declarations, certificates of
designations pertaining to preferred stock, by-laws, partnership agreement or operating agreement in any
manner adverse to the Agent or Lenders unless required by law; (b) enter into any transaction of merger,
amalgamation or consolidation except, upon not less than five (5) Business Days prior written notice to
Agent, any wholly-owned Subsidiary of US Borrower may be merged or amalgamated with or into either
Borrower (provided that such Borrower is the surviving entity) or any other wholly-owned Subsidiary of
US Borrower (provided that, in the case of any such merger or amalgamation of any US Subsidiary with
or into a Foreign Subsidiary, the US Subsidiary is the surviving entity); (c) liquidate, wind-up or dissolve
itself (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution); (d) subject to Section 6.3, acquire by purchase or
otherwise all or any substantial part of the Stock, business or assets of any other Person; or (e} in the case
of any Canadian Loan Party, change the location of any of its personal property, or its chief executive
office, registered office or domicile (within the meaning of the Civil Code of Quebec), in each case to a
new location unless Borrower Representative provides at least ten (10) Business Days prior written notice
to Agent in order to allow Agent an opportunity to perfect its liens with respect to such new location.

6.7 Disposal of Assets or Subsidiary Stock. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit
their Subsidiaries to directly or indirectly convey, sell, license, lease, sublease, transfer or otherwise
dispose of, or grant any Person an option to acquire, in one transaction or a series of related transactions,
any of its property (including Intellectual Property), business or assets, whether now owned or hereafter
acquired, except for (a) sales of inventory to customers in the ordinary course of business and dispositions
of obsolete equipment not used or useful in the business; (b) any disposition of assets as a consequence of
any loss, damage, destruction or other casualty or any condemnation or taking of such assets by eminent
domain proceedings; (c) sales or dispositions of Cash Equivalents for not less than fair market value
thereof and in return for cash or Cash Equivalents; (d) sales or discounts of overdue Accounts in the
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ordinary course of business; (e) sales or other dispositions of assets by any US Loan Party to any other
US Loan Party or by and Canadian Loan Party to any other Loan Party; (f) (A) one or more Asset
Dispositions of Stock in or assets of PRACS Institute Miami, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,
(B) one or more Asset Dispositions of Stock in or assets of PRACS Institute San Antonio, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, and (C) other Asset Dispositions by US Borrower and its
Subsidiaries the aggregate fair market value of assets sold or otherwise disposed of do not exceed
$6,000,000 for all such Asset Dispositions under this clause (C) and, in the case of each of the foregoing
clauses (A), (B) and (C), the terms of which are disclosed in a written notice by US Borrower to Agent
and Lenders setting forth such terms of such Asset Disposition in detail reasonably acceptable to Agent if
all of the following conditions are met: (i) the Requisite Lenders approve such Asset Disposition in
writing (it being understood and agreed that any Lender that does not expressly object to such Asset
Disposition in a written notice delivered to US Borrower and Agent within ten (10) days upon delivery of
such notice by US Borrower shall have be deemed to have approved such Asset Disposition) and (ii) the
Net Proceeds of such Asset Disposition are applied as required by Section 2.5(c)(ii) and (g) any other
Asset Dispositions by US Borrower and its Subsidiaries (excluding sales of Accounts and Stock of any of
US Borrower’s Subsidiaries) if all of the following conditions are met: (i) the aggregate fair market value
of assets sold or otherwise disposed of in any Fiscal Year does not exceed $1,000,000; (ii) the
consideration received is at least equal to the fair market value of such assets (as determined by the board
of directors of the applicable Loan Party in good faith); (iii) at least 85% of the consideration received is
cash; (iv) the Net Proceeds of such Asset Disposition are applied as required by Section 2.5(c)(i); and (v)
no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result from such Asset Disposition.

6.8 Transactions with Affiliates. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their
Subsidiaries to directly or indirectly enter into or permit to exist any transaction (including the purchase,
sale, license, lease or exchange of any property (including Intellectual Property or the rendering of any
management, consulting, investment banking, advisory or other similar services) with any Affiliate or
with any director, officer or employee of any Loan Party, except (a) as set forth on Schedule 6.8,
(b) transactions in the ordinary course of and pursuant to the reasonable requirements of the business of
any such Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries and upon fair and reasonable terms which (except in the
case of transactions among Domestic Loan Parties) are no less favorable to any such Loan Party or any of
its Subsidiaries than would be obtained in a comparable arm’s length transaction with a Person that is not
an Affiliate, and which are disclosed to Agent in advance if they involve payments, receipts or transfers in
excess of $200,000 in value in a single transaction or series of related transactions, (¢) payment of
reasonable compensation to officers and employees for services actually rendered to any such Loan Party
or any of its Subsidiaries; (d) payment of director’s fees not to exceed $200,000 in the aggregate for any
Fiscal Year of US Borrower; (e) loans to employees permitted in Section 6.3, (f) reimbursement of
employee travel and lodging costs incurred in the ordinary course of business, (g) the guaranty of the
Obligations by Loan Parties, (h) employment agreements, equity incentive agreements and other
employee and management arrangements in the ordinary course of business which are fully disclosed to
the Agent, and (i) payments permitted by Section 6.5; provided that no Event of Default has occurred and
is continuing at the time of any such Restricted Payment or would result after giving effect thereto;
provided further that it is expressly agreed that any such management fees not permitted to be so paid
shall be accrued and paid when such Event of Default has been cured or waived.

6.9 Conduct of Business. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their Subsidiaries
to directly or indirectly engage in any business other than businesses of the type described on Schedule
6.9 and other businesses commonly engaged in by Contract Research Organizations, study sites,
monitors, investigational review boards, or investigators.

6.10  [Reserved].
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6.11  Fiscal Year. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their Subsidiaries to change
their Fiscal Year, except with prior notice to and approval of Agent.

6.12  Press Release; Public Offering Materials. No Loan Party shall cause or permit the issuance of
any press releases or other similar public disclosure, using the name of Freeport or its affiliates or
referring to this Agreement, without giving Freeport a reasonable opportunity to review and comment
thereon prior to issuance.

6.13  Subsidiaries. Except as provided in Section 6.6, the Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or
permit their Subsidiaries to directly or indirectly establish, create or acquire any new Subsidiary.

6.14  Deposit Accounts. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their Subsidiaries to
establish any new deposit accounts (other than petty cash (not to exceed $100,000 in the aggregate),
payroll accounts which are zero balance accounts used solely for payroll purpose, employee benefits and
other similar trust accounts) without prior written notice to Agent and unless Agent and the bank at which
the account is to be opened enter into a Control Agreement in form and substance reasonably acceptable
to Agent.

6.15 ERISA. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit any ERISA Affiliate to, cause or
permit to occur an ERISA Event to the extent such ERISA Event would reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

6.16. Sale-Leasebacks. The Loan Parties shall not and shall not cause or permit their Subsidiaries to
engage in any sale-leaseback, synthetic lease or similar transaction.

6.17  Prepayments of Other Indebtedness. The Loan Parties shall not, directly or indirectly, make any
payment with respect to any Subordinated Debt, except intercompany Indebtedness reflecting amounts
owing to either Borrower or payments with respect to other Subordinated Debt permitted pursuant to the
terms of the applicable subordination agreements or provisions or Section 6.1(k) of this Agreement.

6.18  [Reserved].
6.19 [Reserved].

6.20  Leases. No Loan Party shall: (a) do or omit to do any act having the affect of terminating or
cancelling any of the Mortgaged Leases or of waiving, releasing, reducing or abating any material rights
or remedies of any Loan Parties or obligations of any other party in connection therewith; or (b) (i)
materially alter, vary or amend, or (ii) assign or encumber any of the Mortgaged Leases.

SECTION 7.
FINANCIAL COVENANTS/REPORTING

Each Borrower covenants and agrees that from and after the date hereof until the Termination
Date, such Borrower shall perform and comply with, and shall cause each of the other Loan Parties to
perform and comply with, all covenants in this Section 7 applicable to each such Person.
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7.1 Financial Covenants.

(a) Capital Expenditure Limits. Borrowers and their Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis
shall not make Capital Expenditures during the following periods that exceed in the aggregate the
amounts set forth opposite each of such periods (the “Capex Limit”):

Period Maximum Capital Expenditures per Period
From the Closing Date through and including $4,000,000
December 31, 2012

Fiscal Year 2013 and each Fiscal Year thereafter  $7,000,000

provided, however, that commencing with Fiscal Year 2013, the Capex Limit referenced above will be
increased in any period by the positive amount equal to the lesser of (i) 50% of the Capex Limit for the
immediately prior period, and (ii) the amount (if any), equal to the difference obtained by taking the
Capex Limit minus the actual amount of any Capital Expenditures expended during such prior period (the
“Carry Qver Amount™), and for purposes of measuting compliance herewith, the Carry Over Amount
shall be deemed to be the last amount spent on Capital Expenditures in that succeeding period.

(b) Minimum EBITDA. US Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis shall
have, at the end of each Fiscal Quarter set forth below, EBITDA for the 12-Fiscal Month period then
ended of not less than the following:

Period EBITDA
December 31, 2012 Determined Minimum
EBITDA Level
March 31, 2013 Determined Minimum
EBITDA Level
June 30, 2013 $10,000,000
September 30, 2013 $10,250,000
December 31, 2013 $10,500,000
March 31, 2014 $10,750,000
June 30, 2014 $11,000,000
September 30, 2014 $11,250,000
" December 31, 2014 $11,500,000
March 31, 2015 $11,750,000
June 30, 2015 $12,000,000

(<) Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio. Borrowers and their Subsidiaries shall have on
a consolidated basis at the end of each Fiscal Quarter, commencing with the Fiscal Quarter ending June
30, 2013, a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for the 12-Fiscal Month period then ended of not less than 1.00
to 1.00.

(d) Intentionally Omitted.

(e) Maximum I everage Ratic. US Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis
shall have, at the end of each Fiscal Quarter set forth below, a Leverage Ratio as of the last day of such
Fiscal Quarter and for the 12-Fiscal Month period then ended, of not more than the following:
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7.00 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter ending June 30, 2013;

6.75 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter ending September 30, 2013;
6.50 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter ending December 31, 2013;
6.25 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter ending March 31, 2014;
6.00 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter ending June 30, 2014;

5.75 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter ending September 30, 2014;
5.50 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter ending December 31, 2014;
5.25 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter ending March 31, 2015;
5.00 to 1.00 for the Fiscal Quarter ending June 30, 2015;

® Minimum_ Liquidity. At all times during the period from and including the
Closing Date through and including June 30, 2013, US Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall have Liquidity
of not less than $2.500,000.

7.2 Financia] Statements and Other Reports. Each Borrower will maintain, and cause each of its
Subsidiaries to maintain, a system of accounting established and administered in accordance with sound
business practices to permit preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP (it being
understood that monthly Financial Statements are not required to have footnote disclosures). Each
Borrower will deliver each of the Financial Statements and other reports described below to Agent (and
each Lender in the case of the Financial Statements and other reports described in Sections (7.2)(a), (b),
(@), (e), (f), (h), (i), (§), (m) and (0)).

(a) Monthly Financials. As soon as available and in any event within thirty (30) days after
the end of each Fiscal Month (including the last Fiscal Month of US Borrower’s Fiscal Year),
commencing with the Fiscal Month ending July 31, 2012, Borrower Representative will deliver (1) the
consolidated and consolidating balance sheets of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries, as at the end of such
month, the related consolidated and consolidating statements of income and cash flow and the related
consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity for such Fiscal Month and for the period from the
beginning of the then current Fiscal Year of US Borrower to the end of such Fiscal Month, (2) a report
setting forth in comparative form the corresponding figures for the correspending periods of the previous
Fiscal Year and the corresponding figures from the most recent Projections for the current Fiscal Year
delivered pursuant to Section 7.2(h) and (3) a schedule of the outstanding Indebtedness for borrowed
money of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries describing in reasonable detail each such debt issue or loan

outstanding and the principal amount and amount of accrued and unpaid interest with respect to each such
debt issue or loan.

(b) Year-End Financials. As soon as available and in any event within one hundred and
twenty (120) days (or one hundred and fifty (150) days after the Fiscal Year ending on December 31,
2012) after the end of each Fiscal Year of US Borrower, Borrower Representative will deliver (1) the
consolidated balance sheets of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries, as at the end of such year, and the
related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flow for such Fiscal Year, (2) a
schedule of the outstanding Indebtedness for borrowed money of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries
describing in reasonable detail each such debt issue or loan outstanding and the principal amount and
amount of accrued and unpaid interest with respect to each such debt issue or loan and (3) a report with
respect to the consolidated Financial Statements from a firm of Certified Public Accountants selected by
such Borrower and reasonably acceptable to Agent, which report shall be prepared in accordance with
Statement of Auditing Standards No. 58 (the “Statement”) “Reports on Audited Financial Statements”
and such report shall be “Unqualified” (as such term is defined in such Statement).
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(c) Accountants” Reports. Promptly upon receipt thereof, Borrower Representative will
deliver copies of all significant reports submitted by US Borrower’s firm of certified public accountants
in connection with each annual, interim or special audit or review of any type of the Financial Statements
or related internal control systems of US Borrower or its Subsidiaries made by such accountants,

including any comment letter submitted by such accountants to management in connection with their
services.

(d) Borrowing Base Certificates. As soon as available and in any event within fifteen (15)
Business Days after the end of each Fiscal Month beginning with the Fiscal Month ending June 30, 2013,
and from time to time upon the request of Agent, Borrower Representative will deliver a Borrowing Base

Certificate (in substantially the same form as Exhibit 7.2(d), the “Borrowing Base Certificate™) as at the
last day of such pertod.

(&) Management Report. Together with each delivery of Financial Statements of Borrowers
pursuant to Sections 7.2(a) and (b), Borrower Representative will deliver a management report
(1) describing the operations and financial condition of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the Fiscal
Month then ended and the portion of the current Fiscal Year then elapsed (or for the Fiscal Year then
ended in the case of year-end financials) and (2) discussing the reasons for any significant variations. The
information above shall be presented in reasonable detail and shall be certified by the chief financial
officer of US Borrower to the effect that such information fairly presents in all material respects the
results of operations and financial condition of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at the dates and for
the periods indicated.

® Intentionally Qmitted.

(& Intentionally Omitted.

(h) Projections. As soon as available and approved by US Borrower’s Board of Managers
and in any event no later than thirty (30) days after the last day of each of US Borrower’s Fiscal Years,
Borrower Representative will deliver Projections of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the forthcoming
Fiscal Year month by month.

(i) SEC Filings and Press Releases. Promptly upon their becoming available, Borrower
Representative will deliver copies of (1) all Financial Statements, reports, notices and proxy statements,
material reports and material notices sent or made available by either Borrower, or any of their
Subsidiaries to their Stockholders in general, (2) all regular and periodic reports and all registration
statements and prospectuses, if any, filed by either Borrower, or any of their Subsidiaries with any
securities exchange or with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Ontario Securities
Commission, any other Governmental Authority or any private regulatory authority, and (3) all material
press releases and other statements made available by either Borrower, or any of their respective
Subsidiaries to the public concerning developments in the business of any such Person.

()] Events of Default, Etc. Promptly upon any officer of any Loan Party obtaining
knowledge of any of the following events or conditions, Borrower Representative shall deliver copies of
all notices given or received by either Borrower or any of their Subsidiaries with respect to any such event
or condition and a certificate of Borrower Representative’s chief executive officer specifying the nature
and period of existence of such event or condition and what action either Borrower or any of their
Subsidiaries has taken, is taking and proposes to take with respect thereto: (1) any condition or event that
constitutes, or which could reasonably be expected to result in the occurrence of, an Event of Default or
Default; (2) any notice that any Person has given to US Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any other
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action taken with respect to a claimed default or event or condition of the type referred to in Section
8.1(b); or (3) any event or condition that could reasonably be expected to result in any Material Adverse
Effect. ‘

(k) Litigation. Promptly upon any officer of any Loan Party obtaining knowledge of (1) the
institution of any action, charge, claim, demand, suit, proceeding, petition, governmental investigation
(excluding any routine FDA inspection of any property or facility of any Loan Party), tax audit or
arbitration now pending or, to the best knowledge of such Loan Party, threatened against or affecting any
Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries or any property of any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries
(“Litigation™) not previously disclosed by Borrowers to Agent or (2) any material development in any
action, suit, proceeding, governmental investigation or arbitration at any time pending against or affecting
any Loan Party or any property of any Loan Party which, in each case, would reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect, Borrowers will promptly give notice thereof to Agent and provide such
other information as may be reasonably available to it to enable Agent and their counsel to evaluate such
matter.

)] Notice of Corporate and other Changes. Borrower Representative on behalf of each
Borrower shall provide prompt written notice of (1) all jurisdictions in which a Loan Party becomes
qualified after the Closing Date to transact business, (2) any change after the Closing Date in the
authorized and issued Stock of any Loan Party (other than the issuance of Stock by US Borrower to any
officers, directors or employees of any Loan Party) or any material amendment to their articles or
certificate of incorporation, articles or memorandum of association, by-laws, partnership agreement or
other organizational documents, (3) any Subsidiary created or acquired by any Loan Party or any of its
Subsidiaries after the Closing Date, such notice, in each case, to identify the applicable jurisdictions,
capital ‘structures or Subsidiaries, as applicable, (4) any other event that occurs after the Closing Date
which would cause any of the representations and warranties in Section 4 of this Agreement or in any
other Loan Document to be untrue or misleading in any material respect and (5) any Asset Disposition
that may result in a mandatory prepayment pursuant to Section 2.5(c). The Loan Parties shall not cause or
permit any issuer of Stock constituting Canadian PPSL Collateral to change the jurisdiction in which its
registered or head office is located or any location where material Canadian PPSL Collateral is located
without at least fifteen (15) Business Days prior written notice to Agent. The foregoing notice
requirement shall not be construed to constitute consent by any of the Lenders to any transaction referred
to above which is not expressly permitted by the terms of this Agreement.

(m)  Revenue by Customer. Together with each delivery of Financial Statements pursuant to
Section 7.2(a) for the last month of each Fiscal Quarter, Borrower Representative will deliver a report
prepared by management showing revenue by customer for the top ten customers of US Borrower and its
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

(n) Other Information. With reasonable promptness, Borrower Representative will deliver
such other information and data with respect to any Loan Party or any Subsidiary of any Loan Party as
from time to time may be reasonably requested by Agent.

(0) Compliance Excess Cash Flow Certificate. Together -with each delivery of Financial
Statements pursuant to Section 7.2(a) for the last month of each Fiscal Quarter and Section 7.2(b),
Borrower Representative will deliver a fully and properly completed Compliance and Excess Cash Flow
Certificate (in substantially the same form as Annex F (the “Compliance and Excess Cash Flow
Certificate™) signed by US Borrower’s chief executive officer or chief financial officer; provided that the
Excess Cash Flow portion of such certificate is only required to be delivered annually; provided that
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Schedule 2 of the Compliance and Excess Cash Flow Certificate shall be delivered only in connection
with the Financial Statements of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries delivered pursuant to Section 7.2(b).

(p) Taxes. Borrower Representative shall provide prompt written notice of (i) the execution
or filing with the IRS, the Canada Revenue Agency, or any other Governmental Authority of any
agreement or other document extending, or having the effect of extending, the period for assessment or
collection of any taxes or other Charges by any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries and (ii) any
agreement by any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries or request directed to any Loan Party or any of its
Subsidiaries to make any adjustment under JRC Section 481(a), by reason of a change in accounting
method or otherwise, in each case which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(q) Governmental Authority Communications. Borrower Representative shall promptly
forward to Agent a copy of each formal or informal notice or other written information or communication

from a Governmental Authority (including, without limitation, copies of all FDA Form 483 inspection
reports, and FDA warning letters and untitled letters received by such Loan Party or any of its
Subsidiaries) relating to any of the Loan Parties bioanalytical or other laboratories or facilities.

7.3 Accounting Terms; Utilization of GAAP for Purposes of Calculations Under Agreement. For

purposes of this Agreement, all accounting terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings
assigned to such terms in conformity with GAAP. Financial statements and other information furnished
to Agent pursuant to Section 7.2 or any other section (unless specifically indicated otherwise) shall be
prepared in accordance with GAAP as in effect at the time of such preparation, and shall present fairly in
all material respects the financial condition and results of operation of the Loan Parties; provided that no
Accounting Change shall affect financial covenants, standards or terms in this Agreement; provided
further that Borrower Representative shall prepare footnotes to the Financial Statements required to be
delivered hereunder that show the differences between the Financial Statements delivered (which reflect
such Accounting Changes) and the basis for calculating financial covenant compliance (without reflecting
such Accounting Changes). All such adjustments described in clause (c) of the definition of the term
Accounting Changes resulting from expenditures made subsequent to the Closing Date (including
capitalization of costs and expenses or payment of pre-Closing Date liabilities) shall be treated as
expenses in the period the expenditures are made. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that any
Accounting Change shall occur and such change results in a change in the method of calculation of the
financial covenants, standards or terms in this Agreement, then Borrower Representative and Agent agree
to negotiate in good faith in order to amend such provisions of this Agreement so as to equitably reflect
such Accounting Changes with the desired result that the criteria for evaluating the financial condition of
the Loan Parties shall be the same after such Accounting Changes as if such Accounting Changes had not
been made. Until such time as such an amendment shall have been executed and delivered by each
Borrower, Agent and the Requisite Lenders, all financial covenants, standards and terms in this
Agreement shall continue to be calculated or construed as if such Accounting Changes had not occurred.

SECTION 8.
DEFAULT, RIGHTS AND REMEDIES
8.1 Event of Default. “Event of Default” shall mean the occurrence or existence of any one or more
of the following:

(a) Payment. (1) Failure to pay any instaliment or other payment of principal of any Loan
when due, or to timely repay Revolving Loans to reduce their balance to the maximum amount of
Revolving Loans then permitted to be outstanding in accordance with Section 2.1(c)(i) or to reimburse
any L/C Issuer for any payment made by such L/C Issuer under or in respect of any Letter of Credit when
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due or (2) failure to pay, within three (3) days after the due date, any interest or Fees on any Loan or
within ten (10) days after request for payment thereof, any other amount due under this Agreement or any
of the other Loan Documents; or

(b)  Default in Other Agreements. (1) Any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries fails to pay
when due or within any applicable grace period any principal or interest on Indebtedness {other than the
Loans) or any Contingent Obligations or (2) breach or default of any Loan Paity or any of its
Subsidiaries, or the occurrence of any condition or event, with respect to any Indebtedness (other than the
Loans) or any Contingent Obligations, if the effect of such breach, default or occurrence is to cause or to
permit the holder or holders then to cause, Indebtedness and/or Contingent Obligations having an
individual principal amount in excess of $1,750,000 or having an aggregate principal amount in excess of
$1,750,000 to become or be declared due prior to their stated maturity; or

(©) Breach of Certain Provisions. Failure of any Loan Party to perform or comply with any
term or condition contained in (1) the Fee Letter, (2) Section 7.2 which failure continues for more than
five (5) Business Days after the date specified for performance or compliance with such term or
condition, (3) that portion of Section 5.2 relating to the Loan Parties’ obligation to maintain insurance, or
(4) Section 5.3, Section 5.4, Section 5.12, Section 6 or Section 7.1; or

(d) Breach of Warranty. Any representation, warranty, certification or other statement made
by any Loan Party in any Loan Document or in any statement or certificate at any time given by such
Person in writing pursuant or in connection with any Loan Document is false in any material respect
{(without duplication of materiality qualifiers contained therein) on the date made; or

(e) Other Defaults Under Loan Documents. Any Loan Party defaults in the performance of
or compliance with any term contained in this Agreement or the other Loan Documents (other than
occurrences described in other provisions of this Section 8.1 for which a different grace or cure period is
specified, or for which no cure period is specified and which constitute immediate Events of Default) and
such default is not remedied or waived within thirty (30) days after the earlier of (1) receipt by either
Borrower of notice from Agent or Requisite Lenders of such default or (2) knowledge of either Borrower
or any other Loan Party of such default; or

(D Involuntary Bankruptcy; Appointment of Receiver, Etc. (1) A court enters a decree or
order for relief with respect to any Loan Party in an involuntary case or proceeding under any Insolvency

Law, which decree or order is not stayed or other similar relief is not granted under such Insolvency Law:
or (2) the continuance of any of the following events for sixty (60) days unless dismissed, bonded or
discharged: (a) an involuntary case or proceeding (including, without limitation, the filing of a notice of
intention in respect thereof) is commenced against any Loan Party, under any applicable Insolvency Law
now or hereafter in effect; or (b) a decree or order of a court for the appointment of a receiver, interim
receiver, receiver and manager, liquidator, administrator, sequestrator, trustee, custodian or other officer
having similar powers over any Loan Party, or over all or a substantial part of its property, is entered; or
(c) a receiver, interim receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or other custodian is appointed without the
consent of a Loan Party, for all or a substantial part of the property of the Loan Party; or

() Voluntary Bankruptcy: Appointment of Receiver, Etc. (1) any Loan Party commences a
voluntary case or proceeding under any Insolvency Law, or consents to the entry of an order for relief in

an involuntary case or proceeding or to the conversion of an involuntary case or proceeding to a voluntary
case or proceeding under any such law or consents to the appointment of or taking possession by a
receiver, interim receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or other custodian for all or a substantial part of
its property; or (2) any Loan Party makes any assignment for the benefit of creditors; or (3) the Board of
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Directors of any Loan Party or the Stockholders of any Loan Party adopts any resolution or otherwise
authorizes action to approve any of the actions referred to in this Section 8.1(g); or

(h) Judgment and Attachments. Any money judgment, writ or warrant of attachment, or
similar process (other than those described elsewhere in this Section 8.1) involving an amount in the
aggregate at any time in excess of $1,000,000 (in either case to the extent not adequately covered by
insurance in Agent’s sole discretion as to which the insurance company has not denied coverage) is
entered or filed against one or more of the Loan Parties or any of their respective assets and remains
undischarged, unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of thirty (30) days or in any event later than
five (5) Business Days prior to the date of any proposed sale thereunder; or

() Dissolution. Any order, judgment or decree is entered against any Loan Party decreeing
the dissolution of such Loan Party and such order remains undischarged or unstayed for a period in excess
of fifteen (15) days; or

'§)] Solvency. The Loan Parties taken as a whole cease to be Solvent; any Loan Party fails
generally to pay iis debts as they become due or admits in writing its present or prospective inability to
pay its debts as they become due; or

k) Invalidity of L.oan Documents. Any of the Loan Documents for any reason, other than a
partial or full release in accordance with the terms thereof, ceases to be in full force and effect or is

declared to be null and void, or any Loan Party denies that it has any further liability under any Loan
Documents to which it is party, or gives notice to such effect; or

1)) Change of Control. A Change of Control occurs; or

{m) Subordinated Indebtedness. The failure of any Loan Party or any creditor of either
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to comply with the terms of any subordination or intercreditor
agreement applicable to any Subordinated Debt,

8.2 Suspension or Termination of Commitments. Upon the occurrence and continuance of any
Default or Event of Default, Agent may, and at the request of Requisite Revolving Lenders Agent shall,
without notice or demand, immediately suspend or terminate all or any portion of Revolving Lenders’
obligations to make additional Revolving Credit Advances or issue or cause to be issued Letters of Credit
under the Revolving Loan Commitment; provided that, in the case of a Default, if the subject condition or
event is waived by Requisite Revolving Lenders or cured within any applicable grace or cure period, the
Revolving Loan Commitment shall be reinstated.

83 Acceleration and other Remedies.

(a) Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default described in Sections 8.1(f) or 8.1(g), the
Revolving Loan Commitments shall be immediately terminated and all of the Obligations, including the
Revolving Loans, shall automatically become immediately due and payable, without presentment,
demand, protest, notice of intent to accelerate, notice of acceleration or other requirements of any kind, all
of which are hereby expressly waived by each Borrower.

(b) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any other Event of Default, Agent
may, and at the request of the Requisite US Lenders, Agent shall, by written notice to Borrower
Representative (i) reduce the aggregate amount of the Revolving Loan Commitments from time to time,
(ii) declare all or any portion of the US Loans and all or any portion of the other US Obligations to be,
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and the same shall forthwith become, immediately due and payable together with accrued interest thereon,
(iii) terminate all or any portion of the obligations of Agent, L/C Issuers and Revolving Lenders to make
Revolving Credit Advances and issue Letters of Credit, (iv) demand that US Borrower immediately
deliver to Agent either (A) cash for the benefit of L/C Issuers (and US Borrower shall then immediately
so deliver) in an amount equal to 105% of the aggregate outstanding Letter of Credit Obligations or (B)
an Acceptable Standby Letter of Credit for the benefit of the L/C Issuers (and US Borrower shall then
immediately so deliver), and (v) exercise any other remedies or take any other actions which may be
available under the Loan Documents or applicable law. US Borrower hereby grants to Agent, for the
benefit of L/C Issuers and each Lender with a participation in any Letters of Credit then outstanding, a
security interest in such cash collateral or Acceptable Standby Letter of Credit to secure all of the Letter
of Credit Obligations. Any such cash collateral or Acceptable Standby Letter of Credit shall be made
available by Agent to L/C Issuers to reimburse L/C Issuers for payments of drafts drawn under such
Letters of Credit and any Fees, Charges and expenses of L/C Issuers with respect to such Letters of Credit
and the unused portion thereof, after all such Letters of Credit shall have cxpired or been fully drawn
upon, shall be applied to pay any other Obligations. After all such Letters of Credit shall have expired or
been fully drawn upon and the Termination Date shall have occurred, the balance, if any, of such cash
collateral or Acceptable Standby Letter of Credit shall be (subject to any rights of third parties and except
as otherwise directed by a court of competent jurisdiction) returned to US Borrower. US Borrower shali
from time to time execute and deliver to Agent such further documents and instruments as Agent may
reasonably request with respect to such cash collateral.

(c) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Defanlt (other than any
Event of Default described in Section 8.1(f) or 8.1(g)), Agent may, and at the request of Agent or the
Requisite Canadian Term Lenders, Agent shall, by written notice to Borrower Representative (i) reduce
the aggregate amount of the Canadian Commitments from time to time, (ii) declare all or any portion of
the Canadian Term Loan C and all or any portion of the other Canadian Obligations to be, and the same
shall forthwith become, immediately due and payable together with accrued interest thereon, and
(1ii) exercise any other remedies which may be available under the Loan Documents or applicable law.

8.4 Performance by Agent. If any Loan Party shall fail to perform any covenant, duty or agreement
contained in any of the Loan Documents which failure constitutes an Event of Default, Agent may
perform or attempt to perform such covenant, duty or agreement on behalf of such Loan Party after the
expiration of any cure or grace periods set forth herein. In such event, such Loan Party shall, at the
request of Agent, promptly pay any amount reasonably expended by Agent in such performance or
attempted performance to Agent, together with interest thereon, subject to the fnterest Act (Canada), at the
highest rate of interest in efféct upon the occurrence of an Event of Default as specified in Section 2.2(d)
from the date of such expenditure until paid. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is expressly agreed that
Agent shall have no liability or responsibility for the performance of any obligation of any Loan Party
under this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

8.5 Application of Proceeds.

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, upon the
occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, each Borrower irrevocably waives the right
to direct the application of any and all payments at any time or times thereafter received by Agent from or
on behalf of such Borrower, and Agent shall have the continuing and exclusive right to apply and to
reapply any and all payments received at any time or times after the occurrence and during the
continuance of an Event of Default. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Agreement (including, without limitation, Section 2.1 and Section 2.5 hereof), all payments (including the
proceeds of any Asset Disposition or other sale of, or other realization upon, all or any part of the
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Collateral) received after acceleration (or after an Event of Default, at the direction of the Requisite
Revolving Lenders and the Requisite Lenders until the Requisite Revolving Lenders and the Requisite
Lenders rescind such direction) of the Obligations shall be applied as follows (subject to clauses (b) and
(c) of this Section 8.5): first, to all costs and expenses incurred by or owing to Agent and any Lender with
respect to this Agreement, the other Loan Documents or the Collateral on a pro rata basis of all such
outstanding amounts as of the date of such payment; second, to accrued and unpaid interest with respect
to the Revolving Credit Advances and Fees with respect to the Revolving Credit Advances (including any
interest which but for the provisions of any Insolvency Law, would have accrued on such amounts), on a
pro rata basis of all such outstanding amounts as of the date of such payment; third, to the principal
amount of the Revolving Credit Advances outstanding on a pro rata basis of all such outstanding amounts
as of the date of such payment; fourth, to cash collateralize outstanding Letters of Credit; [ifth, to accrued
and unpaid interest with respect to the US Term Loan A and Fees with respect to the US Term Loan A
(including any interest which but for the provisions of any Insolvency Law, would have accrued on such
amounts), on a pro rata basis of all such outstanding amounts as of the date of such payment; sixth, to the
principal amount of the US Term Loan A outstanding pro rata among all remaining US Scheduled
Installments thereof; seventh, to accrued and unpaid interest with respect to the US Term Loan B and Fees
with respect to the US Term Loan B (including any interest which but for the provisions of any
Insolvency Law, would have accrued on such amounts), on a pro rata basis of all such outstanding
amounts as of the date of such payment; eighth, to the principal amount of the US Term Loan B
outstanding, on a pro rata basis of all such outstanding amounts as of the date of such payment; rirnth, to
accrued and unpaid interest with respect to the US Term Loan C and Fees with respect to the US Term
Loan C (including any interest which but for the provisions of any Insolvency Law, would have accrued
on such amounts), on a pro rata basis of all such outstanding amounts as of the date of such payment;
tenth, to the principal amount of the US Term Loan C outstanding, on a pro rata basis of all such
outstanding amounts as of the date of such payment; eleventh, to accrued and unpaid interest with respect
to the Canadian Term Loan C and Fees with respect to the Canadian Term Loan C (including any interest
which but for the provisions of any Insolvency Law, would have accrued on such amounts), on a pro rata
basis of all such outstanding amounts as of the date of such payment; fwelfth, to the principal amount of
the Canadian Term Loan C outstanding, on a pro rata basis of all such outstanding amounts as of the date
of such payment; thirteenth, to any other obligations of Borrowers owing to Agent or any Lender under
the Loan Documents (other than obligations owed to any Lender under an Interest Rate Agreement), on a
pro rata basis of all such outstanding amounts as of the date of such payment; and JSourteenth, to
obligations owed to any Lender under an Interest Rate Agreement. Any balance remaining shall be
delivered to Borrowers or to whomever may be lawfully entitled to receive such balance or as a court of
competent jurisdiction may direct.

(b) Notwithstanding anything in Section 8.5(a) to the contrary, to the extent Agent receives
proceeds of (x) any assets of the Canadian Borrower, (y) any assets of any other Foreign Subsidiary (for
which it has been determined by Borrowers that a 956 Impact exists with respect to such Foreign
Subsidiary) or (z) voting equity interest in the Canadian Borrower or any other Foreign Subsidiary (for
which it has been determined by Borrowers that a 956 Impact exists with respect to such Foreign
Subsidiary) in excess of 65% of the outstanding voting equity interest in such Person, then in each such
case such proceeds shall be applied in accordance with Section 8.5(c). A “956 Impact” will be deemed to
exist to the extent the issuance of a guaranty by, grant of a Lien by, or pledge of greater than two-thirds of
the voting Stock of, a Foreign Subsidiary, would in the reasonable judgment of Borrowers result in
incremental income tax liability under Section 956 of the IRC, taking into account actual anticipated
repatriation of funds, foreign tax credits and other relevant factors. '

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement (including,
without limitation, Section 2.1 and Section 2.5 hereof), all payments (including the proceeds of any Asset
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Disposition or other sale of; or other realization upon, all or any part of the Collateral) received by or for
the account of Agent from or on behalf of the Canadian Borrower or a Foreign Subsidiary described in
Section 8.5(b)(y) or Collateral described in Section 8.5(b)(z) after and during the continuance of an Event
of Default shall be applied as follows: first, to all costs and expenses incurred by or owing to Agent and
any Canadian Term Lender with respect to this Agreement, the other Loan Documents or the Collateral;
second, to accrued and unpaid interest and Fees with respect to the Canadian Term Loan C (including any
interest which but for the provisions of any Insolvency Law, would have accrued on such amounts); third,
to the principal amount of the Canadian Term Loan C outstanding; and fourth, to payment of any other
amounts owing constituting Canadian Obligations. Any balance remaining shall be delivered to Canadian
Borrower or to whomever may be lawfully entitled to receive such balance or as a court of competent
Jurisdiction may direct; provided, that such remainder shall not be applied to US Obligations.

SECTION 9.
ASSIGNMENT AND PARTICIPATION

9.1 Assignment and Participations.

(a) Subject to the terms of this Section 9.1, any Lender may make an assignment to a
Qualified Assignee of, or sale of participations in, at any time or times, the Loan Documents, Loans,
Letter of Credit Obligations and any Revolving Loan Commitment or any portion thereof or interest
therein, including any Lender’s rights, title, interests, remedies, powers or duties thereunder. Any
assignment by a Lender shall: (i) require the consent of Agent (which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed with respect to a Qualified Assignee and which consent is not required, except as
provided in clause (vi) below, by an assignment between Lenders or from a Lender to an Affiliate of a
Lender or a Related Fund) and the execution of an assignment agreement (an “Assignment Agreement”
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 9.1 and otherwise in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to, and acknowledged by, Agent (which acknowledgment will be promptly delivered by
Agent); (ii) be conditioned on such assignee Lender representing to the assigning Lender and Agent and
the Borrowers that it is purchasing the applicable Loans to be assigned to it for its own account, for
imvestment purposes and not with a view to the distribution thereof; (iii) except with respect to any
assighment by a Lender to an Affiliate of such Lender or a Related Fund, after giving effect to any such
partial assignment, (A) the assignee Lender and its Affiliates shall have Revolving Loan Commitments or
Loans in an amount at least equal to $2,500,000 and the assigning Lender and its Affiliates shall have
retained Revolving Loan Commitments or Loans in an amount at least equal to $2,500,000 and (B) the
assignee Lender and its Affiliates and the assigning Lender and its Affiliates shall have the same Pro Rata
Share of the US Loans and Canadian Term Loan C (other than with respect to the Revolving Loans); (iv)
require a payment to Agent of an assignment fee of $3,500 (other than with respect to assignments from a
Lender to any of its Affiliates or Related Funds); (v) so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, require the consent of Borrower Representative in respect of any assignment of Revolving
Loans and Revolving Loan Commitments (which consent is not required for an assignment between
Lenders or from a Lender to an Affiliate or Related Fund of a Lender), which shall not be unreasonably
withheld, delayed or conditioned; and (vi) if such an assignment is to a Lender or to an Affiliate or a
Related Fund of a Lender who is a Defaulting Lender described in clause (a) or clause (b) or clause (d) of
the definition of Defaulting Lender, such assignment shall be subject to Agent’s prior written consent in
all instances, uniess in connection with such sale, such Defaulting Lender cures, or causes the cure of, its
Defaulting Lender status as contemplated in Section 9.6(e). Notwithstanding the above, Agent may in its
sole and absolute discretion permit any assignment by a Lender to a Person or Persons that are not
Qualified Assignees, subject to Borrower Representative’s consent rights as set forth above. In the case
of an assignment by a Lender that has become effective under this Section 9.1, (i) the assignee shall have,
to the extent of such assignment, the same rights, benefits and obligations as all other Lenders hereunder
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and (ii) the assigning Lender shall be relieved of its obligations hereunder with respect 1o its Revolving
Loan Commitments or assigned portion thereof and the Loans, Letter of Credit Obligations and other
interests assigned by it from and after the effective date of such assignment. Borrowers hereby
acknowledge and agree that any assignment shall give rise to a direct obligation of Borrowers to the
assignee and that the assignee shall be considered to be a “Lender.” In all instances, each Lender’s
liability to make Loans hereunder shall be several and not joint and shall be limited to such Lender’s Pro
Rata Share of the Revolving Loan Commitment. In the event Agent or any Lender assigns or otherwise
transfers all or any part of the Obligations, Agent or any such Lender shall so notify Borrowers and
Borrowers shall, upon the request of Agent or such Lender, execute new Notes in exchange for the Notes,
if any, being assigned. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 9.1(a), (a) any Lender
may at any time pledge the Obligations held by it and such Lender’s rights under this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents to a Federal Reserve Bank, (b) any Lender that is an investment fund may assign
the Obligations held by it and such Lender’s rights under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents
to another investment fund managed by the same invesiment advisor or pledge such Obligations and
rights to a trustee for the benefit of its investors and (c) any Lender may assign the Obligations to an
Affiliate of such Lender (including, without limitation, any Related Fund) or to a Person that is a Lender
prior to the date of such assignment. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, neither the Lenders nor any of their successors or assigns shall assign or transfer any interest
herein without obtaining a representation from such successor or assign that any such assignment or
transfer would not result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section
4975 of the IRC with respect to the Plans.

(b) Any participation by a Lender of all or any part of its Revolving Loan Commitments or
Loans shall be made with the understanding that all amounts payable by each Borrower hereunder shall
be determined as if that Lender had not sold such participation, and that the holder of any such
participation shall not be entitled to require such Lender to take or omit to take any action hereunder
except actions directly affecting (i) any reduction in the principal amount of, or interest rate or Fees
payable with respect to, any Loan in which such holder participates, (ii) any extension of the scheduled
amortization of the principal amount of any Loan in which such holder participates or the final maturity
date thereof, and (iii) any release of all or substantially all of the Collateral (other than in accordance with
the terms of this Agreement, the Collateral Documents or the other Loan Documents). Solely for
purposes of Sections 2.8, 2.9, 9.3 and 10.1, each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that a participation
shall give rise to a direct obligation of such Borrower to the participant and the participant shall be
considered to be a “Lender.” Except as set forth in the preceding sentence no Borrower or any other Loan
Party shall have any obligation or duty to any participant. Neither Agent nor any Lender (other than the
Lender selling a participation) shall have any duty to any participant and may continue to deal solely with
the Lender selling a participation as if no such sale had occurred. Each Lender having sold a participation
in any of its obligations, acting solely for this purpose as agent for the applicable Borrower, shail maintain
a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of such participants (and each change thereto,
whether by assignment or otherwise) and the rights, interests or obligations of such participants and in
any right to receive any payments hereunder (the “Participant Register™).

(©) Except as expressly provided in this Section 9.1, no Lender shall, as between the
applicable Borrower and that Lender, or Agent and that Lender, be relieved of any of its obligations
hereunder as a result of any sale, assignment, transfer or negotiation of, or granting of participation in, all
or any part of the Loans, the Notes or other Obligations owed to such Lender.

(d) Each Loan Party shall assist each Lender permitted to sell assignments or participations
under this Section 9.1 as required to enable the assigning or selling Lender to effect any such assignment
or participation, including the execution and delivery of any and all agreements, notes and other
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documents and instruments as shall be requested and the prompt preparation of informational materials
for, and the participation of management in meetings with, potential assignees or participants, all on a
timetable reasonably established by Agent in their sole discretion. Each Loan Party executing this
Agreement shall certify the correctness, completeness and accuracy of all descriptions of the Loan Parties
and their respective affairs contained in any selling materials provided by it and all other information
provided by it and included in such materials, except that any Projections delivered by Borrowers or
Borrower Representative shall only be certified by Borrower Representative as having been prepared by
Borrowers in compliance with the representations contained in Section 4.5. Agent shall maintain, on
behalf of the applicable Borrower, in its offices a “register” for recording the name, address, commitment
and Loans owing to each Lender. The entries in such register shall be conclusive evidence of the amounts
due and owing to each Lender in the absence of manifest error. Each Borrower, Agent and each Lender
may treat each Person whose name is recorded in such register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender
for all purposes of this Agreement. The register described herein shall be available for inspection by
Borrower Representative and any Lender, at any reasonable time upon reasonable prior notice.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, neither the Lenders nor any of
their successors or assigns shall assign or transfer any interest herein without obtaining a representation
from such successor or assign that any such assignment or transfer would not result in a non-exempt
prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the IRC with respect to the Plans.

(e) A Lender may furnish any information concerning Loan Parties in the possession of such
Lender from time to time to assignees and participants (including prospective assignees and participants);
provided that such Lender shall obtain from assignees or participants confidentiality covenants
substantially equivalent to those contained in Section 10.13.

® No Lender, without the prior written consent of Borrower Representative and Agent,
shall assign or sell participations in any portion of its Loan or Revolving Loan Commitments to a
potential Lender or participant, if, as of the date of the proposed assignment or sale, the assignee Lender
or participant would be subject to capital adequacy or similar requirements under Section 2.8(a),

increased costs or an inability to fund LIBOR Loans under Section 2.8(b), or withholding taxes in
accordance with Section 2.9.

9.2 Agent.

(a) Appointment. Each Lender hereby designates and appoints Freeport as Agent under this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and each Lender hereby irrevocably authorizes Agent to
execute and deliver the Collateral Documents and any subordination, intercreditor and post-closing
agreements, and to take such action or to refrain from taking such action, in each case on its behalf under
the provisions of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and to exercise such powers as are set
forth herein or therein, together with such other powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Agent is
authorized and empowered to amend, modify, or waive any provisions of this' Agreement or the other
LoanDocuments on behalf of Lenders subject to the requirement that certain of Lenders® consent be
obtained in certain instances as provided in this Section 9.2 and Section 10.2. The provisions of this
Section 9.2 are solely for the benefit of Agent, Lenders and L/C Issuers and neither Borrowers nor any
other Loan Party shall have any rights as a third party beneficiary of any of the provisions hereof. In
performing its functions and duties under this Agreement, Agent shall act solely as agent of Lenders and
does not assume and shall not be deemed to have assumed any obligation toward or relationship of
agency or trust with or for Borrowers or any other Loan Party. Agent may perform any of its duties
hereunder, or under the Loan Documents, by or through its agents or employees. [Without limiting any of
the foregoing provisions in favor of Agent, for the purposes of holding any security granted by any Loan
Party pursuant to the laws of the Province of Quebec, including any deed of hypothec, debenture, bond or
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other title of indebtedness and debenture or bond pledge agreements, Agent is hereby appointed to act as
the Person holding the power of attorney (fondé de pouvoir) pursuant to article 2692 of the Civil Code of
Quebec to act on behalf of each present and future Lender. Each party hereto agrees that, notwithstanding
Section 32 of an Act respecting the Special Powers of Legal Persons (Quebec), Agent may, as the Person
holding the power of attorney of the applicable Lenders, acquire and or be the pledgee of any debentures,
bonds or other titles of indebtedness secured by any hypothec granted by any Loan Party to Agent
pursuant to the laws of the Province of Quebec.]

(b) Nature of Duties. The duties of Agent shall be mechanical and administrative in nature.
No Agent shall have by reason of this Agreement a fiduciary relationship in respect of any Lender.
Nothing in this Agreement or any of the Loan Documents, express or implied, is intended to or shall be
construed to impose upon Agent any obligations in respect of this Agreement or any of the Loan
Documents except as expressly set forth herein or therein. Each Lender shall make its own independent
investigation of the financial condition and affairs of each Loan Party in connection with the extension of
credit hereunder and shall make its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of each Loan Party, and no
Agent shall have any duty or responsibility, either initially or on a continuing basis, to provide any Lender
with any credit or other information with respect thereto (other than as expressly required herein). If
Agent seeks the consent or approval of any Lenders to the taking or refraining from taking any action
hereunder, then Agent shall send notice thereof to each Lender. Agent shall promptly notify each Lender

any time that the Appropriate Category of Lenders have instructed Agent to act or refrain from acting
pursuant hereto.

(c) Rights, Exculpation. Etc. Neither Agent nor any of its officers, directors, employees or
agents shall be liable to any Lender for any action taken or omitted by them hereunder or under any of the
Loan Documents, or in connection herewith or therewith, except that an Agent shall be liable to the extent
of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a final non-appealable order by a
court of competent jurisdiction, No Agent shall be liable for any apportionment or distribution of
payments made by it in good faith and if any such apportionment or distribution is subsequently
determined to have been made in error the sole recourse of any Lender to whom payment was due but not
made, shall be to recover from other Lenders any payment in excess of the amount to which they are
determined to be entitled (and such other Lenders hereby agree to return to such Lender any such
erroncous payments received by them). In no event shall Agent be liable for punitive, special,
consequential, incidental, exemplary or other similar damages. Tn performing its functions and duties
hereunder, Agent shall exercise the same care which it would in dealing with loans for its own account,
but neither Agent nor any of its agents or representatives shall be responsible to any Lender for any
recitals, statements, representations or warranties herein or for the execution, effectiveness, genuineness,
validity, enforceability, collectibility, or sufficiency of this Agreement or any of the Loan Documents or
the transactions contemplated thereby, or for the financial condition of any Loan Party. No Agent shall
be required to make any inquiry concerning either the performance or observance of any of the terms,
provisions or conditions of this Agreement or any of the Loan Documents or the financial condition of
any Loan Party, or the existence or possible existence of any Default or Event of Defauit. Agent may at
any time request instructions from the Appropriate Category of Lenders or all affected Lenders with
respect to any actions or approvals which by the terms of this Agreement or of any of the Loan
Documents Agent is permitted or required to take or to grant. If such instructions are promptly requested,
Agent shall be absolutely entitled to refrain from taking any action or to withhold any approval and shall
not be under any liability whatsoever to any Person for refraining from any action or withholding any
approval under any of the Loan Documents until it shall have received such instructions from the
Appropriate Category of Lenders as shall be prescribed by this Agreement. Without limiting the
foregoing, no Lender shall have any right of action whatsoever against Agent as a result of Agent acting
or refraining from acting under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents in accordance with
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the instructions of the Appropriate Category of Lenders; and, notwithstanding the instructions of the
Appropriate Category of Lenders, no Agent shall have obligation to take any action if it believes, in good
faith, that such action is deemed to be illegal by Agent or exposes Agent to any liability for which it has
not received satisfactory indemnification in accordance with Section 9.2(e). ‘

(d) Reliance. Agent shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon any
written or oral notices, statements, certificates, orders or other documents or any telephone message or
other communication (including any writing, telex, fax or telegram) believed by it in good faith to be
genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person, and with respect to all
matters pertaining to this Agreement or any of the Loan Documents and its duties hereunder or
thereunder. Agent shall be entitied to rely upon the advice of legal counsel, independent accountants, and
other experts selected by Agent in its sole discretion. ’

(e) Indemnification. Lenders will reimburse and indemnify Agent for and against any and all
liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses (including,
without limitation, legal fees and expenses), advances or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever
which may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against Agent in its capacity as such in any way
relating to or arising out of this Agreement or any of the Loan Documents or any action taken or omitted
by Agent in its capacity as such under this Agreement or any of the Loan Documents, in proportion to
each Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the Revolving Loan Commitments and Loans, but only to the extent that
any of the foregoing is not reimbursed by Borrowers; provided, however, that no Lender shall be liable
for any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs,
expenses, advances or disbursements to the extent resulting from Agent’s gross negligence or willful
misconduct as determined by a final non-appealable order by a court of competent jurisdiction. If any
indemnity furnished to Agent for any purpose shall, in the opinion of Agent, be insufficient or become
impaired, Agent may call for additional indemnity and cease, or not commence, to do the acts
indemnified against even if so directed by the Appropriate Category of Lenders as shall be prescribed by
this Agreement until such additional indemnity is furnished. The obligations of Lenders under this
Section 9.2(e) shall survive the payment in full of the Obligations and the termination of this Agreement.

® Freeport (or any successor Agent) Individually.. With respect to its Revolving Loan

Commitments or Loans hereunder, Freeport (or any successor Agent) shall have and may exercise the
same rights and powers hereunder and is subject to the same obligations and liabilities as and to the extent
set forth herein for any other Lender. The terms “Lenders,” “Requisite Lenders,” “Requisite US
Lenders,” “Requisite Canadian Term Lenders,” “Requisite Revolving Lenders,” “Requisite US Term
Loan Lenders”, “Requisite US Term Loan A Lenders”, “Requisite US Term Loan B Lenders”, “Requisite
US Term Loan C Lenders” or any similar terms shall, unless the context clearly otherwise indicates,
include Freeport (or any successor Agent) in its individual capacity as a Lender or one of such applicable
categories of Lenders. Freeport (or any successor Agent), either directly or through strategic affiliations,
may lend money to, acquire equity or other ownership interests in, provide advisory services to and
generally engage in any kind of banking, trust or other business with any Loan Party as if it were not
acting as an Agent pursuant hereto and without any duty to account therefor to Lenders. Freeport (or any
successor Agent), either directly or through strategic affiliations, may accept fees and other consideration
from any Loan Party for services in connection with this Agreement or otherwise without having to
account for the same to Lenders. Each Lender acknowledges that Freeport (or one of its Affiliates) holds
certain equity interests in US Borrower and acknowledges the potential conflict of interest of Freeport (or
one of its Affiliates), as Agent and as a Lender and as a holder of an equity interest in US Borrower and
consents thereto.
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(2) Successor Agent.

(i) Resignation. Agent may resign from the performance of all its agency functions
and duties hereunder at any time by giving at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to
Borrower Representative and Lenders. Such resignation shall take effect upon the acceptance by
a successor Agent of appointment pursuant to clause (ii) below or as otherwise provided in clause
(ii) below.

(ii) Appointment of Successor. Upon any such notice of resignation pursuant to
clause (i) above, Requisite Lenders shall appoint a successor Agent, which, unless an Event of

Default has occurred and is continuing, shall be subject to Borrower Representative’s approval
{which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed). If a successor Agent shall not have been
so appointed within the thirty (30) Business Day period referred to in clause (i) above, the retiring
Agent, upon notice to Borrower Representative, shall then appoint a successor Agent from among
the Lenders which, unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, shall be reasonably
acceptable to Borrower Representative (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld) who shall
serve as Agent until such time, if any, as Requisite Lenders appoint a successor Agent as
provided above.

(iiiy  Successor Agent. Upon the acceptance of any appointment as an Agent under
the Loan Documents by a successor Agent, such successor Agent shall thereupon succeed to and
become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Agent, and the
retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations under the Loan Documents.
After any retiring Agent’s resignation as Agent, the provisions of this Section 9.2 shall continue
to inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it in its capacity as an
Agent.

(h) Collateral Matters,

(i) Release of Collateral. Lenders hereby irrevocably authorize Agent, at its option
and in its discretion, to release any Lien granted to or held by Agent upon any Collateral {(x) on
the Termination Date, (y)constituting property being sold or disposed of if Borrower
Representative certifies to Agent that the sale or disposition is made in compliance with the
provisions of this Agreement (and Agent may rely in good faith conclusively on any such
certificate, without further inquiry) or (2) in accordance with the provisions of the next sentence.
In addition, with the consent of Requisite US Lenders and Requisite Canadian Term Lenders,
during any Fiscal Year, Agent may release any Lien granted to or held by Agent upon any
Collateral having a book value not greater than ten percent (10%) of the total book value of all
Collateral as of the first day of such Fiscal Year.

(ii) Confirmation of Authority: Execution of Releases. Without in any manner

limiting Agent’s authority to act without any specific or further authorization or consent by
Lenders (as set forth in Section 9.2(h)(i)), each Lender agrees to confirm in writing, upon request
by Agent or Borrower Representative, the authority to release any Collateral conferred upon
Agent under clauses (x) and (y) of Section 9.2(h)(i). Upon receipt by an Agent of any required
confirmation from the Appropriate Category of Lenders, of its authority to release any particular
item or types of Collateral, and upon at least ten (10) Business Days’ prior written request by
Borrower Representative, Agent shall (and is hereby irrevocably authorized by Lenders to)
execute such documents as may be necessary to evidence the release of the Liens granted to
Agent upon such Collateral; provided, however, that (x) no Agent shall be required to execute
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any such document on terms which, in Agent’s opinion, would expose Agent to liability or create
any obligation or entail any consequence other than the release of such Liens without recourse or
warranty, and (y) such release shall not in any manner discharge, affect or impair the Obligations
or any Liens upon (or obligations of any Loan Party, in respect of), all interests retained by any
Loan Party, including the proceeds of any sale, all of which shall continue to constitute part of the
Collateral.

(iii)  Absence of Duty. No Agent shall have any obligation whatsoever to any Lender
or any other Person to assure that the property covered by the Collateral Documents exists or is
‘owned by Borrowers or any other Loan Party or is cared for, protected or insured or has been
encumbered or that the Liens granted to Agent have been properly or sufficiently or lawfully
created, perfected, protected or enforced or are entitled to any particular priority, or to exercise at
all or in any particular manner or under any duty of care, disclosure or fidelity, or to continue
exercising, any of the rights, authorities and powers granted or available to Agent in this Section
9.2(h) or in any of the Loan Documents, it being understood and agreed that in respect of the
property covered by the Collateral Documents or any act, omission or event related thereto, Agent
may act in any manner it may deem appropriate, in its discretion, given Agent’s own interest in
property covered by the Collateral Documents as one of the Lenders and that no Agent shall have
any duty or liability whatsoever to any of the other Lenders, provided that Agent shall exercise
the same care which it would in dealing with loans for its own account.

i) Agency for Perfection. Agent and each Lender hereby appoint each other Lender as
agent for the purpose of perfecting Agent’s security interest in assets which, in accordance with the Code
or Canadian PPSL (with respect to Canadian PPSL Collateral) in any applicable jurisdiction, can be
perfected by possession or control. Should any Lender (other than Agent) obtain possession or control of
any such assets, such Lender shall notify Agent thereof, and, promptly upon Agent’s request therefor,
shall deliver such assets to Agent or in accordance with Agent’s instructions or transfer control to Agent
in accordance with Agent’s instructions. Each Lender agrees that it will not have any right individually to
enforce or seek to enforce any Collateral Document or to realize upon any collateral security for the
Loans unless instructed to do so by Agent in writing, it being understood and agreed that such rights and
remedies may be exercised only by Agent.

1) Notice of Default. Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge or notice of the
occurrence of any Default or Event of Default except with respect to defaults in the payment of principal,
interest and Fees required to be paid to Agent for the account of Lenders, unless Agent shall have
received written notice from a Lender or Borrower Representative referring to this Agreement, describing
such Default or Event of Default and stating that such notice is a “notice of default”. Agent will use
reasonable efforts to notify each Lender of its receipt of any such notice, unless such notice is with
respect to defaults in the payment of principal, interest and fees, in which case Agent will notify each
Lender of its receipt of such notice. Agent shall take such action with respect to such Default or Event of
Default as may be requested by the Appropriate Category of Lenders in accordance with Section 8.
Unless and until Agent has received any such request, Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) take such
action, or refrain from taking such action, with respect to such Default or Event of Default as it shall
deem advisable or in the best interests of Lenders.

&) Lender Actions Against Collateral. Each Lender agrees that it will not take any
enforcement action, nor institute any actions or proceedings, with respect to the Loans, against Borrowers
or any Loan Party hereunder or under the other Loan Documents or against any Collateral (including the
exercise of any right of set-off) without the consent of the Agent or Requisite Lenders. All such
enforcement actions and proceedings shall be (i) taken in concert and (ii) at the direction of or with the
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consent of Agent or Requisite Lenders. Agent is authorized to issue all notices to be issued by or on

behalf of Lenders with respect to any Subordinated Debt. With respect to any action by Agent to enforce

the rights and remedies of Agent and the Lenders under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents,

each Lender hereby consents to the jurisdiction of the court in which such action is maintained, and

agrees to deliver its Notes to Agent to the extent necessary to enforce the rights and remedies of Agent for
- the benefit of the Lenders under the Mortgages in accordance with the provisions hereof.

q)] Agent Reports. Each Lender may from time to time receive one or more reports or other
information (each, a “Report”) prepared by or on behalf of an Agent (or one or more of an Agent’s
Affiliates). With respect to each Report, each Lender hercby agrees that;

(i) No Agent (and no Agent’s Affiliates) shall have any duties or obligations in
connection with or as a result of a Lender receiving a copy of a Report, which will be provided
solely as a courtesy, without consideration. Each Lender will perform its own diligence and will
make its own independent investigation of the operations, financial conditions and affairs of the
Loan Parties and will not rely on any Report or make any claim that it has done so. In addition,
each Lender releases, and agrees that it will not assert, any claim against Agent (or one or more of
Agent’s Affiliates) that in any way relates to any Report or arises out of a Lender having access to
any Report or any discussion of its contents, and each Lender agrees to indemnify and hold
harmless Agent (and Agent’s Affiliates) and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents
and attorneys from all claims, liabilities and expenses relating to a breach by a Lender or any of
its personnel of this Section or otherwise arising out of a Lender’s access to any Report or any
discussion of its contents;

(it} Each Report may not be complete and certain information and findings obtained
by an Agent (or one or more of an Agent’s Affiliates) regarding the operations and condition of
the Loan Parties may not be reflected in each Report. No Agent (and no Agent’s Affiliates)
makes any representations or warranties of any kind with respect to (i) any existing or proposed
financing; (ii) the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in any Report or in any
other related documentation; (iii) the scope or adequacy of Agent’s (and Agent’s Affiliates’) due
diligence, or the presence or absence of any errors or omissions contained in any Report or in any
other related documentation; and (iv) any work performed by Agent (or one or more of Agent’s
Affiliates) in connection with or using any Report or any related documentation; and

(iif)  Each Lender agrees to safeguard each Report and any related documentation with
the same care which it uses with respect to information of its own which it does not desire to
disseminate or publish, and agrees not to reproduce or distribute or provide copies of or disclose
any Report or any other related documentation or any related discussions to anyone.

(m) [Reserved].

(n) Possessory Collateral and Cooperation. Agent and Lenders agree that, for purposes of
perfection, with respect to Collateral or Stock of US Loan Parties, Agent shall hold and. maintain, for the
benefit of itself and Lenders, all possessory Collateral, including all certificates evidencing Stock and
instruments evidencing Indebtedness pledged to Agent, for the benefit of itself and Lenders, under the
Pledge Agreements. Agent agrees to notify and cooperate with the other Agent in connection with the
administration of the Loan Documents and the exercise of rights and remedies under the Loan
Documents.
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(o) Post-Closing Matters Agreement. Agent is authorized to execute and deliver the Post-
Closing Matters Agreement, and each Lender by holding or purchasing an interest in any Loan at any
time shall be deemed to have agreed to be bound by such agreement.

9.3 Set Off and Sharing of Payments. Subject to Section 9.2(k), in addition to any rights now or
hereafter granted under applicable law and not by way of limitation of any such rights, during the

continuance of any Event of Default, each Lender is hereby authorized by Borrowers at any time or from
time to time, with reasonably prompt subsequent notice to Borrower Representative (any prior or
contemporaneous notice being hereby expressly waived) to set off and to appropriate and to apply any
and all (i) (A) in the case of a US Lender, balance held by such Lender at any of its offices for the account
of US Borrower, any other US Loan Party or any of their Subsidiaries (regardless of whether such
balances are then due to US Borrower, any other US Loan Party or any of their Subsidiaries), and
(B) other property at any time held or owing by such US Lender to or for the credit or for the account of
US Borrower, any other US Loan Party or any of their Subsidiaries and (ii) (A) in the case of a Canadian
Term Lender, balances held by such Canadian Term Lender at any of its offices for the account of
Canadian Borrowers or any of their Subsidiaries (regardless of whether such balances are then due to
Canadian Borrowers or their Subsidiaries), and (B) other property at any time held or owing by such
Canadian Term Lender to or for the credit or for the account of Canadian Borrowers or any of their
Subsidiaries against and on account of any of the Obligations; except that no Lender shall exercise any
such right without the prior written consent of Agent. Notwithstanding anythinig herein to the contrary,
the failure to give notice of any set off and application made by such Lender to applicable Borrower shall
not affect the validity of such set off and application. Any Lender exercising a right to set off shall
purchase for cash (and the other Lenders shall sell) interests in each of such other Lender’s Pro Rata
Share of the Obligations as would be necessary to cause all Lenders to share the amount so set off with
each other Lender entitled to share in the amount so set off in accordance with their respective Pro Rata
Shares. If a Defaulting Lender receives any such payment as described in the previous sentence, such
Lender shall turn over such payments to Agent in an amount that would satisfy the cash collateral
requirements set forth in Section 9.6. Borrowers agree, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that any
Lender may cxercise its right to set off with respect to amounts in excess of its Pro Rata Share of the
Obligations and upon doing so shall defiver such amount so set off to Agent for the benefit of all Lenders
entitled to share in the amount so set off in accordance with their Pro Rata Shares.
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94 Disbursement of Funds. Agent may, on behalf of Revolving Lenders, disburse funds to US
Borrower for Revolving Loans requested. Each Revolving Lender shall reimburse Agent on demand for
all funds disbursed on its behalf by Agent, or if Agent so requests, each Revolving Lender will remit to
Agent its Pro Rata Share of any Revolving Loan before Agent disburses same to US Borrower. If Agent
elects to require that each Revolving Lender make funds available to Agent prior to a disbursement by
Agent to US Borrower, Agent shall advise each Revolving Lender by telephone or fax of the amount of
such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the Revolving Loan requested by US Borrower no later than 2:00 p.m.
(Chicago time) on the Funding Date applicable thereto, and each such Revolving Lender shall pay Agent
such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of such requested Revolving Loan, in same day funds, by wire transfer to
Agent’s account on such Funding Date. If any Revolving Lender fails to pay the amount of its Pro Rata
Share within one (1) Business Day after Agent’s demand, Agent shall promptly notify US Borrower, and
US Borrower shall immediately repay such amount to Agent. Any repayment required pursuant to this
Section 9.4(a) shall be without premium or penalty. Nothing in this Section 9.4(a) or elsewhere in this
Agreement or the other Loan Documents, including the provisions of Section 9.5, shall be deemed to
require Agent to advance funds on behalf of any Revolving Lender or to relieve any Revolving Lender
from its obligation to fulfill its commitments hereunder or to prejudice any rights that Agent or the US

Borrower may have against any Revolving Lender as a result of any default by such Revolving Lender
hereunder.

9.5 Disbursements of Advances; Payment.
(a) Advances: Payments.

(i) Revolving Lenders shall refund or participate in the Swing Line Loan in
accordance with clauses (iii) and (iv) of Section 2.1(d). If the Swing Line Lender declines to
make a Swing Line Advance or if Swing Line Availability is zero, Agent shall notify Revolving
Lenders, promptly after receipt of a Notice of Revolving Credit Advance and in any event prior to
noon (Chicago time) on the date such Notice of a Revolving Credit Advance is received, by fax,
telephone or other similar form of transmission. Each Revolving Lender shall make the amount
of such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of such Revolving Credit Advance available to Agent in same
day funds by wire transfer to Agent’s account as set forth in Section 2.1(g) not later than 2:00
p.m. (Chicago time) on the requested Funding Date in the case of an Index Rate Loans and not
later than 10:00 a.m. (Chicago time) on the requested Funding Date in the case of a LIBOR Loan.
After receipt of such wire transfers (or, in the Agent’s sole discretion, before receipt of such wire
transfers), subject to the terms hereof, Agent shall make the requested Revolving Credit Advance
to US Borrower as designated by US Borrower in the Notice of Revolving Credit Advance. All
payments by each Revolving Lender shall be made without setoff, counterclaim or deduction of
any kind.

(i) At least once each calendar week or more frequently at Agent’s election (each, a
“US Settlement Date™), Agent shall advise each US Lender by telephone or fax of the amount of
such US Lender’s Pro Rata Share of principal, interest and Fees paid for the benefit of Lenders
with respect to each applicable Revolving Loan. Provided that each US Lender has funded all
payments and Revolving Credit Advances required to be made by it and funded all purchases of
participations required to be funded by it under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents as
of such US Settlement Date, Agent shall pay to each US Lender such US Lender’s Pro Rata Share
of principal, interest and Fees paid by each US Borrower since the previous US Settlement Date
for the benefit of such US Lender on the US Loans held by it. Such payments shall be made by
wire transfer to such US Lender’s account (as specified by such Lender in Annex D or the
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applicable Assignment Agreement) not later than 1:00 p.m. (Chicago time) on the next Business
Day following each US Settlement Date. ‘

1) Availability of Lender’s Pro Rata Share. Agent may assume that each Lender will make
its Pro Rata Share of each Revolving Credit Advance available to Agent on each Funding Date. If such
Pro Rata Share is not, in fact, paid to Agent by such Lender when due, Agent will be entitled to recover
such amount on demand from such Lender without setoff, counterclaim or deduction of any kind. If any
Lender fails to pay the amount of its Pro Rata Share forthwith upon Agent’s demand, Agent shall
promptly notify Borrower Representative and the applicable Borrower shall immediately repay such
amount to Agent. Nothing in this Section 9.5(b) or elsewhere in this Agreement or the other Loan
Documents shall be deemed to require Agent to advance funds on behalf of any Lender or to relieve any
Lender from its obligation to fulfill its Revolving Loan Commitments hereunder or to prejudice any rights
that Borrowers may have against any Lender as a result of any default by such Lender hereunder. To the
extent that Agent advances funds to a Borrower on behalf of any Lender and is not reimbursed therefor on
the same Business Day as such Advance is made, Agent shall be entitled to retain for its account all
interest accrued on such Advance until reimbursed by the applicable Lender.

(c) Return of Payments.

6y If Agent pays an amount to a Lender under this Agreement in the belief or
expectation that a related payment has been or will be received by Agent from Borrowers and
such related payment is not received by Agent, then Agent wiil be entitled to recover such
amount from such Lender on demand without setoff, counterclaim or deduction of any kind.

(ii) If Agent determines at any time that any amount received by Agent under this
Agreement must be returned to Loan Party or paid to any other Person pursuant to any insolvency
law or otherwise, then, notwithstanding any other term or condition of this Agreement or any
other Loan Document, Agent will not be required to distribute any portion thereof to any Lender.
In addition, each Lender will repay to Agent on demand any portion of such amount that Agent
has distributed to such Lender, together with interest at such rate, if any, as Agent is required to
pay to Borrowers or such other Person, without setoff, counterclaim or deduction of any kind.

9.6 Defaulting [.enders.

(a) Responsibility. The failure of any Defaulting Lender to make any Revolving Loan, or to
fund any purchase of any participation to be made or funded by it (including, without limitation, with
respect to any Letter of Credit or Swing Line Loan), or to make any payment required by it under any
Loan Document on the date specified therefor shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligations to make
such loan, fund the purchase of any such participation, or make any other such required payment on such
date, and neither Agent nor, other than as expressly set forth herein, any other Lender shall be responsible
for the failure of any Defaulting Lender to make a loan, fund the purchase of a participation or make any
other required payment under any Loan Document.

(b) Reallocation. If any Revolving Lender is a Defaulting Lender, all or a portion of such
Defaulting Lender’s Letter of Credit Obligations (unless such Lender is the L/C Issuer that issued such
Letter of Credit) and reimbursement obligations with respect to Swing Line Loans shall, at Agent’s
clection at any time or upon any L/C Issuer’s or Swing Line Lender’s, as applicable, written request
delivered to Agent (whether before or after the occurrence of -any Default or Event of Default), be
reallocated to and assumed by the Revolving Lenders that are not Defaulting Lenders pro rata in
accordance with their Pro Rata Share of the aggregate Revolving Loan Commitments (calculated as if the
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Defaulting Lender’s Pro Rata Share was reduced to zero and each other Revolving Lender’s Pro Rata
Share had been increased proportionately), provided that no Revolving Lender shall be reallocated any
such amounts or be required to fund any amounts that would cause the sum of its outstanding Revolving
Loans, outstanding Letter of Credit Obligations, amounts of its participations in Swing Line Loans and its
pro rata share of unparticipated amounts in Swing Line Loans to exceed its Revolving Loan Commitment.

() Voting Rights. Notwithstanding anything set forth herein to the contrary, including
Section 10.2, a Defaulting Lender shall not have any voting or consent rights under or with respect to any
Loan Document or constitute a “Lender” (or be, or have its Loans and Revolving Loan Commitment,
included in the determination of “Requisite Lenders”, “Required Revolving Lenders”, “Requisite US
Term Loan A Lenders”, “Requisite US Term Loan B Lenders”, “Requisite US Term Loan C Lenders”,
“Requisite Canadian Term Lenders” or “Lenders directly affected” pursuant to Section 10.2) for any
voting or consent rights under or with respect to any Loan Document, provided that (A) the Revolving
Loan Commitment of a Defaulting Lender may not be increased, (B) the Revolving Loan Commitment of
a Defaulting Lender (other than a Non-Signing Lender) may not be extended or reinstated, (C) the
principal of a Defaulting Lender’s Loans may not be reduced or forgiven, and (D) the interest rate
applicable to Obligations owing to a Defaulting Lender (other than a Non-Signing Lender) may not be
reduced, in each case, without the consent of such Defaulting Lender. Moreover, for the purposes of
determining “Requisite Lenders”, “Requisite Revolving Lenders,” “Requisite US Lenders,” “Requisite
US Term Loan A Lenders”, “Requisite US Term Loan B Lenders”, “Requisite US Term Loan C Lenders”
or “Requisite Canadian Term Lenders”, the Loans, Letter of Credit Obligations, and Revolving Loan
Commitments held by Defaulting Lenders shall be excluded from the total Loans and Revolving Loan
Commitments outstanding,

(d) Borrower Payments to a Defaulting Lender. Agent is hereby authorized to use all
payments received by Agent for the benefit of any Defaulting Lender pursuant to this Agreement to pay

in full the Aggregate Excess Funding Amount to Agent, Lender, L/C Issuer or other holder of
Obligations, as appropriate. In addition, Agent is hereby authorized to retain and hold all payments
received by Agent for the benefit of any Non-Signing Lender pursuant to this Agreement (such payments,
the “Non-Signing Lender Payments”) until the earlier of (i) the time at which the applicable Lender
ceases to be a Non-Signing Lender or (ii) the Termination Date (it being agreed that all such payments
received by Agent shall satisfy the applicable obligation of the Borrowers and shall be held by Agent for
the benefit of the applicable Lender pending distribution pursuant to the terms hereof). Agent shall be
entitled to hold as cash collateral in a non-interest bearing account up to an amount equal to such
Defaulting Lender’s pro rata share, without giving effect to any reallocation pursuant to Section 9.6(b), of
all Letter of Credit Obligations until the Obligations are paid in full in cash, all Letter of Credit
Obligations have been discharged or cash collateralized and all Revolving Loan Commitments have been
terminated. Upon any such unfunded obligations owing by a Defaulting Lender becoming due and
payable, Agent shall be authorized to use such cash collateral or Non-Signing Lender Payments to make
such payment on behalf of such Defaulting Lender. With respect to such Defaulting Lender’s failure to
fund Revolving Loans or purchase participations in Letters of Credit or Letter of Credit Obligations, any
amounts applied by Agent to satisfy such funding shortfalls shall be deemed to constitute a Revolving
Loan or amount of the participation required to be funded and, if necessary to effectuate the foregoing,
the other Revolving Lenders shall be deemed to have sold, and such Defaulting Lender shall be deemed to
have purchased, Revolving Loans or Letter of Credit participation interests from the other Revolving
Lenders until such time as the aggregate amount of the Revolving Loans and participations in Letters of
Credit and Letter of Credit Obligations are held by the Revolving Lenders in accordance with their Pro
Rata Share of the aggregate Revolving Loan Commitments. Any amounts owing by a Defaulting Lender
to Agent which are not paid when due shall accrue interest at the interest rate applicable during such
period to Revolving Loans that are Index Rate Loans. In the event that Agent is holding cash collateral or
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Non-Signing Lender Payments of a Defaulting Lender that cures pursuant to clause (e) below or ceases to
be a Defaulting Lender pursuant to the definition of Defaulting Lender, Agent shall return the unused
portion of such cash collateral or Non-Signing Lender Payments, as applicable, to such Lender. The
“Aggregate Excess Funding Amount” of a Defaulting Lender shall be the aggregate amount of (A) all
unpaid obligations owing by such Lender to Agent, L/C Issuers, Swing Line Lender, and other Lenders
under the Loan Documents, including such Lender’s pro rata share of all Revolving Loans, Letter of
Credit Obligations and Swing Line Loans, plus, without duplication, (B) all amounts of such Defaulting
Lender’s Letter of Credit Obligations and reimbursement obligations with respect to Swing Loans
reallocated to other Lenders pursuant to Section 9.6(b).

() Cure. A Lender may cure its status as a Defaulting Lender under clause (a) of the
definition of Defaulting Lender if such Lender fully pays to Agent, on behalf of Agent, Lender, L/C
Issuer or other holder of Obligations, as appropriate, the Aggregate Excess Funding Amount, plus all
interest due thereon. A Lender may cure its status as a Defaulting Lender under clause (d) of the
definition of Defaulting Lender if such Lender executes and delivers the applicable documents referenced
in such clause (d). Any such cure shall not relieve any Lender from liability for breaching its contractual
obligations hereunder.

. (3] Fees. A Lender that is a Defaulting Lender pursuant to clause (a) of the definition of
Defaulting Lender shall not earn and shall not be entitled to receive, and the US Borrower shall not be
required to pay, such Lender’s portion of the fee payable under Section 2.3(b) during the time such
Lender is a Defaulting Lender pursuant to clause (a) thereof. In the event that any reallocation of Letter
of Credit Obligations occurs pursuant to Section 9.6(b), during the period of time that such reallocation
remains in effect, the Letter of Credit Fee payable with respect to such reallocated portion shall be
payable to (A) all Revolving Lenders based on their pro rata share of such reallocation or (B) to the L/C
Issuer for any remaining portion not reallocated to any other Revolving Lenders.

SECTION 10.
MISCELLANEOUS

10.1  Indemnities. (a) US Loan Parties agree to indemnify, pay, and hold Agent, each US Lender, each
L/C Issuer and their respective Affiliates, officers, directors, employees, agents, and attorneys and their
respective successors and assigns (“US Indemnitees™); and (b) Canadian Loan Parties agree to indemnify,
pay, and hold Agent, each Canadian Term Lender and their respective Affiliates, officers, directors,
employees, agents, and attorneys and their respective successors and assigns (“Canadian Indemnitees”,
and together with the US Indemnitees, the “Indemnitees™), in each case, harmless from and against any
and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, claims, costs and
expenses (including all reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to such Indemnitees) of any kind or
nature whatsoever that may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against the Indemnitee as a result of
such Indemnitees being a party to this Agreement or the transactions consummated pursvant to this
Agreement or otherwise relating to any of the Loan Documents or Related Transactions, including,
without limitation, as a result of unpaid broker or finder fees in connection with the Related Transactions;
provided, that US Loan Parties shall have no obligation to a US Indemnitee hereunder and Canadian
Borrower shall have no obligation to a Canadian Indemnitee hereunder, in each case, with respect to (i)
liabilities to the extent resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of that Indemnitee as
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or (ii) Taxes other than any Taxes that represent losses,
claims, damages arising from any non-Tax claim. If and to the extent that the foregoing undertaking may
be unenforceable for any reason, Borrowers agree to make the maximum contribution to the payment and
satisfaction thereof which is permissible under applicable law.
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10.2  Amendments and Waivers.

(a) Except for actions expressly permitted to be taken by Agent, no amendment,
modification, termination or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or
any consent to any departure by any Loan Party therefrom, shall in any event be effective unless the same
shall be in writing and signed by each Borrower, Requisite Lenders, Requisite US Lenders, Requisite
Canadian Term Lenders, Requisite Revolving Lenders, Requisite US Term Loan Lenders, Requisite US
Term Loan A Lenders, Requisite US Term Loan B Lenders or Requisite US Term Loan C Lenders or all
affected Lenders, as applicable. Except as set forth in clauses (b), (¢) and (d) below, all such
amendments, modifications, terminations or waivers requiring the consent of any Lenders shall require
the written consent of Requisite Lenders.

b) No amendment, modification, termination or waiver of or consent with respect to any
provision of this Agreement that waives compliance with the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3.2
to the making of any Loan or the incurrence of any Letter of Credit Obligations shall be effective unless
the same shall be in writing and signed by Agent, Requisite Revolving Lenders, and each Borrower.
Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, no waiver or consent with respect
to any Default or any Event of Default shall be effective for purposes of the conditions precedent to the
making of Loans or the incurrence of Letter of Credit Obligations set forth in Section 3.2 unless the same
shall be in writing and signed by Agent, Requisite Revolving Lenders and each Borrower.

(©) No amendment, modification, termination or waiver shall, unless in writing and signed
by Agent and each Lender directly affected thereby: (i) increase the principal amount, or postpone or
extend the scheduled date of expiration, of any Lender’s Revolving Loan Commitment (which action
shall be deemed only to affect those Lenders whose Revolving Loan Commitments are increased or the
scheduled date of expiration of whose Revolving Loan Commitments are postponed or extended and may
be approved by Requisite Lenders, including those Lenders whose Revolving Loan Commitments are
increased or the scheduled date of expiration of whose Revolving Loan Commitments are postponed or
extended); (ii) reduce the principal of, rate of interest on (other than any determination or waiver to
charge or not charge interest at the Default Rate) or Fees payable with respect to any Loan or Letter of
Credit Obligations of any affected Lender; (iif) extend any scheduled payment date or final maturity date
of the principal amount of any Loan of any affected Lender or postpone or extend the scheduled date of
expiration of any Letter of Credit beyond the date set forth in clause (b) of the initial sentence of Section
2.1(f)(iv); (iv) waive, forgive, defer, extend or postpone any payment of interest or Fees as to any affected
Lender (which action shall be deemed only to affect those Lenders to whom such payments are made);
(v) release any Guaranty or, except as otherwise permitted in Section 6.7 or Section 9.2(h), release
Collateral (which action shall be deemed to directly affect all Lenders); (vi) change the percentage of the
Revolving Loan Commitments or of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Loans that shall be
required for Lenders or any of them to take any action hereunder (which action shall be deemed to
directly affect all Lenders); and (vii) amend or waive this Section 10.2 or the definitions of the terms
“Requisite Lenders”, “Requisite US Lenders”, “Requisite Canadian Term Lenders”, “Requisite Revolving
Lenders”, “Requisite US Term Loan Lenders”, “Requisite US Term Loan A Lenders”, “Requisite US
Term Loan B Lenders”, or “Requisite US Term Loan B Lenders” insofar as such definitions affect the
substance of this Section 10.2 or the term “Pro Rata Share” (which action shall be deemed to directly
affect ail Lenders). Furthermore, no amendment, modification, termination or waiver affecting the rights
or duties of Agent or L/C Issuers under this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be effective
unless in writing and signed by Agent or L/C Issuers, as the case may be, in addition to Lenders required
hereinabove to take such action. Each amendment, modification, termination or waiver shall be effective
only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it was given. No amendment,
modification, termination or waiver shall be required for Agent to take additional Collateral pursuant to
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any Loan Document. No amendment, modification, termination or waiver of any provision of any Note
shall be effective without the written concurrence of the holder of that Note. No notice to or demand on
any Loan Party in any casc shall entitle such Loan Party or any other Loan Party to any other or further
notice or demand in similar or other circumstances. Any amendment, modification, termination, waiver
or consent effected in accordance with this Section 10.2 shall be binding upon each holder of the Notes at
the time outstanding and each future holder of the Notes. - '

10.3  Notices. Any notice or other communication required shall be in writing addressed to the
respective party as set forth below and may be personally served, sent by e-mail, telecopied, sent by
overnight courier service or U.S. mail or Canada Post and shall be deemed to have been given: (a)if
delivered in person, when delivered; (b) if delivered by fax, on the date of transmission if transmitted on a
Business Day before 4:00 p.m. Chicago time; (c) if sent by e-mail, by the sendet’s receipt of an e-mail
acknowledgment confirming delivery thereof, (d) if delivered by overnight courier, one (1) Business Day
after delivery to the courier properly addressed; or (e) if delivered by U.S. mail or Canada Post, four (4)
Business Days after deposit with postage prepaid and properly addressed.

Notices shall be addressed as follows:

If to any Loan Party: PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC
4801 Amber Vailey Parkway
Fargo, North Dakota 58104
ATTN: Chief Financial Officer
Fax: (701) 239-4955

If to Agent: Freeport Financial LLC
500 West Madison Street, Suite 1710
Chicago, Illinois 60661
ATTN: PRACS Institute - Account Officer
Fax: (312) 281-4646

With a copy to: Latham & Watkins LLP
233 South Wacker Drive
Suite 5800, Sears Tower
Chicago, Illinois 60606
ATTN: Jeff Moran, Peter Knight
Fax: (312)993-9767

If to a Lender: To the address set forth on the signature page hereto or
in the applicable Assignment Agreement

10.4  Failure or Indulgence Not Waiver: Remedies Cumulative. No failure or delay on the part of

Agent or any Lender to exercise, nor any partial exercise of, any power, right or privilege hereunder or
under any other Loan Documents shall impair such power, right, or privilege or be construed to be a
waiver of any Default or Event of Default. All rights and remedies existing hereunder or under any other
Loan Document are cumulative to and not exclusive of any rights or remedies otherwise available.

10.5  Marshaling; Payments Set Aside. Neither Agent nor any Lender shall be under any obligation to
marshal any assets in payment of any or all of the Obligations. To the extent that either Borrower makes
payment(s) or Agent enforces its Liens or Agent or any Lender exercises its right of set-off, and such
payment(s) or the proceeds of such enforcement or set-off is subsequently invalidated, declared to be
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fraudulent or preferential, set aside, or required to be repaid by anyone (whether as a result of any
demand, litigation, settlement or otherwise), then to the extent of such recovery, the Obligations or part
thereof originally intended to be satisfied, and all Liens, rights and remedies therefor, shall be revived and

continued in full force and effect as if such payment had not been made or such enforcement or set-off
had not occurred.

10.6  Severability. The invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability in any jurisdiction of any provision
under the Loan Documents shall not affect or impair the remaining provisions in the Loan Documents.

10.7  Lenders’ Obligations Several: Independent Nature of Lenders’ Richis. The obligation of each
Lender hereunder is several and not joint and no Lender shall be responsible for the obligation or
commitment of any other Lender hereunder. In the event that any Lender at any time should fail to make
a Loan as herein provided, the Lenders, or any of them, at their sole option, may make the Loan that was
to have been made by the Lender so failing to make such Loan. Nothing contained in any Loan
Document and no action taken by Agent or any Lender pursuant hereto or thereto shall be deemed to
constitute Lenders to be a partnership, an association, a Joint venture or any other kind of entity. The
amounts payable at any time hereunder to each Lender shall be a separate and independent debt,

10.8  Headings. Section and subsection headings are included herein for convenience of reference only
and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement for any other purposes or be given substantive effect.

109  Applicable Law. THIS AGREEMENT AND EACH OF THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS
WHICH DOES NOT EXPRESSLY SET FORTH APPLICABLE LAW SHALL BE GOVERNED BY
AND SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL

LAWS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW
PRINCIPLES.

10.10  Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns except that neither Borrower may
assign its rights or obligations hereunder without the written consent of all Lenders and any such
purported assignment without such written consent shail be void.

10.11 No_Fiduciary Relationship; Limited Liability. No provision in the Loan Documents and no

course of dealing between the parties shall be deemed to create any fiduciary duty owing to any Loan
Party by Agent or any Lender. Each Borrower and each other Loan Party agree that neither Agent nor
any Lender shall have liability to either Borrower or any other Loan Party (whether sounding in tort,
contract or otherwise) for losses suffered by either Borrower or any other Loan Party in connection with,
arising out of| or in any way related to the transactions contemplated and the relationship established by
the Loan Documents, or any act, omission or event occurring in connection therewith, unless and to the
extent that it is determined that such losses resulted from the gross negligence or wiliful misconduct of
the party from which recovery is sought as determined by a final non-appealable order by a court of
competent jurisdiction. Neither Agent nor any Lender shall have any liability with respect to, and each
Borrower and each other Loan Party hereby waives, releases and agrees not to sue for, any special,
indirect or consequential damages suffered by either Borrower and any other Loan Party in connection
with, arising out of, or in any way related to the Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated
thereby.

10.12 Construction. Agent, each Lender, each Borrower and each other Loan Party acknowledge that
each of them has had the benefit of legal counsel of its own choice and has been afforded an opportunity

99
CH\1359999.12



to review the Loan Documents with its legal counsel and that the Loan Documents shall be construed as if
jointly drafted by Agent, each Lender, each Borrower and each other Loan Party.

10.13 Confidentiality. Until the Termination Date, Agent and each Lender agree to exercise their best
efforts to keep confidential any non-public information delivered pursuant to the Loan Documents and not
to disclose such information to Persons other than to potential assignees or participants or to any Affiliate
of, or Persons employed by or engaged, by Agent, a Lender or any of their respective Affiliates or a
Lender’s assignees or participants including attorneys, auditors, professional consultants, rating agencies,
insurance industry associations and portfolio management services subject to the confidentiality
provisions herein contained. The confidentiality provisions contained in this Section 10.13 shall not
apply to disclosures (i) required to be made by Agent or any Lender to any regulatory or governmental
agency or pursuant to law, rule, regulations or legal process or (ii) consisting of general portfolio
information that does not specifically identify Borrowers. Each Loan Party consents to the publication by
Agent or any Lender of a tombstone or similar advertising material relating to the financing transactions
contemplated by this Agreement. Agent or such Lender shall provide a draft of any such tombstone or
similar advertising material to each Loan Party for review, comment and approval prior to the publication
thereof. Agent may provide to indusiry trade organizations information with respect to the Credit
Agreement that is necessary and customary for inclusion in league table measurements. The obligations
of Agent and Lenders under this Section 10.13 shall supersede and replace the obligations of Agent and
such Lenders under any confidentiality agreement in respect of this financing executed and delivered by
Agent or any Lender prior to the date hereof.

10.14 CONSENT TO JURISDICTION. EACH BORROWER AND LOAN PARTIES HEREBY
CONSENT TO THE JURISDICTION OF ANY STATE OR FEDERAIL COURT LOCATED WITHIN
COOK COUNTY, STATE OF ILLINOIS AND IRREVOCABLY AGREE THAT, SUBJECT TO
AGENT’S ELECTION, ALL ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO
THIS AGREEMENT OR THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS SHALL BE LITIGATED IN SUCH
COURTS. EACH BORROWER AND LOAN PARTIES EXPRESSLY SUBMIT AND CONSENT TO
THE JURISDICTION OF THE AFORESAID COURTS AND WAIVE ANY DEFENSE OF FORUM
NON CONVENIENS. EACH BORROWER AND LOAN PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE PERSONAL
SERVICE OF ANY AND ALL PROCESS AND AGREES THAT ALL SUCH SERVICE OF PROCESS
MAY BE MADE UPON SUCH BORROWER AND LOAN PARTIES BY CERTIFIED OR
REGISTERED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED, ADDRESSED TO BORROWER, AT THE
ADDRESS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT AND SERVICE SO MADE SHALL BE COMPLETE
TEN (10) DAYS AFTER THE SAME HAS BEEN POSTED.

10.15 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH BORROWER, LOAN PARTIES, AGENT AND EACH
LENDER HEREBY WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM
OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE
OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS. EACH BORROWER, LOAN PARTIES, AGENT AND EACH
. LENDER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THIS WAIVER IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT TO ENTER
INTO A BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP, THAT EACH HAS RELIED ON THE WAIVER IN
ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AND THAT EACH
WILL CONTINUE TO RELY ON THE WAIVER IN THEIR RELATED FUTURE DEALINGS.
EACH BORROWER, LOAN PARTIES, AGENT AND EACH LENDER WARRANT AND
REPRESENT THAT EACH HAS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY OF REVIEWING THIS JURY WAIVER

WITH LEGAL COUNSEL, AND THAT EACH KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVES ITS
JURY TRIAL RIGHTS
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10.16  Survival of Warranties and Certain Agreements. All agreements, representations and warranties
made herein shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the making of the Loans,
issuances of Letters of Credit and the execution and delivery of the Notes. Notwithstanding anything in
this Agreement or implied by law to the contrary, this Agreements of each Borrower set forth in

Sections 2.3(e), 2.8, 2.9 and 10.1 shall survive the repayment of the Obligations and the termination of
this Agreement.

10.17 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents embody the entire
agreement among the parties hereto and supersede all prior commitments, agreements, representations,
and understandings, whether oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof (other than the Fee
Letter), and may not be contradicted or varied by evidence of prior, contemporaneous, or subsequent oral
agreements or discussions of the parties hereto. All Exhibits, Schedules and Annexes referred to herein
are incorporated in this Agreement by reference and constitute a part of this Agreement.

10.18 Counterparts; Effectiveness. This Agreement and any amendments, waivers, consents or
supplements may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate
counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original, but all of which
counterparts together shall constitute but one in the same instrument. This Agreement shall become
effective upon the execution of a counterpart hereof by each of the parties hereto.

10.19 Replacement of Lenders.

(a) Within fifteen (15) days after receipt by Borrower Representative of written notice and
demand from any Lender for payment pursuant to Section 2.8 or 2.9 or, as provided in Section 10.19(d),
in the case of certain refusals by any Lender to consent to certain proposed amendments, modifications,
terminations or waivers with respect to this Agreement that have been approved by Requisite Lenders,
Requisite US Lenders, Requisite Canadian Term Lenders, Requisite Revolving Lenders, Requisite US
Term Loan A Lenders, Requisite US Term Loan B Lenders, Requisite US Term Loan C Lenders or all
affected Lenders, as applicable (any such Lender demanding such payment or refusing to so consent
being referred to herein as an “Affected Lender”), Borrower Representative may, at its option, notify
Agent and such Affected Lender of its intention to do one of the following:

(i) Borrower Representative may obtain, at Borrowers’ expense, a replacement
Lender (“Replacement Lender”) for such Affected Lender, which Replacement Lender shall be
reasonably satisfactory to Agent. In the event Borrower Representative obtains a Replacement
Lender that will purchase all outstanding Obligations owed to such Affected Lender and assume
its Revolving Loan Commitments hereunder within ninety (90) days following notice of
Borrower’s intention to do so, the Affected Lender shall sell and assign, for an amount equal to
the principal balance of all Loans held by such Affected Lender and all accrued interest and Fees
with respect thereto through the date of sale, all of its rights and delegate all of its obligations
under this Agreement to such Replacement Lender in accordance with the provisions of Section -
9.1, provided that Borrowers have reimbursed such Affected Lender for any administrative fee
payable pursuant to Section 9.1 and, in any case where such replacement occurs as the result of a
demand for payment pursuant to Section 2.8 or 2.9, paid all amounts required to be paid to such
Affected Lender pursuant to Section 2.8 or 2.9 through the date of such sale and assignment; or

(ii) Borrowers may, with Agent’s consent, prepay in full all outstanding Obligations
owed to such Affected Lender and terminate such Affected Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the
Revolving Loan Commitments, in which case the Revolving Loan Commitments will be reduced
by the amount of such Pro Rata Share. The applicable Borrower shall, within ninety (90) days
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following notice of its intention to do so, prepay in full all outstanding Obligations owed to such
Affected Lender (including, in any case where such prepayment occurs as the result of a demand
for payment for increased costs, such Affected Lender’s increased costs for which it is entitled to
reimbursement under this Agreement through the date of such prepayment), and terminate such
Affected Lender’s obligations under the Revolving Loan Commitments.

(b) In the case of a Defaulting Lender pursuant to Section 9.6, at Borrower Representative’s
request, Agent or a Person acceptable to Agent shall have, with Agent’s, consent and in Agent’s sole
discretion the right (but no obligation) to purchase from any Defaulting Lender, and each Defaulting
Lender agrees that it shall, at Agent’s request sell and assign to Agent, or such Person, all of the Loans
and Revolving Loan Commitments of that Defaulting Lender for an amount equal to the principal balance
of all Loans held by such Defaulting Lender and all accrued interest and Fees with respect thereto through
the date of sale, such purchase and sale to be consummated pursuant to an executed Assignment
Agreement.

(¢)  [reserved].

(d) If, in connection with any proposed amendment, modification, waiver or termination
pursuant to Section 10.2 (a “Proposed Change™) requiring the consent of all Affected Lenders, Requisite
US Lenders, Requisite Canadian Term Lenders, Requisite Revolving Lenders, Requisite US Term Loan
Lenders, Requisite US Term Loan A Lenders, Requisite US Term Loan B Lenders, or Requisite US Term
Loan C Lenders, as applicable, the consent of Requisite Lenders is obtained, but the consent of other
Lenders whose consent is required to effect such proposed change is not obtained (any such Lender
whose consent is not obtained being referred to as a “Non-Consenting Lender™), then, so long as no Agent
is a Non-Consenting Lender, at Borrower Representative’s request Agent, or a Person reasonably
acceptable to Agent, shall have the right with Agent’s consent and in Agent’s sole discretion (but shall
have no obligation) to purchase from such Non-Consenting Lenders, and such Non-Consenting Lenders
agree that they shall, upon Agent’s request, sell and assign to Agent or such Person, all of the Loans and
Revolving Loan Commitments of such Non-Consenting Lenders for an amount equal to the principal
balance of all Loans held by the Non-Consenting Lenders and all accrued interest and Fees and other
Obligations owing with respect thereto through the date of sale, such purchase and sale to be
consummated pursuant to an executed Assignment Agreement.

1020 Delivery of Termination Statements and Mortgage Releases. On the Termination Date, and so

long as no suits, actions proceedings, or claims are pending or threatened against any Indemnitee
asserting any damages, losses or liabilities that are indemnified liabilities hereunder, Agent shall deliver
to Borrowers termination statements, mortgage releases and other documents necessary or appropriate to
evidence the termination of the Liens securing payment of the Obligations.

10.21  Subordination of Intercompany Debt.

{a) Each Loan Party hereby agrees that any intercompany Indebtedness or other
intercompany payables or receivables, or intercompany advances directly or indirectly made by or owed
to such Loan Party by any other Loan Party (collectively, “Intercompany Debt™), of whatever nature at
any time outstanding shall be subordinate and subject in right of payment to the prior payment in full in
cash of the Obligations. Each Loan Party hereby agrees that it will not, while any Event of Default is
continuing, accept any payment, including by offset, on any Intercompany Debt until the Termination
Date, in each case, except with the prior written consent of Agent.
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(b) In the event that any payment on any Intercompany Debt shall be received by a Loan
Party other than as permitted by this Section 10.21 before the Termination Date, such Loan Party shall
receive such payments and hold the same in trust for, segregate the same from its own assets and shall
immediately pay over to, the Agent for the benefit of the Agent and Lenders all such sums to the extent

necessary so that Agent and the Lenders shall have been paid in full, in cash, all Obligations owed or
which may become owing.

(c) Upon any payment or distribution of any assets of any Loan Party of any kind or
character, whether in cash, property or securities by set-off, recoupment or otherwise, to creditors in any
liquidation or other winding-up of such Loan Party or in the event of any Proceeding, Agent and Lenders
shall first be entitled to receive payment in full in cash, in accordance with the terms of the Obligations
and of this Agreement, of all amounts payable under or in respect of such Obligations, before any
payment or distribution is made on, or in respect of, any Intercompany Debt, in any such Proceeding, any
distribution or payment, to which Agent or any Lender would be entitled except for the provisions hereof
shall be paid by such Loan Party, or by any receiver, trustec in bankruptcy, liquidating trustee, agent or
other person making such payment or distribution directly to Agent (for the benefit of Agent and the
Lenders) to the extent necessary to pay all such Obligations in full in cash, after giving effect to any

concurrent payment or distribution to Agent and Lenders (or to Agent for the benefit of Agent and
Lenders).

10.22  Joint and Several Liability.

(a) The US Borrower and other US Loan Parties are jointly and severally liable for all of the
Obligations. :

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Canadian Borrower and
other Canadian Loan Parties are jointly and severally liable only for the repayment of the Canadian
Obligations and shall not have any obligation to pay, prepay or guaranty any portion of, and none of their
assets shall serve as collateral for, the US Obligations.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Agreement or any other Loan
Document, if a “secured creditor” (as that term is defined under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
(Canada)) is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction not to include a Person to whom obligations
are owed on a joint or joint and several basis, then each Canadian Loan Party’s Obligations, to the extent
such Obligations are secured, only shall be several obligations and not joint or joint and several
obligations.

10.23  Judgment Currency. If, for the purpose of obtaining or enforcing judgment against any Loan
Party in any court in any jurisdiction, it becomes necessary to convert into any other currency (such other
currency being hereinafter in this Section 10.23 referred to as the “Judgment Currency”) an amount due
under any Loan Document in any currency (the “Obligation Currency”) other than the Judgment
Currency, the conversion shall be made at the rate of exchange prevailing on the Business Day
immediately preceding (i) the date of actual payment of the amount due, in the case of any proceeding in
the courts of any jurisdiction that will give effect to such conversion being made on such date, or (ii) the
date on which the judgment is given, in the case of any proceeding in the courts of any other jurisdiction
(the applicable date as of which such conversion is made pursuant to this Section 10.23 being hereinafter
in this Section 10.23 referred to as the “Judgment Conversion Date”). If, in the case of any proceeding in
the court of any jurisdiction referred to above in this Section 10.23, there is a change in the rate of
exchange prevailing between the Judgment Conversion Date and the date of actual receipt for value of the
amount due, the applicable Loan Party shall pay such additional amount (if any, but in any event not a
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lesser amount) as may be necessary to ensure that the amount actually received in the Judgment Currency,
when converted at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of payment, will produce the amount of the
Obligation Currency which could have been purchased with the amount of the Judgment Currency
stipulated in the judgment or judicial order at the rate of exchange prevailing on the Judgment Conversion
Date. Any amount due from a Loan Party under this Section 10.23 shall be due as a separate debt and
shall not be affected by judgment being obtained for any other amounts due under or in respect of any of
the Loan Documents. The term “rate of exchange” in this Section 10.23 means the rate of exchange at
which Agent would, on the relevant date at or about 1:00 p.m. (Chicago time), be prepared to sell the
Obligation Currency against the Judgment Currency.

* * #
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Witness the due ekecution hereof by the respecttve duly authoiized officers ol‘ the unders:gned as
of the date first written above

BORROWERS: |
- PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS; LLC

S Ve P

Name: Mark Ubert
Title:  Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

PRACS INSTITUTE CANA'DA B.C. LTD.

o 22ad

Name Mark Ubert
Tifler Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

OTHER LOAN PARTIES:

PRACS INSTITUTE MANAGEMENT, LL.C

By:
Namie: Mark Uberi
Title:  Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

PRACS INSTITUTE, LLC

By: e

Name: Mark Ubert ‘

- Fitler Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

PRACS INSTITUTE MIAMI, LLC

Name: Mark Ubert
Title: Chief Finaneial Officer and Secretary

[Signatiure Page to Credit Agreement]



PRACS INSTITUTE SAN ANTONIO, LLC

by d G

Name: Mark Ubert
Title:  Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement] .



FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC, as Agent

Title:  Duly Authorized Signatory -

[S"i_gna'turé' Page to Credit Agreement]




BANK OF MONTREAL,

as a Lender

By: M?M—@A__\
Name: Stephanie Slavkin- .
Title: Director

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]



BROWN BROTHERS I-IARR{M'AN &-CO.L,
as a Lender % j

-

£
By: / e N A
Name: Eric C. Andren
Title:  Schior Vice President

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]



CHURCHILL FINANCIAL CAYMAN LTD.,
as a Lender

By: “s'nﬂif( -

Nfllﬂ&: ﬂrtis- I -“ = ‘
Tlué: —hsBuiy Authorized Signatory

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]



[Signature Page to Cre'dit,Ag:eement]‘-



FRFEPORT LOAN FUND,LLC,
as a Lender

. ) 0

Name: Sfephen Pa Ias
Title: Authunzed Slgnatory

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]




FREEPORT OFFSHORE LOAN FUND LLC,
asa Lender . ’

By:
Name: Stephen Papalas
Title:  Authorized Signatory

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]




‘FREEPORT ONSHORE 2610-1 LLC,

as a Lender

By:
Name:
- Title:

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]




FREEPORT LOAN TRUST 2006-1,

asa Lendeg &/ p

Name Stephen Pabhlas
Titte: Authorized Signatory

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]




FREEPORT OFFSHORE 2010-1 LLC,
as & Lender )

By:
Name: Stephen Pgpalas
Title: Authorizgd Signatory

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement] -




GE CANADA ASSET FINANCING HOLDING
COMPANY,
as a Lender

. SN

Name:
Title:

DULY AUTHORIZED SIGNATORY

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]



GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL
CORPORATION,

Authorized Sienato

[Signature Page to Credit Agregﬁlent]



GE BUSINESS FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.,
-as a Lender

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]



GSC CAPITAL CORP. LOAN FUNDING 2005-1,

as a Lender ' ,
By:  GSC Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C.,
" agits Collateral Manager
By: GSC MANAGER, LLC, in its capacity as
Manager

By:  BLACK DIAMOND CAPITAL
MANAGEMENT, L.L.C., in its capacity as
Meinber . - '

By: 3 "i ka2
Name: Stephen H. Deckoff
Title: Managing Principal

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]



GSC PARTNERS CDO FUND VII, LIMITED

as a Lender ,

By: GSC Acquisition Holdings, 1.L.C.,

' as its Collateral Manager

By: GSCMANAGER, LLC, in its capac:ty as
Manager

By: BLACK DIAMOND CAPITAL
MANAGEMENT, L.L.C,, in its capacity as
Member,

Byt S0

Name: Stephen H. Deckoff
Title: Managing Principal

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]



MADISON CAPITAL FUNDING LLC,

as a Lender

By (o leaw
Name: _, H*éﬁh—w
Title: _Seaiwe Macvning. Niceatoe

[8i gnatﬁrc Page to Credit Agreement]



SARGASCLOILTD.

By: Sargas Asset Management, LLC its Portfolio
. Manager,

as a Lender

7
Hinog oo
Smita Conjeevaram »

Title: ‘ ————-—-Ghi@.{‘}'—?iﬂaﬁflﬂi Oifficer

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]



WELLS FARGO CAPITAL FINANCE, INC.,
as a Lender

By: '%V% “ WW# -

et e e B o T St o s
Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]



ANNEX A

to
CREDIT AGREEMENT
Lender Revolving Swing Line | US Term Loan US Term US Term Canadian
Loan Commitment A TInitial Loan B Loan C Initial | Term Loan C
Commitment Amounts Amounts Initial Amounts Initial
Amounts Amounts Amounts

3ank of Montreal $1,319,796.03 $0.00 { $1,009,643.97 $0.00 | $2,154,224.74 $275,862.0¢
3rown Brothers $1,065,059.67 $0.00 $814,770.65 $216,666.67 | $1,180,010.26
Jarriman & Co. $161,379.31
“hurchill Financial $1,250,000.00 $0.00 $956,250.00 $312,500.00 | $1,937,500.00 $250,000.0C
~ayman Litd.
Credit Suisse Loan $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $437,500.00 | $3,648,985.46 $400,156.74
‘unding LLC
‘reeport Loan Fund, $4,673,178.64 $0.00 $129,711.19 $106,923.14 | $1,029,463.56 $117,984.1¢
JLC
‘reeport Offshore Loan $3,259,252.01 | $3,000,000.00 $0.00 $111,826.86 | $1,125,226.90 $123,395.15
‘und LLC
‘reeport Onshore 2010- $0.00 $0.00 $381,816.92 $139,359.33 | $2,313,643.18 | $1,020,404.63

LLC
‘reeport Loan Trust $0.00 $0.00 | $5,556,781.35 $0.00 | $3,660,183.80 $0.0C
'1006-1
reeport Offshore 2010- $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 | $1,254,234.00 | $1,205,987.97 $0.0¢

LI.C
iE Canada Asset $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 | $2,458,902.87 | $1,084,469.67
‘inancing Holding
~ompany
jeneral Electric Capital $7,130,331.89 $0.00 | $5,454,703.89 $603,281.67 | $1,452,866.10 $0.0C
_orporation
3E Business Financial $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $734,375.00 | $4,025,263.44 $0.0C
services Inc.
3SC Capital Corp. Loan $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $593,498.67 $65,092.05
‘unding 2005-1
3SC Partners CDO $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $813,194.94 $89,187.2%
“und VII, Limited
viadison Capital $1,302,381.76 $0.00 $996,322.04 $0.00 | $1,530,103.38 $206,896.55
‘unding LLC
sargas CLO I Lid. $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $172,944.48 $18,965.52
Nells Fargo Capital $£0.00 $0.00 $0.00 | $1,083,333.33 | $1,698,000.27 $186,206.9C
‘Inance, Inc.
[OTAL $20,000,000.00 | $3,000,000.00 | $15,300,000.00 | $5,000,000.00 | $31,000,000.00 $4,000,000.0C
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ANNEX B
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT

CLOSING CHECKLIST

[see attached]
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ANNEX C
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT

PRO FORMA

C-1
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ANNEX D
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT

WIRE TRANSFER INFORMATION

Agent:

Name: Freeport Financial LLC
Bank: US Bank

ABA #: 075-000-022

Account #: 182380451175
Reference: Freeport re: Cetero

D-1
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ANNEXE
COMPLIANCE AND EXCESS CASH FLOW CERTIFICATE

PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC

Date: .

This Certificate is given by PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC (“Borrower Representative™)
pursuant to Section 7.2(o) of that certain Credit Agreement dated as of June 20, 2012 among Borrower
Representative, Borrowers, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders from time to time party
thereto, Freeport Financial LLC, as Agent (as such agreement may have been amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement™). Capitalized terms used
herein without definition shall have the meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The undersigned is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Certificate on behalf of Borrowers.
By executing this Certificate such officer hereby certifies to Agent and Lenders that:

(a) the financial statements delivered with this Certificate in accordance with Section 7.2(a)
and/or 7.2(b) of the Credit Agreement fairly present in all material respects the results of operations and
financial condition of US Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the dates of such financial statements
subject to the absence of footnotes and normal year end adjustments for unaudited statements;

(b) I have reviewed the terms of the Credit Agreement and have made, or caused to be made
under my supervision, a review in reasonable detail of the transactions and conditions of the Loan Parties
during the accounting period covered by such financial statements;

(c) except as set forth on Schedule 1 hereto, Borrowers are in compliance with the covenants
contained in Section 6 and, as set forth on Schedule 1 hereto, Section 7 of the Credit Agreement. [NOTE
TO BORROWERS: THE PORTION OF SCHEDULE 1 PERTAINING TO FINANCIAL
COVENANTS IS ONLY REQUIRED TO BE COMPLETED AS OF THE END OF EACH
FISCAL QUARTER];

(d) Excess Cash Flow, as demonstrated by the calculation on Schedule 2 hereto, for the
Fiscal Year ending equals § . [NOTE TO BORROWER: THIS CLAUSE IS
ONLY REQUIRED TO BE COMPLETED IN CONNECTION WITH THE DELIVERY OF
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PURSUANT TO SECTION 7.2(B) OF THE CREDIT
AGREEMENT COMMENCING WITH THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013];

(e} such review has not disclosed the existence during or at the end of such accounting
period, and I have no knowledge of the existence as of the date hereof, of any condition or event that
constitutes a Default or an Event of Default, except as set forth on Schedule 3 hereto, which includes a
description of the nature and period of existence of such Default or an Event of Default and what action
Borrowers have taken, is taking and proposes to take with respect thereto;

) except as set forth on Schedule 3 hereto, subsequent to the date of the most recent
Certificate submitted by Borrower Representative pursuant to Section 7.2(0) of the Credit Agreement, no
Loan Party has (i) changed its name as it appears in official filings in the jurisdiction of its organization,
(ii) changed its chief executive office, domicile (within the meaning of the Civil Code of Quebec),
registered office, principal place of business, corporate offices, warchouses or locations at which
Collateral is held or stored, or the location of its records concerning Collateral, (iii) changed the type of

E-1
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entity that it is, (iv) changed (or has had changed) its organization identification number, if any, issued by
its jurisdiction of organization, (v) changed its jurisdiction of organization, (vi} changed the end of its

Fiscal Year, or (vii) formed any new Subsidiary or entered into any partnership or joint venture with any
other Person; and -

(g) except as set forth on Schedule 3 hereto, subsequent to the date of the most recent
Certificate submitted by Borrower Representative pursuant to Section 7.2(0) of the Credit Agreement,

there has been no event which would alter any of the disclosures set forth on Schedule 4.1(b}) of the Credit
Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Borrower Representative has caused this Certificate to be executed by
its this day of :

2

PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC, as Borrower

Representative
By
Its

E-2
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SCHEDULE 1

Annex E
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE LIMIT

(Section 7.1(a))
Capital Expenditures during such period $
Permitted Capital Expenditures (including Carry Over Amount of
$ from prior fiscal year) $
In Compliance Yes/No

| MINIMUM EBITDA

(Section 7.1(b))
EBITDA $
Required EBITDA $
In Compliance Yes/No

MINIMUM FIXED CHARGE COVERAGE RATIO

(Section 7.1(c))
Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio
Required Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio
In compliance Yes/No

MAXIMUM LEVERAGE RATIO

(Section 7.1(¢))
Leverage Ratio
Required Leverage Ratio
In Compliance Yes/No

MINIMUM LIQUIDITY

(Section 7.1(f))
Liquidity -
Required Liquidity $2,500,000
In Compliance Yes/No

E-3
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EXCESS CASH FLOW
(Section 2.5)

Excess Cash Flow is calculated for US Borrower and its Subsidiaries, and is
defined as follows:

EBITDA (excluding, without duplication, any non-cash gains or losses
deducted from or added to Consolidated Net Income in the calculation
thereof or utilized to arrive at any deemed EBITDA number)

Plus:  decreases in Working Capital during the Fiscal Year*

extraordinary gains which are cash items not included in the
calculation of EBITDA

Less: (Without Duplication) Capital Expenditures (calculated in Section
7.1(a) of this Annex) (excluding the financed portion thereof and
excluding any Capital Expenditures in such Fiscal Year to the
extent in excess of the Capex Limit)

Interest Expense (calculated in Section 7.1(c) of this Annex)

scheduled principal payments paid or payable in respect of Funded
Debt

income and franchise taxes paid in cash during such

Fiscal Year or payable within the subsequent three (3) month period
after such Fiscal Year (without duplication between periods)
increases in Working Capital during the Fiscal Year*

losses or expenses which are cash items not included in the
calculation of EBITDA

aggregate amounts of all voluntary prepayments of Term Loans
applied in accordance with the provisions applicable to mandatory
prepayments

director’s fees, acquisition expenses, expenses for recruiting of
directors and senior executives, severance and non-recurring cash
expenses, in each case to the extent added back in the calculation of
EBITDA for such period

Insurance proceeds received during such period to the extent added
back in the calculation of EBITDA for such period

Subtotal
Required Prepayment Percentage

Excess Cash Flow

*Working Capital means Current Assets minus Current Liabilities.

CH\13559999.3

SCHEDULE 2
Amnex E

5%



SCHEDULE 3
Amnex E

CONDITIONS OR EVENTS WHICH CONSTITUTE A DEFAULT OR 7
EVENT OF DEFAULT

[If any condition or event exists that constitutes a Default or Event of Default, specify nature and
period of existence and what action either Borrower has taken, is taking or proposes to take with
respect thereto; if no condition or event exists, state “None.”]

ORGANIZATION/LOCATION CHANGES

[If any Loan Party has (i) changed its name as it appears in official filings in the jurisdiction
of its organization, (ii} changed its chief executive office, registered office, domicile (within the
meaning of the Civil Code of Quebec), principal place of business, corporate offices, warehouses or
locations at which Collateral is held or stored, or the location of its records concerning Collateral,
(iii) changed the type of entity that it is, (iv) changed (or has had changed) its organization
identification number, if any, issued by its jurisdiction or organization, (v) changed its jurisdiction
of organization, (vi) changed the end of its Fiscal Year, or (vii) formed any new Subsidiary or
entered into any partnership or joint venture with any Person, such change shall be specified
below; if no such change has been made, state “None.”]

CAPITALIZATION CHANGES

[If with respect to any Loan Party there has been a change in authorized Stock, issned and
outstanding Stock or the identity of the holders of any Stock, or if with respect to any Loan Party
there has been a change pertaining to preemptive rights or any other outstanding rights, options,
warrants, conversion rights or similar agreements or understandings for the purchase or

acquisition of any Stock, such change shall be set forth below; if no such change has occurred, state
GSNone'!!]

SENIOR MANAGEMENT CHANGES
[If any Loan Party has changed its Chief Exccutive Officer, Chief Administrative Officer,

Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operative Officer or Chairman of the Board of Directors; if no such
change has been made, state “None.”)

CH\1359999.3



EXHIBIT 2.1(a)
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF US TERM NOTE

$

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“US_Borrower™), HEREBY PROMISES TO PAY to the order of
(“Lender”) at the offices of FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, as Agent for Lenders (“Agent”), at its address at 500 West Madison
Street, Suite 1710, Chicago, Illinois 60661, or at such other place as Agent may designate from time to
time in writing, in lawful money of the United States of America and in immediately available funds, the
amount of DOLLARS AND CENTS (§$ ). All
capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings given to them in the “Credit
Agreement” (as hereinafter defined).

This US Term Note [A][B][C] (this “Term Note™) is issued pursuant to that certain Credit
Agreement dated as of June 20, 2012 by and among US Borrower, PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD.,
as Canadian Borrower, the other Persons named therein as Loan Parties, Agent, the other Persons party
thereto from time to time as Lenders (including all annexes, exhibits and schedules thereto and as from
time to time amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Credit Agreement™), and is
entitled to the benefit and security of all the Loan Documents to the extent provided therein and is subject
to optional and mandatory prepayment in whole or in part as provided therein. Reference is hereby made
to the Credit Agreement for a statement of all of the terms and conditions under which the Loans
evidenced hereby are made and are to be repaid. The principal balance of US Term Loan [A]IB][C], the
rates of interest applicable thereto and the date and amount of each payment made on account of the
principal thereof, shall be recorded by Agent on its books; provided that the failure of Agent to make any
such recordation shall not affect the obligations of US Borrower to make a payment when due of any
amount owing under the Credit Agreement or this Term Note.

The principal amount of the indebtedness evidenced hereby shall be payable in the amounts and
on the dates specified in the Credit Agreement. Interest thereon shall be paid until such principal amount
is paid in full at such interest rates and at such times, and pursuant to such calculations, as are specified in
the Credit Agreement. The terms of the Credit Agreement are hereby incorporated herein by reference.

If any payment on this Term Note becomes due and payable on a day other than a Business Day,
the payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day and, with respect to payments
of principal, interest thereon shall be payable at the then applicable rate during such extension.

Upon and after the occurrence of any Event of Default, this Term Note may, as provided in the
Credit Agreement, be declared, and immediately shall become, due and payable.

Except as provided in the Credit Agreement, this Term Note may not be assigned by Lender to
any Person.

THIS TERM NOTE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS WITHOUT
REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES.

CH\375066.2



PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC

By:
Name:
Title:

CH\1375066.2



EXHIBIT 2.1(b)
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF CANADIAN TERM NOTE

$

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD, a

British Columbia corporation (“Canadian Borrower™), HEREBY PROMISES TO PAY to the order of

(“Lender”) at the offices of FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC, a

Delaware limited liability company, as Agent for Lenders {“Agent™), at its address at 500 West Madison

Street, Suite 1710, Chicago, 1llinois 60661, or at such other place as Agent may designate from time to

time in writing, in lawful money of the United States of America and in immediately available funds, the

amount of DOLLARS AND CENTS (§ ). All

capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings given to them in the “Credit
Agreement” (as hereinafter defined).

This Canadian Term Note (this “Term Note™) is issued pursuant to that certain Credit Agreement
dated as of June 20, 2012 by and among Canadian Borrower, PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, as US Borrower, and the other Persons party thereto from time to
time as Lenders (including all annexes, exhibits and schedules thereto and as from time to time amended,
restated, supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Credit Agreement™), and is entitled to the benefit and
security of all the Loan Documents to the extent provided therein and is subject to optional and
mandatory prepayment in whole or in part as provided therein. Reference is hereby made to the Credit
Agreement for a statement of all of the terms and conditions under which the Loans evidenced hereby are
made and are to be repaid. The principal balance of Canadian Term Loan B, the rates of interest
applicable thereto and the date and amount of each payment made on account of the principal thereof,
shall be recorded by Agent on its books; provided that the failure of Agent to make any such recordation
shall not affect the obligations of Canadian Borrower to make a payment when due of any amount owing
under the Credit Agreement or this Term Note.

The principal amount of the indebtedness evidenced hereby shall be payable in the amounts and
on the dates specified in the Credit Agreement. Interest thereon shall be paid until such principal amount
is paid in full at such interest rates and at such times, and pursuant to such calculations, as are specified in
the Credit Agreement. The terms of the Credit Agreement are hercby incorporated herein by reference.

If any payment on this Term Note becomes due and payable on a day other than a Business Day,
the payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day and, with respect to payments
of principal, interest thereon shall be payable at the then applicable rate during such extension.

Upon and after the occurrence of any Event of Default, this Term Note may, as provided in the
Credit Agreement, be declared, and, thereupon, it immediately shall become, due and payable.

Except as provided in the Credit Agreement, this Term Note may not be assigned by Lender to
any Person.

THIS TERM NOTE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS WITHOUT
REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES.

CH\1375066.2



PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD. .

By:
Name:
Title:

CH\1375066.2



EXHIBIT 2.1(c)(i)
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF REVOLVING NOTE

$

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“US Borrower™), HEREBY PROMISES TO PAY to the order of
(“Lender”), at the offices of FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, as Agent for Lenders (“Agent™), at its address at 500 West Madison
Street, Suite 1710, Chicago, Iilinois 60661, or at such other place as Agent may designate from time to
time in writing, in lawful money of the United States of America and in immediately available funds, the
amount  of DOLLARS AND CENTS
(% ) or, if less, the aggregate unpaid amount of all Revolving Credit Advances made to the
undersigned under the “Credit Agreement” (as hereinafter defined). All capitalized terms used but not
otherwise defined herein have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.

This Revolving Note (“Revolving Note™) is one of the Revolving Notes issued pursuant to that
certain Credit Agreement dated as of June 20, 2012 by and among US Borrower, PRACS Institute Canada
B.C. LTD., as Canadian Borrower, the other Persons named therein as Loan Parties, Agent, and the other
Persons party thereto from time to time as Lenders (including all annexes, exhibits and schedules thereto,
and as from time to time amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Credit
Agreement”), and is entitled to the benefit and security of all the Loan Documents to the extent provided
therein and is subject to optional and mandatory prepayment in whole or in part as provided therein.
Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement for a statement of all of the terms and conditions under
which the Loans evidenced hereby are made and are to be repaid. The date and amount of each
Revolving Credit Advance made by Lender to US Borrower, the rates of interest applicable thereto and
cach payment made on account of the principal thereof, shall be recorded by Agent on its books; provided
that the failure of Agent to make any such recordation shall not affect the obligations of US Borrower to
make a payment when due of any amount owing under the Credit Agreement or this Revolving Note in
respect of the Revolving Credit Advances made by Lender to US Borrower.

The principal amount of the indebtedness evidenced hereby shall be payable in the amounts and
on the dates specified in the Credit Agreement. Interest thereon shall be paid until such principal amount
is paid in full at such interest rates and at such times, and pursuant to such calculations, as are specified in
the Credit Agreement. The terms of the Credit Agreement are hereby incorporated herein by reference.

If any payment on this Revolving Note becomes due and payable on a day other than a Business
Day, the payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day and, with respect to
payments of principal, interest thereon shall be payable at the then applicable rate during such extension.

Upon and after the occurrence of any Event of Default, this Revolving Note may, as provided in
the Credit Agreement, be declared, and immediately shall become, due and payable.

CH\1375066.2



Except as provided in the Credit Agreement, this Revolving Note may not be assigned by Lender
to any Person. .

THIS REVOLVING NOTE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED AND
ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS
WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES.

PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC

By:
Name:
Title:

CH\1375066.2



EXHIBIT 2.1(c)(ii)
fo
CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF NOTICE OF REVOLVING CREDIT ADVANCE

2

Freeport Financial LLC,

500 West Madison Street, Suite 1710

Chicago, Illinois 60661

Attention: PRACS Institute Account Manager

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC, a Delaware corporation (“Borrower
Representative™) refers to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2012 (the “Credit Agreement,” the
terms defined therein being used hercin as therein defined), by and among PRACS Institute Holdings,
LLC, as US Borrower, PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD., as Canadian Borrower, the other Persons
named therein as Loan Parties, Freeport Financial LLC, as Agent, and Lenders, and hereby gives you
notice, irrevocably, pursuant to Section 2.1(c) of the Credit Agreement, that the undersigned hereby
requests a Revolving Credit Advance under the Credit Agreement, and in that connection sets forth below

the information relating fo such Revolving Credit Advance as required by Section 2.1(¢) of the Credit
Agreement:

(i) The date of the requested Revolving Credit Advance is

2

(ii) The aggregate amount of the requested Revolving Credit Advance is
$ .

(i)  The requested Revolving Credit Advance is [an Index Rate Loan] [a LIBOR
Loan with a LIBOR Period of R

(iv) The requested Revolving Credit Advance is to be sent to:

[Name of Bank]
[City of Bank]
Beneficiary:
Account No.: [number]
ABA No.: [number]
Attn: [pame]

The undersigned hereby certifies that all of the statements contained in Section 3.2 of the Credit
Agreement are true and correct in all material respects on the date hereof, and will be true in all material
respects on the date of the requested Revolving Credit Advance, before and after giving effect thereto and
to the application of the proceeds therefrom, including, without limitation, pro forma compliance with the
financial covenants in Section 7.1 of the Credit Agreement.

CI375066.2



PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC

By:
Name:
Title:

CH\375066.2



EXHIBIT 2.1(d)
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF SWING LINE NOTE
(Single Borrower)

Chicago, Illinois

JR—

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“US Borrower”), HEREBY PROMISES TO PAY to the order of
, a (“Swing Line Lender”) at the offices of

FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as Agent for Lenders (“Agent™), at
its address at 500 West Madison Street, Suite 1710, Chicago, Illinois 60661, or at such other place as
Agent may designate from time to time in writing, in lawful money of the United States of America and
in immediately available funds, the amount of DOLLARS AND __ CENTS
% ) or, if less, the aggregate unpaid amount of all Swing Line Advances made to the
undersigned under the Credit Agreement (as hercinafter defined). All capitalized terms used but not

otherwise defined herein have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement (as hereinafter
defined).

This Swing Line Note is issued pursuant to that certain Credit Agreement dated as of June 20,
2012 by and among US Borrower, PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD., as Canadian Borrower, the other
Persons named therein as Loan Parties, Agent, Swing Line Lender and the other Persons party thereto
from time to time as Lenders (including all annexes, exhibits and schedules thereto and as from time to
time amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Credit Agreement™), and is entitled to
the benefit and security of all the Loan Documents to the extent provided therein. Reference is hereby
made to the Credit Agreement for a statement of all of the terms and conditions under which the Loans
evidenced hereby are made and are to be repaid. The date and amount of each Swing Line Advance made
by Swing Line Lender to US Borrower, the rate of interest applicable thereto and each payment made on
account of the principal thereof, shall be recorded by Agent on its books; provided that the failure of
Agent to make any such recordation shall not affect the obligations of US Borrower to make a payment
when due of any amount owing under the Credit Agreement or this Swing Line Note in respect of the
Swing Line Advances made by Swing Line Lender to US Borrower.

The principal amount of the indebtedness evidenced hereby shall be payable in the amounts and
on the dates specified in the Credit Agreement, the terms of which are hereby incorporated herein by
reference. Interest thereon shall be paid until such principal amount is paid in full at such interest rates
and at such times, and pursuant to such calculations, as are specified in the Credit Agreement. The terms
of the Credit Agreement are hereby incorporated herein by reference.

If any payment on this Swing Line Note becomes due and payable on a day other than a Business
Day, the payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day and, with respect to
payments of principal, interest thereon shall be payable at the then applicable rate during such extension.

Upon and after the occurrence of any Event of Default, this Swing Line Note may, as provided in
the Credit Agreement, and without presentment, demand, protest, notice of intent to accelerate, notice of
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acceleration or other legal requirement of any kind (all of which are hereby expressly waived by US
Borrower), be declared, and immediately shall become, due and payable.

Time is of the essence of this Swing Line Note.

Except as provided in the Credit Agreement, this Swing Line Note may not be assigned by
Lender to any Person.

THIS SWING LINE NOTE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED AND
ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF
ILLINOIS WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES.

PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC

By:
Name:
Title:

CH\1375066.2



_EXHIBIT 2.1{H)
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT

REQUEST FOR ISSUANCE OF LETTER OF CREDIT

L]

Freeport Financial L.LC

500 West Madison Street, Suite 1710

Chicago, Illinois 60661

Attention: PRACS Institute Account Manager

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“Borrower Representative™) refers to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2012 (the “Credit
Agreement,” the terms defined therein being used herein as therein defined), by and among PRACS
Institute Holdings, LL.C, as US Borrower, PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD., as Canadian Borrower,
the other Persons named therein as Loan Parties, Freeport Financial LLC, as Agent for the Lenders, and
the Lenders, and hereby requests, pursuant to Section 2.1(f) of the Credit Agreement, the issuance of a
Letter of Credit under the Credit Agreement, and in that connection sets forth below the information
relating to such Letter of Credit as required by Section 2.1(f) of the Credit Agreement:

(i) The date of issuance [or effective date of increase or extension] of the requested
Letter of Credit is

-

(i) The amount [or the amount of increase] of the Letter of Credit is §
(iii)  The name of the beneficiary of the Letter of Credit is:

(iv)  The transaction for which such Letter of Credit is to be issued is described as
follows:

(vi}  The expiry [or extended expiry] date of such Letter of Credit is: .
The undersigned hereby certifies that all of the statements contained in Section 3.2 of the Credit

Agreement are true and correct on the date hereof, and will be true on the date of the requested Letter of
Credit, before and after giving effect thereto and to the issuance thereof.

PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, L1L.C

By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT 2.2(¢)
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF NOTICE OF CONVERSION/CONTINUATION

Reference is made to that certain Credit Agreement dated as of June 20, 2012 by and among
PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC (“US Borrower™), PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD. (“Canadian
Borrower™), the other Persons named therein as Loan Parties, Freeport Financial LL.C (“Agent™), and the
Lenders from time to time party thereto (including all annexes, exhibits or schedules thereto, and as from
time to time amended, restated, supplemented or otherwisc modified, the “Credit Agreement™).
Capitalized terms used herein without definition are so used as defined in the Credit Agreement.

Borrower Representative hereby gives irrevocable notice, pursuant to Section 2.2(e) of the Credit
Agreement, of its request to:

(a) on [__date ] convert $] |of the aggregate outstanding principal amount
of the | ] Loan outstanding to [US/Canadian] Borrower, bearing interest at the
[ Rate, into a(n) | | Loan [and, in the case of a LIBOR Loan, having a LIBOR

Period of | | month(s)];

[(b) on | date ] continue §] lof the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of the | | Loan outstanding to [US/Canadian] Borrower, bearing interest at the
[LIBOR Rate, as a LIBOR Loan having a LIBOR Period of | | month(s)]].

Borrower Representative certifies that the conversion and/or continuation of the Loans requested
above is for the separate account of the [US/Canadian] Borrower in the following amount:

$ ].

Borrower Representative hereby certifies that all of the statements contained in Section 3.2 of the
Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects on the date hereof, and will be true in all
material respects on the date of the requested conversion/continuation, before and after giving effect
thereto.

PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC
By:

Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT 7.2(d)
BORROWING BASE CERTIFICATE

PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC

Date: .

This Certificate is given by PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC (“Borrower Representative™)
pursuant to subsection 7.2(d) of that certain Credit Agreement dated as of June 20, 2012 among Borrower
Representative, Borrowers, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders from time to time party
thereto, Freeport Financial LLC, as Agent (as such agreement may have been amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time the “Credit Agreement™). Capitalized terms used
herein without definition shall have the meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The undersigned is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Certificate on behalf of US
Borrower. By executing this Certificate such officer hereby certifies to Agent and Lenders that:

(a) Attached hereto as Schedule 1 is a calculation of the [proposed] Borrowing Base
for US Borrower as of the above date;

(b) Based con such schedule, the [proposed] Borrowing Base as of the above date is:

$

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Borrower Representative has caused this Certificate to be executed by
its this day of .

3>

PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC, as Borrower
Representative

By:
Its:

Ex. 7.2(d)-1
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(2)

SCHEDULE 1
to Exhibit 7.2(d)

BORROWING BASE CALCULATION
PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC

CALCULATION OF BORROWING BASE

Applicable Multiple

Multiplied by:

(b)

EBITDA of Holding and its Subsidiaries for the twelve-month period

“ending on [insert date of most recent monthly financial statements

(c)

Less:

(d

(e)

CH\I359999.3

required to be delivered pursuant to Section 7.2 of the Credit
Agreement] $

Product of (a) and (b) b

total Funded Debt (other than the balance of the Revolving Loans)
$

Borrowing Base as of [insert date of Borrowing Base Certificate] §
((¢) minus (d)) (if not a positive number, such amount shall be
deemed to be zero)

Ex. 7.2(d)-2



EXHIBIT 9.1
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT

ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

This Assignment Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made as of L, by and
between (“Assignor Lender™) and
(“Assignee Lender”) and acknowledged and consented to by FREEPORT
FINANCIAL LLC, as agent (“Agent”) and [PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC, as US borrower (“US
Borrower”)/ PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD., as Canadian borrower (“Canadian Borrower™)]. All
capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not otherwise defined herein will have the respective
meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement as hereinafter defined.

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, [US/Canadian] Borrower, [PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC, as US
Borrower/PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD., as Canadian Borrower] (US Borrower and Canadian
Borrower are collectively referred to herein, as “Borrowers™), the other Persons named therein as Loan
Parties, Freeport Financial LLC, as Agent, Assignor Lender and other Persons party thereto as Lenders
have entered into that certain Credit Agreement dated as of June 20, 2012 (as amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement™) pursuant to which
Assignor Lender has agreed to make and continue to make certain Loans to, and incur and continue to
incur certain Letter of Credit Obligations for, Borrowers;

WHEREAS, Assignor Lender desires to assign to Assignee Lender [all/a portion] of its interest
in the Loans (as described below), the Letter of Credit Obligations and the Collateral and to delegate to
Assignee Lender [all/a portion] of its Revolving Loan Commitments and other duties with respect to
such Loans, Letter of Credit Obligations and Collateral;

WHEREAS, Assignee Lender desires to become a Lender under the Credit Agreement and to
accept such assignment and delegation from Assignor Lender; and '

WHEREAS, Assignee Lender desires to appoint Agent to serve as agent for Assignee Lender
under the Credit Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the agreements, provisions, and
covenants herein contained, Assignor Lender and Assignee Lender agree as follows:

1. ASSIGNMENT, DELEGATION, AND ACCEPTANCE

1.1 Assignment. Assignor Lender hereby transfers and assigns to Assignee Lender, without
recourse and without representations or warranties of any kind (except as set forth in Section 3.2),
fall/such percentage] of Assignor Lender’s right, title, and interest in [the Revolving Loan |, [the US
Term Loan A], [the US Term Loan B], [the US Term Loan C] [the Canadian Term Loan C], [the
Loans], [Letter of Credit Obligations], Loan Documents and the Collateral as will result in Assignee
Lender having as of the Effective Date (as hereinafter defined) a Pro Rata Share thereof, as follows:

Assignee Lender’s Loans Principal Amount Pro Rata Share -
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Revolving Loan $ %

US Term Loan A $ %
US Term Loan B $ %
US Term Loan C k) %
Canadian Term Loan C $ %

1.2 Delegation. Assignor Lender hereby irrevocably assigns and delegates to Assighee
Lender [all/a portion] of its Revolving Loan Commitments and its other duties and obligations as a
Lender under the Loan Documents equivalent to the Pro Rata Shares set forth above.

1.3 Acceptance by Assignee Lender. By its execution of this Agreement, Assignee Lender
irrevocably purchases, assumes and accepts such assignment and delegation and agrees to be a Lender
with respect to the delegated interest under the Loan Documents and to be bound by the terms and
conditions thereof. By its execution of this Agreement, Assignor Lender agrees, to the extent provided
herein, to relinquish its rights and be released from its obligations and duties under the Credit Agreement.

1.4 Effective Date. Such assignment and delegation by Assignor Lender and acceptance by -
Assignee Lender will be effective and Assignee Lender will become a Lender under the Loan Documents
as of [the date of this Agreement]{ . ] (“Effective Date™) and upon payment of the Assigned
Amount and the Assignment Fee (as each term is defined below). Interest and Fees accrued prior to the
Effective Date are for the account of Assignor Lender, and Interest and Fees accrued from and after the
Effective Date are for the account of Assignee Lender.

2. INITIAL PAYMENT AND DELIVERY OF NOTES

2.1 Payment of the Assigned Amount. Assignee Lender will pay to Assignor Lender, in
immediately available funds, not later than 11:00 a.m. (Chicago time) on the Effective Date, an amount
equal to its Pro Rata Share of the then outstanding principal amount of the Loans as set forth above in
Section 1.1 (the “Assigned Amount™).

22 Payment of Assignment Fee. [Assignor Lender and/or Assignee Lender] will pay to
Agent, for its own account in immediately available funds, not later than 11:00 a.m. (Chicago time the
Effective Date, the assignment fee in the amount of $3,500 (the “Assignment Fee™) as required pursuant
to Section 9.1(a) of the Credit Agreement.

23 Execution and Delivery of Notes. Following payment of the Assigned Amount and the
Assignment Fee, Assignor Lender will deliver to Agent the Notes previously delivered to Assignor
Lender for redelivery to [US/Canadian] Borrower and Agent will obtain from [US/Canadian] Borrower
for delivery to [Assignor Lender and] Assignee Lender, new executed Notes evidencing Assignee
Lender’s [and Assignor Lender’s respective] Pro Rata Share[s] in the Loans after giving effect to the
assignment described in Section I. Each new Note will be issued in the aggregate maximum principal
amount of the [Revolving Loan Commitment], [US Term Loan A Amount], [US Term Loan B
Amount], [US Term Loan C Amount], or [Canadian Term Loan C Amounts] [of the Lender to
whom such Note is issued] OR [the Assignee Lender].

3 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS
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3.1

Assignee Lender’s Representations, Warranties and Covenants. Assignee Lender hereby

represents, warrants, and covenants the following to Assignor Lender and Agent:

CH\1375066.2

(a) This Agreement is a legal, valid, and binding agreement of Assignee
Lender, enforceable according to its terms;

(b) The execution and performance by Assignee Lender of its duties and
obligations under this Agreement and the Loan Documents will not require any
registration with, notice to, or consent or approval by any Governmental Authority;

(c) Assignee Lender is familiar with transactions of the kind and scope
reflected in the Loan Documents and in this Agreement;

(d) Assignee Lender has made its own independent investigation and
appraisal of the financial condition and affairs of each Loan Party, has conducted its own
evaluation of the Loans and Letter of Credit Obligations, the Loan Documents and each
Loan Party’s creditworthiness, has made its decision to become a Lender to
[US/Canadian] Borrower under the Credit Agreement independently and without
reliance upon Assignor Lender or Agent, and will continue to do so;

(e) Assignee Lender is entering into this Agreement in the ordinary course
of its business, and is acquiring its interest in the Loans and Letter of Credit Obligations
for its own account and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any subsequent
distribution; provided, however, that at all times the distribution of Assignee Lender’s
property shall, subject to the terms of the Credit Agreement, be and remain within its
control;

® No filture assignment or participation granted by Assignee Lender
pursuant to Section 9.1 of the Credit Agreement will require Assignor Lender, Agent, or
[US/Canadian] Borrower to file any registration statement with the Securities and
Exchange Commission or to apply to qualify under the blue sky laws of any state;

(g Assignee Lender has no loans to, written or oral agreements with, or
equity or other ownership interest in any Loan Party;

(h) Assignee Lender will not enter into any written or oral agreement with,

or acquire any equity or other ownership interest in, any Loan Party without the prior
written consent of Agent;

(i) As of the Effective Date, Assignee Lender (i) is entitled to receive
payments of principal, interest and fees in respect of the Obligations without deduction
for or on account of any taxes imposed by the United States of America or any political
subdivision thereof [if an Event of Default has not occurred that is continuing] or by
Canada T, (ii) is not subject to capital adequacy or similar requirements under Section
2.8(a) of the Credit Agreement, (iii) does not require the payment of any increased costs
under Section 2.8(b) of the Credit Agreement, and (iv) is not unable to fund LIBOR
Loans under Section 2.8(b) of the Credit Agreement, ] and Assignee Lender will
indemnify Agent from and against all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties,
actions, judgments, suits, costs, or expenses that result from Assignee Lender’s failure to




fulfill its obligations under the terms of Section 2.9(c) of the Credit Agreement [or from
any other inaccuracy in-the foregoing]; and

i) The execution and performance by Assignee Lender of its duties and
obligations under this Agreement and the Loan Documents will not result in a non-
exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the IRC
with respect to the Plans.

32 Assignor Lender’s Representations, Warranties and Covenants. Assignor Lender hereby
represents, warrants and covenants the following to Assignee Lender:

(a) Assignor Lender is the legal and beneficial owner of the Assigned
Amount;

(b) This Agreement is a legal, valid and binding agreement of Assignor
Lender, enforceable according to its terms;

(c) The execution and performance by Assignor Lender of its duties and
obligations under this Agreement and the Loan Documents will not require any
registration with, notice to or consent or approval by any Governmental Authority:;

(d) Assignor Lender has full power and authority, and has taken all action
necessary to execute and deliver this Agreement and to fulfill the obligations hercunder
and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby;

(e) Assignor Lender is the legal and beneficial owner of the interests being
assigned hereby, free and clear of any adverse claim, lien, encumbrance, security interest,
restriction on transfer, purchase option, call or similar right of a third party; and

) This Assignment by Assignor Lender to Assignee Lender complies, in all
material respects, with the terms of the Loan Documents.

4. LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY

Neither Assignor Lender (except as provided in Section 3.2) nor Agent makes any representations
or warranties of any kind, nor assumes any responsibility or liability whatsoever, with regard to (a) the
Loan Documents or any other document or instrument furnished pursuant thereto or the Loans, Letter of
Credit Obligations or other Obligations, (b) the creation, validity, genuineness, enforceability, sufficiency,
value or collectibility of any of them, (c) the amount, value or existence of the Collateral, (d) the
perfection or priority of any Lien upon the Collateral, or (¢) the financial condition of any Loan Party or
other obligor or the performance or observance by any Loan Party of its obligations under any of the Loan
Documents. Neither Assignor Lender nor Agent has or will have any duty, either initially or on a
continuing basis, to make any investigation, evaluation, appraisal of, or any responsibility or liability with
respect to the accuracy or completeness of, any information provided to Assignee Lender which has been
provided to Assignor Lender or Agent by any Loan Party. Nothing in this Agreement or in the Loan

Documents shall impose upon the Assignor Lender or Agent any fiduciary relationship in respect of the
Assignee Lender.

5. FAILURE TO ENFORCE
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No failure or delay on the part of Agent or Assignor Lender in the exercise of any power, right, or
privilege hereunder or under any Loan Document will impair such power, right, or privilege or be
construed to be a waiver of any default or acquiescence therein. No single or partial exercise of any such
power, right, or privilege will preclude further exercise thereof or of any other right, power, or privilege.
All rights and remedies existing under this Agreement are cumulative with, and not exclusive of, any
rights or remedies otherwise available.

6. NOTICES

Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, any notice or other communication required or
permitted to be given will be in writing and addressed to the respective party as set forth below its
signature hereunder, or to such other address as the party may designate in writing to the other.

7. AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS

No amendment, modification, termination, or waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be
effective without the written concurrence of Assignor Lender, Agent and Assignee Lender.

8. SEVERABILITY

Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such manner as to be
effective and valid under applicable law. In the event any provision of this Agreement is or is held to be
invalid, illegal, or unenforceable under applicable law, such provision will be ineffective only to the
extent of such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability, without invalidating the remainder of such
provision or the remaining provisions of the Agreement. In addition, in the event any provision of or
obligation under this Agreement is or is held to be invalid, iilegal, or unenforceable in any jurisdiction,
the validity, legality, and enforceability of the remaining provisions or obligations in any other
jurisdictions will not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

9. SECTION TITLES

Section and Subsection titles in this Agreement are included for convenience of reference only,
do not constitute a part of this Agreement for any other purpose, and have no substantive effect,

10. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their
respective successors and assigns.

11.  APPLICABLE LAW

THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED
BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE AND
PERFORMED IN THAT STATE.

12. COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement and any amendments, waivers, consents, or supplements may be executed in any
number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which, when so
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executed and delivered, will be deemed an original and all of which shall together constitute one and the
same instrument.

[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed as of the date first written
above.

ASSIGNEE LENDER: ASSIGNOR LENDER:
By: By:

Title: Title:

Notice Address: Notice Address:

ACKNOWLEDGED AND CONSENTED TO:

FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC

By:
Title:

[PRACS INSTITUTE HOLDINGS, LLC, as Borrower Representative]

By:
Title:

CH\1375066.2



YSLLLLETNHD

‘Auno)) 91se) MaN UOIFWWIM
10ang 23uLIQ 60Z1

#0185 (N ‘0318

J91u9)) st [, uorrerodio)) AemyreJ A9[BA 2T1
gpuol] | Auedwo)) isni], uonerodio)) ayf Dquy 108% areme[a(q | “ruerpyl amnsuy SOVIJ
10861 aremed(q
‘AIUno)) Apse)) MaN ‘uoiFuruIm
SBX9], 102mg 23UBIQ 6071 | #0185 AN “03Ie]
TINOSSTIA Iua)) Isna] uonelodion Kemyred Aa[[eA
rloyeq uoN | Auedwo)) isni] uonelodro) oy, Bquy 108% oremee( T “mnsu] SOVId
, 10861 aTemes(] _
‘AJuno)) apse)) MIN “UOITUIWI M
190mg 95WRIO 6071 | #0T8S AN ‘0318]
Iua)) Isnuy, uonerodio)) Aemjre AS[[BA DTT “Yusmaseuryl
ouoN | Auedwo)) 1sni] uoreiodio) oy Iaquiy 108% aremeReQq amusu] SOVId
10861 2reme[2(q
‘Auno)) aise) maN woiSuruim
1921g 38uI) 6071 | $O18S AN ‘0518]
pua)y isnif uonerodion | Aemyred AS[[BA ‘AL1D9
oureiuQ | Ausduwio)) jsnif, uonerodio)) Y, Ioqury J08% | elqunjo) ysnug | epeue)) Ampsu] SOVIJ
[0861 2IeME[2(J
‘Aumo)) aMIse)) MSN ‘U0ISUTUITAN
1e0mg 93UBIQ 60T | $018S AN ‘08Te]
IRua) isni] uonelodio) Aemied AS[[BA DT ‘SSUIp[oH
auoN | Auedwo) isnip uonerodio) ayj RV [08Y aremera(J annsu] SHOVId
STONEOTIen ) OI() 2ADINOSXL UONEZIUESI()
UBToI0] T PaIaISISay Jo uoneso’| | JoIq) Jo uonedso| | JO uonoIpsumf Alieg ueo|

STONEIJI[EN() pue UONEZIUELS.I() JO STOT)IPSLINP
(®)1°p a[npaydg




VELLLLETNHD

SEXQ],

10861 aTemela(q

‘Auno)) s[ise) maN ‘uoiSuruipm
193ng s8ueIQ 6071

Ioquay) isnr] uonerodio))
Aueduro) 1sni], vonerodio) sy

$018S N ‘031eg
Aemjreg Aaqrep

Rqury 108+

aremeR(

I ‘omuojuy
UBg 3mnsuy SOVAd

10861 AIBMEIR(]




PSLLLLETNHD

%EF0 %000 %SL'0 DT SSWIP[O]] YD) SedIes o¢
payIry
%10 9%00°0 %LS'€ “IIA pung O sweuped DSH L1
. 1-500T .
%Ly 1 %000 %I19'C Sugpun,f ueo “dro) [ende) DSD ¢Z1
%69'C %0070 %9L'¥ ST 1-0107 210UsiyO Wodoarg 87¢C
%918 %00°0 %8t 71 1-900T 1Sni], uro] 1odsarn] £69
%EYL 200°0 %IT €l DT 1-010T 2I0ysu() Hodsan] Z£9
0711
%LE9 %000 %1€ 11 ‘pung UROT SLOYSIFO Hoddar] |87
%0L"L %0070 %L9 €T DT punyg weor uodasrg #S9
. 011
%206 %000 %€0°91 (VSN) $aNUNd9G 3ssMG NP1 L9L
%91°P %000 %0 L "0 2 UBWILLIR] SIAYI0IY UMOI] 1283
%L89 %000 %071 [BSNUOIA JO ueg 78S
: (S8L'p “12300) D11 ‘SsulploH
1-V sse1D aymysuy SOVIJ
stSeq] pami(q
H=d J e uo
PIUAMQ STU[Y SLeTg] U
V SSE[D JO ¢-V SSe[D JO -V SSE[D JO (pareoymioo 1ou)
dNSRUAQ % | JSBumQ %, | dGsoumO % IPjoH SJTa[] ponss] KB Ue0'|

(D 1y sInpoyds




PELLLLET\HD

%001 SUMO 2T1
OQOZ OAN Jﬁuﬁow.mﬂ.mz B.BﬁmﬁH mUém ﬂ .O.Z ﬁmﬁwumgﬁ JO Z .maﬁmz m“:._h—_wmﬁm w\r.ué
%00] Sumo
QuON D17 ‘ueuddeuey 3nsul SOV 1 "ON paleISIMU JON DT ‘“mmsul SOV
%001 DT pusmdgeue |
QUON SUMO T ‘SSUIP[OH 21Insu] SOV Hd I 'ON pajerauInu JoN amnsuy SOV
24001 ‘Ar1°0dl
vﬂoz SUMO O‘H.H anQﬂiom ouﬂuﬁmﬂ mmvém qu ﬁoum mo.ﬂwsw QOEEOO OON «ﬁ&ﬂﬂo wu-wmwwﬂu m0§n—_
o2 mnﬁ E ﬂomm.HQwGOO
.mag.ﬂma .mﬁoﬂno .Hun_gz ﬁm“wm.ﬁouﬁw\mo.ﬂmﬂm
.muﬂwa mnﬂuﬁmwwado Q—NOME&OO mo .5&5.5.:
.Bﬁo JO O>ﬂﬂ§®omm Cﬂﬂmuvﬂao ﬂX. ﬁﬁd .AOEOH.H wmo.ﬂuwﬁH\uﬁwﬂw Moouw ﬁONﬁoﬂuﬂ&ﬂ Nﬁ.mm Qmoﬂ
ol |
%L6°8 2%00°0 %00°0 SOOIAIOS [eIOUBUL] SSIUISNY HO) 79L
uoneliodion
%80°11 2%00°0 %000 [eyde)) 911309[F [eISUSD) w6
Auedwio) Fuipjog
%06°L %00°0 %000 Suroueur] 19s8y BpRUR)) 7O 1L9
(SLET :Te107)
SJUBLIEAA
%0t 299°9C %00°0 *ou] ‘soueury [gide)) o8B S[oM LS¢E
%0¢°S 2%89°CE %00°0 DT Suipuny [eiide) uosipey ISt
"pyT uewAR)) [BIOURUL] [[IYomyD)
%ST9 %99°6€ %000 I0J 98N], SE "y'N Jued ‘'S €6
(6€€°T :1¥103)
£-V sse[)




VELLLLENNHD

SUON

%001 sumo
DT Yuswsdeuepy INsUl SOV

I 'ON

PareIsuImU 10N

DT ‘oruojuy)
ueg aymnsuy SOV




Schedule 4.7
Use of Proceeds

US Borrower has assumed the principal and interest owing under the DIP Revolving
Facility outstanding as of the Closing Date (which principal amount is the aggregate
principal amount of Revolving Loans outstanding on the Closing Date).

US Borrower has assumed the principal balance of the Roll-Up Obligations outstanding
on the Closing Date, which is US Term Loan A.

Obligations under notes issued by the Borrowers as a portion of the Credit Bid and
Acquisition Consideration evidence on the Closing Date the US Term Loan B, US Term
Loan C and the Canadian Term Loan C.
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Schedule 4.8
Broker’s Fees

None.
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Schedule 4.10

Intellectual Property

Trademarks
. Registration
Jurisdiction | Trademark No Owner Status
United PRACS Institute .
States CETERO 3,257,599 Management, LLC Registered
PRACS Institute -
Canada CETERO TMA710,057 Management, LLC Registered
PRACS Institute
Curobeatl | CETERO 005688361 | Management, LLC | Registered
. PRACS Institute .
India CETERO 1528441 Management, LLC Pending
. PRACS Institute .
India CETERO 1542681 Management, LLC Pending
PRACS Institute .
Japan CETERO 5061496 Management, LLC Registered
United PRACS Institute .
States PRACS 1935478 Management, LLC Registered
. PRACS Institute
ISJtI;::t:Sd 1939722 Management, LLC Registered
United DGD PRACS Institute .
States RESEARCH 3537149 Management, LL.C Registered
Patents
Jurisdiction Title Patent / Serial # g::g Owner
Methods, Materials And Apparatus For Eﬁﬂtgtse
Canada Investigating Asthma Using Dust Mite | 2,673,285 6/7/2007 Management
Allergen LLC :
European Methods, Materials And Apparatus For i}:‘t‘:ﬁi
Patent Convent Investigating Asthma Using Dust Mite | 07719912.3 6/7/2007 Management,
Allergen LLC
P
Methods, Materials And Apparatus For IIE:TSZ
United States Investigation Asthma Using Dust Mite | 11/450,786 6/9/2006 Management
Allergen LLC ’
FRACS
Methods, Materials And Apparatus For s
WIPO Investigating Asthma Using Dust Mite | ¢ CA200700 | 617007 Eﬁa“g:men t
Allergen LLC ’
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Filed

Jurisdiction Title Patent / Serial # Date Owner
PRACS
Method And Chamber For Exposure to Institute
Canada Non-Allergic Rhinitis Trigger CA2754272" 3/8/2010 | Management,
Environments LLC and
Piyush Patel
FRACS
Method And Chamber For Exposure to Institute
g:::rﬂeél:mven . | Non-Allergic Rhinitis Trigger 10748277.01 3/8/2010 | Management,
' Environments LLC and
' Piyush Patel
PRACS
Method And Chamber For Exposure to Institute
India Non-Allergic Rhinitis Trigger g?Z?IKOLNPQ 3/8/2010 | Management,
Environments LLCand
Piyush Patel
PRACS
Method And Chamber For Exposure to Institute
Japan Non-Allergic Rhinitis Trigger 2011-552293" 3/8/2010 | Management,
Environments LLC and
Piyush Patel
PRACS
Method And Chamber For Exposure to Institute
United States Non-Allergic Rhinitis Trigger 13/254,755" 3/8/2010 | Management,
Environments LLC and
Piyush Patel
PRACS
Method And Chamber For Exposure to Institute
WIPO Non-Allergic Rhinitis Trigger ggjffmo 10/09 | 3812010 | Management,
Environments LLC and
Piyush Patel
FRACS
Method And Chamber For Exposure to Institute
United States Non-Allergic Rhinitis Trigger 61/158,149" 3/6/2009 | Management,
: Environments LLC and
Piyush Patel

T One of the two original inventors listed on these patents and patent applications, Piyush Patel, has not
assigned his rights therein to PRACS Institute Management, LLC.
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Internet Domain Names

Domain Name Registered to:

Cetero.com PRACS Institute Management, LLC
Bioassay.com PRACS Institute Management, LLC
Baresearchco.com PRACS Institute Management, LLC
Ceterosa.com PRACS Institute Management, 1.1.C
Ceterostlouis.com PRACS Institute Management, LLC
Sneezetoronto.com PRACS Institute Management, LL.C
allied-research.com PRACS Institute Management, LLC
www.gatewaymedical .com PRACS Institute Management, LL.C
pracs.com PRACS Institute Management, LL.C
dryeyestoronto.com PRACS Institute Management, LLC
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The Loan Parties are the subject of an audit by the U.S. Department of Labor with respect

Schedule 4.11
Investigations and Audits

to certain benefit and retirement plans.

To the extent not satisfied as part of the Cases:

Pre-Petition | Taxing Nature of | Period Tax Penalty Interest Total Claim
Legal Entity | Authority Tax
CRSM, Inc. | New Jersey NI 2008 —
Department of | Corporation | NJ
the Treasury | Business Business
' Tax Tax
Return
not filed
CRSM, Inc. | New Jersey NJ 2009 —
Department of | Corporation | NJ
the Treasury | Business Business
Tax Tax
Return
not
filed.
CRSM, Inc. | New Jersey NI 2010 —
Department of | Corporation | NJ
the Treasury | Business Business
Tax Tax
Return
not
filed.
Contract Texas Texas 2012 2,000.00 2,000
Research Comptroller | Franchise
Solutions of Public Tax
Inc Accounts
Contract Texas Texas 2011 6,327.84 6,327.84
Research Comptrolier | Franchise
Solutions of Public Tax
Inc Accounts
CRS IRS WT-FICA {2011 - -
Management
Inc
CRS IRS FUTA 2011 6,112.96 6,112.96
Management
Inc
CRS IRS WH FED 2011 100.00 100.00
Management INC
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Inc

CRS
Management
Inc

IRS

WT-FICA

2012

42.02

42.02

CRS
Management
Inc

IRS

FUTA

2012

6112.96

6112.96

CRS
Management
Inc

IRS

WH FED
INC

2012

160

100

Contract
Research
Solutions
Inc

IRS

CORP-INC

2009

5,000.00

5,000.00

Contract
Research
Solutions
Inc

IRS

CORP-INC

2010

5,000.00

5,000.00

Contract
Rescarch
Solutions
Inc

IRS

CORP-INC

2011

5,000.00

5,000.00

Contract
Research
Solutions
Inc

IRS

CORP-INC

2012

5,000.00

5,000.00

PRACS
Institute
LTD

IRS

WHFED
INC

2011

2,845.00

26.41

5,871.41

PRACS
Institute
L TD

IRS

WH FED
INC

2012

6,219.31

6,219.31

PRACS
Institute
LTD

North Dakota
State Tax
Commissioner

Corporate
income Tax

2009

41,809.00

2,090.00

14,655.09

58,554.09

Gateway
Medical
Research Inc

IRS

WT-FICA

2010

1,745.93

7,632.41

189.33

9,567.67

$96,373.00

$9,722.41

$14,912.85

$121,008.26
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Schedule 4.12
Employee Matters

The Loan Parties are the subject of an audit by the Department of Labor with respect to
certain benefit and retirement plans.
Employee Leasing Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, among PRACS Institute

Management, LLC and Sellers, as the same may be amended, supplemented, restated or
otherwise modified from time to time.
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Scheduie 4.13
Litigation

Any defensive claims that may arise in litigation assumed on the Closing Date by the
Loan Parties.
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Schedule 4.14
Real Estate

Property Address

Loan Party

400 Fountain Lakes Boulevard
St. Charles, MO 63301

Owned or Leased |

PRACS Institute, LLC

PRACS Institute, LLC
owns Lot 6B of
“FOUNTAIN LAKES
COMMERCE CENTER
PLAT ONE?”, as recorded
in Plat Book 36, Page 12 of
the St. Charles County,
Missouri records.

400 Fountain Lakes Boulevard
St, Charles, MO 63301

PRACS Institute, LLC

As successor by
assignment to Gateway
Medical Research, Inc.,
PRACS Institute, LLC
leases a certain parcel of
land, the building and
certain other improvements
and personal property as
more fully described in the
Lease Agreement dated as
of 12/27/06 between Gate
(MO) QRS 16-95, Inc., as
Landlord, and Gateway
Medical Research, Inc. as
Tenant.

1525 NW 167™ St., Suites 140
and 150
Miami, FL 33169

PRACS Institute Miami,
LLC

As successor by
assignment to Allied
Research International,
Inc., PRACS Institute
Miami, LLC leases certain
office space pursuant to
that certain Office Lease
dated as of 8/10/06, as
amended, between Golden
Glades Assoc., LLP, as
Landlord, and Allied
Research, Inc.
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The Loan Parties have use of the following other properties pursuant to the Operations
Support Agreement,

1395/1405 NW 167™ St., Miami, FL. 33169
2000 Regency Pkway, Suite 111, Cary, NC 27518
4801 Amber Valley Pkway, Fargo, ND 58104
4901 Amber Valley Pkway, Fargo, ND 58104
4837 Amber Valley Pkway, Fargo, ND 58104
4520 Dixie Rd., Mississauga, Ontario L4W 1N2
4540 Dixie Rd., Unit C, Mississauga, Ontario L4W 1N2
4500 Dixie Rd., Mississauga, Ontario L4W 1N2
1310 Fewster Dr., Mississauga, Ontario L4W IN2
. 1290 Ellesmere Rd., Toronto, Ontario M1P 2X9
. 10550 Rockley Road, Suite 150, Houston, TX 77099
. 5109 Medical Dr., San Antonio, TX 78229
. 803 Castroville Rd., Suite 140, San Antonio, TX 78237

RN DS LD

— et
W= O
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Schedule 4.15
Environmental Matters

None.
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Schedule 4,16
ERISA; Canadian Benefit Plans and Canadian Pension Plans

PRACS Institute Management, LLC has assumed the following Canadian Bencfit Plans
and Canadian Pension Plans: '

1. Critical Illness — Member (Canada)

Cetero Research Critical Illness Insurance with ACE INA Life Insurance, Policy
number CO10339401, effective December 1, 2010

2. Critical Tllness — Spouse (Canada)

Cetero Research Critical Iliness Insurance with ACE INA Life Insurance, Policy
number C010339401, effective December 1, 2010

3. Critical Illness — Child (Canada)

Cetero Research Critical Illness Insurance with ACE INA Life Insurance, Policy
number CO10339401, effective Decerber 1, 2010

4. Employee AD&D (Accidental Death & Dismemberment) (Canada)

Cetero Research Group Accident Policy with ACE INA Life Insurance, Policy
number AB10339301, effective June 1, 2011

5. Workers’ Compensation Coverage
6. Registered Pension Plan (Canada)
Allied Research International Inc. Registered defined contribution pension plan with

The Manufacturers Life Insurance Company, Group Policy number 10000588,
effective January, 1, 2006
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Schedule 4.17
Deposit and Disbursement Accounts

Depository Bank

Name on Account | Account Numbers Purpose of
: Name and Address | Account
PRACS Institate 4127329639 Wells Fargo Bank, Payroll, Stipends,
Management, LL.C N.A. Cash
Mail Address Code: | Disbursements
D1129-072
301 South Tryon
Street, 7th Floor
Charlotte, NC
28282-1915
PRACS Institute, 4127326205 Wells Fargo Bank, Cash Receipts
LLC N.A. (Sponsor
Mail Address Code: | Remittances)
D1129-072
301 South Tryon
Street, 7th Floor
Charlotte, NC
28282-1915
PRACS Institute, 0160630906 Regions Bank, N.A. | Stipends
LLC 2050 Old Highway
94 South
St. Charles, MO
63303
PRACS Institute 2950-4797-787 — Bank of Montreal Payroll, Stipends,
Canada B.C. LTD. | Depository Dixie and Crestlawn | Cash
Branch Disbursements,
2950-4797-795 ~ 1350 Crestlawn Cash Receipts
Disbursement Drive (Sponsor
Mississauga, ON Remittances)
L4W 1P8 (USD)
PRACS Institute 2950-1998-904 — Bank of Montreal Payroll, Stipends,
Canada B.C. LTD. | Depository Dixie and Crestlawn | Cash
Branch Disbursements,
2950-1998-912 — 1350 Crestlawn Cash Receipts
Disbursement Drive (Sponsor
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Mississauga, ON
L4W 1P8

Remittances)
(CAD)
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Schedule 4.18
Agreements and Other Documents

Supplier Contracts

HOUSTON/TORONTO LAB

e Service Agreement dated 9/22/10 with Ab Sciex for lab equlpment maintenance
{(both labs; 2 yr contract)

FARGO

o Master Software License Agreement dated 12/23/04 with eResearchTechnology,
Inc. to use eRT Software and to provide annual maintenance

o Rider to Master Software License Agreement dated 6/30/05 with
eResearchTechnology, Inc. to use eStudy Conduct and eSafety Net software

e Rider to Master Software License Agreement dated 12/23/09 with OmniComm
Systems, Inc. (formerly eResearchTechnology, Inc.) to use eClinical Portal,
¢Clinical Data Capture, and eClinical Data Capture software

Licenses and Permits

Fargo (PRACS):

1. License from North Dakota State Board of Pharmacy, permit No. 526, issued to
PRACS Pharmacy, PA, expires June 30, 2012.

2. Drug Enforcement Administration permit, Registration No. RP0168410, expires

March 31, 2012 for the property located at 4801 Amber Valley Parkway, Fargo,
ND 58104.

3. Drug Enforcement Administration permit, Registration No. RP0336912, expires

March 31, 2012 for the property located at 4801 Amber Valley Parkway, Fargo,
ND 58104,

4. COLA Lab Certification for Lab Accreditation COLA ID # 17926 expires two
years after 7/11/2011.

5. Drug Enforcement Administration permit, Registration No. RP0377677, expires

August 31, 2012 for the property located at 4801 Amber Valley Parkway, Fargo,
ND 58104.

6. Radioactive Material License expires January 31, 2015 for the property located at
4801 Amber Valley Parkway, Fargo, ND 58104,

St. Louis (Gateway):

CH\3777754



Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs, Missouri Department of Health #
809749537, expires July 31, 2012.

2. Controlled Substances Registration Certificate, US Department of Justice, DEA,
DEA Registration # RG0223507, Expires September 30, 2012,

Toronto (Allied Canada):

1. Health Canada License No. 2012/6615, Allied Research International Inc. 4520

Dixie Road, Mississauga, ON L4W 1N2, a licensed dealer at the premises
indicated for the conduct of the following activities: Possession, Production,
Packaging, Sale, Sending/Transportation and Delivery for the following
controlled drugs and substances including their salts as listed in Regulations:
Codeine, Hydromorphone, Oxcodone, Buprenorphine, Diazepam, Lorazepam,
Midazolam, Cannabidol; Zolpidem, Methylphenidate; and Butalbital.

Miami (Allied Miami):

1.

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Certificate of Accreditation for
Allied Research International, 1525 NW 167th Street, Miami, FL 33169, CLIA
ID No. 10D0994279 effective February 19, 2012, expires February 18, 2014.

College of American Pathologists — Accredited Laboratory — Cetero Research —
Allied Research International, Miami Gardens, FL; Hugo Romeu, MD LAP No.
7176895; AU-ID 1377937, CLIA No. 10D0994279 and re-inspection should
occur prior to September 16, 2012.

State of Florida, Agency for Health Care Administration; Clinical Laboratory for
Allied Research International to operate in Chemistry, Diagnostic, Immunology,
Hematology, Cetero Research, .; 1405 NW 167th Street, Suite 140, Miami
Gardens, FL 33169. License No. 800016801; Certificate No. 86650 effective July
26, 2010, expires July 25, 2012.

DEA Registration No. RA0349476, expires June 30, 2012 — ARI — Miami Cetero
Research .; 1405 NW 167th Street, Miami Gardens, FL 33169 issued May 24,
2011.

State of Florida Department of Health division of Medical Quality Assurance
dated March 16, 2010, License No. 60 3419, Control No. 3916, expires March 31,
2012 for Allied Research International, Inc., 1405 NW 167th Street, Miami
Gardens, FL 33169.

COLA ID # 14958 Allied Research International Laboratory Accreditation
expires two years from October 5, 2011.

San Antonio (DeD):
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CLIA waived certificate — 5109 Medical Drive San Antonio Texas 78229 expires
July 17,2012,

CLIA waived certificate — 803 Castorville Road Las Palmas Shopping Center
Suite 140 San Antonio Texas 78237 expires December 29, 2012.

Houston {Bioanalvtical):

1.

Drug Enforcement Administration Controlled Substance Registration, DEA
Registration Number RB0168220, expires July 2012.

Texas Controlled Substances Registration Certificate, Registration Number
10080260, expires February 2013.

Scarborough (Bioanalytical):

1.

Ontario Ministry of Environment’s Hazardous Waste Information Network 2012
Registration.

Certificate of Approval from the Ontario Ministry of the Environment for Fume
Hoods, natural gas heating equipment and a standby natural gas fired generator
set.

Guaranteed Indebtedness:

Guaranty and Suretyship Agreement dated as of the Closing Date, made by US Borrower
in favor of Gate (MO) QRS 16-95, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“QRS8™
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Schedule 4.19
Insurance

Coverage

Limite/Structura

Deductible

Policy Peyiod

insurer

Broker

Products & Professional Liability

$10,000,000 Each Clalm
10,000,000 Aggragate

$5,000,000 Sublimit for Mitigation Expansa (Annual Aggregata)

$100,000 Each
Cccumencel/$500,000
Annual Aggregate

06152012 -
06/19/2013

CNA (Columbia Casualty Compamy)

Marsh USA nc.

Excess Pioduct/Prafessional Liability

$5.000,000 Each Clalm $5,000,000 Aggregate XS Underlylng

Urndertying

oeH w2012 -
06/19/2012

Navigators Specialty Insurance
Compaty

Marsh USA Inc.

Medical Malpractice

3,000,000 Each Claim

5,000,000 Policy Aggregate
Date: i

$100,000 Each Cceumence

06119/2012 -
08/19/2013

GNA (Columbia Casualty Company)

Marsh USA Inc,

General Uability

$2,000,000 General Aggregale

$1,000,000 Each Occumence

51,000,000 PersonalfAdvertising Injury
§1.000,000 Damages to Premises you rent
$1,000,000 Stop Gap Liability

$5,000 Medical Payments

$1,000,000 Employes Benefit Liakility Each Claim
$1,000,000 Employes Bensfit Liatility Aggregate
$1,000 Each Emplayse Deductibia

NIL

06/19/2012 -
06/19/2013

CNA. (Natlonal Fire Insurance
Company of Hartford)

Marsh LISA Inc.

Properly and Business Intequption -
Including Carada and Terrodsm

$70,000,000 Loss Limit per Occunence
Values for Rating Purposes: $112,689,009

$75,000 excopt £25,000 for
St. Charlgs location

0618/2012 -
OsH92013

ACE Amencan Insuranga Company

Marsh USA Inc.

Automobile / Physical Damage

$1,600,000 Limit of Liability Combined Single Limit

$5,000 Medical Payments

Actual Cash Value - Auto Physloal Damage Comp/Collision
$1,000,000 Uninsured/Underinsured Motorists

$1.000,000 Hired and Non-owned Auto Uabllity

Auto Physical Damage
Comp and Callision: $1,000

06/19/2012 -
06/19/2013

CNA (Valley Forge Insurance
Company)

Marsh USA Inc.

Workers Compensation

Unlimited Statutory Coverage A

Emolover's Liability

$1,0060,000 Bl by Accident each accident
$1,000,000 Bl by disease policy Fmit
$1,000,000 Bl by disease ¢ach employsa

NIL

08HOR0IZ -
06/19/2013

CNA (Valley Forge Insurance
Company)

Marsh USA Ing,

Umbrslia (Excluding Products and
Professional Liability)

$10,000,000 Any One Occurence
$10,000,000 Ganeral Aggregate
Nil- Self Insured Retantion

MNIL

DBH9r2012 -
061972013

CNA (Continental Casualty)

Marsh USA Inc.

Intemational Package Policy:

[Includes DIC/DIL Caveraga for
GLALELProperty/Crime with a
A ge temitory excludi

the U.S,

m 5G Tiiani;
$1,000,000 Each Occurence

$2,000,000 General Aggregata

N/A - ProductsiCompleted Operations Aggregate
$1,000,000 Perscnal/Advartising tjury
$1,000,000 Premises Legal Llability

510,000 Medical Payments per person

$50,000 Medlcal Payments per Accident

iForeiqn Yoluntary Compernsation
$1,000,000 Bodily Injury by Accident
$1,000,000 Bodlly Injury by Disease

NIL

06/19/2012 -
0641912013

CNA (Continental Insurance Company))

Marsh USA Inc.

Directars & Officers
Liability/Employment Practices Liability

$5.000,000 per claim and annual aggregats

D&C Nil - Nen Indemnifisble
claims; $100,000 All ather
Clalims

EPL $150,000 All Clalms

08HYIZM2 -
08/19/2033

Darwin Natienal Assurance Co {Allied
World Assurance Campany)

Marsh USA Inc.

Excess Directors & Oficers
Liability/Employment Practices Liability

$5,000,000 Aggregate XS Underying

06/19/2012 -
06/19/2013

Amgonaut Insurance Company

Marsh USA Inc,

Fiduciary Liability Palicy

53,000,000 par claim and annual agaregate

Nil

06M8/2012 -
06/19/2053

Darwin National Assurance Co {Allled
Warld Assurance Company)

Crime Insurance

Insuing Agreement A
"Employes Thelt” Coverage 53,000,000
Ivsuring Agreement B

"Fargery or Alteration” Coverage
$3,000,000

Insuring Agresment ©

“Inslde the Premises™ Coverage
$3,000,000

[nsuring Agreement D

“In Transit™ Coverage

$3,000,000

Insuring Agreement E
“Computer Fraud™ Coverage
$3,000,000

Insurance Agreement F

"Funds Transfer Fraud™ Coverage
$3,000,000

Insurance Agreement G

"Maney Orders and Counterfeit Currency Fraud” Coverage
$3,000,000

Insurance Agreement H

“Credit Card Fraud™ Caverage
$3,000,000

$25,000

$25,000

525,000

25,000

$25,000

$25,000

525,000

§26,060

06/19/2012 -
08192013

Marsh USA Inc.

Darwin National Assurance Go (Allied
World Assurance Company}

Marsh USA Inc.
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Scheduie 4.23
FDA Compliance

In July 2011, the FDA completed its investigation of compliance with good laboratory
practice requirements (GLPs) related to bioanalytical studies conducted at the Pre-
Petition US Borrower’s Houston laboratory. That investigation followed a voluntary
self-disclosure by the Pre-Petition US Borrower made in June 2009 that 6-8 chemists in
that facility had reportedly falsified the dates and times of analytical runs, and potentially
shortcut quality controls by pretesting or prepping study samples, in order to obtain
greater compensation for weekend work, and a larger number of successfully completed
studies. On July 26, 2011, the FDA issued a notice of violation letter to Pre-Petition US
Borrower, and letters to its clients, requesting that all studies/analyses conducted at its
Houston facility from April 1, 2005 through June 15, 2010 be repeated or reanalyzed.

Following negotiations with the FDA, an agreement was reached that reduced the period
during which studies were required to be repeated/reanalyzed from April 1, 2005 through
February 29, 2008. The FDA will accept independent third-party data integrity audits for
studies conducted from March 1, 2008 through August 31, 2009 in lieu of repeating the
study or reanalyzing existing samples. No studies conducted from September 1, 2009
through June 15, 2010 are required to be repeated or reanalyzed because Pre-Petition US
Borrower had adopted procedures to discontinue use of current study samples to
equilibrate equipment.

Studies used in applications for generic drugs (Abbreviated New Drug Applications)
were required to be repeated, if required, no later than the end of January 2012, unless
sponsors were granted an extension by the FDA Office of Generic Drugs. The FDA
communicated that repeat studies could be conducted at any Pre-Petition US Borrower
facilities including the Houston bioanalytical lab which have all been inspected recently
by FDA and found in compliance with GLPs, as well as Good Clinical Practice (GCP)
requirements. Sponsors based on their preference may elect to retest their drugs with the
Loan Parties, or at other clinical testing sites at their option. Agreement with the FDA
would likely still require the redosing and retesting of several hundred studies conducted
by Cetero-Houston within the next year.

Borrowers believe that the investigation by the FDA Center for Drug Evaluation and
Research of the Houston facility is complete, and that no further demands for additional
dosing or reanalysis of prior studies will be made. On June 23, 2011, the FDA provided
Pre-Petition US Borrower with its Establishment Inspection Report which normally
indicates that the investigation was completed. The results of repeat studies conducted up
to this point have been substantially the same as the original test results. The FDA may,
however, determine that based on the results of other repeat studies and audits, additional
requirements may be requested of the Loan Parties or its clients.

Other of the Sellers” facilities have been inspected by the FDA to insure that issues
occurring in Houston were isolated and not repeated in other laboratory facilities. The
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FDA field investigators and foreign drug regulators have also performed pre-approval
inspections of Cetero studies prior to approval of New Drug Applications and abbreviated
New Drug Applications. While miscellaneous Form 483-type observations were noted,
none of those observations noted conduct similar to that which provoked the FDA GLP
investigation described above. Those observations were addressed as detailed in follow-
up correspondence to the FDA and no further compliance action resulted.

The FDA may also elect to refer the Loan Parties, or their former employees, for criminal
prosecution to the Department of Justice based on investigation by the FDA’s Office of
Criminal Investigation. In May 2011, Pre-Petition US Borrower was contacted by an
attorney representing its independent third-party auditor, Jim Wilkinson, who had been
asked to be interviewed by an investigator from the FDA’s Office of Criminal
Investigation. A follow-up with the investigator indicated that it was a routine interview
requested by the FDA Dallas District Office to insure that no criminal activity had
occurred. No additional information concerning the status of any continuing investigation
has been received by the Loan Parties. There is no indication that such action will be
taken, or is appropriate, against the Loan Parties when their predecessors made voluntary
disclosure and conducted their own internal investigation to initiate FDA review. Former
employees may ultimately be debarred from participation in future studies that become
part of FDA drug approval applications. Borrowers are unaware that any such action has
been initiated.

Two additional foreign government inquiries were received by Pre-Petition US Borrower
from drug manufacturers for which it conducted studies during this period of time. Those
inquiries from the European Medicines Agency (EMA) and the Australian Therapeutic
Goods Administration (TGA) were dated during the month of December 2011. They
requested information concerning the action the FDA was taking related to particular
identified studies completed between 2005-2010. Pre-Petition US Borrower prepared a
general summary of the FDA investigation for distribution by its clients in response to
any inquiries by foreign drug regulators. To date, Borrowers are aware of no additional
foreign investigations, or requests for follow-up by the EMA or the TGA other than their
request for permission to share the Loan Parties’ audit protocol with member states of the
European Union.
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Schedule 6.1
Indebtedness

To the extent constituting Indebtedness and to the extent assumed by the Loan Parties as
part of the Cases (whether on the Closing Date or thereafter):

Obligations of Gateway Medical Research, Inc. owed to Da-Com, pursuant to an
operating lease secured by precautionary financing statements filed in the Missouri
Secretary of State’s office, file number 20070133502E, relating to photo copiers.

Obligations of PRACS Institute, Ltd. owed to Southeast Rural Vision Enterprises Co.
pursuant to an operating lease secured by precautionary financing statements filed in the
North Dakota Secretary of State’s office, file number 12-000720499-2, relating to
equipment. :
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Schedule 6.2
Liens

None.
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Schedule 6.3
Investments

None.
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Schedule 6.4
Contingent Obligations

None.
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Schedule 6.8
Affiliate Transactions

Pharmacy Services Agreement dated as of January 31, 2006 by and between PRACS
Institute, LL.C, as successor to PRACS Institute, Ltd., and PRACS Pharmacy, PA.
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LEGAL_14373478.1

This is Exhibit “3” referred to in the
Affidavit of Anthony Marino

Sworn before me, this Zch\ day of

March, 2013.
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EXECUTION COPY

SECURITY AGREEMENT

This SECURITY AGREEMENT, dated as of June 20, 2012, between PRACS
INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD., a British Columbia corporation (“Grantor”) and
FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, in its capacity as Agent
(“Agent™) for the benefit of Agent and Canadian Term Lenders (collectively, “Beneficiaries™).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Credit Agreement dated as of the date hereof by and
among PRACS Institute Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“US Borrower™),
Grantor (and together with US Borrower, the “Borrowers™), the other Persons that are designated
as “Loan Parties”, Agent, and the financial institutions and other Persons from time to time party
thereto as Lenders (including all annexes, exhibits and schedules thereto, as from time to time
amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise madified, the “Credit Agreement”), US Lenders
have agreed to make certain US Loans to US Borrower and incur Letter of Credit Obligations on
behalf of US Borrower and to hold certain obligations assumed or incurred by US Borrower that
constitute certain US Loans, and Canadian Term Lenders have agreed to hold certain obligations
assumed or incurred by Grantor that constitute Canadian Term Loan C;

WHEREAS, in order to induce Agent and Canadian Term Lenders to enter into the
Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents and to induce Canadian Term Lenders to hold
Canadian Term Loan C provided for in the Credit Agreement, Grantor has agreed to grant a
continuing Security Interest (as hereinafter defined) on the Collateral (as hereinafter defined) to
secure Grantor’s Obligations.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants herein
contained and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. DEFINED TERMS.

()  The terms “Account”, “Chattel Paper”, “Document of Title”, “Goods”,

“Instrument”, “Intangible”, « nventog(” “Investment Property”, “Money”, “Proceeds”,

“Security”, “financing statemen > and “financing change statement” whenever used herein shall
be interpreted in accordance with their respective meanings in the PPSA. The term “Proceeds”,

whenever used herein and interpreted as above, shall, by way of example, include trade-ins,
equipment, Money, bank accounts, notes, Chattel Paper, Goods, contract rights, Accounts and
any other personal property or obligation received when such Collateral or Proceeds are sold,
exchanged, collected or otherwise disposed of or dealt with.

(b)  Unless otherwise defined or stated, the following terms have the following
meanings:

) “Collateral” has the meaning given to it in Section 2(a).

(i)  “Contracts” means all contracts, undertakings, or agreements (other than
rights evidenced by chattel paper, securities or Instruments) in or under which Grantor
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may now or hereafter have any right, title or interest, including any agreement relating to
the terms of payment or the terms of performance of any Account.

(i)  “Credit Agreement™ has the meaning given to it in the first recital hereof.

(iv)  “PPSA” means the Personal Property Security Act (Ontario), including
the regulations thereto, provided that, to the extent that perfection or the effect of
perfection or non-perfection or the priority of any Lien created hereunder on the
Collateral is governed by the personal property security legislation or other applicable
legislation with respect to personal property security as in effect in a jurisdiction of
Canada other than Ontario, “PPSA” means the Personal Property Security Act or such
other applicable legislation as in effect from time to time in such other jurisdiction for
purposes of the provisions hereof relating to such perfection, effect of perfection or non-
perfection or priority. '

(v} “Receiver” has the meaning given to it in Section 7.

(vi)  “Security Agreement” means this agreement and all schedules and
exhibits attached hereto as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented and
otherwise modified from time to time.

(vii)  “Security Interest” has the meaning given to it in Section 2(a).

(©) All other capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the
meanings given to them in the Credit Agrecment.

2. GRANT OF SECURITY INTEREST.

(a) To secure the prompt and complete payment, performance, and observance of all
of its Obligations, Grantor hereby irrevocably mortgages, charges, assigns, transfers, delivers,
hypothecates and pledges to Agent, for the benefit of Beneficiaries, and hereby irrevocably
grants to Agent, for the benefit of Beneficiaries, a security interest (such mortgage, charge,
assignment, transfer, delivery, hypothecation, pledge and security interest, collectively, the
“Security Interest”) in all of its right, title and interest in, to, and under all Grantor’s present and
after-acquired personal property and other assets, including, without limitation, all of the
following now owned or hereafter owned or acquired by or on behalf of Grantor:

)] all Accounts, claims, choses in action and demands of every nature and
kind howsoever arising or secured, including letters of credit and advices of credit, which
are now due, owing or accruing or growing due to or owned by or which may hereafter
become due, owing or accruing or growing due to or owned by Grantor:

(if)  all Chattel Paper and Documents of Title (whether negotiable or not);

(iii)  all Goods (including all parts, accessories, attachments, special tools,
additions and accessions thereto);

(iv)  all Inventory;
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(v)  all Equipment (other than Inventory) of whatever kind and wherever
situate, including, without Jimitation, all machinery, tools, apparatus, plant, furniture,
fixtures, motor vehicles and other vehicles of whatsoever nature or kind;

(vi)  all Instruments;

(vii)  all Money and Securities;

(viii)  all present and future Contracts, contract rights and insurance claims;
(ix) all Intellectual Property;

x) all Intangibles;

(xi)  all Investment Property;

(xil)  all deeds, documents, writings, papers, books of account and other books
relating to or being records of any of the foregoing or by which such are or may hereafter
be secured, evidenced, acknowledged or made payable; and

(xitl)  all Proceeds and renewals thereof, accretions thereto and substitutions
therefor.

The foregoing property is collectively referred to as the “Collateral”; provided, however,
that notwithstanding any of the other provisions set forth in this Section 2, this Security
Agreement shall not constitute a grant of a security interest in any property to the extent that
such grant of a security interest is (x) prohibited by any requirements of any law, rule or
regulation of a Governmental Authority or requires a consent not obtained of any Governmental
Authority pursuant to such requirement or (y) prohibited by, or constitutes a breach or default
under or results in the termination of or requires any consent not obtained under, any contract,
license, agreement, instrument or other document evidencing or giving rise to such property;
provided, further, that the exclusions set forth in clauses (x) and (y) above shall not apply to
Accounts or to any other category of Collateral to the extent such requirements of law, rule or
regulation or the term in such contract, license, agreement, instrument or other document or
shareholder or similar agreement providing for such prohibition, breach, default or termination or
requiring such consent is ineffective under applicable law.

(b) Notwithstanding Section 2(a), Grantor’s grant of security in “trade- marks™ (as
defined in the Trade-marks Act (Canada)) under this Security Agreement shall be limited to a
grant by Grantor of a security interest in all of Grantor’s right, title and interest in such trade-
marks. :

(c) The Security Interest granted hereby shall not extend or apply to, and Collateral
shall not include, the last day of the term of any lease or agreement therefor, but upon the
enforcement of the Security Interest, Grantor, as applicable, shall stand possessed of such last
day in trust to assign the same to any person acquiring such term. '
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(d)  In addition, to secure the prompt and complete payment, performance and
observance of its Obligations and in order to induce Canadian Lenders as aforesaid, Grantor
hereby grants to Agent, for the benefit of Beneficiaries, a right of setoff against its property held
by Agent or any other Beneficiary, consisting of property described above in Section 2(a) now or
hereafter in the possession or custody of or in transit to Agent or any other Beneficiary, for any
purpose, including safekeeping, collection or pledge, for the account of Grantor, or as to which
Grantor may have any right or power.

3. AGENT’S AND OTHER BENEFICIARIES’ RIGHTS; LIMITATIONS ON
AGENT’S AND OTHER BENEFICIARIES’ OBLIGATIONS.

(a) It is expressly agreed by Grantor that, anything herein to the contrary
notwithstanding, Grantor shall remain liable under each of its Contracts and each of its Licenses
to observe and perform all of the conditions and obligations to be observed and performed by it
thereunder. Neither Agent nor any other Beneficiary shall have any obligation or liability under
any Contract or License by reason of or arising out of this Security Agreement or the granting
herein of a Security Interest thereon or the receipt by Agent or any other Beneficiary of any
payment relating to any Contract or License pursuant hereto. Neither Agent nor any other
Beneficiary shall be required or obligated in any manner to perform or fulfill any of the
obligations of Grantor under or pursuant to any Contract or License, or to make any payment, or
to make any inquiry as to the nature or the sufficiency of any payment received by it or the
sufficiency of any performance by any party under any Contract or License, or to present or file
any claims, or to take any action to collect or enforce any performance or the payment of any
amounts which may have been assigned to it or to which it may be entitled at any time or times.

(b}  Agent may at any time after an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing
without prior notice to Grantor, notify Account Debtors and other Persons obligated on the
Collateral that Agent has a security interest therein, and that payments shall be made directly to
Agent. Upon the request of Agent, following the occurrence and during the continuation of an
Event of Default, Grantor shall so notify its Account Debtors and other Persons obligated on
Collateral. Once any such notice has been given to any Account Debtor or other Person
obligated on the Collateral, the affected Grantor shall not give any contrary instructions to such
Account Debtor or other Person without Agent’s prior written consent.

(c) So long as an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, Agent may at any
time in Agent’s own name, in the name of a nominee of Agent or in the name of Grantor
communicate (by mail, telephone, facsimile or otherwise) with Account Debtors, parties to
Contracts, and obligors in respect of Instruments and/or Chattel Paper to verify with such
Persons, to Agent’s satisfaction, the existence, amount, terms of, and any other matter relating to,
Accounts, Instruments, and/or Chattel Paper. So long as an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, Grantor, at its own expense, shall cause the independent chartered accountants then
engaged by Grantor to prepare and deliver to Agent and each other Beneficiary at any time and
from time to time promptly upon Agent’s request the following reports with respect to Grantor:
(1) a reconciliation of all Accounts; (ii) an aging of all Accounts; (iii) trial balances; and (iv) a
test verification of such Accounts as Agent may request. Grantor, at its own expense, shall
deliver to Agent the results of each physical verification, if any, which Grantor may in its
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discretion have made, or caused any other Person to have made on its behalf, of all or any
portion of its Inventory.

4.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Grantor represents and warrants
that as of the Closing Date:

(a) Grantor has rights in and the corporate power to transfer each item of its
Collateral upon which it purports to grant a Security Interest hereunder free and clear of any and
all Liens other than Permitted Encumbrances.

(b)  No effective security agreement, financing statement or equivalent security or
Lien instrument covering all or any part of its Collateral is on file or of record in any public
recording or registration office, except such as may have been filed (1) by Grantor or Agent in
favor of Agent pursuant to this Security Agreement or the other Loan Documents, or (ii) in
connection with any other Permitted Encumbrances.

(c) This Security Agreement is effective to create a valid and continuing Security
Interest in favour of Agent, for the benefit of Beneficiaries, on the Collateral of Grantor, and
such Security Interest has been perfected to the extent that a Security Interest may be perfected
by filing financing statements pursuant to the PPSA, which financing statements are set out in
Schedule I. The Security Interest is prior to all other Liens, except Permitted Encumbrances that
would be prior to the Security Interest in favor of Agent for the benefit of Beneficiaries solely by
operation of law (in contrast with Liens granted by Grantor in respect of which a public
registration or filing is made), and is enforceable as such as against any and all ereditors of and
purchasers from Grantor (other than purchasers and lessees of Inventory in the ordinary course of
business), except as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, or similar laws
relating to the enforcement of creditors” rights generally and by equitable principles. All action
by Grantor necessary or desirable to protect and perfect the Security Interest on each item of its
Collateral has been duly taken.

(d) Schedule 1T hereto lists all Instruments and Chattel Paper of Grantor. All action
by Grantor necessary to protect and perfect the Security Interest of Agent on each item set forth
on Schedule II (including the delivery of all originals thereof to Agent and the legending of all
Chattel Paper and Instruments as required by Section 5(b) hereof) has been duly taken. The
Security Interest of Agent, for the benefit of Beneficiaries, on the Collateral of Grantor listed on
Schedule II hereto is prior to all other Liens, except Permitted Encumbrances that would be prior
to the Security Interest in favor of Agent solely by operation of law (in contrast with Liens
granted by Grantor in respect of which a public registration or filing is made), and is enforceable
as such against any and all creditors of and purchasers from Grantor, except as enforcement may
be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws relating to the enforcement of creditors’
rights generally and by equitable principles.

(e) Grantor’s correct incorporated name is set forth on Schedule III and there is no
French language version of its incorporated name. Grantor’s jurisdiction of incorporation, chief
executive office, principal place of business, registered office according to its constating
documents, corporate offices, all warehouses and premises where Grantor’s Collateral is stored
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or located, and the locations of its books and records concerning such Collateral are set forth on
Schedule III hereto.

& With respect to any and all Accounts now owned or hereafter acquired by
Grantor, (i) they represent bona fide rendering of services to Account Debtors in the ordinary
course of Grantor’s business and are not evidenced by a judgment, Instrument or Chattel Paper;
(i1) other than in the ordinary course of business, to Grantor’s knowledge, there are no sctoffs,
claims or disputes existing or asserted with respect thereto and Grantor has made no agreement
with any Account Debtor for any extension of time for the payment thereof, any compromise or
settlement for less than the full amount thereof, any release of any Account Debtor from liability
therefor, or any deduction therefrom; (iii) other than in the ordinary course of business, to
Grantor’s knowledge, there are no facts, events or occurrences which in any way impair the
validity or enforceability thereof or could reasonably be expected to reduce the amount payable
thereunder as shown on Grantor’s books and records and any invoices, statements or other
information delivered to Agent and other Beneficiaries with respect thereto; and (iv) Grantor has
received no written notice of proceedings or actions which are threatened or pending against any
Account Debtor which would reasonably be expected to result in any material adverse change in
such Account Debtor’s financial condition or otherwise that any Account Debtor is unable
generally to pay its accounts as they become due.

(g)  Grantor has no interest in, or title to, any owned federally registered Patent,
Trademark, Design or Copyright subject to a registration or application for a registration, except
as set forth in Schedule TV hereto. This Agreement is effective to create a valid and continuing
Lien in favour of Agent, for the benefit of Beneficiaries, on Grantor’s Patents, Trademarks,
Designs and Copyrights and, upon the filing of the financing statements referred to in Section
4(c), and the recording of this Security Agreement in the Canadian Intellectual Property Office,
all actions necessary or desirable to perfect or protect Agent’s and other Beneficiaries’ interests
on Grantor’s Patents, Trademarks, Designs and Copyrights will have been duly taken.

5. COVENANTS. Grantor covenants and agrees with Agent, for the benefit of
Beneficiaries, that from and after the date of this Security Agreement and until the Termination
Date: :

() Further Assurances: Pledge of Instruments: Chattel Paper.

(1 At any time and from time to time, upon the reasonable written request of

Agent and at the sole expense of Grantor, Grantor shall promptly and duly execute and
deliver any and all such further instruments and documents (including titles of
indebtedness, pledges thereof, and deeds of hypothec with respect to Collateral located in
the Province of Quebec) and take such further actions as Agent may deem reasonably
necessary to obtain the fuil benefits of this Security Agreement and of the rights and
powers herein granted, including (A) using its commercially reasonable efforts to secure
-all consents and approvals necessary for the assignment to or for the benefit of Agent of
any License or Contract held by Grantor and to enforce the Security Interest granted

“hereunder and thereunder; and (B) filing any financing or financing change statements
under applicable law with respect to the Liens granted hereunder or under any other Loan
Document to which Grantor is a party.
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(i)  Unless Agent shall otherwise consent in writing (which consent may be
revoked), Grantor shall deliver to Agent all Collateral consisting of negotiable
Documents of Title, certificated Securities, Chattel Paper and Instruments (in each case,
accompanied by share transfer powers, allonges or other instruments of transfer executed
in blank and directors’ or shareholder resolutions) promptly after Grantor receives the
same.

(i)  Inaccordance with the Credit Agreement, Grantor shall obtain a Control
Agreement with each bank or financial institution holding a Deposit Account (other than
payroll and petty cash accounts) for Grantor (it being understood that Agent shall not
exercise any rights under such agreements with respect to Grantor’s Collateral unless an
Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing).

(iv)  If Grantor is or becomes the beneficiary of a letter of credit, Grantor shall
promptly, and in any event within five (5) Business Days after becoming a beneficiary,
notify Agent thereof and, if requested by Agent, use commercially reasonable efforts to
enter into a tri-party agreement with Agent and the issuer and/or confirmation bank with
respect to letter-of-credit rights assigning such letter-of-credit rights to Agent and
directing all payments thereunder to the accounts subject to a tri-party pledged account
agreement in favour of Agent, all in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent.

(v) Grantor hereby authorizes Agent, for the benefit of Beneficiaries, to file at
any appropriate filing or registration office any such financing statements or financing
change statements (or applicable similar instruments) without the signature of Grantor to
the extent permitted by applicable law, and to do such acts, matters and things (including
completing and adding schedules hereto identifying Colateral of Grantor or any
Permitted Encumbrances affecting such Collateral or identifying the locations at which
Grantor’s business is carried on and its Collateral and records relating thereto are situate)
as Agent may reasonably deem appropriate to perfect on an ongoing basis and continue
the Security Interest, to protect and preserve Collateral of Grantor and, following an
Event of Default that has occurred and is continuing, to realize upon the Security Interest.

(b)  Maintenance of Records. Grantor shall keep and maintain in all material respects,
at its own cost and expense, satisfactory and complete records of Grantor’s Collateral, including
a record of any and all payments received and any and all credits granted with respect to the such
Collateral and all other dealings with such Collateral. If Grantor retains possession of any
Chattel Paper or Instruments with Agent’s consent, such Chattel Paper and Instruments shall be
marked with the following legend: “This writing and the obligations evidenced or secured hereby
are subject to the security interest of Freeport Financial LLC, as Agent, for the benefit of
Beneficiaries.”

(©) Covenants Regarding Inteilectual Property Collateral.

(i) Grantor shall provide a report to Agent each calendar quarter in which it
notifies Agent if it knows that any application or registration relating to any material
registered Patent, Trademark, Design or Copyright (now or hereafter existing) it owns is
reasonably expected to become abandoned or dedicated to the public domain, or of any
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material adverse determination or development (including the institution of, or.any such
determination or developroent in, any proceeding in the Canadian Intellectual Property
Office, the United States Patent and Trademark Office, the United States Copyright
Office or any court) regarding Grantor’s ownership of any such Patent, Trademark,
Design or Copyright, its right to register the same, or to keep and maintain the same,
other than registrations and applications abandoned in the ordinary course of business.

(ii)  Grantor shall provide a report to Agent each calendar quarter in which it
notifies Agent if either itself or through any agent, employee, licensee or designee, filed
an application for the registration of any material Patent, Trademark, Design or Copyright
with the Canadian Intellectual Property Office, the United States Patent and Trademark
Office, the United States Copyright Office or any similar office or agency, and, upon
request of Agent, Grantor shall execute and deliver any and all intellectual property
security agreements as Agent may reasonably request to evidence Agent’s Lien on such
Patent, Trademark, Design or Copyright, and the Intangibles of Grantor relating thereto
or represented thereby.

(iii)  Grantor shall take all actions necessary or reasonably requested by Agent
to maintain and pursue each application, to obtain the relevant registration and to .
‘maintain the registration of each of Grantor’s material Patents, Trademarks, Designs and
Copyrights (now or hereafter existing), including the filing of applications for renewal,
affidavits of use, affidavits of noncontestability and opposition and interference and
cancellation proceedings, unless Grantor shall determine that such Patent, Trademark,
Design or Copyright is not material to the conduct of its business.

(iv)  Inthe event that Grantor becomes aware that any of its material Patent,
Trademark, Design or Copyright Collateral is infringed upon in any material respect, or
misappropriated or diluted by a third party, Grantor shall notify Agent promptly and, in
any event, within ten (10) Business Days after Grantor so becomes aware. Grantor shall,
unless it shall reasonably determine that such Patent, Trademark, Design or Copyright is
material to the conduct of its business or operations, after having exhausted negotiations
or other attempts to resolve the dispute, take commercially reasonable actions to abate
(including, if appropriate, to sue in respect of) such infringement, misappropriation or
dilution and to recover any and all damages for such infringement, misappropriation or
dilution, and shall take such other actions as Agent shall deem necessary under the
circumstances to protect such Patent, Trademark, Design or Copyright.

(d)  Indemnification. In any suit, proceedmg or action brought by Agent or any other

Beneﬁc1ary relating to any Collateral for any sum owing with respect thereto or to enforce any
rights or claims with respect thereto, Grantor will save, indemnify and keep Agent and other
Beneficiaries harmless from and against all expense (including reasonable legal fees and
expenses), loss or damage suffered by reason of any defense, setoff, counterclaim, recoupment or
reduction of liability whatsoever of the Account Debtor or other Person obligated on the
Collateral, arising out of a breach by Grantor of any obligation thereunder or arising out of any
other agreement, indebtedness or liability at any time owing to, or in favor of, such obligor or its
successors from Grantor, except in the case of Agent or any other Beneficiary, to the extent such
expense, loss, or damage is attributable to the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of Agent or
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such other Beneficiary as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction. All such obligations
of Grantor shall be and remain enforceable against and only against Grantor and shall not be
enforceable against Agent or any other Beneficiary.

(e) Compliance with Terms of Accounts. etc. In all material respects, Grantor will
perform and comply with all obligations in respect of its Collateral and all other agreements to
which it is a party or by which it is bound relating to its Collateral. ' '

§3] Limitation on Liens on Collateral. Grantor will not create, permit or suffer to
exist, and Grantor will take commercially reasonable efforts to defend its Collateral against, and
take such other action as is necessary to remove, any Lien on its Collateral except Permitted
Encumbrances, and will use commercially reasonable efforts to defend the rights of Agent and
other Beneficiaries in and to any of Grantor’s rights under its Collateral against the claims and
demands of all Persons whomsoever.

(2) Limitations on Disposition. Grantor will not sell, license, lease, transfer or
otherwise dispose of any of its Collateral, or attempt or contract to do so except as permitted by
the Credit Agreement.

(h) Further Identification of Collateral. Grantor will, if so requested by Agent,
furnish to Agent, not more than quarterly, statements and schedules further 1dentifying and
describing Grantor’s Collateral and such other reports in connection with such Collateral as
Agent may reasonably request, all in such detail as Agent may reasonably specify.

(1) Notices. Grantor will advise Agent promptly, in reasonable detail, (i) of any Lien
(other than Permitted Encumbrances) or claim made or asserted against any of its Collateral that
would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) of the occurrence of
any other event which would have a Material Adverse Effect on the aggregate value of its
Collateral or on the Liens created hereunder or under any other Loan Document.

) Certificates of Status. If requested by Agent, Grantor shall provide to Agent a
certificate of status from its jurisdiction of incorporation not more frequently than once during
each fiscal year.

(k)  No Reincorporation. Grantor shall provide Agent with at least thirty (30) days
prior written notice of any change in the information contained in Schedule IIT to keep Schedule
Iil up to date and accurate. Without limiting the prohibitions on amalgamations and mergers
involving Grantor contained in the Credit Agreement, except for amalgamations and MErgers
expressly permitted by the Credit Agreement, Grantor shall not continue, reincorporate, or
reorganize itself under the laws of any jurisdiction other than the jurisdiction in which it is
incorporated or organized as of the date hereof without the prior written consent of Agent (which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld so long as Agent has been given sufficient time and
opportunity to file financing statement(s) in the jurisdiction of continuance, reincorporation, or
reorganization).

(D Terminations; Amendments Not Authorized. Grantor acknowledges that it is not
authorized to file any financing change statement with respect to any financing statement that has
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been filed in respect of any Collateral Document to which it is a party without the prior written
consent of Agent.

{m) Release of Grantor. This Security Agreement and all obligations of Grantor
hereunder and all security interests granted hereby shall be released and terminated upon the
Termination Date. Upon such release and termination, all rights in and to the Collateral of
Grantor shall automatically revert to Grantor, and Agent and other Beneficiaries shall return any
Collateral of Grantor in their possession to Grantor or to the Person or Persons legally entitled
thereto, and shall endorse, execute, deliver, record and file all mnstruments and documents, and
do all other acts and things, reasonably required for the return of such Collateral to Grantor or to
the Person or Persons legally entitled thereto, and to evidence or document the release of the
ratable benefit of Agent and other Beneficiaries arising under this Security Agreement, all as
reasonably requested by Grantor.

6.  AGENT’S APPOINTMENT AS ATTORNEY-IN-FACT.

(1) On the Closing Date, Grantor shall execute and deliver to Agent a power
of attorney (the “Power of Attorney”) substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit
A. The power of attorney granted pursuant to the Power of Attorney is a power coupled
with an interest and shall be irrevocable until the Termination Date. The powers -
conferred on Agent, for the benefit of Beneficiaries, under the Power of Attorney are
solely to protect Agent’s interests (for the benefit of Beneficiaries) in the Collateral and
shall not impose any duty upon Agent or any other Beneficiary to exercise any such
POWers.

(i)  Agent agrees that (a) except for the powers granted in clause “(h)” of the

Power of Attorney, it shall not exercise any power or authority granted under the Power
of Attorney unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, and (b) Agent
shall account for any moneys received by Agent in respect of any disposition of

~ Collateral pursuant to the Power of Attorney; provided that neither Agent nor any other
Beneficiary shall have any duty as to any Collateral except as provided herein with
respect to Collateral in its possession or under its control, and Agent and other
Beneficiaries shall be accountable only for amounts they actually receive as a result of
the exercise of such powers.

(1) NONE OF AGENT OR OTHER BENEFICIARIES OR THEIR
RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS OR
REPRESENTATIVES SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE TO GRANTOR FOR ANY ACT
OR FAILURE TO ACT UNDER ANY POWER OF ATTORNEY OR OTHERWISE,
EXCEPT IN RESPECT OF DAMAGES ATTRIBUTABLE TO THEIR OWN GROSS
NEGLIGENCE OR WILFUL MISCONDUCT AS DETERMINED BY A COURT OF
COMPETENT JURISDICTION, NOR FOR ANY PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY,
INDIRECT OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES.
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7. REMEDIES: RIGHTS UPON DEFAULT.

(a)  Ifany Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, Agent may appoint
or reappoint by instrument in writing, any Person or Persons, whether or not an officer or officers
or an employee or employees of Agent, to be an interim receiver, receiver or receivers
(hereinafter called a “Receiver”, which term when used herein shall include a receiver and
manager) of Collateral (including any interest, income or profits therefrom) and may remove any
Receiver so appointed and appoint another in his/her/its stead. Any such Receiver shall, so far as
concerns responsibility for his/her/its acts, be deemed the agent of the applicable Grantor and not
of Agent or any other Beneficiary, and neither Agent nor any other Beneficiary shall be in any
way responsible for any misconduct, negligence or non-feasance on the part of any such
Receiver or his/her/its servants, agents or employees. Subject to the provisions of the instrument
appointing him/her/it, any such Receiver shall have power to take possession of Collateral of the
applicable Grantor, to preserve Collateral of the applicable Grantor or its value, to carry on or
consent to the carrying on of all or any part of the business of Grantor and to sell, lease, license
or otherwise dispose of or consent to the sale, lease, license, or other disposition of such
Collateral. To facilitate the foregoing powers, any such Receiver may, to the exclusion of all
others, including the applicable Grantor, and without charge, enter upon, use and occupy all
premises owned or occupied by Grantor wherein its Collateral may be situate, maintain such
Collateral upon such premises, borrow money on a secured or unsecured basis and use such
Collateral directly in carrying on Grantor’s business or as security for loans or advances to
enable the Receiver to carry on Grantor’s business or otherwise, as such Receiver shall, in its
discretion, determine. Except as may be otherwise directed by Agent, all Money received from
time to time by such Receiver in carrying out his/her/its appointment shall be received in trust for
and be paid over to Agent. Every such Receiver may, in the discretion of Agent, be vested with
all or any of the rights and powers of Agent. The identity of Receiver, its replacement and its
remuneration shall be within the sole and unfettered discretion of Agent.

(b) If any Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, Agent may, either
directly or through its agents or nominees, exercise any or all of the powers and rights given to a
Receiver by virtue of Section 7(a). In addition to all other rights and remedies granted fo it under
this Security Agreement, the Credit Agreement, the other Loan Documents and under any other
instrument or agreement securing, evidencing or relating to any of Grantor’s Obligations (but
subject to the terms of such instruments of agreements), if any Event of Default shall have
occurred and be continuing, Agent may exercise all rights and remedies of a secured party under
the PPSA.

(©) If any Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, Grantor agrees, at
the request of Agent or any Receiver appointed by Agent, to assemble its Collateral and make it
available to Agent or such Receiver at a place or places designated by Agent or such Receiver
which are reasonably convenient to Agent or such Receiver and Grantor, whether at Grantor’s
premises or elsewhere. Agent will give Grantor such notice, if any, as may be required by the
PPSA of the date, time and place of any public sale or of the time after which a private sale of
Collateral is to be made. Agent shall apply the net proceeds of any collection, recovery, receipt,
appropriation, realization or sale on, from, or of Collateral to Grantor’s Obligations as provided
in the Credit Agreement, and only after so paying over such net proceeds and payment by Agent
of any other amount required by any provision of law need Agent account for the surplus, if any,
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to Grantor. Grantor shall remain liable for any deficiency if the proceeds of any sale or-
disposition of its Collateral are insufficient to pay all of Grantor’s Obligations, including any
legal, consultant, and Receiver fees and other expenses incurred by Agent or any other.
Beneficiary to collect such deficiency.

(d) Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, Grantor hereby waives
presentment, demand, protest, or any notice (to the maximum extent permitted by applicable
law) of any kind in connection with this Security Agreement or any of its Collateral (including,
without limitation, any Instrument constituting its Collateral at any time held by Agent on which
Grantor is in any way liable), each to the extent permitted by applicable law.

(e) To the extent that applicable law imposes duties on Agent to exercise remedies in
a commercially reasonable manner, Grantor acknowledges and agrees that it is not commercially
unreasonable for Agent so long as an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing
(1) to fail to incur expenses reasonably deemed significant by Agent to prepare Collateral for
disposition or otherwise to complete raw material or work in process into finished goods or other
finished products for disposition, (ii) to fail to obtain third party consents for access to Collateral
to be disposed of, or to obtain or, if not required by other law, to fail to obtain governmental or
third party consents for the collection or disposition of Collateral to be collected or disposed of,
(iii) to fail to exercise collection remedies against Account Debtors or other Persons obligated on
Collateral or to remove Liens on or any adverse claims against Collateral, (iv) to exercise
collection remedies against Account Debtors and other Persons obligated on Collateral directly
or through the use of collection agencies and other collection specialists, (v) to advertise
dispositions of Collateral through publications or media of general circulation, whether or not the
Collateral is of a specialized nature, (vi) fo contact other Persons, whether or not in the same
business as Grantor, for expressions of interest in acquiring all or any portion of such Collateral,
(vii) to hire one or more professional auctioneers to assist in the disposition of Collateral,
whether or not the Collateral is of a specialized nature, (viii) to dispose of Collateral by utilizing
internet sites that provide for the auction of assets of the types included in the Collateral or that
have the reasonable capacity of doing so, or that match buyers and sellers of assets, (ix) to
dispose of assets in wholesale rather than retail markets, (x) to disclaim disposition warranties,
such as title, possession or quiet enjoyment, (xi) to purchase insurance or credit enhancements to
insure the Agent against risks of loss, collection or disposition of Collateral or to provide to
Agent a guaranteed return from the collection or disposition of Collateral, or (xii) to the extent
deemed appropriate by Agent, to obtain the services of other brokers, investment bankers,
consultants and other professionals to assist Agent in the collection or disposition of any of the
Collateral. Grantor acknowledges that the purpose of this Section 7(e) is to provide non-
exhaustive indications of what actions or omissions by Agent would not be commercially
unreasonable in Agent’s exercise of remedies against the Collateral and that other actions or
omissions by Agent shall not be deemed commercially unreasonable solely on account of not
being indicated in this Section 7(¢). Without limitation upon the foregoing, nothing contained in
this Section 7(e) shall be construed to grant any rights to Grantor or to impose any duties on
Agent that would not have been granted or imposed by this Securlty Agreement or by applicable
law in the absence of this Section 7(e).

® Neither Agent nor any other Beneficiary shall be required to make any demand
upon, or pursue or exhaust any of their rights or remedies against, Grantor, any other obligor,
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guarantor, pledgor or any other Person with respect to the payment of the Obligations or to
pursue or exhaust any of their rights or remedies with respect to any Collateral therefor or any
direct or indirect guarantee thereof. Neither Agent nor any other Beneficiary shall be required to
marshal the Collateral or any guarantee of the Obligations or to resort to the Collateral or any
such guarantee in any particular order, and all of its and their rights hereunder or under any other
Loan Document shall be cumulative. To the extent it may lawfully do so, Grantor absolutely and
irrevocably waives and relinquishes the benefit and advantage of, and covenants not to assert
against Agent or any other Beneficiary, any valuation, stay, appraisement, extension, redemption
or similar laws and any and all rights or defenses it may have as a surety now or hereafter
existing which, but for this provision, might be applicable to the sale of any Collateral of Grantor
made under the judgment, order or decree of any court, or privately under the power of sale
conferred by this Security Agreement, or otherwise.

(g)  Agent may grant extensions of time and other indulgences, take and give up
security, accept compositions, compound, compromise, settle, grant releases and discharges and
otherwise deal with Grantor, debtors of Grantor, any other Loan Party, sureties and others and
with Collateral and other security as Agent may see fit without prejudice to the liability of
Grantor or Agent’s right to hold and realize the Security Interest. Furthermore, without limiting
any other provision hereof, after and during the continuance of an Event of Default, Agent may
demand, collect and sue on Collateral in either Grantor’s or Agent’s name, at Agent’s option, and
may endorse Grantor’s name on any and all cheques, commercial paper, and any other ‘
Instruments pertaining to or constituting Collateral. Nothing herein contained shall in any way
obligate Agent to grant, continue, renew, extend time for payment of or accept anything which
constitutes or would constitute the Obligations.

(h)  Each of Agent, other Beneficiaries, and any Receiver appointed by Agent shall
use reasonable care with respect to the Collateral in its possession or under its control. Beyond
the safe custody thereof, neither Agent nor any other Beneficiary or any Receiver appointed by
Agent shall have any other duty as to any Collateral in its possession or control or in the
possession or control of any agent or nominee of Agent or such other Beneficiary or such
Receiver, or any income thereon or as to the preservation of rights against third parties or any
other rights pertaining thereto. To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, Grantor
waives all claims, damages, and demands against Agent or any other Beneficiary or any Receiver
appointed by Agent arising out of the repossession, retention or sale of the Collateral except to
the extent that such claims, damages, and demands arise out of the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of Agent or any other Beneficiary or Receiver as determined by a court of competent
Jjurisdiction. '

@) If any Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, Agent may require
Grantor to engage a consultant or consultants of Agent’s choice, or engage a consultant or
consultants on behalf of Agent. Such consultants shall receive the full co-operation and support
of Grantor and its officers and employees, including unrestricted access to the premises and -
books and records of Grantor. All reasonable fees and expenses of any such consultant shall be
for the account of Grantor and shall be reimbursed or paid by Grantor upon request from Agent.
Grantor hereby authorizes any such consultant to report directly to Agent and other Beneficiaries
and to disclose to Agent and other Beneficiaries any and all information obtained by such
consultant. '
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() Grantor agreces to be liable for and to pay all costs, charges and expenses
reasonably incurred by Agent, any other Beneficiary or any Receiver appointed by Agent,
whether directly or for services rendered (including reasonable legal and auditors’ costs and
expenses and Receiver remuneration), in operating Grantor’s accounts, in preparing or enforcing
this Security Agreement, taking and maintaining custody of, preserving, repairing, processing,
preparing for disposition and disposing of Collateral and in enforcing or collecting indebtedness
and all such costs, charges and expenses, together with any amounts owing as a result of any
borrowing by Agent, any other Beneficiary or any Receiver appointed by Agent, as permitted
hereby, shall be secured hereby.

8.. GRANT OF LICENSE TO USE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY-
COLLATERAL. Solely for the purpose of enabling Agent to exercise rights and remedies under
Section 7 hereof (including, without limiting the terms of Section 7 hereof, in order to take
possession of, hold, preserve, process, assemble, prepare for sale, market for sale, sell or
otherwise dispose of Collateral) at such time as Agent shall be lawfully entitled to exercise such
rights and remedies, Grantor hereby grants to Agent, for the benefit of Beneficiaries, an
itrevocable, terminable (pursuant to Section 15 hereof) nonexclusive, non-transferable, non-
sublicensable license to use solely during the continuance of an Event of Default, any Intellectual
Property now owned or hereafter acquired by Grantor wherever such Intellectual Property may
be located (exercisable without payment or royalty or other compensation to Grantor, but subject
to any and all obligations to pay royalties or other compensation to any third parties under any
relevant license or other agreement with any third parties with respect to any such Intellectual
Property), except to the extent the foregoing license granted by Grantor to Agent, or the use of
any such Intellectual Property by Agent or for the benefit of Beneficiaries, is prohibited by, or
constitutes a breach or default under, or results in the termination of, or requires any consent not
obtained under, any contract, license, agreement, instrument or other document related to such
Intellectual Property.

9. LIMITATION ON AGENT’S AND CANADJAN TERM LENDERS’ DUTY IN
RESPECT OF COLLATERAL. Agent and other Beneficiaries shall use reasonable care with
respect to the Collateral in its possession or under its control. Neither Agent nor any other
Beneficiary shall have any other duty as to any Collateral in its possession or control or in the
possession or control of any agent or nominee of Agent or any other Beneficiary, or any income
thereon or as to the preservation of rights against prior parties or any other rights pertaining
thereto. ' '

10.  REINSTATEMENT. This Security Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect and continue to be effective should any petition or application be filed by or against
Grantor for liquidation or reorganization, should Grantor become insolvent or make an
assignment for the benefit of any creditor or creditors or should a receiver, interim receiver,
receiver and manager, or trustee be appointed for all or any significant part of Grantor’s assets,
and shall continue to be effective or be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any time payment and
performance of the applicable Grantor’s Obligations, or any part thereof, is, pursuant to
applicable law, rescinded or reduced in amount, or must otherwise be restored or returned by any
obligee of the applicable Grantor’s Obligations, whether as a “voidable preference,” “fraudulent
conveyance,” or otherwise, all as though such payment or performance had not been made. In
the event that any payment, or any part thereof, is rescinded, reduced, restored or returned, the
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applicable Grantor’s Obligations shall be reinstated and deemed reduced only by such amount
paid and not so rescinded, reduced, restored or returned.

11.  NOTICES. Except as otherwise provided herein, whenever it is provided herein
that any notice, demand, request, consent, approval, declaration or other communication shall or
may be given to or served upon any of the parties by any other party, or whenever any of the
parties desires to give and serve upon any other party any communication with respect to this
Security Agreement, each such notice, demand, request, consent, approval, declaration or other
communication shall be in writing and shall be addressed to the party to be notified as follows:

(a) Ifto Agent:

Freeport Financial LLC

500 West Madison Street, Suite 2700
Chicago, Illinois 60661

ATTN: PRACS Institute - Account Officer
Fax: (312) 281-4646

With a copy to:

Latham & Watkins LLP

233 South Wacker Drive

Suite 5800

Chicago, Illinois 60606
ATTN:Jeff Moran, Peter Knight
Fax: (312) 993-9767

(b)  Ifto Grantor:

PRACS Institute Canada B.C. Ltd.
4801 Amber Valley Parkway,
Fargo, North Dakota 58104
ATTN: Chief Financial Officer
Fax: (701) 239-4955

(c) If to any Beneficiary (other than Agent), at the address of such Beneficiary
specified in the Credit Agreement or any Assignment Agreement, or, in each case, at such other
address as may be substituted by notice given as herein provided. The giving of any notice
required hereunder may be waived in writing by the party entitled to receive such notice. Every
notice, demand, request, consent, approval, declaration or other communication hereunder shall
be deemed to have been validly served, given or delivered (i) upon the earlier of actual receipt
and five (5) Business Days after the same shall have been deposited with Canada Post (f
originating in Canada) or the United States mail (if originating in the United States), registered or
certified mail, as applicable, return receipt requested, with proper postage prepaid, (ii) upon
transmission, when sent by telecopy or other similar facsimile transmission (with such telecopy
or facsimile promptly confirmed by delivery of a copy by personal delivery or Canada Post (if
originating in Canada) or the United States mail (if originating in the United States), as otherwise
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provided in this Section 11, (i1i) one (1) Business Day after deposit with a reputable overnight
carrier with all charges prepaid, or (iv) when delivered, if hand-delivered by messenger.

12. SEVERABILITY. Whenever possible, each provision of this Security Agreement
shalI be 1nterpreted in a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any
provision of this Security Agreement shall be prohibited by or ihvalid under applicable law, such
provision shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity without invalidating
the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Security Agreement. This
Security Agreement is to be read, construed and applied together with the Credit Agreement and
the other Loan Documents which, taken together, set forth the complete understanding and
agreement of Agent, other Beneficiaries and Grantor with respect to the matters referred to
herein and therein.

13.  NO WAIVER; CUMULATIVE REMEDIES. -Neither Agent nor any other
Beneficiary shall by any act, delay, omission or otherwise be deemed to have waived any of its
rights or remedies hereunder, and no waiver shall be valid unless in writing, signed by Agent and
then only to the extent therein set forth. A waiver by Agent of any right or remedy hereunder on
any one occasion shall not be construed as a bar to any right or remedy which Agent would
otherwise have had on any future occasion. No failure to exercise nor any delay in exercising on
the part of Agent or any other Beneficiary, any right, power or privilege hereunder, shall operate
as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or pamal exercise of any right, power or privilege
hereunder preclude any other or future exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power
or privilege. The rights and remedies hereunder provided are cumulative and may be exercised
singly or concurrently, and are not exclusive of any rights and remedics provided by law. Save
for any schedules which may be added hereto pursuant to the provisions hereof, none of the
terms or provisions of this Security Agreement may be waived, altered, modified or amended
except by an instrument in writing, duly executed by Agent and Grantor.,

14.  LIMITATION BY LAW. Allrights, remedies and powers provided in this
Security Agreement may be exercised only to the extent that the exercise thereof does not violate
any applicable provision of law, and all the provisions of this Security Agreement are intended to
be subject to all applicable mandatory provisions of law that may be controlling and to be limited
to the extent necessary so that they shall not render this Security Agreement invalid,
unenforceable, in whole or in part, or not entitled to be recorded, registered or filed under the
provisions of any applicable law.

15.  TERMINATION OF TILLS SECURITY AGREEMENT. Subject to Section 10
hereof, this Security Agreement shall terminate upon the Termination Date.

16.  SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. This Security Agreement and all obligations of
Grantor hereunder shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of Grantor (including any
debtor-in-possession on behalf of Grantor) and shall, together with the rights and remedies of
Agent hereunder, for the benefit Beneficiaries, inure to the benefit of Agent and other
Beneficiaries, all future holders of any instrument evidencing any of the Canadian Obhgat1ons
and their respective successors and assigns. No sales of participations, other sales, assignments,
transters or other dispositions of any agreement governing or instrument evidencing the
Canadian Obligations or any portion thereof or interest therein shall in any manner impair the
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Security Interest granted to Agent hereunder, for the benefit of Beneficiaries. No Grantor may

assign, sell, hypothecate or otherwise transfer any interest in or obligation under this Security
Agreement.

17.  COUNTERPARTS. This Security Agreement may be executed in any number of
separate counterparts, and such counterparts shall collectively constitute one agreement. This
Security Agreement may be authenticated by manual signature, facsimile or, if approved in
writing by Agent, electronic means, all of which shall be equally valid.

18. GOVERNING LAW.

(a) THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT AND THE OBLIGATIONS ARISING
HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO APPLICABLE TO
CONTRACTS MADE AND PERFORMED IN THAT PROVINCE AND THE FEDERAL
LAWS OF CANADA APPLICABLE THEREIN IN EFFECT FROM TIME TO TIME
WITHOUT PREJUDICE TO OR LIMITATION OR ANY OTHER RIGHTS OR REMEDIES
AVAILABLE UNDER THE LAWS OF ANY JURISDICTION WHERE PROPERTY OR
ASSETS OF GRANTOR MAY BE FOUND,

(b) GRANTOR HEREBY CONSENTS AND AGREES THAT THE COURTS OF
THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO SHALL HAVE NON-EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION TO
HEAR AND DETERMINE ANY CLATMS OR DISPUTES BETWEEN GRANTOR, AGENT,
AND ANY OTHER BENEFICIARY PERTAINING TO THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT OR
ANY OF THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS OR TO ANY MATTER ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT. NOTHING IN THIS SECURITY
AGREEMENT SHALL BE DEEMED OR OPERATE TO PRECLUDE AGENT FROM
BRINGING SUIT OR TAKING OTHER LEGAL ACTION IN ANY OTHER JURISDICTION
TO REALIZE ON THE COLLATERAL OR ANY OTHER SECURITY FOR THE
OBLIGATIONS, OR TO ENFORCE A JUDGMENT OR OTHER COURT ORDER IN
FAVOUR OF AGENT. GRANTOR EXPRESSLY SUBMITS AND CONSENTS IN
ADVANCE TO SUCH JURISDICTION IN ANY ACTION OR SUIT COMMENCED IN ANY
SUCH COURT, AND GRANTOR HEREBY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION WHICH IT MAY
HAVE BASED UPON LACK OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION, IMPROPER VENUE OR
FORUM NON CONVENIENS AND HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE GRANTING OF SUCH
LEGAL OR EQUITABLE RELIEF AS IS DEEMED APPROPRIATE BY SUCH COURT.
GRANTOR HEREBY WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF THE SUMMONS, COMPLAINT
AND OTHER PROCESS ISSUED IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR SUIT AND AGREES THAT
SERVICE OF SUCH SUMMONS, COMPLAINTS AND OTHER PROCESS MAY BE MADE
BY REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL (RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED) ADDRESSED
TO GRANTOR AT THE ADDRESS SET FORTH IN SECTION 11 OF THIS AGREEMENT
AND THAT SERVICE SO MADE SHALL BE DEEMED COMPLETED UPON THE
EARLIER OF GRANTOR’S ACTUAL RECEIPT THEREOF OR FIVE (5) DAYS AFTER
THE SAME HAS BEEN POSTED.

19.  WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. BECAUSE DISPUTES ARISING IN
CONNECTION WITH COMPLEX FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS ARE MOST QUICKLY
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AND ECONOMICALLY RESOLVED BY AN EXPERIENCED AND EXPERT PERSON
AND THE PARTIES WISH APPLICABLE PROVINCIAL AND FEDERAL LAWS TO
APPLY (RATHER THAN ARBITRATION RULES), THE PARTIES DESIRE THAT
DISPUTES ARISING HEREUNDER OR RELATING HERETO BE RESOLVED BY A
JUDGE APPLYING SUCH APPLICABLE LAWS. THEREFORE, TO ACHIEVE THE BEST
COMBINATION OF THE BENEFITS OF THE JUDICIAL SYSTEM AND OF
ARBITRATION, THE PARTIES HERETO WAIVE ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN
ANY ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT TO RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE,
WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE, AMONG AGENT, ANY
OTHER BENEFICTARIES, AND ANY GRANTOR ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH,
RELATED TO, OR INCIDENTAL TO THE REL.ATIONSHIP ESTABLISHED IN
CONNECTION WITH, THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED HERETO OR THERETO.

 20.  SECTION TITLES. The Section titles contained in this Security Agreement are
and shall be without substantive meaning or content of any kind whatsoever and are not a part of
the agreement between the parties hereto.

21.  NO STRICT CONSTRUCTION. The parties hereto have participated jointly in
the negotiation and drafting of this Security Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question of
intent or interpretation arises, this Security Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by
the parties hereto and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any
party by virtue of the authorship of any provisions of this Security Agreement.

22.  ADVICE OF COUNSEL. Each of the parties represents to each other party
hereto that it has discussed this Security Agreement and, specifically, the provisions of
Section 18 and Section 19, with its counsel.

23.  BENEFIT OF BENEFICIARIES. All Liens granted or contemplated hereby shall
be for the benefit of Agent, individually, and the other Beneficiaries, and all proceeds or
payments realized from Collateral of Grantor in accordance herewith shall be applied to
Grantor’s Obligations in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement.

24, WAIVER. To the extent permitted by applicable law, Grantor waives Grantor’s
right to receive a copy of any financing statement or financing change statement registered by
Agent, or of any verification statement with respect to any ﬁnancmg statement or financing
change statement registered by Agent.

25.  COPY OF SECURITY AGREEMENT. Grantor hereby acknowledges receipt of
a copy of this Secunty Agreement.

26.  ATTACHMENT. Grantor and Agent hereby acknowledge that (1) value has been
given (2) Grantor has rights in the Collateral and, to the extent that Grantor does not acquire
rights or interests in any of the Collateral until after the execution and delivery of this Security
Agreement, the Security Interest created hereby shall attach to such Collateral at the time
Grantor acquires rights or interests therein and (3) this Security Agreement constltutes a

“security agreement” as that term is defined in the PPSA.
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27.  AMALGAMATION. Grantor acknowledges and agrees that, in the event it
amalgamates with any other company or companies, it is the intention of the parties hereto that
the term “Grantor”, when used herein, shall apply to each of the amalgamating companies and to
the amalgamated company, such that the Security Interest granted hereby:

(a) shall extend to “Collateral” (as that term is herein defined) owned by each of the
amalgamating companies and the amalgamated company at the time of amalgamation and to any
“Collateral” thereafter owned or acquired by the amalgamated company, and

(b)  shall secure all “Obligations” of each of the amalgamating companies and the
amalgamated company to Agent and other Beneficiaries at the time of amalgamation and all
“Obligations™ of the amalgamated company to Agent and other Beneficiaries thereafter arising.
The Security Interest shall attach to all “Collateral” owned by each company amalgamating with
Grantor, and by the amalgamated company, at the time of the amalgamation, and shall attach to
all “Collateral” thereafter owned or acquired by the amalgamated company when such becomes
owned or is acquired.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has caused this Security Agreement
to be executed and delivered by its duly authorized officer as of the date first set forth above.

PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C.LTD.

Name: Mark Ubert

Title:_Chief Financial Officer
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FREEPORT FINANCIAL LIC,

as Agentj
By: - 4 ?{ /ﬂ ﬁ/—
Name:%’?‘@y 6\?1\4—4“1 hY

Title: AVTH:‘DQ 2a) 6“: Ao fLr
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EXHIBIT A
POWER OF ATTORNEY

This Power of Attorney 1s executed and delivered by PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA
B.C. LTD., a British Columbia corporation (“Grantor”) to Freeport Financial LLC (together with
its successors and assigns, hereinafter referred to as “Attorney™), as Agent for itself and the
benefit of Beneficiaries, under (i) a Credit Agreement between, inter alia, CRSI Holdings, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company, Grantor and Attorney and (ii) a Security Agreement
between, infer alia, Grantor and Attorney (“Security Agreement”), both dated as of the date
hereof, and other related documents (the “Loan Documents™). No person to whom this Power of
Attorney is presented, as authority for Attorney to take any action or actions contemplated
hereby, shall be required to inquire into or seek continuation from Grantor as to the authority of
Attorney to take any action described below, or as to the existence of or fulfillment of any
condition to this Power of Attorney, which is intended to grant to Attorney unconditionally the
authority to take and perform the actions contemplated herein, and Grantor irrevocable waives
any right to commence any suit or action, in law or equity, against any person or entity which
acts in reliance upon or acknowledges the authority granted under this Power of Attorney. The
power of attorney granted hereby is coupled with an interest, and may not be revoked or
canceled by Grantor without Attorney’s written consent. Capitalized terms used herein and not
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Security Agreement.

Grantor hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints Attorney (and all officers, employees
or agents designated by Attorney), with full power of substitution, as Grantor’s true and lawful
attorney-in-fact with full irrevocable power and authority in the place and stead of Grantor and in
the name of Grantor or in its own name, from time to time in Attorney’s discretion, to take any
and all appropriate action and to execute and deliver any and all documents and instruments
which may be necessary to accomplish the purposes of the Loan Documents and, without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, Grantor hereby grants to Attorney the power and right,
on behalf of Grantor, without notice to or assent by Grantor, and subject to the terms of the
Security Agreement at any time, to do the following: (a) change the mailing address of Grantor,
open a post office box on behalf of Grantor, open mail for Grantor, and ask, demand, collect,
give acquittances and receipts for, take possession of, endorse any invoices, freight or express
bills, bills of lading, storage or warehouse receipts, drafts against debtors, assignments,
verifications, and notices in connection with any property of Grantor; (b) effect any repairs to
any asset of Grantor, or continue to obtain any insurance and pay all or any part of the premiums
therefor and costs thereof, and make, settle and adjust all claims under such policies of insurance,
and make all determinations and decisions with respect to such policies; (c) pay or discharge any
taxes, liens, security interests, or other encumbrances levied or placed on or threatened against
Grantor or its property; (d) defend any suit, action or proceeding brought against Grantor if
Grantor does not defend such suit, action or proceeding or if Attorney reasonably believes that
Grantor is not pursuing such defense in a manner that will maximize the recovery to Attorney,
and settle, compromise or adjust any suit, action, or proceeding described above and, in
connection therewith, give such discharges or releases as Attorney may deem reasonably
appropriate; (€) file or prosecute any claim, litigation, suit or proceeding in any court of
competent jurisdiction or before any arbitrator, or take any other action otherwise deemed
appropriate by Attorney for the purpose of collecting any and all such moneys due to Grantor
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whenever payable and to enforce any other right in respect of Grantor’s property; (f) cause the
chartered accountants then engaged by Grantor to prepare and deliver to Attorney at any time
and from time to time, promptly upon Attorney’s request, the following reports: (1) a
reconciliation of all accounts; (2) an aging of all accounts, (3) trial balances, (4) test verifications
of such accounts as Attorney may request, and (5) the results of each physical verification of
inventory if any; (g) communicate in its own name with any party to any Contract with regard to
the assignment of the right, title and interest of Grantor in and under the Contracts and other
matters relating thereto; (h) to file such financing statements with respect to the Security
Agreement, with or without Grantor’s signature, or to file a photocopy of the Security
Agreement in substitution for a financing statement, as the Agent may deem appropriate and to
execute in Grantor’s name such financing statements and financing change statements which
may require Grantor’s signature; and (i) execute, in connection with any sale provided for in any
Loan Document, any endorsements, assignments or other instruments of conveyance or transfer
with respect to the Collateral and to otherwise direct such sale or resale, all as though Attorney
were the absolute owner of the property of Grantor for all purposes, and to do, at Attorney’s
option and Grantor’s expense, at any time or from time to time, all acts and other things that
Attorney reasonably deems necessary to perfect, preserve, or realize upon Grantor’s property or
assets and Attorney’s Liens thereon, all as fully and effectively as Grantor might do. Grantor
hereby ratifies, to the extent permitted by law, all that said Attorney shall lawfully do or cause to
be done by virtue hereof.

THIS POWER OF ATTORNEY SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO APPLICABLE TO
CONTRACTS MADE AND PERFORMED IN THAT PROVINCE.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Power of Attorney is executed by Grantor pursuant to the
authority of its board of directors this __day of

5 .

PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.,

By:

Name;

Title:;

MBDOCS_5973640.4



SCHEDULE 1

FINANCING STATEMENTS

Seéured Party

Reference File No. &

Jurisdiction Debtor Registration No. Expiry
Oantario Freeport PRACS Institute Canada B.C. 679072698 - June 11, 2017
Financial LLC Ltd. 20120611 1028 1590 2369
British Freeport PRACS Institute Canada B.C. 787729G June 11, 2017

Columbia Financial LLC Lid.

MBDOCS_5973640.4




SCHEDULE II

INSTRUMENTS AND CHATTEL PAPER

None.

MBDCCS_5973640.4



NAME; JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION

SCHEDULE I

; CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICE;

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS; REGISTERED OFFICE AND CORPORATE
OFFICES; LOCATIONS OF ASSETS

Incorporated | Jurisdiction of Chief Principal Registered Corporate Locations Locations
Name Incorporation Executive Pilace of Office Offices of Assets of Books
Office Business and
Records
PRACS British 4801 Amber | 1290 1500 Royal . | 4801 Amber | Ontario 1500 Royal
INSTITUTE Columbia Valley Ellesmere Centre, 1055 | Valley Centre,
CANADA Parkway, Rd., West Parkway, 1055 West
B.C.LTD. Fargo, ND Toronto, Georgia Fargo, ND Georgia
58104 Ontario Street, P.O. 58104 Street, P.O.
MIP 2X9 Box 11117, 1290 Box
Vancouver, Ellesmere 11117,
BC, V6E Rd.,, Toronto, Vancouver,
4N7 Ontario M1P BC, V6E
2X9 4N7
4801
4520 Dixie Amber
Rd., Valley
Mississauga, Parkway,
Ontario L4W Fargo, ND
iN2 58104
1290
4540 Dixie Ellesmere
Rd., Unit C, Rd.,
Mississauga, Toron-to,
Ontario L4W Ontario
N2 MIP 2X9
4500 Dixie
Rd,,
Mississauga,
Ontario LAW
IN2
1310 Fewster
Dr.,
Mississauga,
Ontario L4W
IN2

MBDOCS_5073640.4




SCHEDULE 1V

PATENTS; TRADEMARKS; DESIGNS; COPYRIGHTS

None.

MBDOCS_5973640.4
CANADIAN SECURITY AGREEMENT
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This is Exhibit “4” referred to in the
Affidavit of Anthony Marino

Sworn before me, this m day of

March, 2013.
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Personal Property Registry Selection List
For: [ PZ69191 ] [ MCMILLAN LLP ] Mar 21, 2013

02:16:33 PM

T | ] | - Send to Mattbox J[TT HelpT ]
Folio: 204850 (8C ontine Wailbox )
Business Name: PRACS ] it Livmits 200
INSTITUTE CANADA BC LTD =®» Exact Matches: 1 Local Print Limit: 200

BSR101 - NO MORE INFORMATION TO DISPLAY
Debtor Name
& PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA BC LTD

|___Display Selection |




PPRS_Search_Résu1t {4

Page: 1
BC OnLine: PPRS SEARCH RESULT 2013/03/21
Lterm: XPSP(OQ50 For: PzZ69191 MCMILLAN LLP 14:16:56

Index: BUSINESS DEBTOR
Search Criteria: PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA BC LTD

kkkkikbhhhikkkkk p p S A SECURTITY AGREEMENT TREAXETA Ak hk kR k

Reg. Date: JUN 11, 2012 Reg. Length: 5 YEARS
Reg. Time: 09:38:52 Expiry Date: JUN 11, 2017
Base Reg. #: 787729G Control #. D1220968

Block#

s0001 sSecured Party: FREEPORT FINANCTIAL LLC
' 500 wW. MADISON ST., SUITE 1710
CHICAGO IL 60661

=D0001 Base Debtor: PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA BC LTD
(Business) 1500 -1055 WEST GEORGIA ST.
VANCOUVER BC VGE 4N7

General Collateral:
ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSOMAL PROPERTY.
THE DEBTOR'S FULL MAILING ADDRESS IS:

1500 ROYAL CENTRE,

1055 WEST GEORGIA STREET,

VANCOUVER, BRITISH COLUMBIA VGE 4N7

Registering
Party: MCMILLAN LLP
BOX 11117,1500 1055 W. GEQRGIA
VANCOUVER BC VGE 4N7

e ko L Y R R E R L R T L R E o g oy AT VP A S L S S

Some, but not all, tax liens and other Crown claims are registered at the
Personal Property Registry (PPR) and if registered, will be displayed on
this search result. HOWEVER, it is possib?e that a particular chattel is
subject to_a Crown claim that is not registered at the PPR. Please consult
the Miscellaneous Registrations Act, 1992 for more details. If you are
concerned that a particular chattel may be subject to a Crown claim not
registered_at the PPR, please consult the agency administering the type

of Crown claim.

IO IIFIIPIIRISILER>>2> END OF SEARCH <<<<<€ << << CCLdL Lt CClsl

Page 1



Oncor > PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY
REGISTRATION SYSTEM (ONTARIO)

JRECT ENQUIRY RESULTS

Prepared for : MCMILLAN LLP (SW)

Reference

Docket : 204850

Search ID : 483365

Date Processed : 3/21/2013 3:57:30 PM

Report Type : PPSA Electronic Response

Search Conducted on : PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.
Search Type : Business Debtor

DISCLAIMER

This report has been generated using data provided by the Personal

Property Registration Branch, Ministry of Government Services,

Government of Ontario. No liability is undertaken regarding its correctness,
completeness, or the interpretation and use that are made of it.



MINISTRY OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS SERVICES
PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM
‘ ENQUIRY RESPONSE

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT A SEARCH HAS BEEN MADE IN THE RECORDS OF THE
CENTRAL OFFICE OF THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY SYSTEM IN RESPECT
OF THE FOLLOWING:

TYPE OF SEARCH: BUSINESS DEBTOR
CONDUCTED ON: PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.

FILE CURRENCY: March 20, 2013

RESPONSE CONTAINS: APPROXIMATELY 1 FAMILIES and 2 PAGES.

THE SEARCH RESULTS MAY INDICATE THAT THERE ARE SOME REGISTRATIONS
WHICH SET OUT A BUSINESS DEBTOR NAME WHICH IS SIMILAR TO THE NAME
IN WHICH YOUR ENQUIRY WAS MADE. IF YQOU DETERMINE THAT THERE ARE
OTHER SIMILAR BUSINESS DEBTOR NAMES, YOU MAY REQUEST THAT
ADDITIONAL ENQUIRIES BE MADE AGAINST THOSE NAMES.

THE ABOVE REPORT HAS BEEN CREATED BASED ON THE DATA PROVIDED BY
THE PERSONAL PROPERTY REGISTRATION BRANCH, MINISTRY OF CONSUMER
AND BUSINESS SERVICES, GOVERNMENT OF ONTARIO. NO LIABILITY IS
UNDERTAKEN REGARDING ITS CORRECTNESS, COMPLETENESS, OR THE
INTERPRETATION AND USE THAT ARE MADE COF IT,.



MINISTRY OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS SERVICES
PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM
ENQUIRY RESPONSE

TYPE OF SEARCH: BUSINESS DEBTOR

CONDUCTED ON: PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.

FILE CURRENCY: March 20, 2013

1C FINANCING STATEMENT / CLAIM FOR LIEN

FAMILY : 1 OF 1 ENQUIRY PAGE : 1 OF 2
SEARCH : BD : PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.

00 FILE NUMBER : 679072698 EXPIRY DATE : 11JUN 2017 STATUS :

01 CAUTION FILING : PAGE : 001 OF 2 MV SCHEDULE ATTACHED

REG NUM : 20120611 1028 1590 2369 REG TYP: P DPPSA REG PERIOD: 5
02 IND DOB : IND NAME:

03 BUS NAME: PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.

OCN :

04 ADDRESS : 1500 ROYAL CENTRE, 1055 WEST GECRGIA

CITY : VANCOUVER PROV: BC POSTAL CODE: V6E 4N7
05 IND DORB : IND NAME:

06 BUS NAME:

OCN :

07 ADDRESS

CITY : PROV: POSTAL CODE:

08 SECURED PARTY/LIEN CLAIMANT

FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC

09 ADDRESS : 500 WEST MADISON STREET, SUITE 1710

CITY : CHICAGO, ILLINOIS PROV: USA POSTAL CODE: 60661

CONS. MV DATE OF OR NO FIXED

GOODS INVTRY. EQUIP ACCTS OTHER INCL AMOUNT MATURITY
10 X X X X X

YEAR MAKE MODEL V.I.N.

11

12

GENERAL COLLATERAL DESCRIPTION

13

14

15

le AGENT: MCMILLAN LLP [RDJR/PB/00204850]

17 ADDRESS : 181 BAY ST, SUITE 4400, BROOKFIELD PLACE

CITY : TORONTO PROV: ON POSTAL CODE: M5J 2T3

CONTINUED

*¥*¥* FOR FURTHER INFORMATION, CONTACT THE SECURED PARTY. *%*%

MAT DATE



MINISTRY OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS SERVICES
PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATICON SYSTEM

ENQUIRY RESPONSE

TYPE OF SEARCH: BUSINESS DEETOR

CONDUCTED ON: PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.

FILE CURRENCY: March 20, 2013

1C FINANCING STATEMENT / CLAIM FOR LIEN

FAMILY : 1 OF 1 ENQUIRY PAGE

2 OF 2

SEARCH : BD : PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.

00 FILE NUMBER : 679072698 EXPIRY DATE

01 CAUTICN FILING : PAGE : 002 OF
REG NUM : 20120611 1028 1590 2369 REG TYP:

02 IND DOB : IND NAME:

03 BUS NAME:

OCN -

04 ADDRESS : STREET

CITY : PROV:
05 IND DOB : IND NAME:

06 BUS NAME:

OCN

07 ADDRESS

CITY : PROV:

08 SECURED PARTY/LIEN CLAIMANT

09 ADDRESS
CITY : PROV:
CONS . MV

GOODS INVTRY. EQUIP ACCTS OTHER INCL

YEAR MAKE MODEL

GENERAL COLLATERAL DESCRIPTION

13

14

15

16 AGENT:

17 ADDRESS

CITY : PROV:
LAST SCREEN

11JUN 2017 STATUS

MV SCHEDULE ATTACHED

REG PERIOD:

POSTAL CODE:

POSTAL CODE:

POSTAL CODE:

DATE OF OR NO FIXED

AMOUNT MATURITY

V.I.N.

POSTAL CODE:

*#%% FOR FURTHER INFORMATION, CONTACT THE SECURED PARTY., ***

MAT DATE
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DRAFT

Court File No.
ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST
THE HONOURABLE MR. ) FRIDAY, THE 22" DAY
)
JUSTICE WILTON-SIEGEL ) OF MARCH, 2013
BETWEEN:
FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC
Applicant
- and -
PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.
Respondents

APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, RSO 1990, ¢
C43, AS AMENDED and SECTION 243 OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT,
RSC 1985, ¢ B-3, AS AMENDED

ORDER

THIS APPLICATION made by the Applicant for an Order pursuant to section 243(1) of
the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the "BIA") and section 101
of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. C.43, as amended (the "CJA") appointing
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. ("PwC") as receiver (in such capacities, the "Receiver") without
security, of all of the assets, undertakings and property of PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD.
(the "Debtor") acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on by the Debtor, was heard

this day at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the affidavit of Anthony Marino sworn March 22, 2013 and the Exhibits
thereto and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the Applicant and Respondent, and on

reading the consent of PwC to act as the Receiver,



SERVICE

L. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and
Application Record is hereby abridged and validated so that this motion is properly returnable
today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

APPOINTMENT

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to section 243(1) of the BIA and section 101 of
the CJA, PwC is hereby appointed Receiver, without security, of all of the assets, undertakings
and properties of the Debtor acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on by the

Debtor, including all proceeds thereof (the "Property").

RECEIVER’S POWERS

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is hereby empowered and authorized, but not
obligated, to act at once in respect of the Property and, without in any way limiting the generality
of the foregoing, the Receiver is hereby expressly empowered and authorized to do any of the

following where the Receiver considers it necessary or desirable:

(a) to take possessiori of and exercise control over the Property and any and

all proceeds, receipts and disbursements arising out of or from the

Property;

{b)  to receive, preserve, and protect of the Property, or any part or parts
thereof, including, but not limited to, the changing of locks and security
codes, the relocating of Property to safeguard it, the engaging of
independent security personnel, the taking of physical inventories and the

placement of such insurance coverage as may be necessary or desirable;

(©) to file an assignment in bankruptcy or to consent to the making of a
Bankruptcy Order under the BIA against the Debtor;

(d) to engage consultants, appraisers, agents, experts, auditors, accountants,

managers, counsel and such other persons from time to time and on



(©)

®

(@

(h)

)

)

-3

whatever basis, including on a temporary basis, to assist with the exercise
of the Receiver's powers and duties, including without limitation those
conferred by this Order; _

to purchase or lease such machinery, equipment, inventories, supplies,
premises or other assets to continue the business of the Debtor or any part

or parts thereof},

to receive and collect all monies and accounts now owed or hereafter
owing to the Debtor and to exercise all remedies of the Debtor in
collecting such monies, including, without limitation, to enforce any

security held by the Debtor;
to settle, extend or compromise any indebtedness owing to the Debtor;

to execute, assign, issue and endorse documents of whatever nature in
respect of any of the Property, whether in the Receiver's name or in the

name and on behalf of the Debtor, for any purpose pursuant to this Order;

to undertake environmental or workers' health and safety assessments of

the Property and operations of the Debtor;

fo initiate, prosecute and continue the prosecution of any and all
proceedings and to defend all proceedings now pending or hereafier
instituted with respect to the Debtor, the Property or the Receiver, and to
settle or compromise any such proceedings. The authority hereby
conveyed shall extend to such appeals or applications for judicial review

in respect of any order or judgment pronounced in any such proceeding;

to market any or all of the Property, including advertising and soliciting
offers in respect of the Property or any part or parts thereof and
negotiating such terms and conditions of sale as the Receiver in its

discretion may deem appropriate;
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to sell, convey, transfer, lease or assign the Property or any part or parts

thereof out of the ordinary course of business,

(i)  without the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction not
exceeding $100,000, provided that the aggregate consideration for

all such transactions does not exceed $500,000; and

(i)  with the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction in
which the purchase price or the aggregate purchase price exceeds

the applicable amount set out in the preceding clause;

and in each such case notice under subsection 63(4) of the Ontario
Personal Property Security Act, shall not be required, and in each case the
Ontario Bulk Sales Act shall not apply.

to apply for any vesting order or other orders necessary to convey the
Property or any part or parts thereof to a purchaser or purchasers thereof,

free and clear of any liens or encumbrances affecting such Property;

to report to, meet with and discuss with such affected Persons (as defined
below) as the Receiver deems appropriate on all matters relating to the
Property and the receivership, and to share information, subject to such

terms as to confidentiality as the Receiver deems advisable;

to register a copy of this Order and any other Orders in respect of the

Property against title to any of the Property;

to apply for any permits, licences, approvals or permissions as may be
required by any governmental authority and any renewals thereof for and
on behalf of and, if thought desirable by the Receiver, in the name of the
Debtor;

to enter into agreements with any trustee in bankruptcy appointed in
respect of the Debtor, including, without limiting the generality of the



-5-

foregoing, the ability to enter into occupation agreements for any property

owned or leased by the Debtor;

(1) to exercise any shareholder, partnership, joint venture or other rights
which the Debtor may have; and

(s) to take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers or

the performance of any statutory obligations.

and in each case where the Receiver takes any such actions or steps, it shall be exclusively
authorized and empowered to do so, to the exclusion of all other Persons (as defined below),

including the Debtor, and without interference from any other Person.

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall not manage, operate, or carry on the

business of the Debtor.

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE RECEIVER

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that (i) the Debtor, (ii) all of its current and former directors,
officers, employees, agents, accountants, legal counsel and sharcholders, and all other persons
acting on its instructions or behalf, and (iii) all other individuals, firms, corporations,

governmental bodies or agencies, or other entities having notice of this Order (all of the
h foregoing, collectively, being "Persons” and each being a "Person”) shall forthwith advise the
Receiver of the existence of any Property in such Person's possession or control, shall grant
immediate and continued access to the Property to the Receiver, and shall deliver all such

Property to the Receiver upon the Receiver's request.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the
existence of any books, documents, securities, contracts, orders, corporate and accounting
records, and any other papers, records and information of any kind related to the business or
affairs of the Debtor, and any computer programs, computer tapes, computer disks, or other data
storage media containing any such information (the foregoing, collectively, the "Records") in
that Person's possession or control, and shall provide to the Receiver or permit the Receiver to

make, retain and take away copies thereof and grant to the Receiver unfettered access to and use



-6 -

of accounting, computer, software and physical facilities relating thereto, provided however that
nothing in this paragraph 5 or in paragraph 6 of this Order shall require the delivery of Records,
or the granting of access to Records, which may not be disclosed or provided to the Receiver due
to the privilege attaching to solicitor-client communication or due to statutory provisions

prohibiting such disclosure.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Records are stored or otherwise contained on a
computer or other electronic system of information storage, whether by independent service
provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall forthwith give
unfettered access to the Receiver for the purpose of allowing the Receiver to recover and fully
copy all of the information contained therein whether by way of printing the information onto
paper or making copies of computer disks or such other manner of retrieving and copying the
information as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedient, and shall not alter, erase or destroy
any Records without the prior written consent of the Receiver. Further, for the purposes of this
paragraph, all Persons shall provide the Receiver with all such assistance in gaining immediate
access to the information in the Records as the Receiver may in its discretion require including
providing the Receiver with instructions on the use of any computer or other system and
providing the Receiver with any and all access codes, account names and account numbers that

may be required to gain access to the information.
NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE RECEIVER

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that no proceeding or enforcement process in any court or
tribunal (each, a "Proceeding"), shall be commenced or continued against the Receiver except

with the written consent of the Receiver or with leave of this Court.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE DEBTOR OR THE PROPERTY

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Proceeding against or in respect of the Debtor or the
Property shall be commenced or continued except with the written consent of the Receiver or
with leave of this Court and any and all Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of

the Debtor or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.



-7-

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

10.  THIS COURT ORDERS that all rights and remedies against the Debtor, the Receiver, or
affecting the Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the written consent of the
Receiver or leave of this Court, provided however that this stay and suspension does not apply in
respect of any "eligible financial contract" as defined in the BIA, and further provided that
nothing in this paragraph shall (i) empower the Receiver or the Debtor to carry on any business
which the Debtor is not lawfully entitled to carry on, (ii) exempt the Receiver or the Debtor from
compliance with statutory or regulatory provisions relating to health, safety or the environment,
(iif) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent

the registration of a claim for lien.

NO INTERFERENCE WITH THE RECEIVER

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere
with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, contract, agreement,
licence or permit in favour of or held by the Debtor, without written consent of the Receiver or

leave of this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons having oral or written agreements with the
Debtor or statutory or-regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or services, including
without limitation, all computer software, communication and other data services, centralized
banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services, utility or other services to
the Debtor are hereby restrained until further Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering,
interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as may be required by the
Receiver, and that the Receiver shall be entitled to the continued use of the Debtor's current
telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain names, provided in each
case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services received after the date of this
Order are paid by the Receiver in accordance with normal payment practices of the Debtor or
such other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and the Receiver,

or as may be ordered by this Court.



RECEIVER TO HOLD FUNDS
13.  THIS COURT ORDERS that all funds, monies, cheques, instruments, and other forms of

payments received or collected by the Receiver from and after the making of this Order from any
source whatsoever, including without limitation the sale of all or any of the Property and the
collection of any accounts receivable in whole or in part, whether in existence on the date of this
Order or hereafter coming into existence, shall be deposited into one or more new accounts to be
opened by the Receiver (the "Post Receivership Accounts") and the monies standing to the credit
of such Post Receivership Accounts from time to time, net of any disbursements provided for
herein, shall be held by the Receiver to be paid in accordance with the terms of this Order or any
further Order of this Court.

EMPLOYEES

14.  THIS COURT ORDERS that all employees of the Debtor shall be deemed to be
terminated immediately upon the appointment of the Receiver. The Receiver shall not be liable
for any employee-related liabilities, including any successor employer liabilities as provided for
in section 14.06(1.2) of the BIA, other than such amounts as the Receiver may specifically agree
in writing to pay, or in respect of its obligations under sections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or

under the Wage Earner Protection Program Act.

PIPEDA

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that, pursuant to clause 7(3}c) of the Canada Personal
Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, the Receiver shall disclose personal
information of identifiable individuals to prospective purchasers or bidders for the Property and
to their advisors, but only to the extent desirable or required to negotiate and attempt to complete
one or more sales of the Property (each, a "Sale"). Each prospective purchaser or bidder to
whom such personal information is disclosed shall maintain and protect the privacy of such
information and limit the use of such information to its evaluation of the Sale, and if it does not
complete a Sale, shall return all such information to the Receiver, or in the alternative destroy all
such information. The purchaser of any Property shall be entitled to continue to use the personal
information provided to it, and related to the Property purchased, in a manner which is in all

material respects identical to the prior use of such information by the Debtor, and shall return all
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other personal information to the Receiver, or ensure that all other personal information is

destroyed.

LIMITATION ON ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES

16.  THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Receiver to
occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or
collectively, "Possession") of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated,
might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release
or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the
protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or
relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination inchiding, without limitation, the
Canadian Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario
Water Resources Act, or the Onlario Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations
thereunder (the "Environmental Legislation"), provided however that nothing hercin shall
exempt the Receiver from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by applicable
Environmental Legislation. The Receiver shall not, as a result of this Order or anything done in
pursuance of the Receiver's duties and powers under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of
any of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental Legislation, unless it is actually in

possession,

LIMITATION ON THE RECEIVER’S LIABILITY
17. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall incur no liability or obligation as a result

of its appointment or the carrying out the provisions of this Order, save and except for any gross
negligence or wilful misconduct on its part, or in respect of its obligations under sections 81.4(5)
or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the Wage Earner Profection Program Act. Nothing in this Order
shall derogate from the protections afforded the Receiver by section 14.06 of the BIA or by any

other applicable legislation.

RECEIVER'S ACCOUNTS

18.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be paid their
reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges, and that the

Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be entitled to and are hereby granted a charge (the
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"Receiver's Charge") on the Property, as security for such fees and disbursements, both before
and after the making of this Order in respect of these proceedings, and that the Receiver's Charge
shall form a first charge on the Property in priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges
and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in favour of any Person, but subject to sections

14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

19.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and its legal counsel shall pass its accounts
from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Receiver and its legal counsel are

hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

20.  THIS COURT ORDERS that prior to the passing of its accounts, the Receiver shall be at
liberty from time to time to apply reasonable amounts, out of the monies in its hands, against its
fees and disbursements, including legal fees and disbursements, incurred at the normal rates and
charges of the Receiver or its counsel, and such amounts shall constitute advances against its

remuneration and disbursements when and as approved by this Court.
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FUNDING OF THE RECEIVERSHIP

2].  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and it is hereby empowered to
borrow by way of a revolving credit or otherwise, such monies from time to time as it may
consider necessary or desirable, provided that the outstanding principal amount does not exceed
$100,000 (or such greater amount as this Court may by further Order authorize) at any time, at
such rate or rates of interest as it deems advisable for such period or periods of time as it may
arrange, for the purpose of funding the exercise of the powers and duties conferred upon the
Receiver by this Order, including interim expenditures. The whole of the Property shall be and
is hereby charged by way of a fixed and specific charge (the "Receiver's Borrowings Charge") as
security for the payment of the monies borrowed, together with interest and charges thereon, in
priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise,
in favour of any Person, but subordinate in priority to the Receiver’s Charge and the charges as
set out in sections 14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

22.  THIS COURT ORDERS that neither the Receiver's Borrowings Charge nor any other
security granted by the Receiver in connection with its borrowings under this Order shall be

enforced without leave of this Court.

23.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is at liberty and authorized to issue certificates
substantially in the form annexed as Schedule "A" hereto (the "Receiver’s Certificates") for any

amount borrowed by it pursuant to this Order.

24.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the monies from time to time borrowed by the Receiver
pursuant to this Order or any further order of this Court and any and all Receiver’s Certificates
evidencing the same or any part thercof shall rank on a pari passu basis, unless otherwise agreed

to by the holders of any prior issued Receiver's Certificates.

GENERAL

25.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may from time to time apply to this Court for

advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder.
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26.  THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Receiver from acting
as a trustee in bankruptcy of the Debtor.

27.  THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal,
regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United States to give
effect to this Order and to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this
Order. Al courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully
requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Receiver, as an officer of this
Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist the Receiver and

its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order.

28.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and is hereby authorized and
empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body, wherever located,
for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the terms of this Order, and
that the Receiver is authorized and empowered to act as a representative in respect of the within
proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside

Canada.

29.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Plaintiff shall have its costs of this motion, up to and
including entry and service of this Order, provided for by the terms of the Plaintiff’s security or,
if not so provided by the Plaintiff's security, then on a substantial indemnity basis to be paid by

the Receiver from the Debtor's estate with such priority and at such time as this Court may

determine.

30.  THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to vary or
amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days' notice to the Receiver and to any other party
likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may

order,




SCHEDULE "A"

RECEIVER CERTIFICATE
CERTIFICATE NO.

AMOUNT $

1. THIS IS TO CERTIFY that [RECEIVER'S NAME], the receiver (the "Receiver”) of the
assets, undertakings and properties [DEBTOR'S NAME] acquired for, or used in relation to a
business carried on by the Debtor, including all proceeds thereof (collectively, the “Property™)
appointed by Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "Court")

dated the  day of > 20__ (the "Order") made in an action having Court file number
_ -CL- has received as such Receiver from the holder of this certificate (the "Lender")
the principal sum of $ , being part of the total principal sum of $

which the Receiver is anthorized to borrow under and pursuant to the Order.

2. The principal sum evidenced by this certificate is payable on demand by the Lender with
interest thereon calculated and compounded [daily][monthly not in advance on the day
of each month] after the date hereof at a notional rate per annum equat to the rate of per

cent above the prime commercial lending rate of Bank of from time to time.

3. Such principal sum with interest thereon is, by the terms of the Order, together with the
principal sums and interest thereon of all other certificates issued by the Receiver pursuant to the
Order or to any further order of the Court, a charge upon the whole of the Property, in priority to
the security interests of any other person, but subject to the priority of the charges set out in the
Order and in the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, and the right of the Receiver to indemnify itself

out of such Property in respect of its remuneration and expenses.

4, All sums payable in respect of principal and interest under this certificate are payable at

the main office of the Lender at Toronto, Ontario.

5. Until all liability in respect of this certificate has been terminated, no certificates creating
charges ranking or purporting to rank in priority to this certificate shall be issued by the Receiver
to any person other than the holder of this certificate without the prior written consent of the
holder of this certificate.

20576813_1.DOCX
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6. The charge securing this certificate shall operate so as to permit the Receiver to deal with
the Property as authorized by the Order and as authorized by any further or other order of the
Court.

7. The Receiver does not undertake, and it is not under any personal liability, to pay any

sum in respect of which it may issue certificates under the terms of the Order.

DATED the day of , 20

[RECEIVER'S NAME], solely in its capacity
as Receiver of the Property, and not in its
personal capacity

Per:

Name:
Title:

LEGAL_20576813.1
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DRAFT

Court File No.
ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST
THE HONOURABLE MR. ) FRIDAY, THE 22" DAY
)
JUSTICE WILTON-SIEGEL ) OF MARCH, 2013
BETWEEN:
FREEPORT FINANCIAL LLC
Applicant
-and -
PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.
Respondents

APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, RSO 1990, ¢
C43, AS AMENDED and SECTION 243 OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT,
RSC 1983, ¢ B-3, AS AMENDED

ORDER

THIS APPLICATION made by the Applicant for an Order pursuant to section 243(1) of
the Bankrupicy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the "BIA") and section 101
of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. C43, as amended (the "CJA") appointing
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. ("PwC"} as receiver (in such capacities, the "Receiver") without
security, of all of the assets, undertakings and property of PRACS Institute Canada B.C. LTD.
(the "Debtor") acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on by the Debtor, was heard

this day at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the affidavit of Anthony Marino sworn March 22, 2013 and the Exhibits
thereto and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the Applicant and Respondent, and on

reading the consent of PwC to act as the Receiver,

LEGAL_20576813.1
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SERVICE

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and :
Application Record is hereby abridged and validated so that this motion is properly returnable

today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.
APPOINTMENT

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to section 243(1) of the BIA and section 101 of -
the CJA, PwC is hereby appointed Receiver, without security, of all of the assets, undertakings
and properties of the Debtor acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on by the

Debtor, including all proceeds thereof (the "Property™).

RECEIVER’S POWERS

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is hereby empowered and authorized, but not
obligated, to act at once in respect of the Property and, without in any way limiting the generality
of the foregoing, the Receiver is hereby expressly empowered and authorized to do any of the

following where the Receiver considers it necessary or desirable:

(a)  to take possession of and exercise control over the Property and any and
all proceeds, receipts and disbursements arising out of or from the

Property;

(b)  to receive, preserve, and protect of the Property, or any part or parts -
thereof, including, but not limited to, the changing of locks and security
codes, the relocating of Property to safeguard it, the engaging of :
independent security personnel, the taking of physical inventories and the

placement of such insurance coverage as may be necessary or desirable;

@)(c) to file an_assignment in bankruptcy or to consent to the making of a
Bankruptcy Order under the BIA apainst the Debtor:

7717423
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(e)

®

()
(h)

0

to engage consultants, appraisers, agents, experts, auditors, accountants,

managers, counsel and such other persens from time to time and on
whatever basis, including on a temporary basis, to assist with the exercise
of the Receiver's powers and duties, including without limitation those

conferred by this Order;

to purchase or lease such machinery, equipment, inventories, supplies,
premises or other assets to continue the business of the Debtor or any part

or parts thereof}

to receive and collect all monies and accounts now owed or hereafter
owing to the Debtor and to exercise all remedies of the Debtor in
collecting such monies, including, without limitation, to enforce any

security held by the Debtor;
1o settle, extend or compromise any indebtedness owing to the Debtor;

to execute, assign, issue and endorse documents of whatever nature in
respect of any of the Property, whether in the Receiver's name or in the

name and on behalf of the Debtor, for any purpose pursuant to this Order;

to undertake environmental or workers' health and safety assessments of

the Property and operations of the Debtor;

to initiate, prosecute and continue the prosecution of any and all
proceedings and to defend all proceedings now pending or hereafter
instituted with respect to the Debtor, the Property or the Receiver, and to
settle or compromise any such proceedings. The authority hereby
conveyed shall extend to such appeals or applications for judicial review

in respect of any order or judgment pronounced in any such proceeding;
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(k)  to market any or all of the Property, including advertising and soliciting '
offers in respect of the Property or any part or parts thereof and -
negotiating such terms and conditions of sale as the Receiver in its

discretion may deem appropriate;

) to sell, convey, transfer, lease or assign the Property or any part or parts

thereof out of the ordinary course of business,

[§)] without the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction not
exceeding $100.000——— provided that the aggregate

consideration for all such transactions does not exceed

$500.000———; and

(i)  with the approval of this Court in respect of any fransaction in
which the purchase price or the aggregate purchase price exceeds

the applicable amount set out in the preceding clause; o ":*: 0

and in each such case notice under subsection 63(4) of the Ontario

Personal Property Security Act, for-section31-of the OntarioMorigages
Aet—as—the—ease—maybe;-shall not be required, and in each case the
Ontario Bulk Sales Act shall not apply.

(m) to apply for any vesting order or other orders necessary to convey the
Property or any part or parts thereof to a purchaser or purchasers thereof,

free and clear of any liens or encumbrances affecting such Property;

(n)  toreport to, meet with and discuss with such affected Persons (as defined :
below) as the Receiver deems appropriate on all matters relating to the -
Property and the receivership, and to share information, subject to such

terms as to confidentiality as the Receiver deems advisable;

(0)  to register a copy of this Order and any other Orders in respect of the

Property against title to any of the Properiy;

177174243
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(p)  to apply for any permits, licences, approvals or permissions as may be
required by any governmental authority and any renewals thereof for and
on behalf of and, if thought desirable by the Receiver, in the name of the
Debtor;

(@)  to enter into agreements with any trustee in bankruptcy appointed in
' respect of the Debtor, including, without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, the ability to enter into occupation agreements for any property ’

owned or leased by the Debtor;

(r) to exercise any shareholder, partnership, joint venture or other rights

which the Debtor may have; and

(s) to take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers or

the performance of any statutory obligations.

and in each case where the Receiver takes any such actions or steps, it shall be exclusively
authorized and empowered to do so, to the exclusion of all other Persons (as defined below),

including the Debtor, and without interference from any other Person.

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall not manage, operate, or carry on the+- - - { Formatted: ORGen L1,G1

business of the Debtor.

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE RECEIVER
4:5.  THIS COURT ORDERS that (i) the Debtor, (ii) all of its current and former directors,

officers, employees, agents, accountants, legal counsel and shareholders, and all other persons
acting on its instructions or behalf, and (iii} all other individuals, firms, corporations,
governmental bodies or agencies, or other entities having notice of this Order (all of the
foregoing, collectively, being "Persons” and each being a "Person") shall forthwith advise the
Receiver of the existence of any Property in such Person's possession or control, shall grant
immediate and continued access to the Property to the Receiver, and shall deliver all such

Property to the Receiver upon the Receiver's request.

1771742v3
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5:6. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the
existence of any books, documents, securities, contracts, orders, corporate and accounting
records, and any other papers, records and information of any kind related to the business or |
affairs of the Debtor, and any computer programs, computer tapes, computer disks, or other data :
storage media containing any such information (the foregoing, collectively, the "Records") in
that Person's possession or control, and shall provide to the Receiver or permit the Receiver to |

make, retain and take away copies thereof and grant to the Receiver unfeitered access to and use -

of accounting, computer, sofiware and physical facilities relating thereto, provided however that ..

nothing in this paragraph 35 or in paragraph 6 of this Order shall require the delivery of Records,

or the granting of access to Records, which may not be disclosed or provided to the Receiver due
to the privilege attaching to solicitor-client communication or due to statutory provisions

prohibiting such disclosure.

6:7.__THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Records are stored or otherwise contained on a : :

computer or cother electronic system of information storage, whether by independent service .

provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall forthwith give
unfettered access to the Receiver for the purpose of allowing the Receiver to recover and fully -
copy all of the information contained therein whether by way of printing the information ento
paper or making copies of computer disks or such other manner of retrieving and copying the .

information as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedient, and shall not alter, erase or destroy

any Records without the prior wrilten consent of the Receiver, Further, for the purposes of this s

paragraph, all Persons shall provide the Receiver with all such assistance in gaining immediate

access to the information in the Records as the Receiver may in its discretion require including -

providing the Receiver with instructions on the use of any computer or other system and Y

providing the Receiver with any and all access codes, account names and account numbers that

may be required to gain access to the information.

1771742v3
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NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE RECEIVER

78. THIS COURT ORDERS that no proceeding or enforcement process in any court or
tribunal (each, a "Proceeding"), shall be commenced or continued against the Receiver except

with the written consent of the Receiver or with leave of this Court.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE DEBTOR OR THE PROPERTY

$9. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Proceeding against or in respect of the Debtor or the
Property shall be commenced or continued except with the written consent of the Receiver or
with leave of this Court and any and all Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of

the Debtor or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.

NO EXERCISE OF REGHTS OR REMEDIES

9:10. THIS COURT ORDERS that all rights and remedies against the Debtor, the Receiver, or
affecting the Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the written consent of the
Receiver or leave of this Court, provided however that this stay and suspension does not apply in
respect of any "eligible financial contract" as defined in the BIA, and further provided that
nothing in this paragraph shall (i) empower the Receiver or the Debtor to carry on any business
which the Debtor is not lawfully entitied to carry on, (ii) exempt the Receiver or the Debtor from
compliance with statutory or regulatory provisions relating to health, safety or the environment,
(iii) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent

the registration of a claim for lien.

NOV INTERFERENCE WITH THE RECEIVER

48:11. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere
with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, contract, agreement,
licence or permit in favour of or held by the Debtor, without written consent of the Receiver or

leave of this Court,

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

H:12. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons having oral or written agreements with the

Debtor or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or services, including

1771742v3
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without limitation, all computer software, communication and other data services, centralized

banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services, utility or other services to -

the Debtor are hereby restrained until further Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering,
interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as may be required by the

Receiver, and that the Receiver shall be entitled to the continued use of the Debtor's current

telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain names, provided in each

case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services received afier the date of this

Order are paid by the Receiver in accordance with normal payment practices of the Debtor or
such other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and the Receiver,

or as may be ordered by this Court.

RECEIVER TO HOLD FUNDS

12:13. THIS COURT ORDERS that all funds, monies, cheques, instruments, and other forms of L
payments received or collected by the Receiver from and after the making of this Order from any
source whatsoever, including without limitation the sale of all or any of the Property and the
collection of any accounts receivable in whole or in part, whether in existence on the date of this
Order or hereafier coming into existence, shall be deposited into one or more new accounts 1o be
opened by the Receiver (the "Post Receivership Accounts”) and the monies standing to the credit
of such Post Receivership Accounts from time to time, net of any disbursements provided for - |
herein, shall be held by the Recetver to be paid in accordance with the terms of this Order or any
further Order of this Court.

EMPLOYEES

43:14. THIS COURT ORDERS that all employees of the Debtor shall be deemed to be
ferminated immediately upon the appointment of the Receiver-remain—the-employeos—of the

2 P = I i g o aRa~a aak
SHOFt t S

such-employees. The Receiver shall not be liable for any employee-related liabilities, including
any successor employer liabilities as provided for in section 14.06(1.2) of the BIA, other than
such amounts as the Receiver may specifically agree in writing to pay, or in respect of its
obligations under sections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the Wage Earner Protection

Program Act.

1771742v3
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PIPEDA

+415. THIS COURT ORDERS that, pursuant to clause 7(3)(c) of the Canada Personal
Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, the Receiver shall disclose personal
information of identifiable individuals to prospective purchasers or bidders for the Property and
to their advisors, but only to the extent desirable or required to negotiate and attempt to complete
one or more sales of the Property (each, a "Sale"). Each prospective purchaser or bidder to
whom such personal information is disclosed shall maintain and protect the privacy of such
information and limit the use of such information to its evaluation of the Sale, and if it does not
complete & Sale, shall return ail such information to the Receiver, or in the alternative destroy all
such information. The purchaser of any Property shall be entitled to continue to use the personal
information provided to it, and related to the Property purchased, in a mantter which is in all
material respects identical to the prior use of such information by the Debtor, and shall return all
other personal information to the Receiver, or ensure that all other personal information is

destroyed.

LIMITATION ON ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES

15:16. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Receiver to
occupy ot to take control, care, charge, pessession or management (separately and/or
collectively, "Possession") of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated,
might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release
or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the
protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or
relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination including, without limitation, the
Canadian Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario
Water Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations
thereunder (the "Environmental Legislation”), provided however that nothing herein shall
exempt the Receiver from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by applicable
Environmental Legislation. The Receiver shall not, as a result of this Order or anything done in
pursuance of the Receiver's duties and powers under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of

any of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental Legislation, unless it is actually in

possession,

1771742v3
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LIMITATION ON THE RECEIVER’S LIABILITY

+6:17. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall incur no liability or obligation as a result
of its appointment or the carrying out the provisions of this Order, save and except for any gross ‘
negligence or wilful misconduct on its part, or in respect of its obligations under sections 81.4(5)
or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the Wage Earner Protection Program Act. Nothing in this Order :

shall derogate from the protections afforded the Receiver by section 14,06 of the BIA or by any :

other applicable legislation.

RECEIVER'S ACCOUNTS
| +%18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be paid their - - ‘

reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges, and that the

Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be entitled to and are hereby granted a charge (the

"Receiver's Charge") on the Property, as security for such fees and disbursements, both before R

and after the making of this Order in respect of these proceedings, and that the Receiver's Charge E
shall form a first charge on the Property in priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges K
and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in favour of any Person, but subject to sections -
14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

| 438:19. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and its legal counsel shall pass its accounts
from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Receiver and its legal counsel are

hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

| +9:20, THIS COURT ORDERS that prior to the passing of its accounts, the Receiver shall be at
liberty from time to time to apply reasonable amounts, out of the monies in its hands, against its .
fees and disbursements, including legal fees and disbursements, incurred at the normal rates and
charges of the Receiver or its counsel, and such amounts shall constitute advances against its

remuneration and disbursements when and as approved by this Court.

1771742v3
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FUNDING OF THE RECEIVERSHIP

28:21. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and it is hereby empowered to
borrow by way of a revolving credit or otherwise, such monies from time to time as it may
consider necessary or desirable, provided that the outstanding principal amount does not exceed

$100.000———— (or such greater amount as this Court may by further Order authorize) at

any time, at such rate or rates of interest as it deems advisable for such period or periods of time
as it may arrange, for the purpose of funding the exercise of the powers and duties conferred
upon the Receiver by this Order, including interim expenditures. The whole of the Property shall
be and is hereby charged by way of a fixed and specific charge (the "Receiver's Rorrowings
Charge") as security for the payment of the monies borrowed, together with interest and charges
thereon, in priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or
otherwise, in favour of any Person, but subordinate in priority to the Receiver’s Charge and the
charges as set out in sections 14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

2+:22. THIS COURT ORDERS that neither the Receiver's Borrowings Charge nor any other
security granted by the Receiver in connection with its borrowings under this Order shall be

enforced without leave of this Court.

22:23. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is at liberty and authorized to issue certificates
substantially in the form annexed as Schedule "A" hereto (the "Receiver’s Certificates") for any

amount borrowed by it pursuant to this Order.

23:24. THIS COURT ORDERS that the monies from time te time borrowed by the Receiver
pursuant to this Order or any further order of this Court and any and ail Receiver’s Certificates
evidencing the same or any part thereof shall rank on a pari passu basis, unless otherwise agreed

to by the holders of any prior issued Receiver's Certificates.

GENERAL

24:25. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may from time to time apply to this Court for

advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder.

1771742v3
LEGAL_20576813.1



-12-

| 25:26. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Receiver from acting
as a trustee in bankruptcy of the Debtor.

[ 26:27. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal,
regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United States to give -
effect to this Order and to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this
Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully :
requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Receiver, as an officer of this
Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist the Receiver and '

its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order.

2728, THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and is hereby authorized and

empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body, wherever located, -~ - ‘

for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the terms of this Order, and '

that the Receiver is authorized and empowered to act as a representative in respect of the within
proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside

Canada.

28:29. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Plaintiff shall have its costs of this motion, up to and '
including entry and service of this Order, provided for by the terms of the Plaintiff’s security or,
if not so provided by the Plaintiff's security, then on a substantial indemnity basis to be paid by
the Receiver from the Debtor's estate with such priority and at such time as this Court may

determine.

29:30. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to vary or
amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days' notice to the Receiver and to any other party
likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may

order,

1771742v3
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SCHEDULE "A"
RECEIVER CERTIFICATE
CERTIFICATE NO,
AMOUNT §

1. THIS IS TO CERTIFY that [RECEIVER'S NAME], the receiver (the "Receiver”) of the
assets, undertakings and properties [DEBTOR'S NAME] acquired for, or used in relation to a
business carried on by the Debtor, including all proceeds thereof (collectively, the “Property”™)
appointed by Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "Court")
dated the __ day of ___ ,20_ (the "Order") made in an action having Court file number

-CL-

has received as such Receiver from the holder of this certificate (the "Lender")

the principal sum of § , being part of the total principal sum of §

which the Receiver is authorized to borrow under and pursuant to the Order.

2. The principal sum evidenced by this certificate is payable on demand by the Lender with
interest thereon calculated and compounded [daily][monthly not in advance on the day
of each month] after the date hereof at a notional rate per annum equal to the rate of per

cent above the prime commercial iending rate of Bank of - from time to time.

3. Such principal sum with interest thereon is, by the terms of the Order, together with the
principal sums and interest therzon of all other certificates issued by the Receiver pursuant to the
Order or to any further order of the Court, a charge upon the whole of the Property, in priority to
the security interests of any other person, but subject to the priority of the charges set out in the
Order and in the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, and the right of the Receiver to indemnify itself

out of such Property in respect of its remuneration and expenses.

4, All sums payable in respect of principal and interest under this certificate are payable at
the main office of the Lender at Toronto, Ontario.

5 Until all liability in respect of this certificate has been terminated, no certificates creating
charges ranking or purporting to rank in priority to this certificate shall be issued by the Receiver
to any person other than the holder of this certificate without the prior writtlen consent of the
holder of this certificate.

20576813_1.DOCX
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6. The charge securing this certificate shall operate so as to permit the Receiver to deal with -
the Property as authorized by the Order and as authorized by any further or other order of the
Court.

7. The Receiver does not undertake, and it is not under any personal liability, to pay any

sum In respect of which it may issue certificates under the terms of the Order.

DATED the day of , 20,

[RECEIVER'S NAME], solely in its capacity
as Receiver of the Property, and not in its

personal capacity
Per:
Name:
Title:

LEGAL_20576613.1



TAB E



IN THE MATTER OF THE RECEIVERSHIP OF
PRACS INSTITUTE CANADA B.C. LTD.
OF THE CITY OF TORONTO,

IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

PRICEWATERHOUSE COOPERS INC., hereby consents to act as Receiver of PRACS Institute
Canada B.C. Ltd.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. March 22, 2013
Per:

Michelle Pickett
Vice-President
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